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April 19, 2019 

His Excellency, Governor Christopher T. Sununu 
and the Honorable Council 

State House 
Concord, New Hampshire 03301 

REQUESTED ACTION 

Authorize the Department of Health and Human Services, Division of Public Health Services, to 
enter into a retroactive, sole source amendment to an existing agreement with Trustees of 
Dartmouth College, Vendor# 177157-B013, 11 Rope Ferry Road 6210, Box 186, Hanover, NH 03755, 
to operate a cancer registry $ystem, by increasing the price limitation by $1,642,306 from $2,523,240 
to $4, 165,546 and by extending the completion date from June 30, 2020 to June 30, 2022, retroactive 
to April 1, 2019 effective upon Governor and Executive Council approval. 82% Federal Funds and 
18% General Funds. 

This agreement was originally approved by the Governor and Executive Council on November 
18, 2016 (Item #21 Vote 5-0) and amended as approved by the Governor and Executive Council on 
June 6, 2018 (Item #13 Vote 5-0). 

Funds are available in State Fiscal Year (SFY) 2019 and are anticipated to be available in SFYs 
2020, 2021, and 2022, upon the availability and continued appropriation of funds in the future operating 
budgets, with authority to adjust encumbrances between State Fiscal Years through the Budget 
Office. 

See Attached Fiscal Details 

EXPLANATION 

TtJis request is retroactive because the Department received approval from the Centers for 
Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) to amend this contract with federal grant funds in February of 
2019. The amendment is to combine data on cancer diagnoses with initial treatment data and will 
require use of a data entry clerk who will bill at an hourly rate for data entry. In order to complete data 
entry, it was critical to begin this work as early as possible in SFY 2019. Initial treatment data includes 
information about whether an individual had surgery, radiation therapy, chemotherapy, hormone, or 
immunotherapy which can be used for research on these interventions. 

This request is sole source because there are no renewal options left in the original contract 
and the Department wishes to ensure continuation of work with the Trustees of Dartmouth College 
under the CDC grant that started in June 30, 2017 and ends June 30, 2022, which is the end of the 
grant project period. 

The Department seeks to expand upon the work, that has taken place for the last several years 
to ensure data quality and completeness through participation in the CDC Data Quality Evaluation 
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(DQE). This amendment will also ensure the continued operation of an incidence-based statewide
cancer registry system as required by RSA 141-B.

The primary purpose of the New Hampshire State Cancer Registry is to identify all reportable
cases of cancer in New Hampshire in order to provide information on the overall number, types, and
changing patterns of cancer among residents of the state. New Hampshire RSA 141-B obligates the
Department to collect information regarding the majority forms of cancers diagnosed in New
Hampshire. The Contractor will continue conducting data collection, data processing, quality
assurance and database management activities for the collection of cancer information for the New
Hampshire State Cancer Registry in accordance with the Department guidelines and standards
established by the National Program of Cancer Registries and the North American Association of
Central Cancer Registries.

The cancer registry is one of the public health topis used to monitor and investigate trends in
cancer diagnoses and treatment in every state in the U.S. The cancer registry through this contract
generates critical data for public health investigations, for public health prevention programs, and for
academic researchers who work to identify causes of cancer, and prevention and treatment strategies.
This amendment will allow the Contractor to continue to capture essential data on people who are
newly diagnosed with cancer.

The following performance objectives will be used to measure the effectiveness of the
agreement:

•  For each incident cancer case, collect all the data variables listed in New Hampshire
Administrative Rule He-P 304.2.

•  The database shall be, at a minimum, in accordance with accepted Centers for Disease
Control's National Program of Cancer Registries and North American Association of Cancer
Registry standards.

•  The data collected is 95% complete within twelve (12) months of date of diagnosis for cases
seen in any New Hampshire hospital.

•  The data collected is 90% complete within fifteen (15) months of the date of diagnosis for all
cases among New Hampshire residents, regardless of where they received the cancer care.

•  The data collected is 95% complete within twenty-four (24) months of date of diagnosis for all
cases among New,Hampshire residents, with cases identified from death certificate review and
follow-up, from physician practices, from non-hospital facilities, and from out-of-state sources.

The Contractor follows the standards required for the National Program of Cancer Registries
(NPCR) National Data Quality and Completeness Program and US Cancer Statistics Publication
Standard. The Trustees of Dartmouth College has achieved status as a National Program of Cancer
Registries Registry of Excellence, and is the recipient of their eleventh consecutive gold standard
certification by the North American Association of Central Cancer Registries.

Approximately 1.3 million individuals will be served from April 1, 2019 through June 30, 2022 -
through cancer-related programming that is informed using data from the NH State Cancer Registry.

Should the Governor and Executive Council not authorize this request, the Department may be
unable to support a high quality cancer registry and will lose the ability to monitor cancer trends;
respond to community concerns related to cancer clusters; inform and educate communities about
cancer risk; develop policies and plans that address cancer risk in the community; evaluate the
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effectiveness, accessibility, and quality of cancer prevention; and control strategies and provide data to
researchers to understand the causes and treatments for cancer.

Area served: Statewide

Source of Funds: 82% Federal Funds, Catalog of Federal and Domestic Assistance (CFDA)
#93.898, United States Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control and
Prevention, New Hampshire Breast & Cervical Cancer, Comprehensive Cancer & Cancer Registry,
Federal Award Identification Number (FAIN) # NU58DP006298 and Catalog of Federal and Domestic
Assistance (CFDA) #93.991, United States Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for
Disease Control and Prevention, Preventive Health and Health Services Block Grant, Federal Award
Identification Number (FAIN) # NB010T009205; and 18% General Funds.

In the event that Federal Funds become no longer available, additional General Funds will not
be requested to support this program.

Respectfully submitted.

Jeffrey A. Meyers
Commissioner

The Department of Health and Human Services' Mission is to join communities and families
in providing opportunities for citizens to achieve health and independence.
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STATE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES

DIVISION OF PUBLIC HEAL TH SER VICES
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Fiscal Details

05-95-90-900510-86660000 HEALTH AND SOCIAL SERVICES, DEPT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN
SVS, HHS: DIVISION OF PUBLIC HEALTH, BUREAU OF INFORMATICS, CANCER REGISTRY
100% Federa Funds CDC, Comprehensive Cancer Control Program & Cancer Registry

Fiscal

Year

Class/

Account
Class Title

Job

Number

Current

Modified

Budget

Increase

(Decrease)
Amount

Revised

Modified

Budget

SFY 2017 102-500731 Contracts for Prog Svc 90080080 $251,736 $0 $251,736

Sub Total $251,736 $0 $251,736

05-95-90-900510-86660000 HEALTH AND SOCIAL SERVICES, DEPT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN

SVS, HHS: DIVISION OF PUBLIC HEALTH, BUREAU OF INFORMATICS, CANCER REGISTRY
' 00% General Funds

Fiscal

Year

Class/

Account
Class Title

Job

Number

Current

Modified

Budget

Increase

(Decrease)
Amount

Revised

Modified

Budget

SFY 2017 601-500931 State Fund Match 90056005 $100,045 $0 $100,045

Sub Total $100,045 $0 $100,045

05-95-90-902

SVS, HHS: D
SERVICES, C

■ 00% Federa

910-22150000

IVISION OF P

DC ORAL HEi

Funds CDC N

HEALTH AND SOCIAL SERVICES, DEPT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN ,
UBLIC HEALTH, BUREAU OF POPULATION HEALTH & COMMUNITY

^LTH GRANT

H Breast & Cervical Cancer, Comp. Cancer & Cancer Registry Programs

Fiscal

Year

Class/

Account
Class Title

Job

Number

Current

Modified

Budget

Increase

(Decrease)
Amount

Revised

-Modified

Budget

SFY 2017 102-500731 Contracts for Prog Svc 90080080 $173,000 $0 $173,000

Sub Total $173,000 $0 $173,000



05-95-90-902010-33970000 HEALTH AND SOCIAL SERVICES, DEPT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN
SVS, HHS: DIVISION OF PUBLIC HEALTH, BUREAU OF POPULATION HEALTH & COMMUNITY
SERVICES, CANCER REGISTRY
00% Federa Funds CDC N H Breast & Cervical Cancer, Comp. Cancer & Cancer Registry Prosrams

Fiscal

Year

Class/

Account
Class Title

Job

Number

Current

Modified

Budget

Increase

(Decrease)
Amount

Revised

1 Modified
Budget

SFY 2018 102-500731 Contracts for Prog Svc 90080080 $446,542 $0 $446,542

SPY 2019 102-500731 Contracts for Prog Svc 90080080 $435,217 $0 $435,217

SFY 2020 102-500731 Contracts for Prog Svc 90080080 $446,542 $97,000 $543,542

SFY 2021 102-500731 Contracts for Prog Svc 90080080 $0 $543,542 $543,542

SFY 2022 102-500731 Contracts for Prog Svc 90080080 $0 $543,542 $543,542

Sub Total $1,328,301 $1,184,084 $2,512,385

05-95-90-902010-33970000 HEALTH AND SOCIAL SERVICES, DEPT OF HEALTH AND \

SVS, HHS; DIVISION OF PUBLIC HEALTH, BUREAU OF POPULATION HEALTH & COMH

SERVICES, CANCER REGISTRY100% General Funds

UMAN

flUNITY

Fiscal

Year

Class/

Account
Class Title

Job

Number

Current

Modified

Budget

Increase

(Decrease)
Amount

Revised

Modified

Budget

SFY 2018 601-500931 State Fund Match 90056005 $150,000 $0 $150,000

SFY 2019 601-500931 State Fund Match 90056005 $150,000 $0 $150,000

SFY 2020 601-500931 State Fund Match 90056005 $150,000 $0 $150,000

SFY 2021 601-500931 State Fund Match 90056005 $0 $150,000 $150,000

SFY 2022 601-500931 State Fund Match 90056005 $0 $150,000 $150,000

Sub Total $450,000 $300,000 $750,000

Page 2 of 3



05-95-90-901010-80110000 HEALTH AND SOCIAL SERVICES, DEPT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN

SVS, HHS; DIVISION OF PUBLIC HEALTH. BUREAU OF PUBLIC HEALTH SYSTEMS. POLICY &
PERFORMANCE, PREVENTIVE HEALTH BLOCK GRANT
00% Federa Funds CDC Preventative Health and Health Service Block Grant (PHHSBG)

Fiscal

Year

Class/

Account
Class Title

Job

Number

Current

Modified

Budget

Increase

(Decrease)
Amount

Revised

Modified

Budget

SFY 2018 102-500731 Contracts for Prog Svc 90001037 $69,611 $0 $69,611

SFY 2019 102-500731 Contracts for Prog Svc 90001037 $69,611 $0 $69,611

SFY 2020 102-500731 Contracts for Prog Svc 90001037 $69,611 $0 $69,611

SFY 2021 102-500731 Contracts for Prog Svc 90001037 $0 $69,611 $69,611

SFY 2022 102-500731 Contracts for Prog Svc 90001037 $0 $69,611 $69,611

Sub Total $208,833 $139,222 $348,055

05-95-90-902010-56590000 HEALTH AND SOCIAL SERVICES, DEPT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN
SVS, HHS: DIVISION OF PUBLIC HEALTH, BUREAU OF POPULATION HEALTH & COMMUNITY
SERVICES, COMPREHENSIVE CANCER
00% Federa Funds CDC NH Breast & Cervical Cancer, Comp. Cancer & Cancer Registry Programs

Fiscal

Year

Class/

Account
Class Title

Job

Number

Current

Modified

Budget

Increase

(Decrease)
Amount

Revised

Modified

Budget

SFY 2019 102-500731 Contracts for Prog Svc 90080080 $11,325 $19,000 $30,325

Sub Total $11,325 $19,000 $30,325

-

TOTAL: $2,523,240 $1,642,306 $4,165,546
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STATE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE
DEPARTMENT OF INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY

27 Hazen Dr., Concord, NH 03301

Fax: 603-271-1516 TDD Access; 1-800-735-2964

www.nh.gov/doit

Denis Gouiet

Commissioner

April 26, 2018

Jeffrey A. Meyers, Commissioner
Department of Health and Human Services
State of New Hampshire
129 Pleasant Street

Concord, NH 03301-3857

Dear Commissioner Meyers:

This letter represents formal notification that the Department of Information Technology (DolT)
has approved your agency's request to enter into a retroactive, sole source contract amendment with
Trustees of Dartmouth College (Vendor #177157-6013), as described below and referenced as DoITNo.
2016-0818.

This is a retroactive, sole source contract amendment with the Trustees of Dartmouth
College to continue to operate an incidence-based statewide cancer registry system in
New Hampshire as required by RSA 141-B and for the use ol a data entry clerk to
combine data on cancer diagnosis with initial treatment data.

This amendment will increase the contract price by $1,642,306 from $2,523,240 to
$4,165,546 and extend the contract end date from June 30, 2020 to June 30, 2022

■ retroactive to April 1, 2019 effective upon Governor and Executive Council approval.

A copy of this letter should accompany the Department of Health and Human Services'
submission to the Governor and Executive Council for approval.

Sincerely

Denis Gouiet

DG/ik/ck

DolT No. 2016-08IB

cc: Bruce Smith

"Innovative Technologies Today for New Hampshire's Tomorrow"



New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Cancer Registry Operations

State of New Hampshire
Department of Health and Human Services

Amendment #2 to the

Cancer Registry Operations Contract

This 2™^ Amendment to the Cancer Registry Operations contract (hereinafter referred to as "Amendment
#2") dated this 13*^ day of December, 2018, is by and between the State of New Hampshire, Department
of Health and Human Services (hereinafter referred to as the "State" or "Department") and Trustees of
Dartmouth College, (hereinafter referred to as "the Contractor"), a corporation with a place of business at
11 Rope Ferry Road #6210, Hanover, NH 03755.

'WHEREAS, pursuant to an agreement (the "Contract") approved by the Govemor and Executive Council
on November 16, 2016, Item #21, as amended on June 6, 2018, Item #T3, the Contractor agreed to perform
certain services based upon the terms and conditions specified in the Contract as amended and in
consideration of certain sums specified: and

WHEREAS, the State and the Contractor have agreed to make changes to the scope of work, payment
schedules and terms and conditions of the contract; and

WHEREAS, pursuant to Form P-37, General Provisions, Paragraph 18, the State may modify the scope
of work and the payment schedule of the contract upon written agreement of the parties and approval
from the Govemor and Executive Council; and

WHEREAS, the parties agree to increase the price limitation and modify the scope of services to support
continued delivery of these services; and

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration .of the foregoing and the mutual covenants and conditions contained
in the Contract and set forth herein, the parties hereto agree to amend as follows:

1. Form P-37 General Provisions, Block 1.7, Completion Date, to read:

June 30, 2022.

2. Form P-37, General Provisions, Block 1.8, Price Limitation, to read:

$4,165,546.

3. Form P-37, General Provisions, Block 1.9, Contracting Officer for State Agency, to read:

Nathan White, Director.

4. Form P-37, General Provisions, Block 1.10, State Agency Telephone Number, to read:

603-271-9631.

5. Delete Exhibit A, Scope of Services in its entirety and replace with Exhibit A, Amendment #2.

6. Delete Exhibit B - Amendment #1, Method and Conditions Precedent to Payment, Section 2 and
replace with the following:

2. This Agreement is funded with general funds and federal funds as follows: 73% Federal Funds
from US Centers for Disease Control & Prevention, NH Comprehensive Cancer Control
Program & Cancer Registry Programs, CFDA #93.898, Federal Award Identification Number
(FAIN)#NU58DP006298, and 9% Federal Funds from Centers for Disease Control and
Prevention, Preventative Health and Health Sen/ices Block Grant, CFDA #93.991, FAIN#

NB010T009205 and 18% General Funds.

Trustees of Dartmouth College Amendmertt #2
RFP-2017-DPHS-03-CANCE Page 1 of 4



New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Cancer Registry Operations

7. Delete Exhibit B-4, Amendment #1, and replace with Exhibit B-4, Amendment #2.

8. Delete Exhibit B-5, Amendment #1, and replace with Exhibit B-5, Amendment #2.

9. Add Exhibit 8-6, Amendment #2.

10. Add Exhibit B-7, Amendment #2.

11. Add Exhibit K, DHHS Information Security Requirements.

The rest of this page left intentionally blank.

Trustees of Dartmouth College Amendment #2
RFP-2017-DPHS-03-CANCE Page 2 of 4



New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Cancer Registry Operations

This amendment shall be effective upon the date of Governor and Executive Council approval.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have set their hands as of the date written below,

State of New Hampshire
Department of Health and Human Services

Date

ite

Trustees of Dartmouth College

Jill M. Mortal!, Diractor
Office of Sponsored Projects

Acknowledgement of Contractor's signature;

State of hkl^ i^rtnp?(iir^Countv of on HI Kfj 1'^ , before the undersigned officer,
personally appeared the person identified directly above, or satisfaaorily proven to be the person whose name is
signed above, and ackno\\1edged that s/he executed this document in the capacity indicated above.

fj CbuiI^Cd
Signature of Notary Public or Justice of the Peace

' HEATHER A. ARNOLD, Notary Publlo
My Commission Expires August 24,2021

Name arid^Title of Notary or Justice of the Peace

~My "Gommissl.on Expire's:

■j

. j

(

1

Trustees of Dartmouth College Amendment #2
RFP-2017-DPHS-03-CANCE Page 3 of 4
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The preceding Amendment, having been reviewed by this office, is approved as to form,-substance, and execution.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL

Date T,Name;

Tte: <5H

I hereby certify that the foregoing Amendment was approved by the Governor and Executive Council of the State
of New Hampshire at the Meeting on: (date of meeting)

OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY OF STATE

Date Name:

Title:

Trustees of Dartmouth College
RFP-2017-DPHS-03-CANCE

Amendment #2

Page 4 of 4



New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Cancer Registry Operations

Exhibit A - Amendment #2

Scope of Services

1. Provisions Applicabie to AM Services

1.1. The Contractor agrees that, to the extent future legislative action by the New
Hampshire General Court or federal or state court orders may have an
impact on the Services described herein, the State Agency has the right to
modify Service priorities and expenditure requirements under this
Agreement so as to achieve compliance therewith.

1.2. All service's to be performed under this contract shall be in accordance with
New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS), New
Hampshire law RSA 141-B, New Hampshire Administrative rules He-P 304,
United States Public Law 102-515, and Centers for Disease Control and
Prevention (CDC), National Program of Cancer Registries (NPCR) and
North American Association of Central Cancer Registries (NAACCR)
standards and guidelines.

2. Required Activities

2.1. The Contractor shall present for discussion and proposed modifications, a
Work Plan, due within 30 days of the contract effective date. The timeline
and work plan shall meet all due dates for deliverables noted in the
Deliverables and Key Performance Indicators set forth in Section 14 of this
document.

2.2. The Contractor shall have all fully qualified staff assigned in support of the
New Hampshire State Cancer Registry (NHSCR) contract within 30 days of
the contract effective date.

2.3. The Contractor shall maintain the NHSCR database from a physical location
within a seventy-five (75) mile radius of the DHHS, located in Concord. The
rationale for this requirement is that the DHHS provides technical and
administrative oversight of the NHSCR operations, which includes on-site
visits to the NHSCR contractor. In addition, appropriate contractor

' personnel are required to attend regular meetings with DHHS staff as well
as other meetings as necessary.

2.4. The Contractor shall allow full participation of the DHHS in the ongoing,
onsite operations of contract activities including interacting directly with
contractor staff, viewing abstract processing, participating in customizing

,  registry software selecting edits, aspects of database management, system
security, and quality assurance that the DHHS deems necessary.

2.5. The Contractor shall provide DHHS with technical assistance and expertise
on matters within the scope of yvork of the contract.

Trusteesof Dartmouth College Exhibit A - Amendment #2 Contractor Initials

RFP-2017-DPHS-03-CANCE-01 Page 1 of 18 Date gngi'i



New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Cancer Registry Operations

Exhibit A - Amendment #2

3. Cancer Registry Operation

3.1. The Contractor shall operate an incidence-based statewide cancer registry
reporting system in accordance with RSA 141-B and Part He-P 304 of the
New Hampshire Administrative Rules,

http://www.Qencourt.state.nh.us/rules/state aqencies/he-D300.html.

3.2. The Contractor shall collect information and maintain an electronic

database of all incident cancer cases occurring among the New Hampshire
population according to the Administrative Rules.

3.3. The Contractor shall facilitate and encourage submission of reports for each
incident case Facilitate and encourage submission of reports for each
incident case defined in RSA 14l7B:7

fhttp://wvw.aencourt.state.nh.us/rsa/html/X/141-B/141-B-mra.html. all the
data variables listed in administrative rule He-P 304.02 by "health facilities"
within an expected time frame as listed in Administrative Rule He-P
304.01(e) " and He-P .304.01(1)
fhttp://www.aencourt.state.nh.us/rules/state aaencies/he-p300.html).

Facilitation and encouragement may include writing letters, calling by
telephone and personal visits to health providers and/or health facility
administrators or supervisors. ("Health Facilities" shall be defined according
to the Administrative Rules.)

3.4. The Contractor shall inform DHHS of facilities that remain out of compliance
with reporting requirements despite Contractor notification in the following
situations:

3.4.1. Denial or lack of access to pathology reports or medical records:

3.4.2. Lack of submission of reports within one month or expected date; and

3.4.3. Lack of response to letter or other formal inquiry within one month.

3.5. . The Contractor shall adhere to Timetable of Data Deliverables:

3.5.1. The NHSCR data shall meet the following five (5) data quality criteria
[National Data Quality Standard (formally known as the 24-Month
Standard)]:

3;5.1.1. Data are ninety-five percent (95%) complete based on
observed-to-expected cases as computed by CDC.

3.5.1.2. There are three percent (3%) or fewer death-certificate-only
cases.

3.5.1.3. There is a one (1) per one thousand (1,000), or fewer.

Taistees of Dartmouth College Exhibit A - Amendment #2 Contractor Initials

RFP-2017-DPHS-03-CANCE-01 Page 2 of 18 Date [Ui''



New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Cancer Registry Operations

Exhibit A - Amendment #2

unresolved duplicate rate.

3.5.1.4. The maximum percent missing for critical data elements are:

3.5.1.4.1. Two percent (2%) age.

3.5.1.4.2. Two percent (2%) sex.

3.5.1.4.3. Three percent (3%) race.

3.5.1.4.4. Two percent (2%) county.

3.5.1.5. Ninety-nine percent (99%) pass a CDC-prescribed set of
standard edits.

3.5.2. The NHSCR data shall meet the following data quality criteria
[Advanced National Data Quality Standards (formally known as the 12-
Month Standard)]:

3.5.2.1. Data are ninety percent (90%) complete based on observed-
to-expected cases as computed by CDC.

3.5.2.2. There is a two (2) per one thousand (1,000) or fewer
unresolved duplicate rate.

3.5.2.3. The maximum percent missing for critical data elements are:

3.5.2.3.1. Three percent (3%) age.

3.5.2.3.2. Three percent (3%) sex.

3.5.2.3.3. Five percent (5%) race.

3.5.2.3.4. Three percent (3%) county.

3.5.2.4. Ninety-seven percent (97%) pass a CDC-prescribed set of
standard edits.

4. Case Ascertainment Activities

4.1. The Contractor shall establish and implement case reporting from any new
or existing free-standing radiation oncology facility in the state.

4.2. The Contractor shall establish and implement case reporting from any new
or existing free-standing medical oncology facility in the state.

4.3. The Contractor shall establish and implement case reporting from any new
or existing free-standing surgical oncology facility in the state.

4.4. The Contractor shall increase cancer surveillance activities by. merging
treatment data for high incidence NH cases where treatment occurred in
another state by adding it to the NHSCR data to be used for research or
public health activities that examine the appropriateness of cancer
treatments.

4.5. The Contractor shall establish and implement electronic case finding from
hospital or private pathology labs and from out-of-state pathology

Trustees of Dartmouth College Exhibit A - Amendment #2 Contractor Initials
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Cancer Registry Operations

Exhibit A - Amendment #2

laboratories.

4.6. The Contractor shall perform death clearance at least annually. Death
clearance should be performed by matching records in the NHSCR with
New Hampshire mortality data provided by the DHHS and with National
Death Index., to determine the level of the NHSCR's record completeness
for in-state and out-of-state deaths to New Hampshire residents where
cancer is identified as a cause of death.

4.7. For in-state deaths, the Contractor shall make a determination as to the
cause of and appropriate correction for cancer incidents not reported to the
NHSCR. This should include contacting the certifier of the death for case
follow back as necessary. For deaths of individuals in NHSCR database,
the contractor shall electronically update the Vital Status, date of death and
cause of death for matching cases.

4.8. The Contractor shall operate query systems that cross checks definitive
reports, rapid reports, and non-reportable data sources using data linkage
processes to ensure maximum case ascertainment.

4.9. The Contractor shall create or update the NHSCR operations manual within
30 days of the contract effective date. This manual on NHSCR procedures
is for potential distribution to all reporting health providers and health
facilities. The manual will provide documentation of the objectives,
implementation and operation of the registry. All the contractor staff of the
Cancer Registry Operations and DHHS shall be provided with a copy of the
manual. This manual shall contain, at a minimum:

4.9.1. Most current reporting laws/regulations;

4.9.2. List of repprtable diagnoses:

4.9.3. List of required data items.

4.9.4. Procedures for data processing operations including:

4.9.4.1. Procedures for monitoring timeliness of reporting;

4.9.4.2. Procedures for receipt of data;

4.9.4.3. Procedures for database management including a description
of the Registry Operating System (software);

4.9.4.4. Procedures for conducting death certificate clearance;

4.9.4.5. Procedures for implementing and maintaining the quality
assurance/control program:

4.9.4.5.1. Conducting follow-back to reporting facilities on quality
issues. These procedures include rules for identifying

Trustees of Dartmouth College Exhibit A - Amendment #2 Contractor initials

RFP.2017-DPHS-03-CANCE-01 Page 4 of 18 Date



New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Cancer Registry Operations

Exhibit A - Amendment #2

when action or further Investigation is needed;

4.9.4.5.2. Conducting record consolidation;

4.9.4.5.3. Maintaining detailed documentation of all quality
assurance operations;

4.9.4.5.4. Procedures for education and training.

4.9.5. Procedures for conducting data exchange including a list of states with
which case-sharing agreements are in place;

4.9.6. Procedures for conducting data linkages.

4.9.7. Procedures insuring confidentiality and data security including disaster
planning;

4.9.8. Procedures for data release including access to and disclosure of
information; and

4.9.9. Procedures for maintaining and updating the operational manual.

4.10. The Contractor shall revise the NHSCR operations manual when any
changes are made to policies and procedures relating to the NHSCR
activities based on contractor need or as requested by the DHHS. The
contractor will submit the changes to the DHHS, who will review and seek
revision or approve within 30 days.

4.11. The Contractor shall review and update existing documents for reporting
facilities, including, but not limited to letters, user application forms,
reporting requirement document, and Webplus user guides, within 30 days
of the contract effective date.

4.12. The Contractor shall determine needed updates in consultation with the
DHHS. When updates are needed, develop updated material, obtain
approval of the DHHS, and provide to reporting facilities and post them on
web for easier access.

4.13. Through site visits to New Hampshire hospitals conducted as needed, the
Contractor shall review discharge, laboratory and pathology reports as well
as medical charts to ensure the completeness of case reporting and
accuracy for completion.

4.14. The Contractor shall update quality control efforts inclusive of capacity to
participate in the CDC-sponsored Data Quality Evaluations (DQEs) and
central registry sponsored audits of reporters as per NPCR Program
Standards including, but not limited to:

4.14.1. Preparing for the DOE and responding to Its findings with procedural
changes;

4.14.2. Conducting receding audits focusing on the new North American
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Association of Central Cancer Registries (NAACCR) 18 variables;

4.14.3. Completing unfinished merging of treatment data from out-of-state
sources to improve data quality;

4.14.4. Obtaining data and reports, and providing feedback related to the DQE
including, but not limited to;

4.14.4.1. De-identifying any data that needs to be sent to the auditor;

4.14.4.2. Transmitting the data;

4.14.4.3. Responding to questions on the data and any additional
requests from the auditor;

4.14.4.4. Reviewing the preliminary DQE report and providing
feedback;

4.14.4.5. Participating in the final DQE feedback meeting; and

4.14.4.6. Utilizing DQE feedback to amend procedures to optimize data
quality.

4.15. The Contractor shall implement changes to the data release process that
will facilitate NAACCR's Virtual Pooled Registry (VPR) linkage projects
including, but not limited to:

4.15.1. Reviewing and accepting the VPR template and proposed procedures
for the central data release application form;

4.15.2. Amending NH's data release procedures so that the Department (NH
DHHS) participates in the central approval process;

4.15.3. Comparing the documents used by NH and those proposed by
NAACCR as the coordinating body for the VPR Cancer Linkage
System;

4.15.4. Collaborating with the New Hampshire DHHS legal department to
approve the common process.

5. Information Technology Activities

5.1. The Contractor shall establish operations within 30 days of the contract start
date. This shall include, but not be limited to system set-up, testing, and
deployment, as well as business operations to support the State's
requirements defined in Exhibit A-1, Additional Cancer Data Registry
Technical Requirements.

5.2. Within 30 days of the contract start date, the Contractor shall provide and
set up necessary computer hardware, including servers and computers for
the NHSCR contractor staff, necessary to maintain the NHSCR database.
All hardware and software shall be compatible with NPCR requirements.

5.3. Within 30 days of the contract start date, the Contractor shall provide
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connectivity for all reporting facilities to transmit data to the NHCSR.

5.4. The Contractor shall maintain secure web access to the NHSCR seven

days per week for Web Plus on-line data entry and data file uploading.

5.5. Within 30 days of the contract start date, the Contractor shall install and
utilize the current automated data management system, consistent with
national standards and populated with NHSCR data. (DHHS maintains the
discretion to utilize any kind of data'management system. There shall be no
modifications or upgrades to the software without the approval of the
DHHS.)

5.6. The Contractor shall train staff in operation of software systems.

5.7. The Contractor shall update all the components of the software, as required
and shall participate in the relevant CDC software users group.

5.8. Within 30 days of the contract execution, the Contractor shall discuss with
DHHS the feasibility of implementing a WebPlus User's Agreement, the
language of such an agreemient, and the protocol for phasing it into use.
Implement protocol specified by.the program team during a mutually agreed
timeframe to restrict reporting via Web Plus data entry or file upload to those
reporters who have submitted signed agreements to become Web Plus
users.

5.9. Within 30 days of the contract start date, the Contractor shall develop and
implement procedures for the electronic submission and processing of
laboratory pathology and cytology reports utilizing NAACCR standards.

5.10. Within 30 days of the contract start date, the Contractor shall maintain a
computerized log of facilities and personnel who report data to NHSCR (in
excel or access or any other system) which includes at minimum; facility ID,
name and demographic information; names and contact information of
personnel (reporters and supervisors), and log of prior facility contacts.

5.11. ~ Within 30 days of the contract start date, the Contractor shall obtain from
the prior NHSCR reports of technical assistance between NHSCR and
reporters. Maintain these files or modify or upgrade them with approval of
the DHHS.

5.12. Within 30 days of the contract start date, the Contractor shall maintain a
computerized log of all abstracts received from each reporting facility that
includes facility ID, number of abstracts received, date received, format of
data received and NAACCR version if electronic submission.

5.13. Within 30 days of the contract start date, the Contractor shall obtain from
the prior NHSCR vendor copies of hard copy logs and electronic logs of
abstracts submitted to NHSCR and shall maintain these files or modify or
upgrade them with the approval of DHHS. The DHHS will provide
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necessary contact information and facilitate this transfer.

5.14. The Contractor shall upgrade or replace user software and or hardware and
make necessary changes to customize software because of advancing
technology and or modifications required by DHHS, NPGR or NAACCR
standards. Make further upgrade(s) or replacements(s) during the life of this
contract, at an additional negotiated price, if so requested by DHHS and
subject to all necessary state approvals.

5.15. Within 30 days of the contract start date, the Contractor shall provide means
for DHHS staff approved by DHHS to periodically receive data from
NHSCR, while maintaining data security.

5.16. The Contractor shall develop and implement procedures for granting
access to data to approved NHSCR staff.

6. Database Management Activities

6.1. The Contractor shall develop and implement procedures for the timely and
accurate consolidation of cancer reports, within 30 days of the contract
effective date.

6.2. The Contractor shall consolidate tumor records and treatment information

in accordance with standards set forth by NPCR, NAACCR or the SEER.

6.3. The Contractor shall perform routine, standard edit checks on all reports
received in accordance with NPCR and NAACCR standards. The contractor

shall be responsible for the accuracy of the data it codes, edits and
consolidates and for maintaining the integrity of the data from year to year.
At a minimum, the editing and review of data would include:

6.3.1. Routine visual review of abstracts and error reports:

6.3.2. Installation and use of the most recent standard edit set metafiles as

chosen by the DHHS and the Contractor;V

6.3.3. Detection of errors during editing, documentation of errors found and
corrections of errors detected;

6.3.4. Detection and consolidation of multiple abstracts tumor records)
received during the contract that match cases reviewed in current or
prior years;

6.3.5. Detection and removal of duplicate consolidated cases (that is two or
more consolidated records for the same tumor in an individual);

6.3.6. Describe strategy for the routine, continual detection and removal of
the duplicates from the NHSCR database -even after current
accession year has closed.

6.4. The Contractor shall assure that the individual case records in the NHSCR

automated database are computer-edited for duplicate records, invalid
coding, improbable values, and inconsistencies prior to statistical

Trustees of. Dartmouth College Exhibit A-Amendment #2 Contractor Initials ' *

RFP-2017-DPHS-03-CANCE-01 Page 8 of 18 Date



New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Cancer Registry Operations

Exhibit A - Amendment #2

processing and data compilation for analytical purposes. Areas to be edited
include, but are not limited to;

6.4.1. Data Range Checks;

6.4.2. Geographic Coding Assignment;

6.4.3. Duplicate Record Checks;

6.4.4. Invalid values

6.4.5. Relational items as follows:

6.4.5.1. City at diagnosis field must only have values that exactly
match legitimate New Hampshire City, town, or village names
in list supplied by DHHS.

6.4.5.2. City at diagnosis, the code for county and state of diagnosis
must always agree and where city at diagnosis exists, a code
for county at diagnosis must be provided.

6.4.5.3. Vital status and cause of death fields must agree and cause
of death must be a valid ICD-10 cause of death code or one

of the special NAACCR codes.

6.4.5.4. Records should be checked to make sure that the physician's
name is correctly entered into first and last name fields.

6.4.5.5. Records should be checked to compare sex of patient and the
first name of the patient as a guide for determining correct
entry of the record.

6.4.5.6. No logical conflicts shall exist between all the treatment
diagnosis fields and the related reason for no treatment fields.

6.4.5.7. Apply applicable NPCR and NAACCR Central Registry edits
to data fields.

6.5. The Contractor shall geocode all cancer reports of New Hampshire
residents for address and census tract, for a given year and accurately
incorporate new and revised coding into NHSCR database.

7. Penetration Internal Security Testing

7.1. The State will perform Penetration Testing of the Internal Security of the
Contractor's IT system as defined in the Exhibit A-1 Additional Cancer Data
Registry Technical Requirements.

7.2. The State and Contractor shall determine a mutually agreed upon date for
the Penetration Testing and perform the testing within 90-days of the
effective date of the Contract.

7.3. The Contractor shall work with the State to negotiate a mutually agreeable
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remediation plan within 180-days of the Contract effective date.

7.4. The Contractor shall, as a part of the remediation plan process, fully assess
all vulnerabilities identified in the penetration test results. The contractor
will acknowledge and accept all vulnerabilities and findings of the
penetration test and develop an assessment report that describes, for each
vulnerability identified, the root cause, the risk level to the Department, the
potential adverse impact to the Department, the level of effort required to
remediate in man hours, the resource type or skillset required to remediate,
and the cost to remediate. The contractor shall remediate all high risk
findings as identified by the Department except where the remediation cost
to the Contractor is unacceptable, in which case, the Contractor will work
with the Department in good faith to identify appropriate means,
alternatives, and or compensating controls to address the vulnerabilities
identified.

8. Information and System Security Policies and Procedures

8.1. The Contractor shall maintain the confidentiality and integrity of information
in accordance with the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act,
Public Law 104-191 (https://aspe.hhs.gov/report/health-insurance-
portability-and-accountability-act-1996) and with the Standards for Privacy
and Security of Individually Identifiable Health Information, 45 CFR Parts
160 and 164 (http://www.hipaasurvivalguide.com/hipaa-regulations/hipaa-
regulations.php) and those parts of the HITECH Act as applicable
(http://\Aww.hipaasurvivalguide.com/hitech-act-summary.php). The
contractor shall also maintain and protect the confidentiality of the database
and information obtained and maintained during this contract in accordance
to NH RSA 141-B (http://vww.gencourt.state.nh.us/rsa/html/X/141-B/141-
B-mrg.htm) and NH Administrative Rules He-P 304
(http://www.gencourt.state.nh.us/rules/state_agencies/he-p300.html) and
shall acknowledge agreement with the Data Use Policy of the DHHS, which
views NHSCR database as DHHS-owned database, with data release
subject to restrictions and conditions.

8.2. The Contractor shall preserve the confidentiality, integrity, and accessibility
of State of New Hampshire data with administrative, technical and physical
information security controls and measures that conform to all application,
federal, state, and industry standards, such as NIST 800-53v4; which the
Contractor applies to its own information processing environment, and
ensures the same is applied to any other subcontractor(s) information
processing environments utilized to process or store State of New
Hampshire protected data.

8.3. The Contractor shall maintain the security of the system environment in
accordance with the requirements of the Cancer Data Registry Technical
Requirements in Appendix F, the United States Commerce Department's
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National Institute of Standards and Technology (MIST) Special Publication
800-53 and the Open Web Application Security Project (OWASP).

8.4. The Contractor shall maintain a system security and integrity manual which
includes plans, procedures and protocols for ensuring that the contractor's
NHSCR system will be properly secured, maintained and updated
throughout the contract term.

8.5. Within 14 days after initial contract start date, the Contractor shall
implement a series of internal procedures to ensure that:

8.5.1. Access to automated information is restricted to authorized persons,
on a needed basis, and control is maintained over all the documents
that contain sensitive information to ensure that these documents are

available only to authorized persons.

8.5.2. Implement full security measures to ensure the security and quality of
all the elements in the NHSCR database through procedures that shall
include the following:

8.5.2.1. Ensure that equipment is protected from theft and accidental
or deliberate damage or misuse

8.5.2.2. Ensure that once computer programs and data sets are
completed and in routine use, they are protected against
tampering. Carefully control access to and maintenance of
computer programs and NHSCR database.

8.5.2.3. Ensure that copies of original data submitted are maintained
and never altered.

8.5.2.4. Ensure that data are protected against inadvertent or
deliberate destruction, modification, or dissemination.

8.5.2.5. Ensure procedures for backup, archiving, and disaster
recovery for computer programs and NHSCR database.

8.5.2.6. Ensure that passwords are changed, access denied and other
security procedures are in place to protect against ongoing
access and sabotage when staff resign, are terminated, or no
longer assigned to NHSCR contract.

8.6. The Contractor shall maintain the security and integrity of the NHSCR data.
Re-process data at no additional cost to DHHS in accordance with DHHS
instructions if the DHHS or contractor finds that contractor has corrupted,
altered, tampered with, or improperly coded/processed any data sets during
the duration of the Contract.

8.7. The Contractor shall immediately report to DHHS all errors or anomalies in
the NHSCR data which could reasonably believe to suggest that security or
integrity of the NHSCR or its data may be compromised. The results of any
analysis shall be reported to the DHHS and, in addition, the steps it has
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taken or intends to take to ensure security and integrity of the NHSCR and
its data.

8.8. The Contractor shall implement appropriate policies, procedures and
protocols to identify active breaches or threatened breaches of the NHSCR
security integrity.

8.9. The Contractor shall report to DHHS any suspected breach to the NHSCR
data in accordance with Table 1 - Cancer Data Registry Technical
Requirements, A,-7.

9. Training and Education

9.1. The Contractor shall provide consultation, technical assistance, and training
to assure accurate, timely and complete data from reporters {registrars,
medical record personnel, providers and abstractors) at reporting facilities.

9.2. The Contractor shall provide technical assistance by phone or in person to
individual reporting facilities and providers during normal weekday business
hours; response time for telephone consultation shall be no longer than one
working day after request is received or for onsite consultation, no longer
than 10 working days.

9.3. The Contractor shall assess the training needs of various reporting facilities;
develop written guidance, policies and procedures for reporting facilities;
and provide technical assistance and training for reporting facilities

9.4. Annually, the Contractor shall convene state cancer registrars meeting to
include educational and technical sessions to cancer registrars of New
Hampshire hospitals to foster compliance with reporting requirements as
developed by the DHHS.

9.5. The Contractor shall provide twice annually, web-based training and
education sessions to cancer registrars of New Hampshire hospitals on
topics identified by the contractor in consultation with DHHS that will help
improve cancer reporting. These may include instruction on proper cancer
coding; use of edit sets; new software etc.

9.6. The Contractor shall send one (1) staff member to attend the North
American Association of Cancer Registries (NAACR) Conference in order

.  to increase its capacity for collecting and utilizing cancer-related data by
increasing staff knowledge.

10. Quality Control and Assurance (QA/QC) Activities

10.1. The Contractor shall perform quality assurance and control activities to
assure appropriate data coding, consolidation and documentation, and
assure complete case ascertainment and high quality data from all reporting
sources in accordance with NH rules and regulations, NAACCR, and NPCR
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standards.

10.2. The Contractor shall implement, within 30 days of the contract effective
date, a QA/QC implementation plan (including timeline) which at minimum
includes the following activities and routine operations:

10.2.1. Assignment of qualified individuals to perform QA/QC activities.

10.2.2. A routine schedule for edits and internal management reports.

10.2.3. A routine schedule for internal audits for QA/QC and data security and
provision of these reports to DHHS. The plan shall include written
procedures for the intemal monitoring of quality assurance procedures
and written procedures /steps implemented if quality control goals are
not met.

10.2.4. Procedures for documenting edits/changes made to data during
processing.

10.2.5. Routine training, assessment and professional development of the
contractors' staff.

10.3. The Contractor shall perform case finding activities utilizing traditional and
non-traditional sources to assure timeliness and completeness of cancer
reporting.

10.4. By October 31st of each year, The Contractor shall obtain from each
reporting hospital "diagnostic index" for case finding at all hospital reporting
facilities. A diagnostic index is a detailed patient listing of all discharges
meeting certain definitions in medical records coding. Encourage facilities
to submit electronic diagnostic indices.

10.5. By October 31st of each year, the Contractor shall complete Death
Clearance.

10.6. For each hospital, as resources allow, the key variables specified by
NAACCR and NPCR will be selected for visual editing of 25 cases at least
every five (5) years for experienced registrars, but up to 100 annually for
less experienced registrars or registrars who have not achieved an error
rate of <2%. If, after review and discussion with the hospital registrar, the
error rate identified in total from these fields is greater than 2%, then the
NHSCR will continue to visually edit cases from that hospital and will work
with the hospital registrar to improve abstracting.

10.7. The Contractor shall ensure that cleanliness of the database is, at a
minimum, in accordance with accepted NAACCR standards. A 2% error
rate threshold 'shall be the guide for visual editing of hospital registry
accuracy.

11. Reporting Activities

11.1. The Contractor shall produce quarterly timeliness and completeness

Trustees of Dartmouth College Exhibit A - Amendment #2 Contractor Initials

RFP-2017-DPHS-03-CANCE-01 Page 13 of 18 Date



New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Cancer Registry Operations

Exhibit A - Amendment #2

reports by hospital to monitor case reporting activities. Supply aggregate
timeliness and completeness reports to DHHS on a quarterly basis, stating
which hospitals are delinquent in their reporting and the steps taken to
improve reporting from delinquent hospitals.

11.2. The Contractor shall provide DHHS with a commentary relating to the
annual reports provided by NPGR and NAACCR. Contingent upon receipt
of complete death certificate data from New Hampshire Vital Records
provide an annual report monitoring completeness estimating the percent
of cases with histological verification (HV%). Submit a report to DHHS upon
completion of the contract period or reasonable amount of time when the
NAACCR and NPCR reports are available.

11.3. The Contractor shall prepare and submit to DHHS staff a semi-annual
review of contract progress by January 15 of the contract period. Provide
an update of progress on all contract items through the routine semi-annual
NHSCR progress report or work plan.

11.4. The Contractor shall cooperate with any audit of NHSCR for data quality by
NPCR or NPCR designated contractor. Submit to DHHS a summary of this
audit upon completion.

11.5. The Contractor shall provide, by December 31 of each year of the contract,
a finalized data set that has undergone complete QA/QC process. The
extract of the data would cover from January 1,1995 to date.

11.6. The Contractor shall provide DHHS an extract of the complete NHSCR
database from Jan 1,1995 to date upon request.

11.7. Upon approval from the DHHS, the Contractor shall submit finalized
datasets to NAACCR and to NPCR as specified by the NAACCR and NPCR
standards and Call for Data requirements. Submit copies of each of these
submissions to DHHS.

11.8. The Contractor shall provide cancer case data to and receive data from
states with which DHHS has a data exchange agreement, in accordance
with the terms of the exchange agreement. The data shall be submitted
using the agreed upon NAACCR format and will have been edited to the
best extent possible. The DHHS currently has exchange agreements with 7
states and additional agreements may be executed by the DHHS during the
life of this contract and shall be accommodated by the contractor.

11.9. Upon approval of the DHHS, the Contractor shall provide selected health
researchers, with electronic copies of NHSCR data for certain specific data
elements requested and cleared by DHHS.

11.10. Upon approval from the DHHS, the Contractor shall provide data to the
Vermont Breast and Cervical Program for breast and cervical cancer cases
among Vermont residents diagnosed in New Hampshire in accordance with
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the program's approved appljcatlon for data release by DHHS.

11.11. Upon approval from the DHHS, the Contractor shall provide colorectal
cancer case data to the NH Colorectal Cancer Screening Program in
accordance with the program's approved application for data release by
DHHS.

11.12. Upon approval from the DHHS, the Contractor shall provide breast cancer
case data to the NH Mammography Network in accordance with the
program's approved application for data release by DHHS; receive cancer
case data from the NH Mammography Network.

11.13. The Contractor shall direct any requests for data or analysis of NHSCR data
from researchers, the media or general public to the DHHS within 3 working
days of receipt of the request.

12. Other Programmatic Activity

12.1. The Contractor shall make available key personnel to meet with appropriate
DHHS personnel, as requested, to discuss policies and procedures,
ongoing activities, contract deliverables, performance measures, review
contract performance and transition to new contractor, etc.

12.2. The Contractor may include travel funds for appropriate staff to attend the
National Cancer Registrars Association (NCRA) and NAACCR meetings
annually for staff development.

12.3. The Contractor shall convene annually the New Hampshire State Cancer
Registry Advisory Panel to assist in building consensus, cooperation, and
planning for the registry and to enhance chronic disease program
coordination and collaboration. Representation should include key
organizations and individuals both within (e.g. representatives from all
cancer prevention and control components and chronic disease program)
and outside the program (e.g. hospital cancer registrars, the American
Cancer Society, American College of Surgeons liaison, clinical-laboratory
personnel, pathologists, and clinicians).

12.4. The Contractor shall participate as an active member when needed in New
Hampshire Comprehensive Cancer Collaboration.

12.5. The Contractor shall participate as an active member with DHHS to
collaborate in applying for grants that DHHS is interested in, regardless of
who receives the actual funding. Both DHHS and contractor agree to
consider the others' expenses and needs for operation and program growth
when applying for grants and distribution of financial resources when
funding is received.

12.6. The Contractor shall provide ad-hoc services related to cancer
epidemiology. Working with DHHS staff at DHHS offices, the time spent
may be up to twelve (12) hours per week on such tasks, as long as suitably
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qualified staff is available. These tasks will be mutually agreed upon by the
contractor and the DHHS, and supervised by the DHHS staff. Tasks
associated with these services may include;

12.6.1. Assist in the preparation of data and narrative for the annual cancer
report for New Hampshire.

12.6.2. Assist in the investigation of cancer clusters and response to concems
about the occurrence of cancer clusters in New Hampshire.

12.6.3. Assist with the preparation of manuscripts for publication and develop
preparatory materials for professional meetings based on the DHHS
needs.

12.6.4. Provide Institutional Review Board (IRB review) for the DHHS cancer
registry section (i.e. Cancer cluster investigations).

12.6.5. Enter into agreements with other organizations as needed for
processing data according to'the NPGR standards, for example, with
the National Death index to obtain death data, and with the Veterans
Administration (VA) to obtain VA cancer data.

13. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) Cooperative
Agreement Activities

13.1. The Contractor shall assist in drafting goals and program objectives,
progress reports and NHSCR budgets as requested by DHHS for the
purposes of the New Hampshire's application for the CDC Continuing
Cooperative Agreement for Enhancement of State Cancer Registries which
includes, but is not limited to:

13.1.1. Providing all contractor-specific documentation and assurances
necessary for the application.

13.1.2. Agreeing that the application for the CDC Cooperative Agreement will
be submitted for and all funding will be awarded to the DHHS.

13.1.3. Identifying contractor contributions to the^ NHSCR effort, not state
general funds or federal funds that would be applied to a direct or in-
kind match that may be required for application for the CDC
cooperative agreement.

13.1.4. Informing DHHS within one (1) working day of any cooperative
agreement related inquiries by CDC project or grants management
staff.

13.1.5. Representing the NHSCR on the NPCR and NAACCR- task force,
users group and or committees to leam recent updates, issues and
share NH experiences with all other states and will keep DHHS fully
informed of all such activities.

13.2. Where appropriate, NHSCR will communicate directly with NPCR and
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NAACCR on technical matters of cancer surveillance, standards and
submissions to NPCR and NAACCR and will keep DHHS fully informed of
all such activities.

14. Transition Activities

14.1. If Contractor is notable to fulfill the terms of this contract and solicitation of

a new vendor is necessary, the Contractor shall assist with the transition to
a new vendor. Within two (2) months of the end of the contract term, the
Contractor shall;

14.1.1. Provide the new vendor with a copy of the latest version of the NHSCR
database; the reporters' database; preregistration log; and the original
copies of all the backups of the database.

14.1.2. Write up procedures used to purge all NHSCR data from vendor's
hardware and send the procedures to DHHS for review and approval.
After approval of the procedures by the DHHS, purge all NHSCR data
from the hardware of vendor.

14.1.3. Train.up to four (4) people employed by the new vendor, by means of
a reasonable exchange of information on administration of the NHSCR
database, including an overview of reporters and data exchange
processes with other states. The training is anticipated to involve at
least the vendor's database manager and Quality Assurance
supervisor for approximately two days.

14.1.4. Provide the DHHS with any: hard copy of abstracts and pathology
reports submitted by reporting facilities; electronic diskettes; and all
documentation of interaction with reporting facilities.

14.1.5. Provide DHHS with a hard and electronic copy of the latest version of
the operation manual; system security and integrity manual; and all
other materials developed for the work process of NHSCR during the
contract process.

14.1.6. Close the web access for reporting facilities so that facilities can no
longer upload data of NHSCR data to the incumbent vendor.

15. Deliverables and Key Performance Indicators

15.1. The Contractor shall ensure that following performance indicators in Table
1  are annually achieved and monitored monthly to measure the
effectiveness of the agreement.

15.1.1. All date references in Table 1 shall be used for this contract unless

otherwise specifically noted in the main body of this contract.

15.1.2. All time periods are calendar days and not business days unless
otherwise specifically noted in the main body of this contract.
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Cancer Registry Operations

Exhibit A - Amendment #2

15.2. Annually, the Contractor shall develop and submit to the DHHS, a corrective
action plan for any deliverable and/or performance.

Table 1

Description of Key Variables Section

Number
Initial Term

Work Plan 2.1 30 days

Fully Qualified Staff 2.2 30 days

Allow DHHS Participation 2.4 Ongoing

Case Reporting

3. 4.1-4.3.
.  4.14.4,

11.1

Ongoing

Create/Update operation manual 4.9 30 days & ongoing

IT Infrastructure/Webserver 5.5-5.8 30 Days

Install Registry Software and prior data 5.9-5.10 30 days

Processes for laboratory and pathology reports 4-5 30 days

Reporters database 5.12 30 days

Registration log 5.13 30 days

Upgrade/Replace software 5.14 ongoing

DHHS data access 5.12- 5.13 30 days & as needed

Procedures for Consolidation of cases and reports 6.1 30 days

Run edit checks 6.3 Ongoing

Geocoding 6.4.2 Ongoing

System security and policies and procedures
9.1. 9.2.

9.5

14-60 days

Responsibility for consultation/assessment 8.1-8.2 Ongoing

QA/QC Plan 10.2 30 Days

Case Finding and Diagnostic Indices 10.4 October 31 of each year

Death Clearance 10.5 October 31 of each year

Quarterly Facility Reports 11.1 Once in 4 months

Histological Verification Report 11.2 Yearly

Semi Annual progress Report 11.3 January 15 & August 15 of each year

Final Incidence dataset 11.5 January 30 of each year

Extract of Incidence dataset 11.6 Ongoing

NPCR and NAACCR Annual Report 11.7 Yearly

Submit data to NPCR 11.7 November 30 of each year

Submit data to NAACCR 11.7 November 30 of each year

Interstate Data Exchange 11.8 Ongoing

Release of Data to researchers 11.9 Ongoing ,

Patient Centered Outcomes data

11 With Final Incidence dataset in 2016 and

2017 only, subiect to funding

Attend Meetings 12.2 Ongoing

CDC Cooperative Agreement Activities 13 Ongoing

Transition Activities 14 2 months

Trustees of Dartmouth College
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Exhibit Amendment #2

N«w Hampshlrg Dgpartmgnt of HaaRh anif Human SgrviCM

BMdoriPregrini Namo; Truateea of Dartmouth College

Budgai Raqinst (or Carteer Registry Operations

Budget Period: July 1. 2018 to June 30,2019 (SFY*19)

Total PrograiTi Coat Contractor Share / Match Funded by DHHS contract share

Direct Indirect TeUI Direct Indirect Total Direct indirect Total

Line Item Incretnental Fixed Incrarnental Rxed IrKretitertal Rxed

1. Total Satarv/Waoe* S  410.002.55 8 41.006.26 8 451.066.61 8 $ 8  410.062.55 8  41.006.26 8  451.068.81

2. Emolovee Beneftt* S  152.788.27 8 15.278.92 8 166,067.19 8' $ 8  152.768.27 8  15.276.92 8  168,067.19

3. CoRSuKants 8  8.400.00 8 640.00 8 9.240.00 8 8 86.400 8  640.00 8  9.240.00

4. Eoucment: S  4.000.00 8 400.00 8 4.400.00 8 $ 8  4.000.00 8  400.00 8  4,400,00

Rental $ 8 8 8 8 8 8 8

Reoair and Maintenance s 8 8 8 8 8 8 8

PurchaM^eoredation s 8 8 8 8 8 8 8

5. Suppies: J 8 8 8 8 8 8 8

Educattonal 8 8 8 8 8 8 8

Lab 8 8 8 s 8 8 8

Phatmacv 8 8 8 s s 8 8

Medical'' 8 8 . 8 8 8

Office 8  3.000.00 8 300.00 8 3.300.00 8 8 8  3.000.00 8  300.00 8  3.300.00

5. Travel 8  19,091.00 8 1.909.00 8 21.000.00 8 s 8  19.091.00 8  1.909.00 8  21.000.00

7. Occuoartcv 8 8 . 8 V 8 s 8 8

8. Current Expenaes 8 8 8 8 j 8 8

Teieohorte 8 8 . 8 . 8 8 8 8

Pottaoe 8  4,000,00 8 400.00 8 4.400.00 8 8 8  4.000.00 8  400.00 8  4.400.00

Subacnotiena- 8 8 . 8 . 8 1 8 8 8

Audit and Legal 8 8 8 8 t 8 8 8  ■ •
. Insurance 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8

Board Exoenaea 8 8  ' . 8 . 8 9 8  - 8 8

9. Solfwere 8  18.025.00 8 1.602.00 8 19.627.00 8 8 8 8  18.025.00 8  1.602.00 8  19.827.00

10. MarVeiiyi/ComfTXjrecationa 8 8 . 8 8 8 8 8

11. Staff Education artd Trainirw 8  2.000.00 8 200.00 8 2.200.00 8 s 8 8  2.000.00 8  ' 200.00 8  2.200.00

12. Subcontracts/Aoreementa 8  . 8 . 8 8 s 8 8

13. Other (soeciAc deta4a mandatory): 8  1.500.00 8 150.00 8 1.650.00 8 8 8' 8  1.500.00 8  150.00 8  1,650.00

14. Reoiatrar effort (hoaoitai leveO. contribu 8  228.384.00 8 22,636.40 8 251.222.40 8  228.364.00 8  22.638.40 8  251.222.40 8 8

1S, Indirect cost vneiver. eontrfeuted 8 8 152.602.37 8 152.602.37 8 8  152.602.37 8  152.602.37 8 8

8 8 • 8 - 8 8 8 8 8

TOTAL 8  8$1,2$0.82 8 237,726.95 8 1,066,977.77 8  226,364.00 8  175,440.77 8  403,624.77 8  «22,86«.62 8  62.286.16 8  665,153.00

b>4ir»ct A« A P*fC*nl o4 Dirtcl 27.9%

TruttMt ol Danmouffi Cdag*
RFP-2017-OPH«3^NCe
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Exhibit B - 5, Amendment #2

New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services

Bidder/Program Name: Trustees of Dartmouth College

Budget Request for: Cancer Registry Operations

Budget Period: July 1, 2019 to June 30, 2020 (SFY'20)

Total Program Cost Contractor Share / Match Funded *7 DHHS contract share

Line Item

Direct

Incremental

Indirect

Fixed

Total Direct

Incremental

Indirect

Fixed

Total Direct

Incremental

Indirect

Fixed

Total

1. Total Salary/Wages $  463,671.65 $  46,367.17 $ 510,038.62 S $ $ $  463,671.65 $ 46,367.17 S  510,038.62

2. Empioyee Benefits $  176,195.23 S  17,619.52 $  193,814.75 S $ $ $  176,195.23 $ 17,619.52 S  193,814.75

3. Consultants $ s S $ $ $ $ - $

4. Equipment: $  4,000.00 S  400.00 $  4,400.00 s $ $ $  4,000.00 $ 400.00 $  4.400.00

Rental s s $ s $ $ $ $ - S

Repair and Maintenanc $ $ s s $ $ s $ $

Purchase/Depredation $ s $ $ $ $ s $ $

5. Supplies: $ % $ s $ $ $ $ $

Educational % s $ $ $ $ $ $ $

Lab % 1 $ $ $ $ $ $ $

Pharmacy $ $ $ s $ $ $ $ $

Medical s $ $ s $ $ $ S - $

OfTice $  3,000.00 S  300.00 $  3,300.00 s $ $ S  3,000.00 $ 300.00 S  3,300.00

6. Travel $  18,643.00 $  1,884.30 $  20,727.30 s S s S  18.843.00 s 1.884.30 $  20.727.30

7. Occupar>cy S $  - - $ $ $ $ $ S - $

8. Current Expenses % s $ $ s S $ s $

Teleohone s $ $ $ $ s $ s - $

Postage $  4,000.00 S  400.00 S  4,400.00 $ $ s S  4,000.00 s 400.00 $  4,400.00

Subscriptions s $ $ S $ $ 6 s - $

Audit and Legal s s s $ s s $ $ S

Insurance $ s i $ s $ $ $ s

Board Expenses $ s $ $ s $ $ $ - $

9. Software $  18,565.58 $  1.856.56 $  20,422,14 $ $ $ $  18.565.58 $ 1,856.56 $  20,422.14

10. Marketing/Communication $ $ S $ s $ $ $ - S

11. Staff Education and Trainit $  2,000.00 $  200.00 $  2,200.00 $ $ $ $  2.000.00 $ 200.00 $  2,200.00

12. Subcontracts/Agreements $  2.000.00 $  200.00 $  2,200.00 $ s $ $  2.000.00 $ 200.00 $  2,200.00

13. Other (specific details mar $  1,500.00 $  150.00 S  1,650.00 $ $ $ $  1,500.00 $ 150.00 $  1,650.00

14. Registrar effort (hospital le\ S  298.447.00 $  29.844.70 $ 328,291.70 $  298,447.00 $ 29.844.70 $ 328.291.70 $ $ - $

15. Indirect cost waiver, contrib $ $  169.975.03 $  169,975.03 $ $169,975,03 $ 169.974.99 $ s S

$ $ $ $ s $ S $ -
s

TOTAL i  992,222.46 $  269,197.28 $1,261,419.73 $  298,447.00 $199,819.73 $ 498,266.69 $  693,775.46 $ 69,377.55 $  763,153.00

Indirect A$ A Percent of Direct 27.1%

Trustees of Dartmouth College
RFP-2017.DPHS-03-CANCE

Exhibit B • 5. Amertdment #2
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Exhibit B • 6, Amendment #2

New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services

Bkjdtr/Progrwn Namt: TrustMS of Dartmouth Collage

Budget Request for Cancer Registry Operations

Budget Period: July 1. 2020 to June 30, 2021 (SFY'21)

TeUI Program Cost Contractor Share 1 Match Funded try DHHS contract share

Direct Irtdirect Total Direct Indirect Total Direct Indirect Total

Line Item Incremental Fixed Incremental Fixed ItKremental Fixed

1. Total Salary/Wages S  463.671.65 S 46.367.17 8 510.036.82 8 8 8 8  463,671.65 8  46,367.17 8 510.038.82

2. Emplovee Benefits 8  176.195.23 s 17,619.52 8 193.814.75 8 8 8 8  176.195.23 8  17,619.52 8 193,814.75

3. Consultants S s . 8 . 8 8 8 8 8 -

4. Equipment: S  4.000.00 s 400.00 8 4.400.00 8 8 8 8  4,000.00 8  400.00 8 4,400.00

Rental $ 8 . 8 - 8 8 8 8 8 8 -

Repair and Maintenanc s 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 1 -

Purchase/Depreciation $ 8 8 8 8  . 8 8 8 8

5. Supplies: s 8 8 8 8 8 8. 8 8

Educational s 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8

Lab s 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8

Pharmacv s 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8

Medical s 8 - 8 - 8 8 8 8 8 8 -

Office $  3.000.00 8 300.00 8 3.300.00 8 8 8 8  3.000.00 8  300.00 8 3.300.00

6. Travel S  18.843.00 8 1.884.30 8 20.727.30 8 8 8 8  18.843.00 8  1.884.30 8 20.727.30

7. Occupancy s 8 . 8 . 8 8 8 8 8 8 -

8. Cunent Expenses s 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8

Telephone $ 8 . 8 - 8 8 8 8 8 8 -

Postage $  4.000.00 8 400.00 8 4,400.00 8 8 8 8  4.000.00 8  400.00 8 4.400.00

Subscriptions $ 8 . 8 . 8 8 8 8 8 8 -

Audit and Legal $ 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8

InsurarKe $ 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8

Board Expenses s 8 . 8 . 8 8 8 8 8 8 -

9. Software S  18.565.58 8 1.856.56 8 20,422.14 8 8 8 8  18.565.58 8  1.8S6.S6 8 20.422.14

10. Mar1(etino/Communication: S 8 . 8 . 8 8 8 8 8 8 -

11. Staff Education and Trainir S  2.000.00 8 200.00 8 2.200.00 8 8 8 8  2.000.00 8  200.00 8 2.200.00

12. Sulxontracts/Agreements $  2.000.00 8 200.00 8 2.200.00 8 8 8 8  2.000.00 8  200.00 8 2.200.00

13. Other (specific details man S  1.500.00 8 150.00 8 1.650.00 8 . 8 8 8  1,500.00 8  150.00 8 1.650.00

14. Registrar effort (hospital lev S  298.447.00 8 29.844.70 8 328.291.70 8 298.447.00 8 29,844.70 8 328.291.70 8 8 8 -

15. Irtdirect cost waiver, contrib $ 8 169.974.99 8 169.974.99 8 - 8 1 69,974,99 8  169.974.99 8 8 8

S 8 "  . 8 • 8 - 8 8 8 8 8 -

TOTAL S  992,222.46 $ 269.197.24 i 1,261,419.69 8 298,447.00 8 199,819.69 S 498,266.69 8  693,776.46 8  69,377.55 8 763,163.00

Indirect As A Percent of Direct 27.1%

Trustees of Dartmouth College
RFP.2017-DPHSJ}3-CANCE
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Exhibit B-7, Amendment #2

New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services

BWdftr/Program Nam*: Trust*** of Dartmouth Collag*

Budgat R*qu*stfor Cancer Registry Oparations

Budget Pariod: Juiy 1, 2021 to June 30, 2022 {SFY'22)

Total Program Cost Contractor Share / Match Funded by DHHS contract share

Direct Indirect ToUl Direct Indirect Total Direct Indirect Total

Line item Incremental Fixed Irtcremerrtal Fixed Incremental Fixed

1. Total SalaryAiVages S  463.671.65 8 46.367.17 8 510.038.82 8 $ $ 8  463,671.65 8  46,367.17 8 510.036.82

2. Employee Benefits $  176.195.23 8 17.619.52 8 193.814.75 8 8 8 8  176.195.23 8  17.619.52 8 193.614.75

3. Consultants 8 8 - 8 - 8 8 8 8 8 -

4. Equtpmertt: 8  4.000.00 8 400.00 8 4,400.00 8 8 8 8  4.000.00 8  400.00 8 4.400.00

Rental 8 8 . 8 . 8 8 8 8 8 8 -

Repair artd Maintenanc 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8

Purchase/Depreciation 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8

5. Supplies: 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8

Educational S 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8

Lab S 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8

Pharmacy 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8

Medical 8 8 . 8 . 8 s 8 8 8 8 -

Office S  3.000.00 8 300.00 8 3,300.00 8 8 8 8  3.000.00 8  300.00 8 3.300.00

6. Travel $  16.843.00 8 1.884.30 8 20,727,30 8 8 8 8  18.843.00 8  1.884.30 8 20.727.30

7. Occupancy 8 8 . 8 . 8 s 8 8 8 8 -

8. Cunent Expenses 8 8 8 8 $ 8 8 8 8

Telephone 8 8 . 8 . 8 8 8 8 8 8 -

Postage S  4.000.00 8 400.00 8 4.400.00 8 8 8 8  4.000.00 8  400.00 8 4.400.00

Subscriptions 8 8 . 8 . 8 8 s 8 8 8 -

Audit and Legal 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8

InsurarKe 8 8 8 8 $ 8 8 8 8

Board Expenses S 8 . 8 . 8 s 8 8 8 8 -

9. Software $  18.565.58 8 1.856.56 8 20,422.14 8 8 8 8  18.565.58 8  1.656.56 8 20,422.14

10. Martceting/Communication: 8 8 . 8 . 8 8 8 8 8 8 -

11. Staff Education ar>d Trainit 8  2.000.00 8 200.00 8 2.200.00 8 8 8 8  2.000.00 8  200.00 8 2.200.00

12. Sut>contracts/Aareements S  2.000.00 8 200.00 8 2.200.00 8 8 8 8  2,000.00 8- 200.00 8 2.200.00

13. Other (specific details man 8  1.500.00 8 150.00 8 1.650.00 8 - 8 8 8  1,500.00 8  150.00 8 1,650.00

14. Registrar effort (hospital lev S  298.447.00 8 29.844.70 8 328.291.70 8 298,447,00 8  29.844.70 8 328.291.70 8 8 8 -

1S. Indirect cost waiver, conthb 8 8 169.974.99 8 169.974.99 8 . 8 169.974.99 8  169.974.99 8 8 8

S 8 • 8 - 8 - 8 8 8 8 8 -

TOTAL S  992,222.46 8 269,197.24 S 1,261,419.69 $ 296,447.00 $ 199,819.69 8 498,266.69 S  693,775.46 8  69,377.65 $ 763,153.00

Indirect As A Percent of Direct 27.1%

Trustees of Dartmouth College
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services

Exhibit K

DHHS Information Security Requirements

A. Definitions

The following terms may be reflected and have the described meaning in this document:

1. "Breach" means the loss of control, compromise, unauthorized disclosure,
unauthorized acquisition, unauthorized access, or any similar term referring to
situations where persons other than authorized users and for an other than authorized
purpose have access or potential access to personally Identifiable information,
whether physical or electronic. With regard to Protected Health Information," Breach"
shall have the same meaning as the term "Breach" in section 164.402 of Title 45,
Code of Federal Regulations.

2. "Computer Security Incident" shall have the same meaning "Computer Security
Incident" In section two (2) of NIST Publication 800-61, Computer Security Incident
Handling Guide, National Institute of Standards and Technology, U.S. Department of
Commerce.

3. "Confidential Information" or "Confidential Data" means all confidential information

disclosed by one party to the other such as all medical, health, financial, public
assistance beneftts and personal information including without limitation. Substance
Abuse Treatment Records, Case Records, Protected Health Information and
Personally Identifiable Information.

Confidential Information also includes any and all Information owned or managed by
the State of NH - created, received from or on behalf of the Department of Health and
Human Services (DHHS) or accessed in the course of performing contracted sen/ices
- of which collection, disclosure, protection, and disposition is governed by state or
federal law or regulation. This information includes, but is not limited to Protected
Health Information (PHI), Personal Information (PI), Personal Financial Information
(PFI), Federal Tax Information (FTI), Social Security Numbers (SSN), Payment Card
Industry (PCI), and or other sensitive and confidential information.

4. "End User" means any person or entity (e.g.. contractor, contractor's employee,
business associate, subcontractor) working on behalf of the contractor that receives
DHHS data or derivative data in accordance with the terms of this Contract.

5. "HIPAA" means the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 and the
regulations promulgated thereunder.

6. "Incident" means an act that potentially violates an explicit or implied security policy,
which includes attempts (either failed or successful) to gain unauthorized access to a
system or its data, unwanted disruption or denial of service, the unauthorized use of a
system for the processing or storage of data; and changes to system hardware,
firmware, or software characteristics without the owner's knowledge, Instruction, or
consent. Incidents Include the loss of data through theft or device misplacement, loss
or misplacement of hardcopy documents, and misrouting of physical or electronic mail.

VS. Last update 10/09/18 Exhibit K Contractor Initials
Modified for Dartmouth as of 4.16.2019 DHHS Information

Security Requirements
Page 1 of 9 , Date
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services

Exhibit K

DHHS Information Security Requirements

all of which may have the potential to put the data at risk of unauthorized access, use,
disclosure, modification or destruction.

7. "Open Wireless Network" means any network or segment of a network that is not
designated by the State of New Hampshire's Department of Information
Technology or delegate as a protected network (designed, tested, and approved,
by means of the State, to transmit) will be considered an open network and not
adequately secure for the transmission of unencrypted PI, PFI, PHI or confidential
DHHS data.

8. "Personal Information" (or "PI") means information which can be used to distinguish or
trace an individual's identity, such as their name, social security number, personal
information as defined in New Hampshire RSA 359-C:19, biometric records, etc.,
alone, or when combined with other personal or identifying information which is linked
or linkable to a specific individual, such as date and place of birth, mother's maiden
name, etc.

9. "Privacy Rule" shall mean the Standards for Privacy of Individually Identifiable Health
Information at 45 C.F.R. Parts 160 and 164, promulgated under HIPAA by the United
States Department of Health and Human Services.

10. "Protected Health Information" (or "PHI") has the same meaning as provided in the
definition of "Protected Health Information" in the HIPAA Privacy Rule at 45 C.F.R. §
160.103.

11. "Security Rule" shall mean the Security Standards for the Protection of Electronic
Protected Health Information at 45 C.F.R. Part 164, Subpart C, and amendments
thereto.

12. "Unsecured Protected Health Information" means Protected Health Information that is

not secured by a technology standard that renders Protected Health Information
unusable, unreadable, or indecipherable to unauthorized individuals and is developed
or endorsed by a standards developing organization that is accredited by the American
National Standards Institute.

I. RESPONSIBILITIES OF DHHS AND THE CONTRACTOR

A. Business Use and Disclosure of Confidential Information.

1. The Contractor must not use, disclose, maintain or transmit Confidential Information

except as reasonably necessary as outlined under this Contract. Further, Contractor,
including but not lirriited to all its directors, officers, employees and agents, must not
use, disclose, maintain or transmit PHI in any manner that would constitute a violation
of the Privacy and Security Rule.

2. The Contractor must not disclose any Confidential Information in response to a request

vs. Last update 10/09/16 Exhibit K Contractor Initials

ModifiedforDartmouthasof4.16.2019 DHHS Information
Security Requirements

Page 2 of 9 , Date



New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services

Exhibit K

DHHS Information Security Requirements

for disclosure on the basis that it is required by law, in response to a subpoena, etc.,
without first notifying DHHS so that DHHS has an opportunity to consent or object to
the disclosure.

3. If DHHS notifies the Contractor that DHHS has agreed to be bound by additional
restrictions over and above those uses or disclosures or security safeguards of PHI
pursuant to the Privacy and Security Rule, the Contractor must be bound by such
additional restrictions and must not disclose PHI in violation of such additional

restrictions and must abide by any additional security safeguards.

4. The Contractor agrees that DHHS Data or derivative there from disclosed to an End
User must only be used pursuant to the terms of this Contract.

5. The Contractor agrees DHHS Data obtained under this Contract may not be used for
any other purposes that are not Indicated in this Contract.

6. The Contractor agrees to grant access to the data to the authorized representatives of
DHHS for the purpose of Inspecting to confirm compliance with the terms of this
Contract.

II. METHODS OF SECURE TRANSMISSION OF DATA

1. Application Encryption. If End User is transmitting DHHS data containing Confidential
Data between applications, the Contractor attests the applications have been
evaluated by an expert knowledgeable in cyber security and 'that said application's
encryption capabilities ensure secure transmission via the internet.

2. Computer Disks and Portable Storage Devices. End User may not use computer disks
or portable storage devices, such as a thumb drive, as a method of transmitting DHHS
data.

3. Encrypted Email. End User may only employ email to transmit Confidential Data if
email Is encrypted and being sent to and being received by email addresses of
persons authorized to receive such information.

4. Encrypted Web Site. If End User is employing the Web to transmit Confidential Data,
the secure socket layers (SSL) must be used and the web site must be secure. SSL
encrypts data transmitted via a Web site.

5. File Hosting Services, also known as File Sharing Sites. End User may not use file
hosting services, such as Dropbox or Google Cloud Storage, to transmit Confidential
Data.

6. Ground Mail Service. End User may only transmit Confidential Data via certified ground
mail within the continental U.S. and when sent to a named Individual.

7. Laptops and PDA. If End User is employing portable devices to transmit Confidential
Data said devices must be encrypted and password-protected.

8. Open Wireless Networks. End User may not transmit Confidential Data via an open

vs. Last update 10/09/18

Modified for Dartmouth as of 4.16.2019
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services

Exhibit K

DHHS Information Security Requirements

wireless network. End User must employ a virtual private network (VPN) when
remotely transmitting via an open wireless network.

9. Remote User Communication. If End User is employing remote communication to
access or transmit Confidential Data, a virtual private network (VPN) must be installed
on the End User's mobile device(s) or laptop from which information will be

transmitted or accessed.

10. SSH File Transfer Protocol (SFTP), also known as Secure File Transfer Protocol. If
End User is employing an SFTP to transmit Confidential Data, End User will structure
the Folder and access privileges to prevent inappropriate disclosure of information.
SFTP folders and sub-folders used for transmitting Confidential Data will be coded for 24-
hour auto-deletion cycle (i.e. Confidential Data will be deleted every 24 hours).

11. Wireless Devices. If End User is transmitting Confidential Data via wireless devices, all
data must be encrypted to prevent inappropriate disclosure of information.

RETENTION AND DISPOSITION OF IDENTIFIABLE RECORDS

The Contractor will only retain the data and any derivative of the data for the duration of this
Contract. After such time, the Contractor will have 30 days to destroy the data and any
derivative under its control in whatever form it may exist, unless, otherwise required by law or
permitted under this Contract. To this end, the parties must:

A. Retention

1. The Contractor agrees it will not store, transfer or process data collected in
connection with the services rendered under this Contract outside of the United

States. This physical location requirement shall also apply in the implementation of
cloud computing, cloud service or cloud storage capabilities, and includes backup
data and Disaster Recovery locations.

2. The Contractor agrees to ensure proper security monitoring capabilities are in place
to detect potential security events that can impact State of NH systems and/or
Department confidential information for contractor provided systems.

3. The Contractor agrees to provide security awareness and education for its End Users
in support of protecting Department confidential information.

4. The Contractor agrees to retain all electronic and hard copies of Confidential Data
in a secure location'and identified in section IV. A.2

5. The Contractor agrees Confidential Data stored in a Cloud must be in a
FedRAMP/HITECH compliant solution and comply with all applicable statutes and
regulations regarding the privacy and security. All servers and devices must have
currently-supported and hardened operating systems, the latest anti-viral, anti-
hacker, anti-spam, anti-spyware, and anti-malware utilities. The environment, as a
whole, must have aggressive intrusion-detection and firewall protection.

vs. Last update 10/09/18 ExhibitK Contractor Initials
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services

Exhibit K

DHHS Information Security Requirements

6. The Contractor agrees to and ensures its complete cooperation with the State's
Chief Information Officer In the detection of any security vulnerability of the hosting
infrastructure.

B. Disposition

1. If the Contractor will maintain any Confidential Information on its systems (or its sub
contractor systems), the Contractor will maintain a documented process for securely
disposing of such data upon request or contract termination; and will obtain written
certification for any State of New Hampshire data destroyed by the Contractor or
any subcontractors as a part of ongoing, emergency, and or disaster recovery
operations. When no longer in use, electronic media containing State of New
Hampshire data shall be rendered unrecoverable via a secure wipe program in
accordance with industry-accepted standards for secure deletion and media
sanitization, or otherwise physically destroying the media (for example, degaussing)
as described , in NISI Special Publication 800-88, Rev 1, Guidelines for Media
Sanitization, National Institute of Standards and Technology, U. S. Department of
Commerce. The Contractor will document and certify in writing at time of the data
destruction, and will provide written certification to the Department upon request.
The written certification will include all details necessary to demonstrate data has
been properly destroyed and validated. Where applicable, regulatory and
professional standards for retention requirements will be jointly evaluated by the
State and Contractor prior to destruction.

2. Unless otherwise specified, within thirty (30) days of the termination of this Contract,
Contractor agrees to destroy all hard copies of Confidential Data using a secure
method such as shredding.

3. Unless otherwise specified, within thirty (30) days of the termination of this Contract,
Contractor agrees to completely destroy all electronic Confidential Data by means
of data erasure, also known as secure data wiping.

iV. PROCEDURES FOR SECURITY

A. Contractor agrees to safeguard the DHHS Data received under this Contract, and any
derivative data or files, as follows:

1. The Contractor will maintain proper security controls to protect Department confidential
information collected, processed, managed, and/or stored in the delivery of contracted
services.

2. The Contractor will maintain policies and procedures to protect Department confidential
information throughout the information lifecycle, where applicable, (from creation,
transformation, use, storage and secure destruction) regardless of the media used to
store the data (i.e., tape, disk, paper, etc.).

V5. Last update 10/09/18 Exhibit K Contractor Initials
Modified for Dartmouth as of 4,16.2019 DHHS Information
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Exhibit K

DHHS Information Security Requirements

3. The Contractor will maintain appropriate authentication and access controls to
contractor systems that collect, transmit, or store Department confidential information
where applicable.

4. The Contractor will ensure proper security monitoring capabilities are in place to detect
potential security events that can impact State of NH systems and/or Department
confidential Information for contractor provided systems.

5. The'Contractor will provide regular security awareness and education for its End Users

in support of protecting Department confidential information.

6. If the Contractor will be sub-contracting any core functions of the engagement
supporting the services for State of New Hampshire, the Contractor will maintain a
program of an internal process or processes that defines specific security expectations,
and monitoring compliance to security requirements that at a minimum match those for
the Contractor, including breach notification requirements.

7. The Contractor will work with the Department to sign and comply with all applicable
State of New Hampshire and Department system access and authorization policies and
procedures, systems access forms, and computer use agreements as part of obtaining
and maintaining access to any Department system(s). Agreements will be completed
and signed by the Contractor and any applicable sub-contractors prior to system
access being authorized.

8. If the Department determines the Contractor is a Business Associate pursuant to 45
CFR 160.103, the Contractor will execute a HIPAA Business Associate Agreement
(BAA) with the Department and is responsible for maintaining compliance with the
agreement.

9. The Contractor will work with the Department at Its request to complete a System
Management Survey. The purpose of the suryey is to enable the Department and
Contractor to monitor for any changes in risks, threats, and vulnerabilities that may
occur over the life of the Contractor engagement. The survey will be completed
annually, or an alternate time frame at the Departments discretion with agreement by
the Contractor, or the Department may request the survey be completed when the
scope of the engagement between the Department and the Contractor changes.

10. The Contractor will not store, knowingly or unknowingly, any State of New Hampshire
or Department data offshore or outside the boundaries of the United States unless prior
express written consent is obtained from the Information Security Office leadership
member within the Department.

11. Data Security Breach Liability. In the event of any security breach Contractor shall
make efforts to investigate the.causes of the breach, promptly take measures to prevent
future breach and minimize any damage or loss resulting from the breach. The State
shall recover from the Contractor costs of response and recovery from the breach.

V5. Last update 10/09/18

Modified for Dartmouth as of 4.16.2019
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services

Exhibit K

DHHS Information Security Requirements

subject to the limitation of liability as agreed to by the parties in Subsection 4.2 of Exhibit
'  C-1 of the contract, including but not limited to: credit monitoring services, mailing costs

and costs associated with website and telephone call center services necessary due to
the breach. ^

12. Contractor must, comply with all applicable statutes and regulations regarding the
privacy and security of Confidential Information, and must in allother.respects maintain
the privacy and security of PI and PHI at a level and scope that is not less than the
level and scope of requirements applicable to federal agencies, Including, but not
limited to, provisions of the Privacy Act of 1974 (5 U.S.C. § 552a), DHHS Privacy Act
Regulations (45 C.F.R. §5b), HIPAA Privacy and Security Rules (45 C.F.R. Parts 160
and 164) that govern protections for Individually identifiable health Information and as
applicable under State law.

13. Contractor agrees to establish and maintain appropriate administrative, technical, and
physical safeguards to protect the confidentiality of the Confidential Data and to prevent
unauthorized use or access to it. The safeguards must provide a level and scope of
security that is not less than the level and scope of security requirements established
by the State of New Hampshire, Department of Information Technology. Refer to
Vendor Resources/Procurement at https://www.nh.gov/doit/vendor/lndex.htm for the
Department of Information Technology policies, guidelines, standards, and
procurement information relating to vendors.

/

14. Contractor agrees to maintain a documented breach notification and incident response
process. The Contractor will notify the State's Privacy Officer and the State's Security
Officer of any security breach immediately, at the email addresses provided in Section
VI. This includes a confidential information breach, computer security incident, or
suspected breach which affects or includes any State of New Hampshire systems that
connect to the State of New Hampshire netwoi1<.

15. Contractor must restrict access to the Confidential Data obtained under this Contract

to only those authorized End Users who need such DHHS Data to perform their
official duties in connection with purposes Identified in this Contract.

16. The Contractor must ensure that all End Users:

a. comply with such safeguards as referenced In Section IV A. above. Implemented
to protect Confidential Information that is fumished by DHHS under this Contract
from loss, theft or inadvertent disclosure.

b. safeguard this information at all times.

c. ensure that laptops and other electronic devices/media containing PHI, PI,orPFI
are encrypted and password-protected.

d. send emails containing Confidential Information only if encrvoted and being sent
to and being received by email addresses of persons authorized to receive such
information.

vs. Last update 10/09/18 Exhibit K Contractor Initials
Modified for Dartmouth as of 4.16.2019 DHHS information
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e. limit disclosure of the Confidential Information to the extent permitted by law.

f. Confidential Information received under this Contract and individually identifiable
data derived from DHHS Data, must be stored in an area that is physically and
technologically secure from access by unauthorized persons during duty hours
as well as non-duty hours (e.g., door locks, card keys, biometric identifiers, etc.).

g. only authorized End Users may transmit the Confidential Data, including any
derivative files containing personally identifiable information, and in all cases,
such data must be encrypted at all times when in transit, at rest, or when stored
on portable media as required in section IV above.

h. in all other instances Confidential Data must be maintained, used and disclosed

using appropriate safeguards, as determined by a risk-based assessment of the
circumstances involved.

i. understand that their user credentials (user name and password) must not be
shared with anyone. End Users will keep their credential information secure.
This applies to credentials used to access the site directly or indirectly through a
third party application.

Contractor is responsible for oversight and compliance of their End Users. DHHS
reserves the right to conduct onsite inspections to monitor compliance with this Contract,
including the privacy and security requirements provided in herein, HIPAA, and other
applicable laws and Federal regulations until such time the Confidential Data is disposed
of in accordance with this Contract.

V. LOSS REPORTING

The Contractor must notify the State's Privacy Officer and Security Officer of any Security
Incidents and Breaches immediately, at the email addresses provided in Section VI.

The Contractor must further handle and report Incidents and Breaches involving PHI in
accordance with the agency's documented Incident Handling and Breach Notification
procedures and in accordance with 42 C.F.R. §§ 431.300 - 306. In addition to, and
notwithstanding. Contractor's compliance with all applicable obligations and procedures.
Contractor's procedures must also address how the Contractor will:

1. Identify Incidents;

2. Determine if personally identifiable information is involved in Incidents;

3. Report suspected or confirmed Incidents as required in this Exhibit or P-37;

4. Identify and convene a core response group to determine the risk level of Incidents
and determine risk-based responses to Incidents; and

5. Determine whether Breach notification is required, and. If so. Identify appropriate
Breach notification methods, timing, source, and contents from among different

V5. Last update 10/09/18
Modified for Dartmouth as of 4.16.2019
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DHHS Information Security Requirements

options, and bear costs associated with the Breach notice as well as any mitigation
measures subject to the limitation of liability as agreed to by the parties in Subsection
4.2 of Exhibit C-1 of the contract.

Incidents and/or Breaches that implicate PI must be addressed and reported, as
applicable, in accordance with NH RSA 359-C:20.

VI. PERSONS TO CONTACT

A. DHHS Privacy Officer:

DHHSPrivacyOfficer@dhhs.nh.gov

B. DHHS Security Officer:

DHHSInformationSecurityOffice@dhhs.nh.gov

V5. Last update 10/09/18 Exhibit K Contractor Initials
ModifiedforDartmouthasof4.16.2019 DHHS Information
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State of New Hampshire

Department of State

CERTIFICATE

I, William M. Gardner, Secretary of State of the State of New Hampshire, do hereby certify that TRUSTEES OF DARTMOUTH

COLLEGE a New Hampshire Slate Chartered (Legislative) formed to transact business in New Hampshire on December 13,

1769.1 further certify that it has paid the fees required by law and has not dissolved.

Business ID: 66740

Certificate Number: 0004374568

tOm

IN TESTIMONY WHEREOF,

1 hereto set my hand and cause to be affixed

the Seal of the State of New Hampshire,

this 1 Ith day of January A.D. 2019.

w-

William M. Gardner

Secretary of State



UnTT

Dartmouth College hanover • new Hampshire • 03755

BOARD OF TRUSTEES

CERTIFICATE

I, Laura H. Hercod, hereby certify that 1 am Assistant Clerk of Trustees of Dartmouth College, a corporation
created by Royal Charter and existing under the laws of the State of New Hampshire; that as Assistant Clerk
1 have custody of the records of meetings of the Board of Trustees of said corporation; and that at a meeting
of said Board duly called and held on the 9''' day of April, 20I I at which a quorum was present and acting
throughout, the following vote was adopted:

VOTED: To approve the Signature and Requisition Authority Policy, effective July 1,201 1
or such earlier date as the Executive Vice President/Chief Financial Officer shall determine.

The provisions of the Signature and Requisition Authority Policy shall take precedence
over any previous inconsistent vote of the Board of Trustees.

I further certify that said Board voted to adopt amendments to the Signature and Requisition Authority
Policy on March 3, 2012 {effective January' I, 2012), September 22, 2013, January 2, 2014, March 8,
2014, November 8, 2014, and September 17, 2016, March 4, 2017, and November 4, 2017, and that
pursuant to authority granted in the policy, amendments by the Executive Vice President and the Provost
were made August 7, 2015 (effective July 1, 2015), as amended on September 17, 2016, March 4, 2017
and as further amended on November 6, 2017. The document is available on Dartmouth's website at:

http://www.dartmouth.edu/--control/Dolicies/signature-authoritv.html.

I further certify that said vote remains in full force and effect as of the date hereof and is not contrary to
any provision of the Charter of said corporation.

I further certify that attached hereto is a true and correct copy of the Introduction and the Sponsored
Activities Administration and Intellectual Property Transactions section (Appendix G) of the said Signature
and Requisition Authority Policy.

I further certify that the following persons were appointed to the positions opposite their respective names
and continue to serve in said positions as of the dates shown:

David F. Kotz

Dean Madden

Gail Goodness

Jill Mortali

Nila Bhakuni

Heather A. Arnold

Interim Provost

Vice Provost for Research

Controller

Director, Office of Sponsored Projects
Director of Technology Transfer Office
Associate Director, Office of Sponsored
Projects

November 23, 2017

July 1,2017
June 9, 2008

September 15, 2008
July 1,2015
September I, 2016

IN W/l ESS WHEREOF- I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the seal of the corporation this
day of , 201^.

Laura H. Hercod, Assistant Clerk

Trustees of Dartmouth College



Appendix G: Sponsored Activities Administration and Intellectual Property

Transactions

Grants (including sub-grants) for

external support for research

(applications and agreements)

Over $5.000.000

Director, OSP, or Vice Provost for Research

Up to $5.000.000

Director, Associate Director, or Assistant Director, OSP

Up to $2.000.000

Director, Associate Director, Assistant Director, Senior Grants

Officer, or Grants Officer, OSP

Contracts (including sub-contracts)

for external support for research

(applications and agreements) and

fee for service agreements.

Up to $500.000

Director, Associate Director, Assistant Director, or Senior Grants

Officer, OSP

Up to $1.000.000

Director or Associate Director, OSP

Over $1.000.000

Director, OSP, or Vice Provost for Research

Agreements with federal agencies

for reimbursement of facilities and

administrative costs

•  Director, OSP, or Vice Provost for Research; and

•  EVPorCFO

jointly

Approval of Sub-recipient

Invoices/payments

OSP and PI, jointly

Purchases of goods and services

with grant or contract funds

Titles (e.g., "Director of Budget &

Fiscal Affairs", "EDAF") refer to

the designated position in the
school or department that is the

recipient of the grant or contract

as recorded in the Office of

Sponsored Projects.

When a grant or.contract has more

than one PI, each PI is authorized

to exercise the authority under this

Policy with respect to the portion

of the project for which he or she is

responsible.

In addition to the delegations set forth below, authorized staff
members, and research team members designated in writing by

the PI, may make purchases through any procurement
mechanism up to the dollar amount permitted underthe

Procurement Card System, or such lower dollar amount as may
be set by the PI.

Up to $5.000

Any regular employee with purchasing responsibility for the
grant

Up to $25.000

•  PI, Laboratory Manager, or Grant Manager, or PI designee;

and

•  OSP

Up to $100.000

•  PI; or

•  Dean's designee with permission of PI



(PI and EDAF, jointly, may delegate authority up to $100,000
in writing to other staff members);

-and-

•  OSP

Up to $250.000

•  PI; and

•  Dean's Designee

jointly;

-and-

•  OSP

Over $250.000

•  PI and Dean or Dean's designee, jointly; and

•  OSP

Additional Approvals:

•  Review by the General Counsel,Associate or Assistant

General Counsel is also required for transactions over

$500,000

Agreements relating to the

transfer of materials used in

scientific research

Director, Technology Transfer Office; in the Director's absence,

Director or Associate Director, OSP

The Director of Technology Transfer may delegate authority to

the Contract Manager.

Agreements for licenses and

options of inventions/patents
owned by Dartmouth pursuant to

Dartmouth's Policy on Patents,

Copyrights and Other Intellectual

Property Rights

Up to $500.000

Director, Technology Transfer Office

Over $500.000

Director, Technology Transfer Office, and

Associate Provost for Entrepreneurship and Technology

Transfers, jointly
Agreements for licenses and

options of works of

authorship/copyrights owned by

Dartmouth pursuant to

Dartmouth's Policy on Patents,

Copyrights and Other Intellectual

Property Rights

Dean of Libraries with respect to works administered by the

Libraries

Director, Technology Transfer Office with respect to software

General Counsel. Associate or Assistant General Counsel with

respect to all other works

Authority to execute documents

pertaining to the registration and '

protection of intellectual property,

including but not limited to powers

of attorney, assignments, small

entity forms and certifications

required by the United States

Director, Technology Transfer Office

The Director of Technology Transfer may delegate authority to

the Contract Manager or Senior Business Development &

Licensing Manager.



Patent and Trademark Office of

patent authorities of foreign
countries

Authority to sign confidentiality

and non-disclosure agreements in

connection with the licensing

(outgoing and incoming) and
marketing of intellectual property

Director, Technology Transfer Office

The Director of Technology Transfer may delegate authority to

the Contract Manager or Senior Business Development &

Licensing Manager.

Engagement of attorneys to

represent Dartmouth in
connection with the evaluation of

inventions and the filing and

prosecution of patents

Director, Technology Transfer Office, in consultation with the

General Counsel

Licenses for the use of College-owned

trademarks

General Counsel, Associate General Counsel, Assistant General

Counsel, or Trademark Licensing Administrator

State and federal trademark

registrations

General Counsel, Associate General Counsel or Assistant General

Counsel



CERTIFICATE OF LIABILITY INSURANCE
DATE IMM/DD/YYYY)

04/15/2019 a

THIS CERTIFICATE IS ISSUED AS A MATTER OF INFORMATION ONLY AND CONFERS NO RIGHTS UPON THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER. THIS
CERTIFICATE DOES NOT AFFIRMATIVELY OR NEGATIVELY AMEND, EXTEND OR ALTER THE COVERAGE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES

BELOW. THIS CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A CONTRACT BETWEEN THE ISSUING INSURER(S), AUTHORIZED
REPRESENTATIVE OR PRODUCER, AND THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER.

IMPORTANT: If the certificate holder Is an ADDITIONAL INSURED, the pollcy(ie8) must have ADDITIONAL INSURED provisions or be endorsed.
If SUBROGATION IS WAIVED, subject to the terms and conditions of the policy, certain policies may require an endorsement A statement on
this certificate does not confer lights to the certificate holder In lieu of such endor8ement(s).

PROOUCER

Marsh USA Inc.

1717 Arch Slreei
Philadelphia. PA 19103-2797

J09254.OART.GAWUP-1&-19

CONTACT
NAME:

PHONE FAX
IA« No.FrtI: lATC. Nol:

E-MAIL
ADDRESS:

INSURERIS) AFFOROINQ COVERAGE NAICd

INSURER A: Pinnade Conscxtlum of Kiaher Ed VT RRRG 11980

INSURED

TRUSTEES OF DARTMOUTH CaLEGE

AHN: TINA FEENEY

53 S. MAIN STREET. SUITE 212
HANOVER, NH 03755

INSURER B: Safety National Casualty Corcoration 15105

INSURER C: N/A N/A

INSURER 0:N/A N/A

INSURER E: N/A N/A

INSURER F : N/A N/A

COVERAGES

THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT THE POLICIES OF INSURANCE LISTED BELOW HAVE BEEN ISSUED TO THE INSURED NAMED ABOVE FOR THE POLICY PERIOD
INDICATED. NOTWITHSTANDING ANY REQUIREMENT. TERM OR CONDITION OF ANY CONTRACT OR OTHER DOCUMENT WITH RESPECT TO WHICH THIS
CERTIFICATE MAY BE ISSUED OR MAY PERTAIN. THE INSURANCE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES DESCRIBED HEREIN IS SUBJECT TO ALL THE TERMS.
EXCLUSIONS AND CONDITIONS OF SUCH POLICIES. LIMITS SHOWN MAY HAVE BEEN REDUCED BY PAID CLAIMS.

jmj
iUSQ.

^05?
TYPE OF INSURANCE POLICY NUMBER

POLICY EPF
tMM/DOrrYYYI

POLICY EXP
IMMPDffnrYYI LIMITS

INSR
iTR

COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY

CLAIMS-MADE OCCUR

PCHE201^03 07*11/2018 07/01/2019 EACH OCCURRENCE

DAMX'GE TO'RENTES
PREMISES (Ea occufrancal

MED EXP (Any ofx peiron)

PERSONAL & AOV INJURY

GENL AGGREGATE LIMIT APPUES PER:

^ POLICY O JECT im LOG
OTHER:

GENERAL AGGREGATE

PRODUCTS. COMP/OP AGG

COMBINED SINGLE LIMIT
lEa acddenll

2,000,000

2,000,000

5,000

2,000,000

5,000,000

2,000.000

AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY

ANY AUTO

OVAMED
AUTOS ONLY
HIRED

AUTOS ONLY

SCHEDULED
AUTOS
NONOWNED

AUTOS ONLY

CAS405702S

•SELF-INSURED FOR-

'PHYSICAL DAMAGE'

07A)1/2018 07A)1/2019 2,000,000

BODILY INJURY (Par parton)

BODILY INJURY (Paracddani)

PROPERTY DAMAGE
IPar acddantl

UMBRELLA UAB

EXCESS UAB

OED

OCCUR

CLAIMS-MADE

EACH OCCURRENCE

AGGREGATE

RETENTION S

T?R 1 OTH-
STATUTE ER

WORKERS COMPENSATION

AND EMPLOYERS' UABIUTY

ANYPROPRIETOR/PARTNER^XECUnVE
OPPICERMEMBER EXCLUDED?
(Mandatary In NH)
11 ya*. daicriba undar
DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS balow

YIN

□
E.L. EACH ACCIDENT

E.L DISEASE - EA EMPLOYEE

E.L DISEASE • POLICY LIMIT

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS I LOCATIONS/VEHICLES (ACORD 101, AddHlonal Ramarti Scbadula. may ba atUchad tl mora apaea la raqidrad)

EVIDENCE OF INSURANCE

CERTIFICATE HOLDER CANCELLATION

State ofNH, DHHS,
129 Pleasant Street,
Concord. NH 03301

SHOULD ANY OF THE ABOVE DESCRIBED POLICIES BE CANCELLED BEFORE
THE EXPIRATION DATE THEREOF, NOTICE WILL BE DELIVERED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE POLICY PROVISIONS.

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE
Of Marsh USA Inc.

Manashi Mukherjee .JVLo.'va.ook* ;-y -• fi- *

ACORD 25 (2016/03)
© 1988-2016 ACORD CORPORATION. All rights reserved.

The ACORD name and logo are registered marks of ACORD



AC^D* CERTIFICATE OF LIABILITY INSURANCE GATE (MMrt)OhryYYt

07/01/18

THIS CERTIFICATE IS ISSUED AS A MATTER OF INFORMATION ONLY AND CONFERS NO RIGHTS UPON THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER. THIS
CERTIFICATE DOES NOT AFFIRMATIVELY OR NEGATIVELY AMEND. EXTEND OR ALTER THE COVERAGE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES
BELOW. THIS CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A CONTRACT BETWEEN THE ISSUING INSURER(S), AUTHORIZED
REPRESENTATIVE OR PRODUCER. AND THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER.

IMPORTANT; If the certificate holder is an ADDITIONAL INSURED, the pollcy(ies) must have ADDITIONAL INSURED provisions or be endorsed.
If SUBROGATION IS WAIVED, subject to the terms and conditions of the policy, certain policies may require an endorsement. A statement on
this certificate does not confer rights to the certificate holder in lieu of such endorsementis).

PRODUCER

Marsh USA Inc.

1717 Arch Streel
Philadelphia. PA 19103-2797

J09254-DART.GAWUP-18-19

CONTACT
NAME:

PHONE FAX
IAK:. No. Extl: lA/C. No»:

E-MAIL
ADDRESS:

INSURERISIAFFGRDING COVERAGE NAICH

INSURER A : N/A N/A

INSURED

TRUSTEES OF DARTMOUTH CaiEGE

ATTN: TINA FEENEY

53 S. MAIN STREET, SUITE 212
HANOVER. NH 03755

INSURER B:N/A N/A

INSURER C: N/A N/A

INSURER D: Midwest Emoiovers Casualty Company 23612

INSURER E; American Casualty Comoanv Of Readina. Pa 20427

INSURER F ; Tmnsnortdtion Insurance (3o 20494

COVERAGES

THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT THE POLICIES OF INSURANCE LISTED BELOW HAVE BEEN ISSUED TO THE INSURED NAMED ABOVE FOR THE POLICY PERIOD
INDICATED. NOTWITHSTANDING ANY REQUIREMENT, TERM OR CONDITION OF ANY CONTRACT OR OTHER DOCUMENT WITH RESPECT TO WHICH THIS
CERTIFICATE MAY BE ISSUED OR MAY PERTAIN. THE INSURANCE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES DESCRIBED HEREIN IS SUBJECT TO ALL THE TERMS
EXCLUSIONS AND CONDITIONS OF SUCH POLICIES. LIMITS SHOWN MAY HAVE BEEN REDUCED BY PAID CLAIMS.

AODLI;

'WSP
TYPE OF IKSURANCE

■fUBR
POLICY NUMBER

POUCY EFF
(MM/OD^YY>

POUCYEXP
(MM/DD^YYYl UMITS

INSR
JJR

COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY

CLAIMS-MAOE □ OCCUR
EACH OCCURRENCE
DAMAGE TO RENTED
PREMISES (Ea occufr»nca)

MED EXP (Any oo« p«r*on)

PERSONAL « AOV INJURY

GEN-L AGGREGATE LIMIT APPLIES PER: GENE RAL AGGREGATE

POLICY

OTHER:

LOC PRODUCTS - COMP/OP AGG

AUTOMOBILE LIABIUTY

ANY AUTO

COMBINED ^InSLE UMIT
lEa eccktenO
BODILY INJURY (Ptr parton)

OWNED
AUTOS ONLY
HIRED
AUTOS ONLY

SCHEDULED
AUTOS
NON-OWNED
AUTOS ONLY

BODILY INJURY (Par acddanl)
PROPERTY DAMAGE
(Par aecklantl

UMBRELLA LIAB

EXCESS UAB

DED

OCCUR

CLAIMS-MADE

RETENTION S

EACH OCCURRENCE

AGGREGATE

WORKERS COMPENSATION
AND EMPLOYERS- LIABIUTY

ANYPROPfllETOR/PARTNER/EXECUTIVE
OFFICER/MEMBEREXCLUOEO?
(Man<iatory In NH|
If yat, dascriba urviar
DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS balow

I »

H

6024204717 (AOS)
6024204720 (OA)

EWC008364 (NH) 'Below SIR Applies'
SIR: $1,000,000

07701/2018

07/01/2018

07/01/2018

TOW
07/01/2019

07/01/2019

Y  PER
STATUTE

TJTFr
ER

E.L. EACH ACCIDENT 1.000,000

E.L. DISEASE - EA EMPLOYEE 1,000,000

E.L. DISEASE - POUCY LIMIT 1,000,000

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS / LOCATIONS / VEHICLES (ACORD 101, Addlllonal Ramark* SchaOuia, may ba attachad II mora apaca la raqulrad)

CERTIFICATE HOLDER CANCELLATION

State ofNH, OHHS.
SHOULD ANY OF THE ABOVE DESCRIBED POLICIES BE CANCELLED BEFORE
THE EXPIRATION DATE THEREOF, NOTICE WILL BE DELIVERED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE POLICY PROVISIONS.

129 Pleasant Streel.

Concord, NH 03301

■

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE
Of Marsh USA Inc.

Manashi Mukherjee riK ,

ACORD 25 (2016/03)
<S) 1988-2016 ACORD CORPORATION. All rights reserved.

The ACORD name and logo are registered marks of ACORD



CERTIFICATE OF LIABILITY INSURANCE
DATE (MMA>D/YYYY)

07/01/18

THIS CERTIFICATE IS ISSUED AS A MATTER OF INFORMATION ONLY AND CONFERS NO RIGHTS UPON THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER. THIS

CERTIFICATE DOES NOT AFFIRMATIVELY OR NEGATIVELY AMEND, EXTEND OR ALTER THE COVERAGE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES

BELOW. THIS CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE DOES NOT CONS'HTUTE A CONTRACT BETWEEN THE ISSUING INSURER(S), AUTHORIZED
REPRESENTATIVE OR PRODUCER, AND THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER.
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Klission Statement

Dartmoutl) College combines; Uie beBl feaiurec of an under^aduaie liberal ana
college witli the inielleclual viulity of a research univeraiiy. Founded as an undei-
graduaie insiimLidn more than t wo ceniuriet- ago. Dartmoulli offers excelieni grad
uate programc witliin tlie Anx and Sciences and in business, engineering, and
medicine. The professional schools, among tlie first established in tlteir respective
fields, have had a historic role in defining the school's iniellectuaJ values. Dan-
mouth encourages a love of learning and discover)' in ever)' member of its com-
munii)'. li celebrates the diversity of thai community, which includes men and
women from different backgrounds, abilities, economic circumstances, perspec
tives, races, rebgions, national origins, and sexual orientations.

Dartmouth has a special character and is commitled to fostering the unique
bonds thai exist between the institution and tliose who learn, teach, and work here.
This character is rooted in the foUowing essentia] elements:

A devotion to a vital learning em'ironmenl thai.rebes on a faculi)' dedicated
to outstanding teaching and scholarship; a talented and intellecniall)' curious
student body; a'staff conunitted to the institution and its puiposes, and
alunmi/ae supportiv'e of the pursuit of the highest ideals of-teaching and
learning.

A convictioD dial one of Dartmouth's strengths is providing students widi
clase-coDtacl-wid-faculty,--and-aD-appreciarionthatdc'qualit)'"oftbe''e'duca^—
nonal and research cigjeriences Dartmouth offers is one measure of its suc
cess.

A resolve to enrich the learning eiqjerieDCc at Dartmouth by encoura^g
regular inicractioD among members of a diverse community. A Dartmouth
education should prepare students for life in complex world, one in which •
de ability to understmd and appreciate differences and similarities among
ah people" and societies is cssentiaL , .

A commitment to s^tain an academic residcntia] community thai cultivates
and nurtures the social, emotional, moral, and physical well-being of its
members. Dartmoud encourages intellectual codeavois, artistic ciqDression,
community service, alhletics and outdoor activities, religious life, and polit
ical and social activism.

A recognition that its setting md location in northern New England offer
Dartmoud unique advantages, special traditions, and ongoing obligalions"
related to understanding our relationships to our bomraunit)' and to our envi-
ronmenL

Adopted June, 2002
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Report of Independent Auditors

To the Board of Trustees of Dartmouth College:

Report on the Consolidated Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Dartmouth College and its
subsidiaries ("Dartmouth College"), which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as
of June 30, 2018 and 2017, and the related consolidated statements of activities and of operating expenses
for the year ended June 30, 2018, and of cash flows for the years ended June 30, 2018 and 2017, and the
related notes to the financial statements.

Management's Responsibilityfor the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America;
this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation
and fair presentation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors' Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards,
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are
free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on our judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, we consider internal control relevant to Dartmouth
College's preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Dartmouth College's internal control. Accordingly, we express no such
opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the consolidated financial position of Dartmouth College and its subsidiaries as of June 30, 2018
and 2017, and the changes in their net assets for the year ended June 30, 2018 and their cash flows for the
years ended June 30, 2018 and 2017 in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, 101 Seaport Boulevard, Suite 500, Boston, MA 02210
T: (617)5305000, F: (617)5305001, wwv.pwc.com/us
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Other Matters

We previously audited the consolidated statement of financial position as of June 30, 2017, and the
related consolidated statements of activities, of operating expenses and of cash flows for the year then
ended (not presented herein), and in our report dated October 26,2017, we expressed an unmodified
opinion on those consolidated financial statements. In our opinion, the information set forth in the
accompanying summarized financial information as of June 30, 2017 and for the year then ended is
consistent, in all material respects, with the audited consolidated financial statements from which it has
been derived.

Other Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the consolidated financial statements
as a whole. The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards for the year ended June 30,
2018 is presented for purposes of additional analysis as required by Title 2 U.S. Code ofFederal
Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements
for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance) and is not a required part of the consolidated financial
statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and was derived ft*om and relates
directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the consolidated financial
statements. The information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling
such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the consolidated
financial statements or to the consolidated financial statements themselves, and other additional
procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In
our opinion, the schedule of expenditures of federal awards is fairly stated, in all material respects, in
relation to the consolidated financial statements as a whole.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated October 24,
2018 on our consideration of Dartmouth College's internal control over financial reporting and on our
tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grant agreements and
other matters for the year ended June 30, 2018. The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope
of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing
and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting or on
compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government
Auditing Standards in considering Dartmouth College's internal control over financial reporting and
compliance.

BucuosttttAcuatOftgiCiii 0^

Boston, MA ,
October 24, 2018



Dartmouth College

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

As of June 30, 2018 and June 30, 2017

(in thousands)

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Receivables and other assets, net

Investment related receivables

Pledges receivable, net

Investments

Land, buildings, equipment, and construction in progress, net

Total assets

Liabilities

Accounts payable and other liabilities

Investment related payables

Deferred revenues and deposits

Liability for split-interest agreements

Pension and other employment related obligations

Bonds, mortgages, and notes payable, net

Interest rate swap liabilities, at fair value

Conditional asset retirement obligations

Government advances for student loans

Total liabilities

Net Assets

Unrestricted

Temporarily restricted

Permanently restricted

Total net assets

Total liabilities and net assets

2018 2017

$ 203,676 $ 175,997

133,016 137,687

37,833 52,591

352,079 244,714

6,591,811 6,318,176

967,686 967,639

$ 8,286,101 $ 7,896,804

$ 91,833 $ 94,929

53,188 157,308

48,011 39,975

51,637 . 52,715

353,606 400,872

1,052,782 1,211,124

135,102 175,646

24,062 25,314

17,797 20,551

1,828,018 2,178,434

1,524,144 1,329,106

3,384,711 2,986,934

1,549,228 1,402,330

6,458,083 5,718,370"

$ 8,286,101 $ 7,896,804

See ncconipnnying notes to the consolidntedfinnncini slaleinents.



Dartmouth College

Consolidated Statement of Activities

For the year ended June 30,2018, with summarized financial Information for the year ended June 30,2017

(in thousands)

Temporarily Permanently Total

Unrestricted Restricted Restricted 2018 2017

Endowment Activities

Gifts $  129 $  17,294 $  84,626 $ 102,049 $ 56,799

Net investment return 135,874 453,763 1,239 590,876 630,383

Distributed for spending (53,291) (182,830) (413) (236,534) (225,409)

Other changes 2,435 .( 11,829) 18,593 9,199 4,881

Amounts transferred from other funds, net 63,647 .  5,388 3,085 72,120 15,436

Change in net assets from endowment activities 148,794 281,786 107,130 537,710 482,090

Operating Activities

Revenues

Tuition and fees 374,268 - - 374,268 355,454

Student scholarships (158,094)
- -

(158,094) (150,460)

Net tuition and fees 216,174
- - 216,174 204,994

Sponsored research grants and contracts 169,948 •  • - -

169,948 171,007

Dartmouth College Fund and other gifts 75,199 15,594 - 90,793 86,999

Distributed endowment invesbnent return 224,058 10,558 - 234,616 223,545

Other operating income 99,772 643
-

100,415 123,655

Auxiliaries 81,548 - 81,548 77,680

Net assets released from restrictions 8,767 (8,767) - • -

Total revenues 875,466 18,028
-

893,494 887380

Expenses

Academic and student programs 560,168 , -

560,168 551,549

Sponsored programs 125,182
• -

125,182 128,469

General institutional services 101,606 • - 101,606 100,457

Auxiliaries 87,150
- -

87,150 83,078

Subtotal expenses for ongoing operations 874,106
- -

874,106 863,553

Change in not assets from ongoing operations 1,360 18,028
-

19,388 24,327

Environmental remediation and related expenses - - - - 26,950

Change in net assets from operating activities 1,360 18,028
•

19,388 (2,623)

Non-operating Activities

Gifts • 67,575 1,979 69,554 61,845

Other non-operating changes, net (550) 2,285
-

1,735 51,405

Distributed endowment investment return 589 _ 1,329
-

1,918 1,864

Increase in outstanding pledges, net
-

67,818 39,547 107,365 33,259

Other components of net periodic benefit cost (7,965} (7,965) (9,570)

Pension and postretiremcnt benefit related changes

other than net periodic benefit cost 64,198 • - 64,198 37,422

Disposals and non-capitalized expenditures (3,748) (469)
•

(4,217) (9,452)

Change in unrealized gain related to

interest rate SNvap agreements 40,544
- -

40,544 74,675

Net assets released from restrictions 14,903 (14,903) - - -

Amounts transferred to endowment, net (63,276) (8,844) -
(72,120) (15,436)

Net change in split-interest agreements 189 (16,828) (1,758) (18,397) (14,069)

Change in net assets from non-operating activities 44,884 97,963 39,768 182,615 211,943

Change in net assets 195,038 397,777 146,898 739,713 691,410

Net Assets, be^nning of year 1,329,106 2,986,934 1,402,330 5,718,370 5,026,960

Net Assets, end of year $  1,524,144 S  3,384,711 $  1,549,228 S 6,458,083 $ 5,718,370

Si"!? ncconipanyiiig /la/re lo the coiisolitialedfinancial slalenienls.



Dartmouth College

Consolidated Statement of Operating Expenses
For the year ended |une 30.2018. with summarized financial information for the year ended ]une30.2017

(in thousands)

General Institutioiul Service* Total Expense*

Academic & Facilities

Student Sponsored Administrative Operation 8t /

Programs Programs Support Maintenance Development Total Auxiliaries 2018 2017

Salaries and wages S  241.729 5  50,263 5  29,180 S  18,845 $  23344 $  71369 S  16358 5 379,719 S  366.654

Employee benefits 75.192 I5,6M 9,077 5362 7,261 22,200 5,088 nans 124,114

Fellowships and student support 13.607 3,718
■  - -

17325 ■ 17,090

Materials, equipment, and supplies 36,756 9,301 7,224 1,6(M I,i60 9,988. 17,709 73,754 72370

Purchased serriees 42J09 4Z588 4371 3392 4327 12.690 11326 109,113 115,013.

UKIities, taxes, and occupaiKy I.96I 127 31,620 494 3ill4 8,132 42331 38134

Depreciation and amortization 46,857 3,903 4366 380 9,149 9395 65,901 66.189

Lodging tnvel. and similar costs 24,656 3,258 1,269 109 2.228 3,606 148 31,668 30149

Interest - 24,937 24,937 1,407 26344 27356

Other expenses 5385 292 1,651 302 751 2.7CM 1352 9333 &4S4

488,652 125,182 56375 91,737 4ai45 188.757 71315 874,106 863353

Facilities operation & maintenance 71316 4380 (91,737) 206 (87,151) 15,635

Total expenses for FY18 S  560,168 5  125,182 S  61,255 S S  40,351 5  101,606 S  87,150 S 874,106

Total expenses for FY17 551J49 128.469 •  J 63,853 $  36,604 100.457 5  83,078 5  863,553

Scr accomjianying nolcs la thf consolidatedfinancial statements.



Dartmouth College

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

For the years ended June 30, 2018 and June 30, 2017

(in thousands)

2018 2017

Cash flows from operating activities

Total change in net assets $  739,713 5 691,410

Adjustments to reconcile total change in net assets to

net cash used by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 65,721 66,499

Change in estimated value of interest rate swap agreements (40,544) (74,675)

Change in estimated pension and post-retirement benefit obligation (50,365) (26,056)

Not change in split-interest liability (1,078) 3,188

Change in pledges receivable, net (107,365) (33,259)

Other non-cash transactions 885 854

Contributions, investment income, and other changes

restricted for long-term investment .  (198,154) (106,153)

Net realized and changes unrealized (gains) losses (620,898) (717,837)

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Receivables and other assets, net 142 597

Accounts payable and other liabilities (6,186) (5,452)

Deferred revenues and deposits 8,036 (1,073)

Employment related obligations 3,099 6,218

Net cash used in operating activities (206,994) (195,739)

Cash flows from investing activities

Student loans granted (5,796) (6,977)

Student loans repaid 10,234 10,559

Purchases of land, buildings, and equipment (65,161) (79,629)

Purchases of investments (4,673,592) (3,838,691)

Sales and maturities of investments 4,931,493 4,006,376

Net cash provided by investing activities 197,178 91,638

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from issuance of debt 46,831 .

Repayment of debt (204,736) (33,878)

Contributions, investment income, and other changes restricted for long-term investment in:

Facilities 23,795 34,159

Endowment, life income, and similar funds 174,359 71,994

Changes in government advances for student loans (2,754) (109)'

Net cash provided by financing activities 37,495 72,166

Net change in cash and cash equivalents 27,679 (31,935)

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 175,997 207,932

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $  203,676 $;  175,997

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information

Cash paid for interest $  45,252 $;  50,703

Accounts payable related building and equipment additions $  1,838 S 1,313

Fair value of contributed securities received '$ 62,849 S;  41,735

See acampant/hig notes to the cunsolidoteiifntaiidal slalcnicnis.



Dartmouth College

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

For the years ended June 30, 2018 and 2017

A. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Description of Organization

Dartmouth College (Dartmouth) is a private, nonprofit, co-educational, nonsectarian institution of higher education with
approximately 4,400 undergraduate and 2,100 graduate students. Established in 1769, Dartmouth includes the four-year
undergraduate college, with graduate schools of business, engineering, medicine, and arts and sciences.

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis. Dartmouth's consolidated
financial statements include the accounts of its wholly owned subsidiaries and certain affiliated organizations over which it has
financial control. The wholly owned subsidiaries and financially controlled entities include real estate corporations, which own
real estate in the Hanover, NH area; the Dartmouth Education Loan Corporation (DELC), which provides scholarships and
loans to Dartmouth students who are unable to finance their education through other sources; and various separately

incorporated entities which support experiential learning and other activities that enrich the experience of students and the
community. •

In accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (CAAP), net assets, revenues, gains, and losses are classified
into three categories: unrestricted, temporarily restricted, or permanently restricted. Unrestricted net assets include all resources
that arc not subject to donor-imposed restrictions and therefore may be used for any purpose in furtherance of Dartmouth's
mission. Under the authority of Dartmouth's management and Board of Trustees, in order to support Dartmouth's strategic
initiatives, all or a portion of unrestricted net assets may be set aside in segregated Dartmouth-designated reserve accounts and
earmarked for use in future years by specific departments, divisions or schools to cover program costs or contingencies. These
Dartmouth-designated net assets include funds designated for operating initiatives, facilities, and long-term quasi-endowment.
The purposes for which Dartmouth-designated net assets are earmarked may be changed under the authority of Dartmouth's
management or Board of Trustees. The use of designated net assets is at the discretion of the responsible department. All
expenses arc recorded as a reduction of unrestricted net assets.

Temporarily restricted net assets carry donor-imposed restrictions on the expenditure or other use of contributed funds.
Temporary restrictions may expire either because of the passage of time or because actions are taken to fulfill the restrictions.
Temporarily restricted net assets include unexpended endowment return, unexpended restricted use gifts, term endowment
funds, loan funds, certain uncollected pledges, and life income and similar funds. Donor-restricted resources intended for
capital projects are released from their temporary restrictions and presented as unrestricted support when the related asset is
placed in service. Temp>orarily restricted endowment distribution and donor-restricted gifts which are received, and either
spent or deemed spent within the same fiscal year, are reported as unrestricted.

Permanently restricted net assets are those that are subject to donor-imposed restrictions which will never lapse, thus requiring
that the net assets be retained permanently. Based upon a legal interpretation of New Hampshire Slate Law, Dartmouth has
determined that appreciation on restricted endowment funds should be classified as temporarily restricted net assets until such
time as the appreciation is appropriated by the Board of Trustees. Investment return from endowment activities that has been
appropriated by Dartmouth's Board of Trustees is presented as an increase in operating or non-operating activities according

to the unrestricted or temporarily restricted nature of the donor's intended use of the funds. In the case of quasi-endowment
funds designated for long-term investment by Dartmouth, investment return that has been appropriated by Dartmouth's Board
of Trustees is presented as an increase in unrestricted operating or non-operating activities, depending upon Dartmouth's
intended use of the funds. Permanently restricted net assets consist of the original principal of endowment gifts, life income

and similar funds, and certain pledges.

Comparative Financial Information
The 2018 consolidated financial statements arc presented with certain prior-year comparative information summarized in total

but not by net asset class. Such information does not include sufficient detail to constitute a presentation in conformity with
CAAP. Accordingly, such information should be read in conjunction with Dartmouth's consolidated financial statements for
the year ended June 30, 2017, from which the summarized information was derived. Certain prior year amounts have been
reclassified to conform to the fiscal year 2018 presentation.



Dartmouth College

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

For the years ended June 30, 2018 and 2017

Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with CAAP requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. The most significant estimates in these consolidated
financial statements are the fair value of investments, interest rate swap agreements, pension and postretiremenl benefit

obligations, conditional asset retirement obligations, liabilities for self-insured programs and split-interest agreements, and
allowances for uncollectible accounts and pledges receivable. Actual results could differ materially from these estimates,
particularly during periods of investment ahd/or interest rale volatility.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements
In January 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-01, Recognition and Measurement of Financial Assets and Financial Liahililies, which

addresses certain aspects of recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of financial instruments. The ASU is
effective for Dartmouth's fiscal year 2020; however, as permitted by the ASU, Dartmouth chose to early adopt the provision to

eliminate the requirement to disclose the fair value of financial instruments measured at cost (such as the fair value of debt) in

fiscal year 2016. Dartmouth is evaluating the impact of the remainder of the new guidance on the consolidated financial

statements.

In fiscal year 2017, Dartmouth adopted ASU 2015-03, Simplifying the Presentation of Debt Issuance Costs, which requires that debt
issuance costs related to a recognized debt liability be presented in the balance sheet as a direct deduction from that debt liability,
consistent with the presentation of a debt discount.

In fiscal year 2018, Dartmouth adopted Accounting Standards Update (ASU) No. 2017-07, Compensation - Retirement Benefits

(Topic 715): Improving the Presentation of Net Periodic Pension Cost and Net Periodic Postretiremen! Benefit Cost. This guidance
requires that the service cost component of net periodic benefit cost for pension and other postretiremenl benefits be included
in employee benefit expenses. Theother components of net periodic benefit cost arc required to be presented as a nonoperating
change in unrestricted net assets. See Note H.

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606) at the conclusion of a joint effort
with the International Accounting Standards Board to create common revenue recognition guidance for U.S. GAAP and
international accounting standards. TTiis framework ensures that entities appropriately reflect the consideration to which they
expect to be entitled in exchange for goods and services, by allocating the transaction price to identified performance obligations,
and recognizing that revenue as performance obligations are satisfied. Qualitative and quantitative disclosures will be required
to enable users of financial statements to understand the natures, amount, timing, and uncertainly of revenue and cash flows
arising from contracts with customers. In August of 2015, FASB issued ASU 2015-14, Revenue from Contracts with Customers

(Topic 606): Deferral of the Effective Date, which makes ASU 2014-09 effective for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2019. Dartmouth
is planning for the implementation of this new standard.

In August 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-14, Nol-for-Profit Entities (Topic 958): Presentation of Financial Statements for Nol-fi)r-
Profit Entities, to improve the information presented in the financial statements and notes about a not-for-profit entity's liquidity,
financial performance and cash flows. The significant changes under the new guidance include the reduction of net asset
classifications to two categories based on the existence or absence of donor restrictions, and additional disclosure requirements
related to board designation of net assets, and related to the liquidity and availability of the entity's financial assets. The ASU is
effective for fiscal year ending June 30, 2019. Dartmouth is planning for the implementation of the new standard.

In June 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-08, Not-for-Profil Entities (Topic 958): Clarifying the Scope and the Accounting Guidancefor
Contributions Received and Contributions Made. The update provides clarifying guidance on accounting for the grants and
contracts of nonprofit organizations as they relate to the new revenue standard (ASU 2014-09 Revenue from Contracts with

Customers) and aims to minimize diversit)' in the classification of grants and contracts that exists under current guidance. The
new guidance also clarifies the criteria for evaluating whether contributions are unconditional (and thus recognized
immediately in income) or conditional (for which income recognition is deferred). The ASU is effective for the fiscal year ending
June 30, 2019. Dartmouth is planning for the implementation of the new standard.
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In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, Lenses (Topic 842), which provides guidance for leases from both the lessor's
and lessee's perspective. The main difference between previous CAAP and Topic 842 is the recognition of lease assets and lease
liabilities for those leases classified as operating leases. The new standard will be effective for the fiscal year ending June 30,
2020. Dartmouth has begun planning for the implementation of this new standard.

Consolidated Statement of Activities

Operating activities presented in the Consolidated Statement of Activities consist of revenues earned, endowment net
investment return appropriated by Dartmouth's Board of Trustees, and expenses incurred in conducting Dartmouth's programs

and services. Auxiliary enterprises, primarily the operation of residence halls, dining services, and recreational facilities, are
included in operating activities. Expenses such as development, public affairs, and central services and administration are
reported as general institutional services. Depreciation and facilities operations and maintenance expenses are allocated to
functional classifications of expenses based on the square footage of each building. Amortization expense of capitalized
information technology costs is allocated to the functional classification that the technology supports. Interest expense is
allocated to functional classifications of expenses based on the use of each building that has been debt financed.

Non-operating activities presented in the Consolidated Statement of Activities consist of gifts for facilities projects and gifts
whose purpose has not yet been finalized, grants, investment income, other earnings, and endowment investment return
appropriated by Dartmouth's Board of Trustees for loan programs and the construction, purchase or sale of capital assets, non-
capitalizable construction in progress, net change in life income and similar split-interest agreements, the net change in pledges
receivable, the net change in the estimated value of interest rale swap agreements, and postretiremenl benefit changes other
than service cost.

Endowment activities presented in the Consolidated Statement of Activities consist of gifts that arc restricted by donors to invest
in perpetuity, amounts designated by Dartmouth's management and Board of Trustees for long-term investment, the net
investment return on these invested funds, and the annual distribution of an amount appropriated by Dartmouth's Board of

Trustees to support operating and non-operating activities. Other endowment activities include increases in endowment net
assets from certain matured split-interest agreements.

Endowment and non-operating activities also include transfers of net assets that occur when donors change the restrictions on
certain gifts or when Dartmouth changes the designation of unrestricted funds.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are recorded at cost which approximates fair value and may include U.S. treasury funds, money
market accounts, certificates of deposit, commercial paper, foreign currency and certain currency related contracts, and liquid

short-term investments with maturities of 90 days or less at the date of acquisition. Cash and cash equivalents held for
investment purposes in the Endowment are reported as Investments on the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position.

Tuition and Fees and Student Scholarships
Tuition and fees revenue is recognized in the fiscal year in which substantially all of the academic program occurs. Tuition and

fees revenue from undergraduate enrollment represents approximately 66 percent of tuition and fees revenue for the years
ended June 30, 2018 and 2017. Student scholarships provided by Dartmouth arc presented in the Consolidated Statement of
Activities as a reduction in tuition and fees revenue. In addition, Dartmouth acts as an agent for recipients of scholarships from
other sponsors in the amounts of $3,821,000 and $3,475,000 for the years ended June 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively, which are

not presented in the Consolidated Statement of Activities.

Prior to fiscal year 2017, all students admitted to Dartmouth's undergraduate program were admitted without regard to

financial need. Beginning in fiscal year 2017, for international applicants only, Dartmouth has considered the financial need of
those applicants as part of the admissions process. All admitted students arc offered financial aid to fully meet their
demonstrated need, which is defined using a uniform formula that determines the ability to pay based on the family's income
and assets, along with many other factors. The full amount of demonstrated need is met with a financial aid package that

includes a combination of employment eligibilit)', grants, and in some cases, loans.
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Sponsored Research Grants and Contracts

Revenues from government and private spor\sored research grants and contracts are recognized when the direct costs associated
with the sponsored program are incurred. Revenue from the reimbursement of facilities and administrative costs incurred by

Dartmouth on U.S. govemmenl grants and contracts is based upon negotiated rates including predetermined rates through June
30, 2018 and provisional rates effective July 1, 2018 until amended. Dartmouth recovered facilities and administrative costs of

approximately $44,095,000 and $42,718,000 during the years ended June 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

Taxes

Dartmouth is exempt from federal income taxes under Section 501(c)(3) of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code (the Code), except
with regard to unrelated business income, which is taxed at corporate income tax rates. Dartmouth is also subject to state and
local property lax on the value of dormitories and dining and kitchen facilities in excess of $150,000, as well as on the value of

its off-campus rental properties, commercial properties, and other real estate holdings to the extent they are not used or occupied
for Dartmouth's tax exempt purposes. Certain Dartmouth real estate entities are exempt from federal income tax under Sections

501(c)(2) and 501(c)(25) of the Code. As of June 30, 2018, tax years ended June 30, 2015 through June 30, 2017 remain open and

are subject to federal and state taxing authority examination. Dartmouth believes it has taken no significant uncertain tax

positions.

The Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (the "Act") was enacted on December 22,2017. The Act impacts Dartmouth in several ways, including
imposing excise taxes on executive compensation in excess of $1,000,000 and net investment income, increases to unrelated

business taxable income (UBTI) by the amount of ccrtain.fringe benefits for which a deduction is not allowed, changes to the net
operating loss rules, repeal of the alternative minimum tax (AMT), and the computation of UBTI separately for each unrelated

trade or business. Further, the Act reduces the US federal corporate tax rate and federal corporate unrelated business income
tax rate from 35% to 21%. For fiscal year 2019 the full impact of the Act will not be known until further regulatory guidance is

provided regarding the calculation of income and excise tax liabilities. Dartmouth continues to evaluate the impact of tax reform
on the institution.

Affiliation with Dartmouth-Hitchcock Medical Center

Dartmouth, through the Ceisel School of Medicine (Geisel), is a member of the Dartmouth-Hitchcock Medical Center (DHMC),

a confederation of health care organizations intended to coordinate medical education and health care delivery for the residents

of New Hampshire and Vermont. DHMC is a nonprofit, tax-exempt corporation organized under New Hampshire State Law.
The other members of DHMC are; (i) Maiy Hitchcock Memorial Hospital (MHMH), (ii) Dartmouth-Hitchcock Clinic (Clinic),

and (iii) Veterans Administration Medical Center of White River junction, Vermont (VAMC). The staff of the Clinic serves as

the primary resource for Geisel clinical faculty, with the Hitchcock Hospital and the VAMC acting as principal sites of clinical
instruction for Geisel students. Each member of DHMC is a separately organized, governed, and operated institution, with
Dartmouth having no ownership interest in any other member.

Certain costs, including salaries, facilities use (including construction planning and management, and facilities operation and

maintenance), and direct and indirect research, incurred by Geisel and the other members of DHMC are shared among the

members based on negotiated allocations of the costs on an annual or project specific basis. Dartmouth, MHMH and the Clinic,
are also parties to a Condominium Ownership Agreement that governs the ownership and operation of their shared facilities.
During the years ended June 30, 2018 and 2017, Dartmouth paid approximately $19,500,000 and $19,300,000, respectively, and

received approximately $11,400,000 and $9,100,000, respectively, in cormection with these arrangements.

Insurance

Dartmouth maintains several insurance arrangements with the objective of providing the most cost effective and comprehensive
coverage for most insurable risks. Both conventional and alternative insurance coverage approaches, including utilization of

appropriate deductible or self-insured retention amounts, are in place to cover trustee errors and omissions and employment

practices, crime bond, commercial general and automobile liabilit)', pension trust fiduciary errors and omissions liability, and
property losses. Workers' compensation losses are covered by a self-insured retention and excess insurance program.
Dartmouth currently participates in two risk retention groups that provide general liability and professional and medical
malpractice liability insurance.

10
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Dartmouth's annual premium payments for conventional insurance coverage are included in operating expenses. Estimated
liabilities for losses under Dartmouth's deductible and/or self-insurance retention limits are reflected in the Consolidated

Statement of Financial Position, which includes cstirnates for known losses and for losses incurred but not yet reported.
Insurance reserves are based on actuarial analysis and/or estimates of historical loss experience, and while management believes
that the reserves are adequate, the ultimate liabilities may be different than the amounts provided.

Gifts and Pledges Receivable
Total contributions to Dartmouth include gifts that are received and the net change in pledges receivable during a period. Gifts,
pledges and pledge payments are recognized as increases in the appropriate category of net assets in the period the gift or
pledge is received. The net change in total pledges is recorded as a net increase (decrease) in non-operating activities in the
Consolidated Statement of Activities. Contributions of capitalizable assets other than cash are recorded at their estimated fair

value at the date of gift. Pledges are stated at the estimated present value of future cash flows, net of an allowance for
uncollectible amounts. Conditional promises to give are not recognized until the conditions on which they depend are^
substantially met.

Investments ^
Investments are reported at fair value in accordance with U.S. GAAP. Purchases and sales of securities are recorded on the
trade date, and realized gains and losses are determined on the basis of the average cost of securities sold. Advance
contributions to commingled fund investments and redemptions receivable from commingled fund investments at June 30,2018
and June 30, 2017 are included within Investments as presented on the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position.

For investments held directly by Dartmouth for which an active market with quoted prices exists,.the market price of an identical
security is used as fair value. Fair values for shares in listed commingled funds are based on the quoted market value or share
prices reported as of the last business day of the fiscal year. Dartmouth's interest in certain other private commingled funds
and private partnership interests are reported at the net asset value (NAV) as determined by the external fund manager. As
permitted by GAAP, Dartmouth uses NAV as a practical expedient to estimate the fair value of Dartmouth's ownership interest,
unless it is probable that all or a portion of the investment will be sold for an amount different from NAV. Dartmouth performs
due diligence procedures related to these investments to support recognition at fair value at fiscal year-end. Because many of
these investments arc not readily marketable, the estimates of fair value involve assumptions and estimation methods which
are uncertain, and therefore the estimates could differ from actual results.

Directly held real estate is reflected at fair value in accordance with Dartmouth's valuation policy. Management estimates fair
value for these properties using primarily inputs from independent third-party appraisals, which are updated annually, but
may consider other metrics including discounted cash flow analysis or recent.tax assessments, or at cost which approximates
fair value for properties held for less than one year or which are being actively developed.

Total investment return (interest, dividends, rents, royalties, and net realized and changes in unrealized gains and losses) earned
by Dartmouth's endowment investments is included in endowment activities on the Consolidated Statement of Activities, while

the net investment return earned by the non-endowment investments is included in operating or non-operating activities, as
appropriate, on the Consolidated Statement of Activities. Dividend income is recognized, net of applicable withholding taxes,
on the ex-dividend date. Non-cash dividends are recorded at the fair value of the securities received on the date of distribution.

Interest income and expenses are recorded net of applicable withholding taxes on the accrual basis of accounting. Dartmouth
amortizes bond premiums and accretes bond discounts using the effective yield method. Fees charged by external investment
managers are generally based on contractual percentages of the fair value of assets under management or on annual total
investment return and are, in most cases, netted against investment return. However, certain expenses paid directly by
Dartmouth for investment management and custody services, including certain internal costs, amounted to approximately
$17,653,000 and $15,817,000 for the years ended June 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively, and have been netted against total
investment return and other operating and non-operating investment return in the accompanying Consolidated Statement of
Activities.

II
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The asset allocation of Dartmouth's investment portfolio involves exposure to a diverse set of markets. The investments within

these markets involve various risks such as price, interest rate, sovereign, currency, liquidity, and credit risks. Additionally,
investments in real assets through commingled funds and direct real estate expose Dartmouth to a unique set of risks such as

operational, environmental, and political risks. Dartmouth anticipates that the value and composition of its investments may,
from time to time, fluctuate substantially in response to any or all of the risks described herein.

Endowment

Dartmouth's endowment consists of gifts restricted by donors and unrestricted net assets designated by management and the
Board of Trustees for long-term support of Dartmouth's activities, and the accumulated investment return on these gifts and
designated net. assets. Accumulated investment return consists of endowment net investment return that has not been
appropriated by the Board of Trustees for expenditure to support Dartmouth's .operating and non-operating activities.

Generally, only a portion of accumulated net investment return is made available for spending each year in accordance with the
Board of Trustees-approved endowment utilization policy and New Hampshire State Law. However, certain donor restricted
endowment funds do allow for the expenditure of principal, and Dartmouth-designated endowment funds are unrestricted net

assets that may be re-designated for authorized expenditures.

Giving consideration to the New Hampshire Uniform Prudent Management of Institutional Funds Act (UPMIFA), Dartmouth
classifies as permanently restricted net assets all endowment funds that must be retained permanently in accordance with
stipulations imposed by a donor at the time of a gift, plus the original value of assets donated to permanent endowment, along
with any investment earnings that are directed by the donor to be reinvested in perpetuity (i.e., historic book value). The
remaining portion of the donor-restricted endowment fund that is not classified in permanently restricted net assets is classified
as temporarily restricted net assets until those amounts are appropriated for expenditure in a manner consistent with the
standard of prudence prescribed by UPMIFA and in accordance with purpose designated by the donor.

Unrestricted endowment net assets include Dartmouth funds and certain unrestricted gifts from donors, and any accumulated
investment return thereon, which may be expended; however, by trustee or management designation, these net assets may
remain invested in the endowment for the long-term support of Dartmouth activities. Investment return on unrestricted
endowment net assets and the annual distribution of a portion of accumulated investment return to operating and non-operating

activities are presented as changes in unrestricted net assets in the Consolidated Statement of Activities. Temporarily restricted
endowment net assets include certain expendable endowment gifts, and any retained income and appreciation thereon, which

are restricted by the donor to a specific purpose or by law. When the temporary restrictions on these funds have been met, the
gifts ordinarily remain in the endowment by trustee designation to continue supporting the same activities as those specified
by the donors, but the net assets are reclassified to unrestricted endowment net assets.

Investment return on temporarily and permanently restricted net assets are generally presented as changes in temporarily

restricted net assets in the Consolidated Statement of Activities.

Split-Interest Agreements

Certain donors have established irrevocable split-interest agreements with Dartmouth, primarily charitable gift annuities,
pooled life income funds, and irrevocable charitable remainder trusts, whereby the donated assets are invested and distributions
arc made to the donor and/or other beneficiaries in accordance with the agreement for a specified period of time, after which
tirhe the remaining assets and future investment return are retained by Dartmouth. At the discretion of the donor, Dartmouth
may or may not serve as trustee for the split-interest agreement.

Dartmouth has recorded the estimated fair value of the investments associated with irrevocable split-interest agreements and

an estimated liability, using a discount rate of 3.4% and 2.4% for June 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively, for the net present value

of the future cash outflows to beneficiaries of the agreements for which Dartmouth serves as trustee. When Dartmouth is not
the trustee of the assets associated with a split-interest agreement, a receivable for Dartmouth's beneficial interest is established
when Dartmouth is notified of the trust's existence and when the third-party trustee has provided Dartmouth with sufficient

reliable information to estimate the value of the receivable, which Dartmouth considers a Level 3 measurement. Dartmouth

requests information regularly from third-party trustees for financial reporting purposes; however, these trustees are not
obligated to provide Dartmouth with the information necessary to estimate fair value and record the asset. Dartmouth respects
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the privacy of donors and trustees in these limited instances. Dartmouth reports the net change in split-interest agreements as a
non-operating change in net assets in the Consolidated Statement of Activities.

Land, Buildings, Equipment, and Construction in Progress

Land, buildings, equipment, and construction in progress arc recorded at cost at the date of acquisition or, if acquired by gift, at
the estimated fair value as of the date of the gift. Purchases, construction, and renovations of assets which exceed Dartmouth's
specified dollar threshold and have a useful life greater than one year are capitalized, while scheduled maintenance and minor
renovations of less than that amount are charged to operations.

Land, buildings, and equipment are reflected net of accumulated depreciation calculated on a straight-line basis over the
following estimated economic lives.

Buildings and building components 13-50 years

Depreciable land improvements 15 - 20 years

Equipment 5-20 years

Depreciation expense for facilities that are primarily used for sponsored research is based on the estimated economic lives of
each component.

Collections

Dartmouth's collections include works of art, literary works, historical treasures, and artifacts that are maintained in its museum
and libraries. These collections are protected and preserved for public exhibition, education, research, and the furtherance of
public service. Each of the items is cataloged, preserved, and cared for, and activities verifying their existence and assessing
their condition are performed continuously. The collections are subject to a policy that requires proceeds from their sale to be
used to acquire other items for collections.

The collections, which were acquired through purchases and contributions since Dartmouth's inception, are not recognized as
assets in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position. Purchases of collection items are recorded in the Consolidated

Statement of Activities as non-opdrating decreases in unrestricted net assets in the year in which the items are acquired or in
temporarily restricted net assets if the assets used to purchase the items arc restricted by donors. Contributed collection items
are not recorded in the consolidated financial statements.

B. Receivables and Other Assets

Receivables and other assets consisted of the following at June 30 (in thousands):

2018 2017

Student accounts $ 1,052 $ 1,884

Sponsored research grants and contracts 18,570 20,149

Other accounts 44,637 35,858

Notes and student loans 56,811 61,249

Less: allowance for uncollectible accounts (2,537) (2,446)

Receivables, net $ 118,533 $ 116,694

Prepaid costs, inventories, and other assets 14,483 20,993

Total receivables and other assets, net $ 133,016 $ 137,687

13
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C.

Federally sponsored student loans with mandated interest rates and repayment terms are subject to significant restrictions as to
their transfer and disposition. Amounts received from the Federal government to fund a portion of the Perkins student loans
are ultimately refundable to the Federal government and are classified as government advances for student loans in the
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position. The Perkins Loan Extension Act of 2015 ("the Act") ended the authority of

participating institutions to make new Perkins Loans to students on September 30, 2017. The Act also requires each
participating institution to refund to the federal government an amount calculated annually based on remaining outstanding
loans and other factors. Dartmouth refunded $2,981,000 of the goverrunent advance during fiscal year 2018. Due to the nature
and terms of student loans funded by the Federal government, and restricted and unrestricted Dartmouth funds, it is not
practical to estimate the fair value of such loans. All other receivables are carried at estimated net realizable value.

Gifts and Fledges Receivable

Gifts and pledge payments received during the years ended June 30 were as follows (in thousands);

2018 2017

Gifts to support operations $ 90,793 $ 86,999

Gifts for:

Facilities and student loans 23,795 34,159

Other restricted uses 19,556 4,838

Endo>vmcnt 102,049 56,799

Split-interest agreements 26,203 22,848

Total gifts and pledge payments $ 262,396 S 205,643

Unconditional pledges as of June 30 are expected to be realized in the following periods, discounted at rates ranging from 0.7%
to 6.2% (in thousands):

2018 2017

D.

In one year or less $ 113,061 $ 60,631

Between one year and fwe years 201,588 150,323

Six years and after 57,891 47,847

Gross pledges receivable $ 372,540 $ 258,801

Less: present value discount (16,582) (10,722)

Less: allowance for uncollectible pledges (3,879) (3,365)

Pledges receivable, net $ 352,079 $ 244,714

The change in net pledges receivable is presented as a non-operating activity in the Consolidated Statement of Activities.

Investments

Dartmouth's endowment and other investment portfolios include investments in various asset classes, each with different return
expectations, risk characteristics, and liquidity provisions.

Cash and cash equivalents designated for investment purposes in the Endowment are included in Investments on the
Consolidated Statement-of Financial Position and may include money market funds, foreign currency, certain foreign currcncj'
contracts, foreign government bonds and U.S. lreasury securities with an original or remaining maturity of three months or less
when purchased. These investments are valued based on market price or cost, which approximates fair value.

Fixed income includes strategies based on capital preservation and yield as well as more opportunistic strategics focused on
generating return through price appreciation. These strategies generally include corporate debt securities, government
securities, mortgage backed and asset backed securities and other financial instruments. Exposures to these investments may

14 . . .



Dartmouth College

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

For the years ended June 30, 2018 and 2017

include directly held securities as well as investments through commingled funds and derivatives, including fixed income
futures and forwards, and interest rate and credit default swaps.

Global equity investments include directly held public equity securities and commingled funds, whose managers primarily

invest in global public long-only and long/short equity securities with portfolios that are directionally exposed to the market.

Hedge funds include investrhents in commingled funds with discrete and blended strategics, including long/short equity,
absolute retum, market neutral, distressed and credit strategies. Hedge funds generally hold long and short securities or other
financial instruments for which-a ready market exists, and may include stocks, bonds, put or call options, swaps, futures,
currency hedges, and other financial instruments.

Dartmouth also invests in venture capital, private equity, real estate, other real assets, and other debt-related strategies primarily

through private limited partnerships, which are illiquid. These investments often require the estimation of fair value by the
general partner in the absence of readily determinable market values. The private portfolio is based primarily in the United
Slates but includes managers who may invest globally. Real estate investments also include real estate investment trust
securities held directly or through publicly traded mutual funds as well as direct real estate. Other real asset investments may
include limited partnerships, commingled funds and/or public index exposure targeting natural resource investments.

Investments at fair value consisted of the following at June 30 (in thousands);

2018 2017

Endowment investments

Split-interest agreement investments

Operating and other investments

Total investments

$  5,538,502 $ 5,069,078

149,494 142,773

903,815 1,106,325

$  6,591,811 $ 6,318,176

The framework for measuring fair value utilizes a hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure
fair value. The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are as follows:

Level 1 - Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical investments as of the reporting date. The type of
investments in Level 1 includes cash and cash equivalents, actively listed and traded equities, U.S. treasury securities,

and exchange traded and registered funds all held directly by Dartmouth, and excludes listed equities and other

securities held indirectly through commingled funds.

Level 2 - Pricing inputs, including broker quotes, are generally those other than exchange quoted prices in active

markets, which are either directly or indirectly observable as of the reporting date, and fair value is determined through
the use of models or other valuation methodologies. The type of investments in Level 2 includes fixed income securities
and derivatives.

Level 3 - Pricing inputs are unobservable for the investment and include situations where there is little, if any, market
activity for the investment. The inputs into the determination of fair value require significant management judgment

or estimation. The type of investments in Level 3 includes directly held real estate and other illiquid investments.

The inputs or methodology used to value or classify investments for financial reporting purposes is not necessarily an indication
of the risk associated with investing in those investments.
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The following Fair Value Leveling table summarizes Dartmouth's investments that are reported at fair value by their fair value
hierarchy classification as of June 30, 2018 (in thousands):

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Investments:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 106,966 $ • $ $ 106,966

Fixed income 413,413 164,031 27 577,471

Global equity: '

US equity 237,994
-

23 238,017

International 111,829 • - 111,829

Emerging markets 50,360
• •

50,360

Private equityA'cnture capital - -

25 25

Real assets:

Real estate 15,863 • 195,049 210,912

Other real assets 77,151 - - 77,151

Other investments - 90 1,137 1,227

Contributions in advance 79,000 . . 79,000

Total investments $ 1,092,576 $ 164,121 $ 196,261 $ 1,452,958

The following Fair Value Leveling table summarizes Dartmouth's investments that are reported at fair value by their fair value
hierarchy classification as of June 30, 2017 (in thousands):

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Investments:

Cash and cash equivalents $ . 153,411 $ - $ $ 153,411

Fixed income 491,471 245,763 1 737,235

Global equit)':

US equity 423,837
-

23 423,860

International 24,601 - - 24,601

Emerging markets 109,178
• -

109,178

Real assets:

Real estate 17,367
-

189,934 207,301

Other real assets 42,700 - • 42,700

Other investments - 85 2,151 2,236

Contributions in advance 15,000 - - 15,000

Redemption receivable 101,396. - . 101,396

Total investments $ 1,378,961 S 245,848 S 192,109 $ 1,816,918

The following tables present Dartmouth's activity for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2018 and 2017 for investments measured at
fair value in Level 3 (in thousands):

Private

Fixed US Real Equity/Venture Other

Income Equity Assets Capital Investments Total

Balance as of Juno 30, 2017 $ 1 $  23 $ 189,934 $ $  2,151 $  192,109

Acquisitions / purchases 3,067 25 4 3,096

Distributions / sales (3,660) - (849) (4,509)

Transfers in 25 -

-
- 25

Realized gain/(loss) 303 - - (170) 133

Change in unrealized gain 1 5,405 . 1 5,407

Balanccasof Junc30,2018 S 27 $  23 $ 195,049 $  25 $  1,137 $  1%,261
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/

Private

Fixed US Real •. Equity/Venture Other

Income Equity Assets Capital Investments Total

Balance as of June 30, 2016 $  79 ' $  523 $  199,253 $ $  1,454 $  201,309

Acquisitions / purchases
• - 3;315 - 908 4,223

Distributions/sales (8) (652) (27,895) - (211) (28,766)

Realized gain 8 152 13,626 - - 13,786

Change in unrealized
gain/(loss) (78) - 1,635 . 1,557

Balance as of June 30, 2017 $  1 $  23 $  189,934 $ $  2,151 $  19Z109

All net realized and unrealized gains/(losscs) in the table alxDvc arc reflected in the Consolidated Statement of Activities.

Cumulative unrealized gains related to Level 3 investments totaled $29,050,000 and $23,436,000 as of June 30, 2018 and 2017,
respectively. The net change in unrealized gains/(losses) related to Level 3 investments held at June 30, 2018, and June 30, 2017,

are disclosed in the table above. Transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy are reported at the beginning of the
reporting period in which they occur. For fiscal year 2018, transfers from Level 2 to Level 3, are primarily due to the decreased
observability of pricing inputs for certain securities.

The following tables provide quantitative information about the significant unobscrvable inputs used in the valuation of directly
held real estate as of June 30, 2018 and June 30, 2017. Investments in real estate represent the estimated asset value of each of
the underlying property investments, which are primarily informed by third party appraisals. Actual results could differ

materially from these estimates particularly during periods of investment and/or interest rate volatility.

June 30, 2018 (in thousands):

Valuation Technique Fair Value'

Third party appraisal-income
capitalization approach
Third party appraisal-comparable sales

Third party appraisal-comparable sales

Tax assessed value - adjusted annually

Cost

Total

'The fair value may l»c determined using multiple valuation techniques.

June 30, 2017 (in thousands):

Valuation Technique Fair Value'

Third party appraisal-income
capitalization approach

Third party appraisal-comparable sales

Market bid

Tax assessed value - adjusted annually

Cost

Total

168,590

15,832

2,070

2,753

689

189,934

Unobscrvable Inputs

Unobservable Inputs

Capitalization rate

Recent sales

Not applicable

State / Local equalization ratios

Not applicable

Input Value(s)

$  172,085 Capitalization rate 5.00 - 7.00%

16,406 Recent sales

2,927 Discount rate 25.00%

2,909 State / Local equalization ratios 0.810

722 Not applicable Not applicable

$  195,049

Input Value(s)

4,00 - 7.00%

25.00%

0.834

Not applicable

'The fair value may be determined using multiple valuation techniques.
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The /ollowing Fair Value NAY table lists specified investment terms by asset category for Dartmouth's interest in certain
commingled funds and private partnership interests that are reported using NAY as the practical expedient to estimate fair
value as of June 30, 2018 (in thousands):

Remaining

Redemption Days
Terms NoticeFair Value

Unfunded

Commitment

Remaining
Life

Fixed income Ii  - 62,215 Monthly 30-40 $ No Limit

Global equity:

US equity' 1,070,290
Ranges from quarterly
to bi-annual

30-90 46,700 No Limit

International 683,833
Ranges from semi

3-180 No Limit
monthly to quarterly

Emerging markets' 340,270
Ranges from quarterly
to annually

45-180 5,000 No Limit

Hedge funds' 1,297,214
Ranges from monthly
to annually; illiquid

30-90 90,003 No Limit

Private equity /
Venture capital

1,145,896 Illiquid Not applicable 713,707 1 -12 years

Real assets:

Real estate 205,483 Illiquid Not applicable 259,632 1 -12 years

Other real assets 333,652 Illiquid Not applicable 233,766 1-20 years

Total $  5,138,853 $ 1,348,808

' us equity induJcs funds that have restrictions on the ability to fully redeem up to five years.
' International includes funds that have restrictions on the ability to fully redeem up to three years.
'Emerging markets includes funds that Kave restrictions on the ability to fully redeem up lo five years.
' Hedge funds includes funds that have restrictions on the ability to fully redeem up to six years, excluding illiquid securities and special investments.

The following Fair Value NAY lablc lists specified investment terms by asset category for Dartmouth's interest in certain
commingled funds and private partnership interests that are reported using NAY as the practical expedient lo estimate fair
value as of June 30, 2017 (in thousands):

Fixed income

Global equity:

US equity'

IntemalionaF

Emerging markets'

Hedge funds^

Private equity /
Venture capital
Real assets:

Real estate

Other real assets

Total

Fair Value

$  61,016

929,131

628,969

214,692

1,202,445

940,667

213,982

310,356
$  4,501,258

Redemption
Terms

Days
Notice

Remaining

Unfunded

Commitment

Remaining
Life

Monthly

Ranges from monthly
to bi-annual

Ranges from semi
monthly to quarterly

Ranges from monthly
to annually
Ranges from
quarterly to annually

Illiquid

Illiquid
Quarterly, Illiquid

30-40

30-90

3-180

45-180

30 - 90 ,

Not applicable

Not applicable

30, Not applicable

35,000

68,132

511,477

255,343

209,767

No Limit

No Limit

No Limit

No Limit

No Limit

1 -12 years

1-12 years
1-20 years

1,079,719

' US equity includes funds that have restrictions on the ability to fully redeem up to three years.
'International Includes one fund with partial capital In lockup through December 31,2016.

•' Emerging markets Includes funds that have restrictions on the ability to fully redeem up to three years.
'Hedge funds includes funds that have restrictions on the ability to fully redeem up to five years, excluding illiquid securities and special investments.
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Investments reported in the Fair Value Leveling and Fair Value NAV tables total $6,591,811,000 and $6,318,176,000 and are

presented on the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as of June 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively. .

The following tables set forth the fair value of Dartmouth's derivative instruments for investment purposes by contract type as
of June 30, 2018 and 2017 and gains/(losses) related to derivative activities for the years ended June 30, 2018 and 2017 (in
thousands):

June 30,2018;

Notional Exposure Fair Value'

Asset

Foreign currency forward contracts $ 141,296 $  (13,975) $  (167) $  1,284 $  (281)

Fixed income futures contracts 59,548 (63,631) 337 (666) 778

Interest rate swaps^ 29,854
- 280 (3) 151

Credit default swaps 1,565 (3,751) 89 (130) 1

Other - 196 - (5)

Total $ 232,263 $  (81,357) $  735 $  485 S  644

June 30, 2017:

Notional Exposure Fair Value'

Long Short Asset Liability Net Gain/(Loss)2

Foreign currency forvi'prd contracts $ 42,958 $  (44,757) ' $  718 $  (600) $  (86)

Fixed income futures contracts 48,197 (61,497) 139 (299) 1,365

Interest rate swaps 11,661 • 289 .  (7) (60)

Credit default swaps 3,532 (6,749) 55 (415) (435)

Total $ 106,348 $  (113,003) $  1,201 $  (1,321) $  784

'The net fair value of these derivative instruments is included in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as investments at fair value.

'The not gain/(loss) from these derivative instruments is presented in the endowment, operating, and non-operating sections of the Consolidated Statement of
Activities as other operating income and other non-operating changes.
'The notional amount of these contracts represents a structure which pay based on a fixed rate and receive based on a variable rate.

Dartmouth enters into certain foreign currency forward contracts and government bond futures and forwards to efficiently
manage portfolio exposures to global currencies and interest rates. These instruments may be used to hedge the portfolio from
unwanted currency and interest rate risk, but also to efficiently implement active duration and relative value currency strategies.
In certain circumstances Dartmouth is obligated to pledge to the appropriate broker cash or securities to be held as collale.ral, as

determined by exchange margin requirements for futures contracts held. At June 30,2018 and 2017, Dartmouth had no pledged
collateral on futures contracts for investment purposes.

Dartmouth enters into swap contracts for investment purposes. Interest rate swap contracts arc used to efficiently manage
portfolio exposures to interest rates. These instruments may be used to hedge the portfolio from unwanted interest rale risk,
but also to efficiently implement active duration strategies. TTiese instruments are valued using market-based prices and are
included in Level 2 in the Fair Value Leveling table. The fair value of the contracts is included in the Consolidated Statement of

Financial Position as investments at fair value. The gain/(loss) on these contracts is presented in the operating and non-operating
sections of the Consolidated Statement of Activities.

Credit default swaps are used to simulate long or short positions or to reduce credit risk where exposure exists. The buyer of a
credit default swap is obligated to pay to the seller a periodic stream of payments over the term of the contract in return for a
contingent payment upon occurrence of a contracted credit event. The seller of a credit default swap bears the obligation to pay
the buyer upon occurrence of a contracted credit event in return for a periodic stream of fixed payments from the buyer over

the term of the contract. These instruments are valued using market-based prices and are included in Level 2 in the Fair Value
Leveling table. The fair value of these credit default swap contracts is included in the Consolidated Statement of Financial
Position as investments at fair value. The net gain/(loss) on these credit (jlefaull swap contracts is presented in the operating and
non-operating sections of the Consolidated Statement of Activities.
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E. Endowment

The changes in fair value of net assets held in endowment and similar funds for the years ended June 30 were as follows (in

thousands):

Temporarily Permanently

Unrestricted Restricted Restricted Total

Endowment net assets, June 30, 2017 $  1,100,449 $  2,523,545 $  1,332,500 $ 4,956,494

Net investment return;

Investment income 5,035 17,218 46 22,299

Net appreciation 130,839 436,545 1,193 568,577

Total net investment return 135,874 453,763 1,239 590,876

Gifts 129 17,294 84,626 102,049

Distribution of endowment return to all funds (53,291) (182,830) (413) (236,534)

Transfers and other changes, net 66,082 (6,441) 21,678 81,319

Endowment net assets, June 30, 2018 $  1,249,243 $  2,805,331 $  1,439,630 $ 5,494,204

Temporarily Permanently
Unrestricted Restricted Restricted' Total

Endowment net assets, June 30, 2016 $  1,008,220 $  2,179,853 $  1,286,331 $ 4,474,404

Net investment return:

Investment income 3,371 13,052 34 16,457

Net appreciation 137,585 475,070 1,271 613,926

Total net investment return 140,956 488,122 1,305 630,383

Gifts 37 21,399 35,363 56,799

Distribution of endowment return to all funds (49,407) (175,976) (26) (225,409)

Transfers and other changes, net 643 10,147 9,527 20,317

Endowment net assets, June 30, 2017 $  1,100,449 S  2,523,545 $  1,332,500 $ 4,956,494

Transfers and other changes, net include additions to the endowment from matured split-intorest agreements, net transfers

resulting from changes in donor restrictions or Dartmouth designations, and other internal charges including certain fundraising
costs. During fiscal year 2018, Dartmouth transferred approximately $60,000,000 from unrestricted non-endowment net assets
to create an unrestricted quasi-endowment.

Included in temporarily restricted endowment net assets at the end of the year is the remaining amount of expendable

accumulated appreciation on permanent endowment funds of $2,324,717,000 and $2,090,499,000 as of June 30, 2018 and 2017,

respectively.

Endowment net assets consist of the following as of June 30, 2018 (in thousands):

Temporarily Permanently

Unrestricted Restricted Restricted Total

Donor-restriclod endowment funds $ $ 2,805,331 3i  1,439,630 $ 4,244,961

Board-designated endowment funds 1,249,243 . . 1,249,243

Total endowment net assets $ 1,249,243 $ 2,805,331 3i  1,439,630 $ 5,494,204

Endowment net assets consist of the following as of June 30, 2017 (in thousands):

Temporarily Permanently
Unrestricted Restricted Restricted Total

Donor-restricted endowment funds $ $ 2,523,545 35  1,332,500 $ 3,856,045

Board-designated endowment funds 1,100,449 - - 1,100,449

Total endowment net assets $ 1,100,449 $ 2,523,545 3i  1,332,500 $ 4,956,494
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F.

From time to time, the fair values of assets associated with individual donor restricted endowment funds may fall below the

level that the donor or UPMIFA requires to retain as a fund of perpetual duration due to market declines. In accordance with
GAAP, events of this nature are reported as reductions in unrestricted net assets. There were no such events in fiscal year 2018
or fiscal year 2017. In order to provide stable funding for the programs supported by the endowment, in fiscal year 2017

Dartmouth's Board of Trustees voted to amend the distribution policy to allow spending from a portion of the historic book
value on underwater funds provided there are no donor-imposed restrictions that prohibit such sp>ending. No more than 20%
of the historic book value may be distributed, except in cases where the donor directs otherwise.

Dartmouth employs a total return endowment utilization policy that establishes the amount of investment return made available
for spending each fiscal year. The amount appropriated, for expenditure each year is independent of the actual return for the
year. The Board approves the formula that determines the amount appropriated from endowment each year. The resulting
fiscal year 2018 endowment distribution of $236,534,000 represents a 4.8% distribution rate when measured against the previous

year's June 30"^ endowment value. Investment return earned in excess of the amount appropriated annually is reinvested in the
funds, but can be appropriated in future years in accordance with the utilization policy. The net appreciation on most of the
permanently and temporarily restricted endowment funds is reported together with temporarily restricted net assets until such
time as all or a portion of the appreciation is appropriated for spending in accordance with the utilization policy and applicable
state law.

The overall investment performance objective for the endowment is to generate real (inflation-adjusted) returns net of
investment expenses sufficient to support Dartmouth's current operating needs while maintaining the long-term purchasing

power of the endowment. The Investment Committee of the Board of Trustees has determined that a well-diversified mix of

assets offers the best opportunity for maximum return with acceptable risk over time. Dartmouth relies on a total return strategy
in which investment returns are achieved through both capital appreciation (both realized and unrealized) and current yield
(interest and dividends). Investment decisions are made with a view toward maximizing long-term return opportunities while
maintaining an acceptable level of investment risk and liquidity.

Land, Buildings, Equipment, and Construction in Progress

Land, buildings, equipment, and construction in progress balances at June 30 were as follows (in thousands):

2018 2017

Land

Buildings

Land improvements

Equipment and software

Land, buildings, and equipment

Less\ accumulated depreciation

Construction in progress

Total net book value

$  20,481 $ 19,651

1,350,716 1,318,032

121,706 119,286

366,166 352,416

$  1,859,069 $ 1,809,385

(962,891) (898,130)

71,508 56,384

$  967,686 $ 967,639

Dartmouth has conditional asset retirement obligations arising from legal.obligations to perform certain activities in connection

with the retirement, disposal, or abandonment of assets, including asbestos abatement, leasehold improvements, hazardous

materials, and equipment disposal and cleanup. The liability was initialiy recorded at fair value, and is adjusted for accretion

expense, and changes in the amount or timing of cash flows. The corresponding asset retirement costs arc capitalized as part of

the carrying values of the related long-lived assets and depreciated over the useful lives of the assets.
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G. Bonds, Mortgages, and Notes Payable

Indebtedness at June 30 consisted of the following (in thousands):
Fiscal Year 2018

Maturity Interest Rate 2018 2017

New Hampshire Health and Education

Facilities Authority (NHHEFA):
Tax-Exempt Fixed Rate:

Series 2009 2019 5.00% $  7,920 $  52,800

Tax-Exempt Variable Rate:
Series 2003 2023 .75%-1.83% 45,500 53,700

Series 2007B 2041 .54% -1.80% 75,000 75,000

Series 2015AB 2040 1.26%-2.31% 101,000 101,000

Series 2015CD 2038 1.26%-2.31% 89,665 89,665

Series 2016A 2043 1.14% 165,000 165,000

Series 2017 2028 5.00% 37,660 -

Subtotal tax-exempt bonds $  521,745 $  537,165

Taxable Bonds:

Fixed Rale

Series 2009 ■ 2019 - 150,000

Series 2012A 2042 4.00% . 70,000 70,000

Scries 2012B 2043 3.76% 150,000 150,000

Series 2016A 2046 3.47% 250,000 250,000

Subtotal taxable bonds $  470,000 $  620,000

Subtotal bonds $  991,745 $  1,157,165

Mortgages on real estate investments:
Fixed Rate 2024 - 2037 4.34%-5.61% 24,732 26,387

Taxable commercial paper note:
Variable Rate 1.15%-2.05% 30,000 • 30,000

Subtotal bonds, mortgages and notes payable $  1,046,477 $  1,213,552

Original issue premium, net 9,167 597

Unamortized debt issuance costs
'

(2,862) (3,025)

Total bonds, mortgages, and notes payable, net $  1,052,782 $  1,211,124

In fiscal year 2018, Dartmouth issued New Hampshire Health and Education Facilities Authority (NHHEFA) Revenue Bonds
Dartmouth College Issue, Series 2017 (the "Scries 2017 Bonds") in the amount of $37,660,000 with an original issue premium of

$9,631,000 which will be amortized over the life of the bond. The primary purpose of this issue was to advance refund
$44,880,000 of the NHHEFA Series 2009 Bonds. The loss of $2,060,000 on this advance refunding is included in Other non-

operating changes, net in the Consolidated Statement of Activities.

In fiscal year 2018, Dartmouth redeemed $150,000,000 of the Series 2009 taxable bonds. Dartmouth incurred a $6,304,000 makc-

wholc call premium on the early redemption, which is included in Other non-operating changes, net in the Consolidated

Statement of Activities.
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Interest expense for the years ended June 30 consists of (in thousands):

2018 2017

Consolidated Statement of Activities:

Endowment Activities

Interest expense on mortgage and debt used to finance
endowment-related real estate projects, presented as a $ 2,232 $ 2,499
reduction in net investment return

Operating Activities (amounts included in Interest on the
Consolidated Statement of Operating Expenses)

Interest expense of debt (including payments on interest 26 386 27 142
rate swap agreements) used to finance facilities projects ' '

Interest expense on othe^operating indebtedness 496 344

Non-Operating Activities (amounts included in Other non-operialing changes, net)
Interest expense on debt used to finance student loans 1,406 1,406

Interest expense on other non-operating indebtedness 14,106 18,312

Total interest expense on the Consolidated Statement of Activities $ 44,626 $ 49,703

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position:

Interest paid on debt used to finance facilities projects ^ ^ ^
capitalized in connection with various construction projects

Scheduled principal payments due for each of the next five years ending June 30 and thereafter are as follows, excluding
maturity of commercial paper and unamortized discounts and premiums are (in thousands):

June 30 Principal Due

2019 18,154

2020 • 10,616 .

2021 11,005 '

2022 11,412

2023 11,629

Thereafter 953,661

Total $ 1,016,477

Principal due after June 30, 2023, includes the following "balloon" payments due on Dartmouth's indebtedness (in thousands):

June 30 Indebtedness Payment

2028 NHHEFA2017 $ 37,660

2036 NHHEFA Scries 2007B bonds 18,000

2038 2015 Series C&D bonds " 89,665

2040 2015 Series A&B bonds 101,000

2041 NHHEFA Series 2007B bonds 57,000

2042 2012 Series A bonds 70,000

2043 2012 Series B bonds .150,000

2043 NHHEFA Series 2016A bonds 165,000

2046 2016 Series A bonds i. 250,000
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The NHHEFA bonds are a general obligation collatcralized only by Dartmouth's pledge of full faith and credit and by funds
held from time to time by the trustee for the benefit of the holders of the bonds under the respective bond resolutions. Dartmouth
has agreed to certain covenants with respect to encumbrance or disposition of its core campus.

Dartmouth is party to six interest rate swap agreements. Information related to these interest rale swap agreements as of June
30, 2018, including the fixed interest rate paid by Dartmouth and percent of LIBOR BBA (1 month) received on the notional
principal, is presented in the table below:

Notional Fixed %of

Expiration Amount Interest LIBOR

Date (in thousands) Rate % BBA

06/01/2027 $  31,885 3.77 72

06/01/2028 52,505 3.78 72

06/01/2032 100,000 3.75 67

06/01/2041 100,000 3.73 70

06/01/2042 100,000 3.73 70

06/01/2043 165,000 3.74 70

H.

The fair value of these agreements at June 30, 2018 and 2017 based on various factors contained in the interest rate swap
agreements and certain interest rate assumptions, was approximately $135,102,000 and $175,646,000, respectively, and is
considered a Level 2 measurement. The decrease in the liability of $40,544,000 for the year ended June 30, 2018 is presented as
a change in unrealized gain and the decrease in the liability of $74,675,000 for the year ended June 30, 2017 is presented as a
change in unrealized gain in the non-operating section of the Consolidated Statement of Activities. Net payments or receipts
under the swap agreements associated with facilities debt arc reflected as interest expense. These financial instruments involve
counter-party credit exposure.

Commercial paper consists of notes issued in the short-term taxable market, and is sold at a discount from par. The maturities
of individual notes are issued in ranges from one day to no more than 270 days, and fall on average in a range of thirty to ninety
days. Dartmouth reports commercial paper at carrying value, which closely approximates fair value for those liabilities.

Dartmouth maintains stand-by bond purchase agreements with financial institutions totaling approximately $120,500,000 to
provide alternative liquidity to support its variable rate demand bonds in the event that the bonds cannot be remarketed.
Financing obtained through these stand-by credit agreements to fund the repurchase of such bonds would bear interest rales
different from those associated with the original bond issues, and mature over a three or a five-year period following repurchase.
The agreements have various maturity dales between June 2019 and December 2019. There were no amounts outstanding at
June 30, 2018 and 2017 under these agreements.

Dartmouth has two lines of credit totaling $250,000,000. The maturity dates are June 30, 2019 and June 30, 2020. There was no
outstanding borrowing on either line of credit as of June 30, 2018 and 2017.

Pension and Other Employment Related Obligations

Liabilities for retirement and pxDstretirement medical benefits, salaries, wages, and other benefits under employment agreements
consisted of the following at June 30 (in thousands):

Retirement and postretirement benefits
Compensated absences, severance plans,
and other commitments

Self-insured benefits

Total employment related obligations

2018 2017

$  315,550 $ 360,114

26,112 25,833

11,944 14,925

$  353,606 $ 400,872
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In fiscal year 1998, Dartmouth revised its pension benefit for staff and non-union service employees, giving each participant a
one-time option to either remain in the defined benefit plan or enroll in the defined contribution plan effective January 1, 1998.
Staff and non-union service employees hired since that date receive retirement benefits under the defined contribution plan.
Effective January 1, 2006, all union employees are enrolled in the defined contribution plan.

Dartmouth's postretirement medical benefits consist of medical insurance coverage for retirees. Employees hired prior to July
1, 2009 that are 55 or older and have at least ten continuous years of service in a benefits-eligible position immediately prior to
retirement arc currently eligible for a subsidy toward the purchase of Retiree Medical Benefits. The subsidy amount was based
on the employee's annual salary, age, and years of service as of June 30, 2009. For retirees under the age of 65, the medical
insurance options are the same as for active employees. At age 65, the retiree would enroll in the Dartmouth College Medicare
Supplement (DCMS) plan. New employees hired on or after July 1, 2009 arc eligible to participate in a Retirement Savings
Match and are eligible to purchase the retiree group medical ir\surance at full cost if they qualify at retirement.

Information pertaining to the pension and postretirement benefits at June 30 include (in thousands):

Pension Benefits Postretirement Benefits

Change in benefit obligation: 2018 2017 2018 2017

Beginning of year $  138,898 3i  143,699 3;  329,040 $ 352,931

Service cost 2,404 2,621 5,068 6,214

Interest cost 4,786 4,505 12,007 12,193

Benefits paid (10,816) (8,732) (9,030) (7,775)

Actuarial (gain)/loss (9,347) (3,195) (58,411) (34,523)

End of year $  125,925 3;  138,898 35  278,674 $;  329,040

Change in estimated fair value of plan assets:

Beginning of year $  139,636 35  141,535 36  - S

Actual return on plan assets 5,268 6,833 • -

Employer contributions • -

9,030 7,775

Benefits paid (10,816) (8,732) (9,030) (7,775)

End of year $  134,088 3»  139,636 3i  ■ - s

Funded status (plan assets more (less) than
benefits obligation) $  8,163 Ji  738 :5  (278,674) 3i  (329,040)

Net periodic benefit (income) cost included the
following:

Operating - Service cost $  . 2,404 3i  2,621 :i  5,068 Ji  6,214

Nonoperating:

Interest cost 4,786 4,505 12,007 12,193

Expected return on assets (7,641) (6,967)
• -

Amortization of prior service cost (credit) - -
(1,464) (3,487)

Recognized net actuarial loss 279 1,252 - 2,073

Total nonoperating (2,576) (1,210) 10,543 10,779

Net periodic benefit cost (income) $  . (172) :i  1,411 :5  15,611 3>  16,993

In accordance with the requirements of ASU 2017-07, the adoption of the new standard has been applied retrospectively in the
2017 Consolidated Statement of Activities and Consolidated Statement of Operating Expenses. Dartmouth has elected the
practical expedient for retrospective application. This resulted in a reclassification of $9,570,000 of non-service related
components of net periodic benefit cost from Expenses from Operating activities to Non-operating activities in the 2017
Consolidated Statement of Activities. This also resulted in a reduction of Employee benefits of $9,570,000 in the 2017
Consolidated Statement of Operating Expenses.
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Pension Benefits Postretirement Benefits

,  2018 2017 2018 2017

Weighted-average assumptions for determining net
periodic benefit cost

Discount Rate - Benefit Obligation 3.84% 3.68% 4.15% 4.15%

Discount Rate - Service Cost 3.97% 3.93% 4.38% 4.47%

Discount Rale - Interest Cost 3.61% 3.18% •  3.70% 3.50%

Expected return on plan assets 6.00% 5.55%
-

Weighted-average assumptions for determining benefit
obligations:

Rate of compensation increase 2.50% 2.50%
- -

Discount rate used to determine benefit obligations 4.26% 3.84% 4.42% 4.15%

The decrease in the postretirement benefit obligation is primarily due to actual 2017 claims experience. adjusted trend

assumptions and a reduction in excise tax liability, which are reflected in the 2018 actuarial gain of $58,411,000.

TTie increase (decrease) in unrestricted net assets resulting from the change in pension and postretirement benefit obligations

consisted of the following (in thousands):
Pension Postretirement Total Total

Benefits Benefits 2018 2017

Amounts recognized in non-operating activities:

Net actuarial gain $ 6,974 $ 58,411 $ 65,385 $  37,584

Amortization of gain 279 - 279 3,325

Amortization of prior service cost (credit) - (1,464) (1,464) (3,487)

Net periodic benefit cost other than

service cost 2,576 (10,543) (7,967) (9,569)

Total non-operating gain 9,829 46,404 56,233 27,853 •

Amounts recogiiized in operating activities:

Service cost (2,404) (5,068) (7,472) (8,835)

Total gain $ 7,425 $ 41,336 $.  . 48,761 $  19,018

The cumulative amounts in unrestricted net assets that have not yet been recognized as components of net periodic benefit cost

are as follows (in thousands):

PensionBenefits Postretirement Benefits

2018 2017 2018 2017

Prior service cost $ $ $  - S;  (1,464)

Net (gain)/]oss 2,582 9,834 34,959 ,  23,451

Total $ • 2,582 $  . 9,834 $  34,959 J;  21,987

The estimated costs that will be amortized into net periodic benefit costs in fiscal 2019 are as follows (in thousands);

Pension

Benefits

Prior service cost

Net (gain)/loss

Total

Postretirement

Benefits

I

(m.
(597)
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The following table lists specified investment terms by asset category for defined benefit pension plan (the Plan) investments in
certain commingled funds and private partnership interests that are reported using NAV as the practical expedient as of June
30, 2018 (in thousands):

Remaining
Redemption Days Unfunded Remaining

Amount Terms Notice Commitment Life

Fixed income

Global equit)'
Private equity/
Venture capital

Total

64,110

66,094

1,865

132,069

Daily

Daily

Illiquid

2

2

Not applicable 297

297

Not applicable

Not applicable

1-5 years

In addition to the investments disclosed above, the Plan also holds $2,019,000 in cash and cash equivalents at June 30, 2018,

which is classified as a Level 1 investment in the fair value hierarchy.

The following table lists specified investment terms by asset category for the Plan investments in certain commingled funds and
private partnership interests that are reported using NAV as the practical expedient as of June 30, 2017 (in thousands):

Remaining
Redemption Days Unfunded Remaining

Amount Terms Notice Commitment Life

Fixed income

Global equity
Private equity/
Venture capital

Total

65,680

69,402

2,146

$  137,228

Daily

Daily

Illiquid

2

2

Not applicable 318

318

Not applicable

Not applicable

1-5 years

In addition to the investments disclosed above, the Plan also holds $2,408,000 in cash and cash equivalents at June 30, 2017,
which is classified as a Level 1 investment in the fair value hierarchy.

The overall investment strategy of the Plan is to utilize an asset mix that is designed to meet the near and longer term benefit

payment obligations of the Plan. Over time, the asset mix may include global equity and fixed income exposures. Global equity
exposure is designed to capture the equity market performance of developed markets while fixed income exposure provides a

predictable yield as well as a hedge against changing interest rates by holding corporate bonds and other financial instruments.
Other types of investments may include private equity, venture capital, and other private real asset partnerships that employ

different underlying strategies. Outside investment advisors are utilized to manage the Plan assets and are selected based on
their investment style, philosophy, and past performance. Dartmouth's investment office is responsible for managing the asset

allocation and investment risk management of the Plan.

Dartmouth.may make annual contributions to maintain funding for the defined benefit plan, taking into account investment
and actuarial information, including minimum funding requirements. Dartmouth currently does not expect to contribute to the
Plan in fiscal year 2019.

Benefit payments, which reflect expected future service, as appropriate, are expected to be paid in each of the next five years

ending June 30 and thereafter as follows (in thousands):
Pension

Benefits

2019

2020

2021

2022

2023

Years 2024-2028

10,700

9,700

9,700

9,900

9,600

43,900

Postrctirement

Benefits

9,200

9,800

10,300

10,900

11,600

67,000
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For the years ended June 30, 2018 and 2017

The accumulated benefit obligation (ABO) of the defined benefit plan was $121,040,000 and $131,099,000 as of June 30, 2018 and
2017, respectively.

Assumed health care cost trend rales have a significant effect on the estimated amounts reported for the postretirement benefit

plan. The medical cost trend rates for pre-age 65 and post-age 65 retirees, respectively, are assumed to be 7.75% and 8.4% in
year 2018, decrease gradually to 4.5% and 4.5% in fiscal year 2027, respectively, and remain level thereafter. Dartmouth's

estimate of postretirement benefit expense and obligations also reflects the impact of the Medicare Prescription Drug
Improvement and Modemization Act, which provides for tax-free subsidies to employers that offer retiree medical benefit plans
with qualifying drug coverage.

A one percentage point increase (decrease) in assumed health care cost trend rates would have the following effect (in

thousands):

Increase (decrease) in total of service and interest cost components

Increase (decrease) in postretirement benefit obligation

3,365

50,429

(2,593)

(40,113)

Dartmouth estimates the costs of the service and interest components through a full yield curve approach by applying the
specific spot rates along the yield curve used in the determination of the net periodic expense to the relevant present value of
projected cash flows.

Dartmouth also maintains defined contribution retirement plans for its employees. These benefits are individually funded and
are subject to various vesting requirements. Under these arrangements, Dartmouth makes contributions to individual self-
directed retirement investment accounts for the participants. These contributions for the years ended June 30, 2018 and 2017

were $26,002,000,and $24,953,000, respectively. Dartmouth also maintains deferred compensation plans. The liabilities for the

plans are included in pension and other employment related obligations in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position.

Other Operating Income

The major components of other operating income for the years ended June 30 were as follows (in thousands):

2018 2017

Medical School clinical services and other support

Foreign study and continuing education programs

Student activities and other program revenues

Athletics revenues

Hopkins Center and Hood Museum revenues

Other revenues

Investment income

Total other operating income

$  14,342 $ 15,256

11,451 12,127

11,325 13,936

4,765 5,039

1,407 1,241

24,666 27,960

32,459 48,096

$  100,415 $ 123,655
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Net Assets

Additional information pertaining to Dartmouth's net assets at June 30 is presented below (in thousands):

2018

Temporarily Permanently
Unrestricted Restricted . Restricted Total

Detail of net assets:

Operating funds $  291,690 $  85,179 5;  - ;S  376,869

Pledges
-

276,121 75,958 352,079

Postretirement and pension benefit obligations (270,514)
• -

(270,514)

Third-party charitable trusts
-

6,567 3,171 9,738

Facilities and capital 3^,027 96,770
-

450,797

Interest rate swap agreements (135,102)
- -

(135,102)

Student loan funds 23,651 18,768 -
42,419

Other non-operating activities 11,149 ^  27,122 •
38,271

Life income, annuity, and similar funds - 68,853 30,469 99,322

Endowment funds 1,249,243 . "  2,805,331 1,439,630 5,494,204

Total net assets $  1,524,144 $  ■ 3,384,711 i;  1,549,228 $  6,458,083

2017

Temporarily Permanently

Unrestricted Restricted . Restricted Total

Detail of net assets;

Operating funds $  282,061 $  73,029^ 3 $  355,090

Pledges •
208,305 36,409 244,714

Postretirement and pension benefit obligations, (328,302)
- -

(328,302)

Third-party charitable trusts -
7,214 3,044 . 10,258

Facilities and capital y 353,662 74,290
-

427,952

Interest rate swap agreements (175,646)
- -

(175,646)

Student loan funds 23,057 18,565 -
41,622

Other non-operating activities 73,825 21,176 -  ' 95,001

Life'income, annuity, and similar funds - 60,810 30,377 91,187

Endowment funds 1,100,449 ,  2,523,545 1,332,500 4,956,494

Total net assets $  1,329,106 $  2,986,934 i;  1,402,330 $  5,718,370

K. Commitments and Contingencies ^

Outstanding commitments on uncompleted construction contracts total $32,412,000 at June 30, 2018.

Investment related commitments as of June 30, 2018 and 2017 are disclosed in the Fair Value NAV tables in Note D, Investments.

All funds expended by Dartmouth in connection with government sponsored grants and contracts are subject to audit by
governmental agencies. The ultimate liability, if any, from such audits, is not expected to have a material adverse effect on
Dartmouth's financial position.

In conducting its activities, Dartmouth from time to time is the subject of various claims and also has claims against others. The

ultimate resolution of such claims is not expected to have cither a material adverse or favorable effect on Dartmouth's financial
position.
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L. Related Party Transactions

Members of Dartmouth's Board of Trustees and senior management may, from time to time, be associated, either directly or
indirectly, with companies doing business with Dartmouth. Dartmouth has a written conflict of interest policy that requires

annual reporting by each Trustee, as well as senior management. Additionally, Dartmouth has a policy on Pecuniary Benefit

Transactions and Related Party Investments. This policy supplements the Dartmouth College Conflict of Interest Policy with
regard to pecuniary benefit transactions, as defined by New Hampshire law, including but not limited to Dartmouth's
investment in investment vehicles in which Trustees have a financial interest. These policies include, among other things, that

no member of the Board of Trustees can participate in any decision in which he or she (or an immediate family member) has a
material financial interest. When such relationships exist, measures are taken to mitigate any actual or perceived conflict,
including requiring that such transactions be for goods or services purchased or benefits provided in the ordinary course of the

business of Dartmouth, for the actual or reasonable value of the goods or services or for a discounted value, based on terms that
are fair and reasonable to and in the best interest of Dartmouth, and in accordance with applicable conflict of interest laws.

M. Restructuring Costs and Liability

During the year ended June 30, 2016, Dartmouth restructured a number of activities at the Geisel School of Medicine (Geisel)

to address increasing financial constraints, to improve Geisel's education and research programs, and to align resources and
support for these activities. These changes include: creation of a new department of Medical Education, reorganization of the
Basic Science departments, and migration of the operations and fiscal responsibility for clinical academic activities frorh

Dartmouth to Dartmouth-Hitchcock Clinic and Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital (operating jointly as "Dartmouth-
Hitchcock"). Responsibility for the employment, finances, and operational support for clinical research programs, as well as

the clinical practice of psychiatry, transferred from Geisel to Dartmouth-Hitchcock on July 1, 2016.

Accrued liabilities for estimated restructuring costs totaled $9,490,000 and $18,440,000 as of June 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

Of these amounts $6,915,000 and $13,478,000 are reported in Accounts payable and other liabilities line and $2,575,000 and
$4,962,000 are reported in the Pension and other employment related obligations line on the Consolidated Statement of Financial
Position as of June 30,2018 and 2017, respectively.

N. Environmental Remediation and Related Costs

From the mid-1960s until 1978, Dartmouth used a quarter-acre portion of a 223-acrc piece of property it owns in Hanover, NH

(known as "Rennie Farm") as a licensed burial site for animal carcasses used in medical and other research. Site remediation

was approved by the New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services, Radiological Health Section (RHS) and began
in late October 2011. In November 2011, unexpected hazardous chemical waste was encountered. Dartmouth has continued to

monitor groundwater quality and has conducted a phased investigation consistent with state environmental requirements.

During fiscal year 2017 Dartmouth completed the installation of a pump and treat system to treat and remove contaminated
groundwater from the source area. Dartmouth will remediate the site and continue monitoring groundwater wells and selected
drinking water supply wells with oversight from New Hampshire Department of Environmental Services.

In February 2017, Dartmouth College established a Value Assurance Program ("VAP") to protect the value of eligible properties

located in the Rennie Farm neighborhood. The VAP, which is a voluntary program, will run until February 1, 2022. Under the

terms of the VAP, owners of eligible properties who meet certain requirements will be compensated if they are unable to sell
their home at market value due to the Reruiie Farm remediation. If an owner of an eligible property is unable to sell his/her

home after meeting certain requirements, Dartmouth College will purchase the property.

During fiscal year 2017, Dartmouth incurred $5,140,000 in costs related to the environmental remediation of Rennie Farm and

establishment of the VAP and accrued $21,810,000 for estimated future costs of all remediation activities as well as an estimate

of expenses of the VAP. Total environmental remediation and related expenses are reported as a separate line in the operating

section of the Consolidated Statement of Activities and the accrued liabilities are reported in the accounts payable and other

liabilities line in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position. As of June 30, 2018, the accrual for estimated future

remediation and VAP expenses was $20,718,000. Actual future remediation and VAP expenses could differ from this amount.
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O. Subsequent Events

For purposes of determining the effects of other subsequent events on these consolidated financial statements, management has
evaluated events subsequent to June 30, 2018 and through October 24, 2018, the date, on which the consolidated financial
statements were issued, and has concluded that there were no other subsequent events requiring adjustment or disclosure.
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euco»«r, mi iptjfiiJ N»««tdi to Ttcfcicici^. ^Unaanicraf waacliaam Maiarid;
nwntias ts dnpreM naaw mMi njf »m 'nmicdor ««r«n«aaana<^^aat»am«ian; . is4n

TmMOH dCSMRll SnppOR fSJlOl 2,7H$36, 2.71M2fi

TrMMtlH HCMKk S«SMn H.310. liUai' Oatailaiiajia'i' ■mrm 1.141
TranMdH iwianb Soppon n.iie torn.' tinhaacf of atebaih ooanu (i2tti4-i)^^ am

TrwBJdn tcMirtft swen n.iio; 'rnmni/aoatfmuM 9.411
mtiem CMtcr far Mmcfeii rniBtidaMl SdtfKO* n.no' 2m.l34

' Mttional Ctmr far *drmcai( mwiiaienii Sdnm It.tQ' <s.tn Kaaard uahadn. ; ufTa».ne977»-sm .0,717

atMvd* aifnsnctw ̂ apaim. n.m; mm; 44^isi
Mtnortat 9ed»catiarf(« cnca canca

lut CanttfT Cwai act - B«M tidal caoear Moenhoi ts^j t>m.: IMSKCq' BDsiMn ,iim
»s.n» 2.b7Dm'- imm

CmcwC—aidtimii'juiitutinti- n.m' 19,2ft Afcart Bdtei cadaea a Madeaia .tOnTBSt :um
canetrCMaa nd afxinrjan coaan tijn 'ai|l»ai 1 wwjniai'i HBiiiit d '"uiDClr .'271.011
OncarCawaidtiKimlijiauiadi tS-JlJ' Cnntisr^EtfUC 41.147

' Cancv Caoaa aad traitfdivi taaavdi M-JtSj M.t36! Cadai-Sniai'Madial Caata. .uoom nm
Cmetcaaatndanni'aliai taj—bi n.mi ,2n,t7af oaaaafiaa •«/*; .271,174
oncar oaaa aid »r< ii iwleri aaaaai* njti. 21,W KanwdtMnadEC'. _ - . isnaamsct-OCQa .11.4*2

-  • uaa' namaiiB widaiCUa WM
Caictr Caat aid amtnben aoawdi ti.m MaaadiaacBM''. -cusdaM' 2S.2M

^Babar taaaMnta wddnpan aadOi'
CancaCaaaa aidararaRSiffi taaaardi n.fti} io; MJiaUiliaaBda'' .abazaxsinDM <io
canea Caaat aid til minim tuaafli n.m' I1S7,4<2| 'uMaddiBni Canad wndd: :123SS< " lS7.iu2
Canca Caoia aid tnaa^fsn aaaaadi * njt3 limr liluuJauauj caanl I'aiani' rxaut', :iim

aatan a dw unfcanfcy'a Mar uaiiea.
Caacacaaa aad arvmaaBa ata^adi fSJtS '2M.nt, 'mci*,^ _ ^ y 201.799
Caiea Caaa aid rrmncim aasaadi njn m.BS; uitiaaciVcaMwidi. oaiii •mtwtia« ^itom
caieaCwaaaBd*iiiiiiHli.ii tuaaiJi n.tt}> •sm' _Ui*aninacdU»»a».oaib • 20MMW»<VUS«774aU

'CancaCm aid ̂ amidfai tcaaa^ n-m. Uidiiaia, etcdiiaiaa. Oarb • auMiti ai _ .4*m
canca cant aid aranaadon acaaadi «.»}i isjont udnriirrefaBbrdi, nab ' lonoim m/iitSn-MTt 'im,
Qneacaae and tiwweiei weadi txm' tarn' uniia"tl|efCaiiaiwia,nnfiaidaB mota i*m
cancacaaa aid afaanetoi icwa iii' a.m. unntrstir of norfli cacein M Ctafd f*l' 'JBJ3S2t >n.«2'

- UMa«ratf^^*raa.MOaadaMn Canca'
n.m, •mm Canta - - -- • leoottmt

' Caca oacaebsn ad Ddpiciii attaacli nm; iiiim
Caaa Paaction and Oinncib tuaacfi n.m' .uam' t»|ta Codtn aCMaddna >7000000111 . 144m
Cava Ovtactan aid Oc^ioui tawacfi* nm^ .ium ee|l6r,C*ct d Medche .700000002 .'iom
Canca OctactiHi ad DapnsB tafaach ts.mi misi. caaa waatan taaaw Uiiiimid? .'RcnmM r 120.131
caiea paiaolun ad Mitnaiii maadi' nm. t2m; ■tfraaaadd.Mc; : wi'' : 12.001

1 Canca Dactcttan and Odfneaif tcnacli i nm; jo.117.' ,>j>nai>dt>"d CA'a"fu, tana - 2014-1021 : 10.117
Canca Dalauim and OinitiwB aaidaOi n.m' um' Unaiarjiti d Mbfiin •leoaomia... 'cm
Canca Oatacdai and Oii|neaii iajaaUi. nm. 20.m': uniiirdri daaaJam itonoonnMi ■».i43

' Canca OatadSd ad Diapias KaMBck n.m: Tt.mt Urniwm'd Tm*. tin Are**' ;UZ10S/liU0( !7*m
Cania TiaaCBaa doaardi nm. UTtojn- 1  ".V-'.'J"" " t.7n.247
Canca Tmcsaa ttsaaidi n.m, - U^ft amnunbadcr . ,17-MA»-2mW«C ' M 491
canca Trtacaaa aasaardi nm' aim* aiflani A aMOMn't navfeal (itoan '4141*
canca TraiCBaM atsnadi n.m' '.7J». tr^na • awenan'i nefpU 'faou 7.n*

Oneaftaataudamaidi nm' cmi Caaa'anmam taaara miiaiit) iRSSuai. 'IZJia

Canca naadaws aataadi n.m' aim: CMdint liantal d aWbdabMi KMbl' coo tot' '414*2
canca TraaSntfli tcfaarch ttmi MtSU- CCOd-ACKM Canca taaardi Qroa • 10419
canca Tuaaeeea taeadi n.m ,im end rmnliMai Canca naaatdi Cdda lnnii_ vm
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aiS^'nraib bitKt' "M Naiad a;

MtnlPtacnn cm* Daaet'' 'pts-nBAch' paaB'naAei PAty' _ . ' Sporaot tmiAar - 'bvtaditam' ')Bt Kaatiaiiti

Cinetr TiwtnM ttManh njn P.de) )eta warm CancB MSitiBC* MSlT-l) a44BJ:

OnntTrtsUBtM tjjn Ht) ; MtcBdinam ««mi WAitai <22S«S«< <**>.•
Cwctr Tmumu l«*wiiii fSJtS S1317 MatecMc: ' - ' ' -^MOUUt _ iSiji) • tOOO'

Canctt TitnaM ItMnA' tsjti. »no. MairadMc,. DM-)M>U^OWS20«)'
CMMrTmanwa ktxwtti fSJfS »CTJ27; 27)427 40400

C«K«r TrtftiBM *ufdi njn • It) .U))« • m

Cvmr Tnjtnanl iBwdt 9SJ9S I'M)) BtaJaidaLUgoapwuiuB 'H/» f.dS)

Cmo Tmiiiwn *11—qi •SJH. Otdo'SBBa manJiUi tuaBtli »iliBa)l«B I'dOMttU,
CMcv TnaaaM MHwtti mjm' 2),)n: MBiaB Sdancat, Be. V»' ;s4e

' cvmf TmBaMi atsnfdi njtf •MW. Ml* BdriafwetAQrafcaBOBtatK 17IW )«■ ^jnt
CancwSWap iwtt fUM. 'Cka^l )jeLt«
Cinett lUop *«ank fSJM sm*' wataBdudiaiilli tuoM'senon'' , 9)434
Cwior Ccottn Stepert Cnm fSJtl, '«,t5W«7 «.)Sisin

CwKtrComnSwpencnaa, nJtJ )int. mBA naaaatdi.««. lleiBil tBt BnidBii ,2a*n^ /U49
C*ic«r C«cMn Swpcrt Crm , njf?'. ! t.M). .uniiaiBt, ̂ Mida^' rtea^'itn tni

' onctf atnatdt Mnpowar tijn nino- .'HC-- -. '. .. injio
-CtnetrcanM n.m • Ml)' teuAiiiaTi ontaiapf Ciind, CAS7^' 640

'te>4a7iC*fi»a»imrtrDbt«i«f Pmatth' t}.U7 J.7M>77 = ^  — l.m.777
CPr^WrtioPir OimtM mmtt M.U7. ctjn . KV*!" A fdmanS mpial 'iiai)7a t4n
ortoiiMiatoMwMttamiiOi n.U7 n,«40: .M*auanafstr' >i7t<n'j .«44B

cwaoKiiQihr Wmm auoidi •J.07 U,Mf iMtMBbardtr- „ • stsatttta-. >um

CwJerwtrty Pfcttto auiirdi n.a37. 13.t70 ' loin SAod e( utA^ at Mbab Sisd ■«»»))» tdO) »U4»
CatJgrwoftrOtoaWuwiili «S.tT7; TOkTO)' Mb TertunMamt isninoepw
r»'i<ii'nii;ii<a ffS.f37 — )7J)t' 'iiufnaii ctifaMadat WdtaiAi, <i7,na

' )iaBla CTiat Bi'tMotpBd tuotdi
Cii^iapiiairOBmMloaaK* littT^ :p«aBdadw . . fUtOM ;u.iatT
nwilwri fymiOi n.t37' 't7,07a 'vandaica Aaitijlii aodfcaicaon -ywacsTza 117470
toni n.fM '•tantj n)4dd
Un| MtMM KtMPra ts.us tt05 MtAwAl at Wtutullt . ^tBU»A|l)0))»^ to

Hoed DOWHl Bid •oovtst MjMidl tint Zsta ttoBncaiKiedbi nci :IC* ■" t>40
t3.t«' \ ).«S4i). (UMW':

AfTtiritb, MiaadaMced «nd Skai oiNmi KiMWth' ts.W 2«.)n> 'taatmuaMMtV' -lateoootM) •2040
< aidintii, MmsdOrttlM Bid Stn DbwMS ••MaRil .t;m .tOTBBUaituAl^ ><00000)124 >.x)
anhndi. wiKidBilriltird and Stte Oinuu PuMfOi ts.tid l7n)' •cfWUamfBly' nbboottzt
anMb, MtaodeMtal Bid Ma obow MMBdi tuia !2JB)«' triflniB A taciiiin'i'lMipinl ?»)*ii))t»' ,24)4

' artMtii. MsntadaMd bM Mb otesai atMBdi N.aat; U^l .caUih MadU, tl£. mfi' .ti4e
pMattj. o<cci^<«. Bid Kibiar otacBa emnml
■aBBdii ̂ n.M7 'tdiaej 4)140)
Oiatate, Oiftsata. Nd Udtiar OiMcm CdrvBiml
tajtaik ^ tsjn »n)'' ' ttA'oad OtKwiiari MadbalCaatB~ 'OtaZTTT? ■ens
Babatti. OipstM, Bid Kibwr OBtans fiVBaanl --I."
MMBdl tui(7' 'uMn' j Iriftna A nviaa'i innied yuan
oobatts. otfistaa. BMl dOiar obcm emnmi —  .1^'.

-

•weBdi tlAt7. s^n. 'srlehao A wemae"! Meisltal ^075
ItaMm, HftidM.BidiMiarObtataitmBtral
■awBdi f}.M7 U.I , OUAWi Meapital «< aiiadalpfii iCMOt) iOKDW)74 a

Dtabatai. olftsba. Bid cttiaT DiMBas eorimural ■atiie At Aantiilli.Oi '
aajVBdi . .. tun t).*7.' ■atagtsadAamiwulncfMlwjBti ~ ;><nnuoti'' \t9jm
tiviffayji aaMBdi Bapam in A# fiauroadancas and
Ncaalactcal Pitoidan tie)' trnju ^S2«4I2;
Caraaanl ttMardi arefcans in tka naaTObaocts and ... _

MaarAe^ol Oaodtn tin) fiji)" 'imm Cui—auun • N/f 54?
. bnannt atnardi Nepaos ki Oia Maaraadancta and
Hatrdepol Otodeo t).B) .KaeCABK. J wo

CxBaoaral aaiaardi Mcfrans in Aa NBveidMEta and .

waiaAaHol DBBtdtn Tjm Mtd tttfoaii iBa»aed)

BonaarB t«MacA wotraBuki At MBometneas tnd
WaiBCicniialDiBBdtii t)n3 en) *TTd) MtAcal.'tBE. :*/* ten)
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' aass-llav^ MitT "nai

Mv*! Prepw . . _ - . •.CFM OdaOt ' aaia-TSadt^i '•a^TDreafheditli- Spenuf Nun*ar > ' •eqaandcans'

titffiiTMil nm»d> >totf»i«a in t>» w»Breitj«i'it»i wid
miiifcHlol OiMT fsitdi; M.7M ■"aaCTwafacMactefc inaUw /liS^llMSCMn 'iirsMr

-UwtrmdiBftctiMDiMB0 KMKdi nm

ABwrv Md nNcdeia otaMMt ••Mafcli «J^S , MW^ . Mw HepUm'uehwsitr 'iMnuDdm' •.•bo*-
ASirstr Md oTtctiDMt Otescs Kcwadi •ins l-Ktn 1 liax caitDas ctnUe; |i.2m;

- Alvff wd idKlieui Dmaa tatatcb •sns 'u/m 14<aar taadicd. ucj \41.0i0'.
AlvfT wd laftcdeui DdMMi MMWcb •s.ns- . m' noMCU' < rva 122.'
«B«xr wd larteiietd DbMMi MMMtb •sns tlCM 'OM wastani aasana uniaafdiy- assmnr, .u^

- Ahrtv Md Mftnous DoMti MmM •s.ns Mjn ' CMdrw iiuHitui Beaten. '' etwtieeeizmii, i»4.«M.
' ABvrraidiBftetleiaMMMtMMiRb •sns. 41^72 'ctiMnu Mogital Bewen CPCffPOOOlStBBBa' ^41.472,
M«rtr Md itfiaiotB Mtam ttniRb •ins. ^ 24J7S OWiBt Heaeinl aaadkai cuBtf > aSTTOCOCOeTBSW , 24.S7S •
*Mwn «nd ■d«ctieio Diwinj '•siss ^isdjod OaHiaaaaiatI *2031180 - 400^''

and loffntaB Hxam kmadi •ins- 'ssm ■Caeipcann unhang . 4128S2_CKU2S0e4C7 'ssns
-  and BdactiM Mnaui ntMaack •sns 'iMi ■'CaeapteaHadnatilla , 412970jCM12BS4OC) ;7.B41V

and ndactiaui DdnsM atMatch •s.ns' ms^sT :waavardua»aiiin i.S125Un04*«4 oaod MS^37'
iMwfi and mfactiain Piiiinj Knttatdi •ins 24.21|l "KamwdUievenita . TunisJOP244.oaoi . 24^* ■
aSvfv and ■dacOeui Wwiiu fttniiib. •ins. SICM ! la Citarts CBetlto ■WA juni.
itwrt and talaclioiB piiwwa MtaaaRk •ins "Ud.Tsgi ilaod^UC WA tOO,7BO
aaarya and afaciieui onaawi atttaada •sns 41^ i Maaadaaatti canani heapieri 22>tM; ilSJTO-

jjhrp and (afacdeuf Dbtasti aaaaardi •sns. ;io7,sss. ' orapa tmUi k sdna wdaanttr (OKU) ■ . tousi»oaaniovm < 107n*

. aiarrir and Mfaciieus otatase atnarch •s.ns '•refaOBi BieSdtncB,' 7.si»'
ilar{y and adacboB Ditanai atMaRh •s.ns. H,4n iTufttutdiianjtr *101107410001

alarciraad laftetina Diataici acicard) •s.ns' nss.aso ^UBnandyof CaESenai'San ftancBce. '072sci ismo
aBarcr and adaaiem Dbaaiti atiaanii •sns Uai' 1 laaaai cf aWMi^ •. 00422U*tU7wl2t ;i>44.
Uarp and MNcttan Maaaai attaaach •s.ns ».4ij- . wnalcb adcreflutta. Be. "i/A ' " 'M.421 ;
tjcntadteai aaiiaiUiandaaaanajiTiaaam •sn» unsns ji^^ss*

, eiotiiaafcal auaaicli and aaacwcti Traiaiin •S.tM' ^i»ns •"ciaiiil unhmnr'- tsuB-'tbiasa 17S.S3S '
8ion»adfcd inaaiili and a«taa«^ Tiatnn •sn» '•s.ioa''. fietiB mfditi ut*w*r *'200122(702' !*S^.'
dionicdcd acsaaRb and auaaiili Traaun^ •s.ns 'm.cDs- (uniaerstre<jWa*ineton * ''iMffiCUlOO
OJd HaaS&and Htanan tiaaalcipniiW tauauaaal w - *

aaaaan}! •i*n ..1171412 W7i4U'i
OM naaKh and Htmn otatietmm EatnmnI
aajtaiidi •S.MS ;7». •Gsiaa taadkal cancer 4S2M; •7».'
OdM Maaift and wntnan tia laki^nw EMaAtil .

atjand« . . . •sns <sssn( .'HanatdUBiaahicr .^isiTBiseoaoos.taas" ssmo'>
' CMd Maatt and Hwnan C^vdo^naH fcdjaoaaal

•aaeeRfi •sr«s ^U4>ad •Sirt^ , VMBOKCl UWJM"
- '' "T 1..' . rr

ac3Kan)> n.MS ^»5i! ]Sh^- 'n>7i
OdU naatt and manan ptvatodnam Dmaam ...

• aaiaarti '•s.m Uaiatidcil ataijanm ta i laJot sdacas. ■''siaixdTOaciMUOUd
OdU Hada and Htinan Dtatledintn eitnnural

• aaaantfi - ssan SdiTgd i Uehtnicrof artaens fer MadU sdenos ̂ ^siaooMnoiaeueoo* VSOlTOi--
CHM Haddi and manan Oaidctanam artiaitiail
at«»a •3ns_ 0 i uoiaanitref Taxn; Oafcs 1 \aoisw-

-a^nfatMaRli '•sns' ^i,47ijn
a(in|acMara •s.aee' •ISDt '  S waam's nnpkal. liiisf isins

.Milnlttoil
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* av^Ttuaa^r Eiu, *
15ia*rafn CPOA' otrea pata-Ttvaa^. eeaTtuai^i mMv a .'laaniw iMitir ■'O^oodtBaea
.*P1*ei«aidi 53JM' i5,*a ■ •ri(tea * wecncn*! navtlal jiin**
-Api| n*s*Mi- 4SM* ' 13,*33. •romaunheraeir' 090055* IS,*33
4*in* aifevA- - *3.aM >,*475 uniniiHetc^inidftSuiokte. 5**<23*MS*0mj|73 •475

.'*(in| nefeanti nAm' ■ 234*2 unimrdiyat AMYland .'SMOoositfibiisu. 234*2
ifi^atMaR]! 53JM' ;.a,(57F l**ier*Tof idtchigei' .'3qay«75i'^ 'e457

. Afln( ntsaarcb *3J8d!. -.41.433^ T<e uwrgiw"- C36A12«S2tAU712)Ca'5*oeoO*U ' jajisi

.ViEbn attearA- *3«7' C52.S10'
~

-*32410
^ virien aeaonli 53 **7 "■ ■,*.155. Wenr'^WiiruiH ;io*i7i7 *.155
iVUan atlearA 53.t*7' .U,M2 udmiiiti at aediegm 41721SA*VA0(M10n7 •U.*62
r Medial tibuTTAiAM*a ■*3.*7S i.i7*.*a-

• -
Vi47fteb9

Wdical Ubrarf aoetante *3.«75. >274a7 rar^yaresult' 'ini»jib^fftera '27J2*'
Mtematiaml RaMwA and Kcaaanh Tramn*' 53JO *02415 •'•02415.

,»7.*77.«21 *437.132- .  ' •ft2M.77S

idb WiidpiirBi

otpMBtnt e( twM) tad Human sanicB
OeaartmeM et naalth and manen serricti 53.KI m4ssv
OWiH"*!'* of Heddi and laaiian Sanrvts 53.110 -35,71*
Oesertmei* ef Health and Human SareicB 5S.ltO .f.isi''
Oeeertmem el NeiHh and Hemanlervca ;53.(0

0*iJHine«* at Medtn and laaeansefyicta 53.50 135424 1
Dtpaftmem el naatOi and Human servim ■fi.no "i*40*'
tmjem"*'* at Heahh and lanan setvltaa '53.n) . 3M7*..

•Oepartmemid Health and 1hanan Senma* n.BO 10.5*4-
Ocaanmat* at Health and reanaa Senrkts > t'l.ito 40*419'
Oipanmeni ef Health and Human senieei

•
.20,000-

Oeeartmtm at Heahh and manw servkei 51.BO ««is):
Oeoartnee at neMi and leaian scctkes 43.*0 .7*423
Oaparimtnt at Health and waean semcet -53.«p - 20,5*51
p^ftny at Health and iwnan lerriccs miM-
OtftanineM at Health and Hiann lenrket •3.K0 /U.coo.
ouoatmem el Hcaidi and Hanian icrykn *3.ao ,• 53.715 ;
otpartnwm at Htahli and numaa larricet .•53.1® *34«-

• Oaimitiim* el Health and Hti 3ar»fce» ..53.10 •757413 (
. Dapartmam e( Health and Htanan itnieei 53.50 14ft013i'

- 2M4»;. 147*.*ai
Ofllenof tht tauffliif

ifttBontl BmttfTOTttm Hoipital amfmcn t
'ntdonal Muipittl trtuvtdniti tregrim,

n.nt

tJOf-

*<>i*dMntlcwtptCcniii»dlH)i»tat
>a Naeenat iiuafcBtt on Oiufebv.'nS^tmliitt '
and NtaMaatiDti atmunA
aa Nadenai mtttnta en DinbiBer. ■ndadandtm ■
. and Miabfititien ReMvdt
aa Katienal uuUiMla cn OuiMar. wdafnndani tMnt
and aehadbatien atMiRA.
na Ratignal ndwtt en oiiatiBtr. uidtptadwt
and atfuWitaden atMamh.
' Sndanca^aaed Fadi areveimmi ̂ mpama finenced
. SoMv br »m««itien and a«Mc nrakk nmdi {mrj

fs.ess;

n:«»<

si.uil

n.mt

fs.m

cenmn tar tdcdcw and Mcdaid scnricB
ACA-Tnariermind Onlcal aracta laUtAaa: Pmcto"

' TiansSennaDen tietwerte {anfti
ccRttnlar MedcartMtMdeMserrieci (a«|
' aemard). Demerutratieni and MluatiaRi
cmtn far Mtdc»a nd Mcdciid strrfce ICMSI
•emarA, DemaRsradeni and Evatuadara

•j.ua

n.77»

U.W '

Amtrioa celtatt a( nadialen>
triftem t wetaert Hataiol
caatoan.K'. " '" '
Cnmre.UC,^
bm rartar CKcar auanin
iiai_«a»dmdrmuit,
icr AMar
leidee Hamedol •etevdi;
laeirtatlaadMLiemAainkmt^Bt.
mi Dtd( ii htM I Homri SerrtaH'
m Mr at mMc tiaaShlMririma u'
IIMdnrutmiWiremt;
>tdRc HBtiinnLn imkinel iihuriluii •
ladnntdm Caawl Oat artbe'
Unireratii at rtecidti;
Untrardtr ̂
Uwratjitt at ieutfc Herida'
Wcm'aic.^

,H/A.'
■ k/A-
■ rznT-iMaieet letcmTim

»,71A

"707
' iHaja

'UMvoroacAdO

V*:.
luenbanin
iisdsi/ '
;sTXiorareowi7
|U2tS2f
STMH^U

;tOaiC7«SOC
J9ei«.

K/A>1'.'
unKnoatdoai

eeis^ (uawMI
aoosoomus^ '

'Mia

31J7«

joaia

jo.oeo
(U^

tJ,753
a^'
V^.

VUf7^

iwe'et Utm iAd emtfrjiniemal
tU4Z7: Cidvcamtnl (SSn)

mi^afMUetwMsiKviM
lUMCOOOM

[jrmirri*:
>10,IZ7.

ttJC-
1WJ»

•eataaUarrmaitT

s?^'' arinA; wdy'drV
iajjo^ riai^ijniiiLnii;

.'<S000aZ77(

OCMUZ-tMOOMnil

*■533.254

ajM

57.m

i43e

'u.«d7 tTiai:
77.753. >«Z3.474 JSfl'

ia.lW Marocamc aAfl-2242A«TO MSdZSUl'
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1. Basis of Presentation

The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards (the "Schedule") summarizes the
expenditures of Dartmouth College and subsidiaries ("Dartmouth College") under federal
government programs for the year ended June 30, 2018. The information in this Schedule is
presented in accordance with the requirements of U.S. Office of Management and Budget
(0MB) Uniform Audits of States, Local Governments and Nonprofit Organizations.
Negative amounts on the Schedule represent adjustments to expenditures reported in the prior
year. The Schedule includes Catalog of Federal Domestic Assistance (CFDA) and pass:through
award numbers when available.

For purposes of the Schedule, federal awards include all grants, contracts, and similar
agreements entered into directly between Dartmouth College and agencies and departments of
the federal government and all subawards to Dartmouth College by nonfederal organizations
pursuant to federal grants, contracts, and similar agreements.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies for Federal Award Expendihu%s

Expenditures for direct and indirect costs are recognized as incurred using the accrual method of
accounting and the cost accounting principles contained in the 0MB Uniform Guidance, Cost
Principlesfor Educational Institutions, and the regulations of the specific programs. Under
those cost principles, certain types of expenditures are not allowable or are limited as to
reimbursement.

3. Facilities and Administrative Costs

Dartmouth College recovers facilities and administrative (F&A) costs associated with research
and development pursuant to arrangements negotiated with the Department of Health and Human
Services (DHHS). Dartmouth College submitted an indirect cost proposal in the fall.of 2015 for
negotiated rates that became effective on April 5, 2016. Dartmouth College applies its
predetermined approved facilities & administrative rate when charging indirect costs to federal
awards rather than the 10% de minimis cost rate as described in Section 200.414 of the Uniform
Guidance. Dartmouth's F&A cost rale for fiscal year 2018 is 62% for on-campus research.

4. Federal Student Loan Programs

Federal direct loans are issued by the U.S. Department of Education directly to students and
their parents. The balances and transactions related to these loans are not included in financial

statements. Loans made to eligible students and parents under federal student loan programs
during the year ended June 30, 2018 are included in the Schedule of Federal Expenditures above.

The Federal Perkins loans (Perkins) are administered and serviced directly by Dartmouth
College. In addition, Dartmouth College continues to service Health Education Assistance
Loans (HEAL), which were issued in previous years. Balances and transactions relating to these
loans are included in the financial statements.

The balances outstanding on these loans at June 30, 2018 are as follows:

Perkins — 84.038 $17 732 432
HEAL-93.108 ' 39.298

$17,771,730

43



pwc

Report of Independent Auditors on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and on
Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in

Accordance with Government Auditing Standards

To the Board of Trustees of Dartmouth College:

' We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing
Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the consolidated financial
statements of Dartmouth College and its subsidiaries ("Dartmouth College"), which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as of June 30,2018, and the related consolidated
statement of activities, statement of operating expenses and statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and the related notes to the financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated
October 24, 2018.

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered Dartmouth College's
internal control over financial reporting ("internal control") to determine the audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial
statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of Dartmouth
College's internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of
Dartmouth College's internal control.

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent,
or detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a
combination of deficiencies, in internal control such that there is a reasonable possibility that a
material misstatement of the entity's financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and
corrected on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies,
in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit
attention by those charged wth governance.

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of
this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material
weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify
any deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material
weaknesses may exist that have not been identified.

Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether Dartmouth College's financial statements
are free from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of
laws, regulations, contracts and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and
material effect on the determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion
on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not
express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other
matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards.

PricewaterbouseCoopers LLP, 101 Seaport Boulevard, Suite 500, Boston, MA 02210
T: (617) 530 5000, F: ('6j7)530 500j, www.pwc.com/us
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Purpose of this Report

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the
entity's internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in
accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity's internal control and
compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose.

Boston, MA
October 24, 2018
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Report of Independent Auditors on Compliance with Requirements
That Could Have a Direct and Material Eifect on Each Mqjor Program and on Internal

Control Over Compliance in Accordance with the Uniform Guidance

To the Board of Trustees at Dartmouth College:

Report on Compliance for Each Mqjor Federal Program

Wo have audited Dartmouth College and its subsidiaries' ("Dartmouth College") compliance with the
types of compliance requirements described in the 0MB Compliance Supplement that could have a
direct and material effect on each of Dartmouth College's major federal programs for the year ended
June 30, 2018. Dartmouth College's major federal programs are identified in the summary of
auditor's results section of the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs.

Management's Responsibility

Management is responsible for compliance with federal statutes, regulations and the terms and
conditions of its federal awards applicable to its federal programs.

Auditors' Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on compliance for each of Dartmouth College's major
federal programs based on our audit of the types of compliance requirements referred to above. We
conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the
United States of America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government
Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States; and the audit
requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code ofFederal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative
Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirementsfor Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance).
Those standards and the Uniform Guidance require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether noncompliance with the types of compliance requirements
referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on a major federal program occurred.
An audit includes examining, on a test basis, CNidence about Dartmouth College's compliance \vith
those requirements and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the
circumstances.

We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion on compliance for each major
federal program. However, our audit does not provide a legal determination of Dartmouth College's
compliance.

Opinion on Each Mqjor Federal Program

In our opinion, Dartmouth College and its subsidiaries complied, in all material respects, with the
types of compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on
each of its major federal programs for the year ended June 30, 2018.

Report on Internal Control Over Compliance

Management of Dartmouth College is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal
control over compliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to above. In planning
and performing our audit of compliance, we considered Dartmouth College's internal control over
compliance with the types of requirements that could have a direct and material effect on each major
federal program to determine the auditing procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for

PricewaterbouseCoopers LLP, 101 Seaport Boulevard, Suite 500, Boston, MA 02210
T: (617) 530 5000, F: (617) 530 5001, www.pwc.com/us
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the purpose of ej^ressing an opinion on compliance for each major federal program and to test and
report on internal control over compliance in accordance with the Uniform Guidance, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over compliance.
Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of Dartmouth College's internal
control over compliance.

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over
compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their
assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance
requirement of a federal program on a timely basis. A material weakness in internal control over
compliance is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such
that there is a reasonable possibility that material noncompliance with a type of compliance
requirement of a federal program will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis.
A significant deficiency in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of
deficiencies, in internal control over compliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal
program that is less severe than a material weakness in internal control over compliance, yet
important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the
first paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control over
compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. We did not identify any
deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses.
However, material weaknesses may exist that have-hot been identified.

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our
testing of internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of
the Uniform Guidance. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose.

Boston, MA
January ii, 2019
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Dartmouth College
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs
Year Ended June 30, 2018

Section 1 - Summary of Auditor's Results

Financial Statements

Type of auditor's report issued:

Internal control over financial reporting:
•  Material weakness(es) identified?

•  Significant deficiency(ies) identified that are not
considered to be material weaknesses? .

•  Noncompliance material to financial statements
noted?

Federal Awards

Internal control over major programs:
•  Material weakness(es) identified?

•  Significant deficiency(ies) identified that are not
considered to be material weaknesses?

Type of auditor's report issued on compliance
for major programs:

Any audit findings disclosed that are required to be
reported in accordance with 2 CFR 200.516(a)

Identification of mtgor programs:
CFDA Number(s)

Various

Various

Dollar threshold used to distinguish between Type A and
Type B programs:

Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee?

Unmodified

.yes

yes

yes

yes

.yes

Unmodified

yes

Xno

X none reported
X no

Xno

X none reported

X no

Name of Federal Program or Cluster

Research and Development Cluster
Student Financial Assistance Program
Cluster

$3,000,000

X yes no

Section II - Financial Statement Findings

None noted.

Section III - Federal Award Findings and Questioned Costs

None noted.
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Dartmouth College
Summary Schedule of Prior Audit Findings
June 30, 2018

There are ho findings from prior years that require an update in this report.
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CURRICULUM VITAE

Date prepared: April 15, 2019

NAME: Dr. Judith Rees

ADDRESS: Home Office

1 Medical Center Drive

7927 Rubin Building
Lebanon, NH 03756

I. EDUCATION

DATES INSTITUTION DEGREE

1997-2001 University of California, Berkeley,
School of Public Health

Ph.D. (Epidemiology

1995-1996 University of California, Berkeley,
School of Public Health

M.P.H. (Epidemiology)

1985-1988 Oxford University Medical School,
England

B.M., B.Ch. (equivalent
toM.D.)

1982-1985 Oxford University, England B.A. (Physiological
Sciences)

II. POSTDOCTORAL TRAINING

DATES INSTITUTION SPECIALTY

1991-1994 Northampton General Hospital,
Northampton, England

General Practice Resident:

Pediatrics (6 months)
Obstetrics/Gynecology (6 months)
Psychiatry (4 months)
Palliative Care (4 months)
Rheumatology (4 months)
General Practice (12 months)

1990 St. Helier Hospital, Surrey, England Resident, Emergency Department

1989-1990 Welsh Health Common Services Authority Intern, Computer Programming

1989 Churchill Hospital, Oxford, England Intern, General Surgery / Urology

1988-1989 Northampton General Hospital,
Northampton, England

Intern, General Medicine /
Gastroenterology

III. PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT ACTIVITIES: NA

IV. ACADEMIC APPOINTMENTS

DATES INSTITUTION TITLE

2015 - Present Geisel School of Medicine at

Dartmouth

Assistant Professor,
Epidemiology



Name; Dr. Judith Rees

2002 - Present Gelsel School of Medicine at

Dartmouth

Assistant Professor, Community
& Family Medicine

2006 - Present Morris Cotton Cancer Center,

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Medical Center

Cancer Epidemiology Program
Member

V. INSTITUTIONAL LEADERSHIP ROLES

DATES INSTITUTION TITLE

2016-2018 Morris Cotton Cancer Center,
Dartmouth-Hitchcock Medical Center

Cancer Epidemiology Research
Program, Co-Director

2013 - Present Morris Cotton Cancer Center,

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Medical Center

Co-Director, Registry Shared
Resource

2004-Present Mew Hampshire State Cancer Registry Director

VI. LICENSURE AND CERTIFICATION

DATE LICENSURE/CERTIFICATION

1993 Member of the Royal College of General Practitioners,
United Kingdom (equivalent to Board Certification)

1993 Diploma of the Royal College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists,
United Kingdom

1988 Medical licensure (United Kingdom)

VII. HOSPITAL APPOINTMENTS

DATES INSTITUTION POSITION/TITLE

1994 Short term locum, various general practice
offices. South Wales, United Kingdom

Family Practitioner

VIII. OTHER PROFESSIONAL POSITIONS (NON-DARTMOUTH):

DATES INSTITUTION POSITION/TITLE

1997-2000 California Emerging Infections Program
Berkeley, CA

Project Director, Drinking
Water Evaluation Trial

1996-1997 California Emerging Infections Program,
San Francisco, CA

Surveillance Officer

(Cryptosporidiosis)

1995 California Emerging Infections Program,
San Francisco, CA

Surveillance Officer

IX. TEACHING ACTIVITIES
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A. UNDERGRADUATE (COLLEGE) EDUCATION: NA

B. GRADUATE EDUCATION

CLASSROOM TEACHING

DATES INSTITUTION COURSE TITLE ROLE HOURS/

YEAR

2016: Geisel School of

Medicine at Dartmouth

Quantitative Biomedical

Sciences (QBS 271
Epidemiology seminar)

Guest seminar

leader

1 Hour

2012-15 Geisel School of
Medicine at Dartmouth

Quantitative Biomedical

Sciences, "Study
Design"

Lecturer 1.5 hours

2006 Geisel School of

Medicine at

Dartmouth, Center for

the Evaluative Clinical

Sciences (CEOS)

"Waterbome Infectious

Diseases" ECS 151,
Environmental &

Occupational Health:

Lecture,
supervisor of
outbreak

investigation
exercise

2 hours

2004 Geisel School of

Medicine at Dartmouth

"Randomized Controlled

Trials: statistical and

scientific issues", Core
Modules in the

Evaluative Clinical

Sciences: Advanced

Seminar Series

Lecture, 2 hours

2003 Center for the

Evaluative Clinical

Sciences. Dartmouth

Medical School

ECS 151,
Environmental &

Occupational Health

Project advisor 4 hours

1998 University of
California, Berkeley,
CA

Epidemiology 250B
(Core course)

/

Graduate

Student

Instructor

20 hours

C. UNDERGRADUATE MEDICAL EDUCATION (Medical School)

I. CLASSROOM TEACHING

DATES INSTITUTION COURSE TITLE ROLE HOURS/

YEAR

2015- Geisel School of

Medicine at Dartmouth

Patients and

Populations:
Improving Health
and Healthcare

Co-Director and

course developer,
small group leader
and lecturer

(Biostatistics and
Epidemiology)

250

2008-

2015

Geisel School of

Medicine at Dartmouth

"Biostatistics and

Epidemiology" (CFM
104)

Course Director and

lecturer

200
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'

2008-

2015

Gelsel School of

Medicine at Dartmouth
"Biostatistics and

Epidemiology" (CFM
104)

Small Group Leader 18

ii. CLERKSHIP TEACHING: NA

D. GRADUATE MEDICAL EDUCATION

E. OTHER CL NICAL EDUCATION (e.g., PA programs)
DATES INSTITUTION COURSE TITLE ROLE HOURS/

YEAR

2012 Geisel School of

Medicine at

Dartmouth:

SYNERGY

Certificate Program
Lecturer 0.5

X. ADVISING/MENTORING

A. UNDERGRADUATE STUDENTS: NA

B. GRADUATE STUDENTS (Masters & PhD Students)

DATES STUDENT'S NAME PROGRAM NAME DEGREE

2004 Maria Celaya University of New Hampshire,
Independent Study

MPH

C. MEDICAL STUDENTS:

DATES STUDENT'S NAME PROGRAM

2018 Alexandra Morgan
2018 Shaun Cooper
2018 Stephanie Castillo
2018 Radelys German
2017 Jacob Wasag
2016 Delaney Osborne
2015 Nu R Na

OQIfit VtAi> Dolanoy Qsborno Yoar 1 medical studont

Jacob Wasag Yoar 1 2 modical ctudont
2015 16 Nuroo Na Yoar 1 modical studont

D. RESIDENTS/FELLOWS

DATES MENTEE'S NAME SPECIALTY

2016 Anh Khoa Pham Dermatology

E. FACULTY
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DATES MENTEE'S NAME SPECIALTY

2018- Andrew Loehrer Surgical Oncology

2018- Erika Moen Biomedical Data Science

2014-15 Mamsau Ngoma, MD
Ocean Road Cancer Institute

Dar es Salaam, Tanzania

Clinical Oncology

2014-15 Nazima.Dharsee, MD
Ocean Road Cancer Institute

Dar es Salaam, Tanzania

Clinical Oncology

2014-15 Salum Lidenge, MD
Ocean Road Cancer Institute

Dar es Salaam, Tanzania

Clinical Oncology

XI. RESEARCH TEACHING/MENTORING: NA

XII. COMMUNITY SERVICE, EDUCATION, AND ENGAGEMENT
List activities relevant to your professional roles

DATES INSTITUTION COURSE TITLE/ACTIVITY ROLE HOURS/

YEAR

2017- Morris Cotton

Cancer Center

Squash Cancer Tournament Organizing
committee

member

50

2011 American

Cancer Society
"Making Strides Against Breast
Cancer Summit": a breast cancer

awareness event for the community.
"Multiple Cancers and the New
Hampshire State Cancer Registry"

Guest

speaker
1.0

10/2009 Hanover High
School

"Dig Pink" Varsity Volleyball
fundraiser for breast cancer

Master of

Ceremonies

1.0 ,
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XIII. RESEARCH FUNDING

A. Current

DATES

(start &
stop)

PROJECT

(title/award #)
ROLE* % EFFORT SPONSOR ANNUAL

DIRECT

COSTS

06/01/18-

05/31/18

Geospatial "Big Data"
Approaches to.Cancer
Clusters and

Environmental Risk

PI 10% Munck-

Pfefferkom

grant,
Dartmouth

College

$80,000

11/18/2016-

06/30/2018

PO#1024261

NH State Cancer

Registry

PI 50% NH Cancer

Registry
$666,260

10/01/2016-

09/30/2020

Geographic Distribution
of Health Care (PI. K
Telle) Regional
differences in

demand and supply,
costs and quality
(GeoHealth) project
256678 awarded to

Forskningsavdelingen

Visiting
Faculty

None (grant
funds travel

experises)

Research

Council of

Norway

$588,900

06/01/16-

11/30/19

P30 CA023108 (PI, M.
Israel) Cancer Center
Support Grant

Cancer

Epidemiology
Program Co-
Director

10% NCI $993, 985

06/01/17-

05/31/19

P01CA206980 (Berwick
and Thomas)

5% NCI $37,137
(Rees
funds only)

B. Past

DATES

(start & stop)
PROJECT

(title/award #)
ROLE* % EFFORT SPONSOR ANNUAL

DIRECT

COSTS

8/1/2015-

10/31/2016

NCE to

10/31/2017

5022528 (PI, E.
Barry)
Colorectal Chemo-

prevention with
Calcium

and VitamimD

Role: Co-

Investigator
2.5% NCI $529,008

4/1/2015-

3/31/2017

R01CA057494 (PI,
M. Karagas) Non-
Melanoma Skin

Cancer in New

Hampshire

Role: Co-

Investigator
10% NCI $362,404

07/01/2014-

10/31/2016

NH Cancer Registry PI 60% CDC $636,646

7/1/2014- R03CA178272 PI 10% NCI $32,803
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6/30/2016 Participant Beliefs
and Bias in a

Randomized

Controlled Trial

04/16/2014-

08/28/2015

Patient Centered

Outcomes Research

PI 2.5% CDC $181,454

3/20/14-9/25/15 14X063 (PI, M

ErnstofO Planning
Research Training
Program in HIV-
reiated Malignancies
in Tanzania-

DarDarCan

Co-

Investigator
5% NCI $81,192

7/1/2012-

6/30/2014

NH Cancer Registry PI 60% CDC $545,905

7/1/2011-

6/30/2012

NH Cancer Registry PI 60% CDC $527,596

2/15/10-2/14/13 RD-83459901-0 (PI.
M Karagas)
Children's

Environmental

Health & Disease

Prevention Research

Center at Dartmouth

Co-

Investigator
2.5% EPA $189,340

2/15/10-11/30/13 1P20ES018175-01

(PI, M Karagas)
Children's

Environmental

Health & Disease

Prevention Research

Center at Dartmouth

Co-

Investigator
2.5% NIH $155,137

7/1/2010-

6/30/2011

NH Cancer Registry PI 60% CDC $527,596

10/01/2010-

09/30/2013

Enhancing
Cancer Registry
Data for

Comparative
Effectiveness.

Subcontract #

635243-103-1567

PI 10% CDC $297,178

9/30/09-9/30/11 3R01CA098286-

0781 (PI, J Baron)
Subcontract from

University of North
Carolina. Vitamin D

and the risk of upper
respiratory and Gi
infections

Co-

Investigator
5% NIH/NCI $312,777
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01/01/04-

08/31/08

1 R01 CA98286-(PI,
J Baron) Colorectal
Chemopreventlon

with Calcium and

Vitamin D

Co-

Investigator
5% NCI/NIH $529,008

09/30/13-

06/31/14

R01CA059005

(PI, J Baron)
Aspirin/Folate
Prevention of Large
Bowel Polyps

Co-

Investigator
5% NCI/NIH $418,540

3/1/2010-

8/31/2012

Assessment of

Central Cancer

Registry Linkage

PI 10% Westat $86,994

09/30/2009 -

08/31/2013

UC2CA148259 (PI A
Tosteson, W Black,

B Hillner)
Comparative
Effectiveness of

Advanced Imaging in
Cancer

Co-

Investigator
10% National

Cancer

Institute

(NCI)

$741,636

12/01/2008-

11/30/2013

2P30 CA023108

(PI, M Israel) Cancer
Center Support
(CORE) Grant,
Office of

Comparative
Effectiveness

Research

Co-

Investigator
5% National

Cancer

Institute

$2,513,292

7/1/2008-

6/30/2010

NH Cancer Registry PI 60% CDC $527,596

1/1/2008-

12/31/2011

Subsequent
Malignancy After
Non Melanoma Skin

Cancer

PI 30% ACS $112,215

3/1/07-2/28/12 R01 NS055875 (PI.
S Supattapone)
Biochemistry of
Infectious Prions

Co-

Investigator
10% NIH/NINDS $200,000

7/1/2006-

6/30/2008

NH Cancer Registry PI 60% CDC $609,036

7/1/2005-

6/30/2006

NH Cancer Registry PI 60% CDC $501,493

04/01/1997-

03/31/2013

5P42 ES007373-14

(PI, B Stanton)
Toxic Metals in the

Northeast: From

Biological to
Environmental

Implications

Co-

Investigator
10% NIH/NIEHS $360,721

9/15/2004-

9/14/2005

Indian Health

Service Contract/NH

State Registry

PI N/A Indian

Health

Service

$2,500
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7/1/2004-

6/30/2005

NH Cancer Registry PI 60% CDC $459,714

3/1/04-2/28/10 U50/CCU121143-03

(PI, J Moeschler)
The New Hampshire
Birth Defects

Monitoring and
Prevention Program

Epidemiol
ogist

1%

1

CDC $183,636

8/28/03-7/31/08 115911/R01

CA054419(PI, D
Cramer) Subcontract
from Brigham &
Women's Hospital.
Genes, hormones,
and environment in

an ovarian cancer

model

Epidemiol
ogist

11% NIH/NCI $91,024

C. Pending V

DATES

(start & stop)
PROJECT

(title/award #)
ROLE* % EFFORT SPONSOR ANNUAL

DIRECT

COSTS
7/1/19-6/30/23 U24: Development of

ArcHealth software

package for geospatial
analyses in cancer
studies

Co-

Investigator
15% NIH/NCI $481,071

9/1/19-8/31/21 R21: Evaluating
osteoradlonecrosis

outcomes using a
hyperbaric registry

Co-PI 10% NIH/NCi $150,000
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XIV. PROGRAM DEVELOPMENT

List any educational, clinical or research entities at Dartmouth that were created or notably advanced
by your efforts

1. New Hampshire State Cancer Registry (NHSCR).
Maintaining a high quality state cancer registry at Dartmouth has provided numerous benefits to the
medical school.

•  North American Association of Central Cancer Registries certification, based on data quality: 13
gold, 2 silver awards over 15 years.

•  One of 10 state Specialized Registries for Comparative Effectiveness Research (CER) (2011-13)
•  One of 6 state Specialized Registries participating in Patient Centered Outcomes project (2013-

present)
•  A bibliography of well over 200 papers published by Dartmouth faculty based on NHSCR data.

•  Millions of dollars in Dartmouth grants have used NHSCR data e.g. New England Bladder Study,
Ovarian Cancer Study, Melanoma Study, Familial Colorectal Cancer Study, NH Mammbgraphy
Network, NH Colonoscopy Registry.

2. Norris Cotton Cancer Center Registry Shared Resource (RSR).
•  Founder and Co-Director of NCCC Registry Shared Resource
•  Initiation of registries for clinical research and quality improvement (e.g. Hyperbaric Oxygen

Registry [PI Buskey], Pediatric Cancer Registry [PI Chaffee])
•  Enhancement of DHMC Tumor Registry reporting:

o Via a contract awarded to the NH State Cancer Registry, I obtained $100,000 direct costs
from the CDC to successfully install electronic case-finding ("AIM") software at DHMC,
replacing manual review of pathology paper reports that required 0.5 FTE.

o Advocated for DH Tumor Registry collection of follow-up data (discussions pending)
o Conducted validation exercise showing that DH Tumor Registry vital status process misses

-20% of deaths; and identified a solution via linkage with National Death Index (in process)

3. Hyperbaric Oxygen Treatment Registry (HBOT).
• Working with hyperbaric program to develop international HBOT registry and research consortium
•  Designed and improved registry using REDCap, now being tested by multiple potential partners

worldwide (Australia, United Kingdom, United States).
• Working with HBOT team to write internal and external grant proposals for future funding (pending)

4. Medical student education.

•  Core course development and implementation (Biostatistics & Epidemiology CFM 104, 2009-2015).
The course consistently received excellent reviews and earned the best Step 1 results of Geisel
Year 1 courses.

•  Curriculum expansion during transition of CFM 104 to "Patients and Populations" 2-year course

XV. ENTREPRENEURIAL ACTIVITIES: NA

List any patents, licenses or other entrepreneurial activities
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XVI. MAJOR COMMITTEE ASSIGNMENTS:

National/international

DATES COMMITTEE ROLE INSTITUTION

2013 Comparative Effectiveness
Research Analysis Group

Participant National Program of Cancer
Registries, Centers for
Disease Control &

Prevention

2010 Prevention Translation

Supplement Awards Review
Committee

Reviewer Canadian Cancer Society
Research Institute

2003 Institutional Review Board External

reviewer

US Environmental

Protection Agency

Regional

DATES COMMITTEE ROLE INSTITUTION

2011-Present NH Colorectal Cancer

Screening Program
Medical Advisory Board

Committee

Member

NH Colorectal Cancer

Screening Program

2008-Present NH State Cancer Registry
Advisory Panel

Chair NH State Cancer Registry

2006-2009 NH Comprehensive
Cancer Collaboration

Emerging Issues
Committee

Committee

Member

NH Department of Health
and Human Services

2006-Present NH Comprehensive
Cancer Collaboration

Data Use Committee

Committee

Member

NH Department of Health
and Human Services

2006 NH Comprehensive

Cancer Collaboration:

Management RFP review
panel

Committee

Member

NH Department of Health
and Human Services

2006 NH Comprehensive
Cancer Control Plan:

Evaluation Design RFP
review panel

Committee

Member

NH Department of Health
and Human Services

2005-2007 NH Advisory Panel on
Cancer and Chronic

Disease

Committee

Member

NH Department of Health
and Human Services

2005-2008 NH Comprehensive
Cancer Control Plan:

Steering Committee

Committee

Member

NH Department of Health
and Human Services
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2005 NH Chronic Disease

Conference Planning
Committee

Committee

Member

NH Department of Health &
Human Services

2003 Mercury subcommittee
responding successfuliy to
PA 03034 (Centers for
Disease Control &

Prevention)

•Committee

Member

NH Department of Health
and Human Services Public

Health Laboratory

Institutional

DATES COMMITTEE ROLE INSTITUTION

2016- Medical Education

Committee

Voting Member Geisel School of Medicine at

Dartmouth

2015- present Patients & Populations
workgroup

Committee

member, course
development

Geisei School of Medicine at

Dartmouth

2012-2014
)

Masters Curriculum

development workgroup
Committee

member, co-
director of

workgroup on
Measurement,
Analysis &
Critical Appraisal

Geisel School of Medicine at

Dartmouth

2012 ' Educational program
working group

Workgroup
member, LCME
self-study
document

Geisei School of Medicine at

Dartmouth

2012-present Cancer Center

developmental funds review
committee

Reviewer Norris Cotton Cancer Center,

Dartmouth-Hitchcock

Medical Center

2012 Year 1-2 Curriculum review

working group
Committee

member

Geisei School of Medicine at

Dartmouth

2010 Pilot Application review
committee

Reviewer Dartmouth Center for Clinical

& Translationai Science,
Geisel School of Medicine

2009-2012 Medical Education

Committee

Voting Member Geisel School of Medicine at

Dartmouth

2008- American Cancer Society
Institutional Research

Grants

Reviewer Geisel School of Medicine at

Dartmouth

2007 Administrative Officer,
Search Committee,

Biostatistics/Epidemiology

Committee

Member

Geisel School of Medicine at

Dartmouth
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XVII. MEMBERSHIPS, OFFICE AND COMMITTEE ASSIGNMENTS IN PROFESSIONAL
SOCIETIES: NA

XVIll. EDITORIAL BOARDS:

DATES SOCIETY ROLE

2013-Present PLOS ONE Academic Editor

XIX. JOURNAL REFEREE ACTIVITY:

DATES (year
of first review)

JOURNAL NAME

2018 Journal of the European Academy of Dermatology and Venereology: Reviewer
Intemational Joumal of Dermatology: Reviewer

2016 British Joumal of Dermatology: Reviewer

2015 Clinical Nutrition: Reviewer

Italian Journal of Pediatrics: Reviewer

2014 Cancer Epidemiology, Biomarkers and Prevention: Reviewer
International Journal of Cancer: Reviewer

2013 PLOS ONE: Academic Editor

2010 Clinical Rehabilitation: Reviewer

2009 British Journal of Cancer: Reviewer

2008 Cancer Biomarkers, Epidemiology and Prevention: Reviewer

2007 Journal of Exposure Science and Environmental Epidemiology: Reviewer

2005 Medical Science Mentor: Reviewer

2004 Advanced Studies in Medicine: Reviewer

XX. AWARDS AND HONORS:

DATE AWARD

1998-1999 University Fellowship for Graduate Study in Public Health (U.C. Berkeley)

1997-1998 Non-Resident Tuition Scholarship (U.C. Berkeley)

1994 George Herbert Hunt Traveling Scholarship (Oxford University, England)

XXI. INVITED PRESENTATIONS:

Indicate with an asterisk (*) those presentations to which you, individually, were extended an
invitation to present
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Indicate with a hashtag (#) those presentations that were meetings where you may have
presented a poster/talk, but not following a personalized invitation (i.e., at a large society
meeting).

Indicate with a carat (^) if the talk/presentation was applicable as a CME activity.

International (location of the meeting):

DATE TOPIC/TITLE ORGANIZATION LOCATION

2015 Randomized Controlled Trials:

Who Fails Run-in?#

International Clinical

Trials Methodology
Conference

Glasgow, Scotland

2012 Registry Methods and Cancer
Registries*

Ocean Road Cancer

Institute

Par es Salaam,
Tanzania

1985 Rubella, Congenital
Malformations and the

Development of Immunization*

Annual meeting of the
Wellcome Unit for the

History of Medicine

Oxford, England

National:

DATE TOPIC/TITLE ORGANIZATION LOCATION

2018 The Role of Registries in
Medicine"^

Undersea and

Hyperbaric Medicine
Society

Orlando, Florida

2011 Cancer in the Oldest Old: a New

Hampshire-Norway comparison#
North American

Association of Central

Cancer Registries

Louisville, KY

2010 Vitamin D and common infectious

syndromes*
Polyp Prevention Study
Group

Chicago, IL

2007 Serum vitamin D response to
supplementation*

Polyp Prevention Study
Group

Chicago, IL

2006 Serum vitamin D response to
supplementation*

Polyp Prevention Study
Group

Las Vegas, NV

2000 Measurement of blinding
effectiveness in randomized,

placebo-controlled trial*

U.C, Berkeley Berkeley, OA

Regional/Local:

DATE TOPIC/TITLE ORGANIZATION LOCATION

2015 Risk factors for late New Hampshire State Cancer Nashua, NH
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stage colorectal cancer
in New Hampshire*

Registry Annual Training
Meeting

2013 Enhancing cancer
registry data for
comparative
effectiveness research*

Cancer Registrars Association
of New England (CRANE)

Concord, NH

2011 Comparative
effectiveness research

data: a tool for New

Hanr^shire hospitals*

New Hampshire State Cancer
Registry Annual Training
Meeting

Concord Hospital, NH

2010 Comparative
effectiveness research

data collection in New

Hampshire: a new
initiative*

New Hampshire State Cancer
Registry Annual Training
Meeting

Portland, ME

2009 Oncology Care in Rural
Northern New England*

Northern New England Clinical
Oncology Society Annual
Meeting

Rpckport, ME

2008 Occupation and
industry in cancer
registry data collection*

New Hampshire State Cancer
Registry Annual Training
Meeting at Cheshire Hospital

Keene, NH

2007 Colorectal cancer: data

use*

Tri-state Hospital Cancer
Registrars Training Meeting
(ME. NH, VT)

Portsmouth, NH

2006 Multiple malignancies
and non-melanoma

skin cancer*

Norris Cotton Cancer Center

Epidemiology/Chemoprevent-
ion Seminar

Lebanon, NH

2005 Factors influencing
treatment choices of

New Hampshire women
with early stage breast
cancer*

Norris Cotton Cancer Center

Epidemiology-Chemoprevention
Seminar

Lebanon, NH

2004 Fish consumption and
toenail mercury*

Norris Cotton Cancer Center

Epidemiology-Chemoprevention
Seminar

Lebanon, NH

2004 Cutaneous melanoma* New Hampshire State Cancer
Registry, Annual Fall Training
Meeting

Concord, NH

2003 Measuring the
effectiveness of

blinding in randomized
controlled trials*

Norris Cotton Cancer Center

Cancer Chemoprevention
Seminar

Lebanon, NH
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and the Cryptococcal Disease Active Surveillance Group. "Molecular subtypes and antifungal
susceptibilities of serial Cryptococcus neoformans isolates in Human Immunodeficiency Virus-
associated cryptococcosis". Journal of Infectious Diseases 1996;174:812-20.

Reviews:
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1. S Supattapone, K Nishina, JR Rees. "Pharmacological approaches to prion research."
(Commentary) Biochemical Pharmacology 2002; 63:1383-88.

2. MV Grau, JR Rees. JA Baron. "Chemoprevention in gastrointestinal cancers: current status." Basic
& Clinical Pharmacology & Toxicology 2006; 98:281-287.

Book chapters:

1. BF Cole, B Sprague, T Ahern, JR Rees. "Cancer Epidemiology-Identifying Cancer Risk"

2. A Gossai, DT Barton, JR Rees. HH Nelson, MR Karagas. "Keratinocyte Cancers". Book chapter in
"Cancer Epidemiology and Prevention" D Schotenfield and JF Fraumeni, Editors, Oxford University
Press. In press

3. JR Rees. Enteric pathogenic bacteria. Chapter 4 in Post-Infectious Sequelae and Long-Term
Consequences of Infectious Diseases, Editors Fratamico PM, Smith JL, Brogden KA, American
Society for Microbiology Press, Washington, DC, 2009

4. S Supattapone, JR Rees. "Transmissible sponglform encephalopathies". Book chapter in
"Neurotropic Virus Infections", Editor Carol Reiss, Cambridge University Press, 2008

5. S Supattapone, NR Deleault, JR Rees. "Amplification of purified .prions in vitro". Book chapter in
"Methods in Molecular Biology". Editor Andrew Hill, Humana Press, 2008

6. S Supattapone and JR Rees. "PrP deletion mutants." Book chapter in "Prions: Molecular and
Cellular Biology" Horizon Press, 2004. G Telling, editor.

B. Other scholarly work in print or other media including editorially-reviewed publications (e.g., Op-Ed
pieces, Letters to the Editor), print resources (e.g., workshops) and electronic resources (e.g., MOOCs,
educational websites, modules, videos, virtual patients). Include all pertinent information for each (e.g.,
all authors, your contribution; dates and sites) and for educational media provide names of
schools/institutions in which they are. utilized as well usage numbers (e.g. downloads, 'hits') if available.

1. Studio guest for 1 hour radio broadcast on cancer trends in New Hampshire, for New
Hampshire Public Radio's "The Exchange", July 6, 2016
http://nhDr.ora/Dost/mappinQ-cancer-new-hampshire-Dart-i

2. August 2014: National Cancer Institute Behavioral Research, Cancer Control & Population
Sciences; featured grantee profile and grant R03 (Participant beliefs and bias in a randomized
controlled trial. Rees et al)
httD://staffprofiles.cancer.aov/brp/aranteeProfile.do?contactld=22545693&arpld=52812

C. Abstracts: Include both oral, exhibit and poster presentations. Indicate with (#) abstracts that were
reviewed (e.g., by a professional society) prior to being accepted for presentation.

1. JS Stenehjem, TK Grimsrud, MB Veierod, JR Rees, L Vos, R Babigumira, TE Robsahm,
Vitamin D, obesity and melanoma: a study protocol for prospective cohort and nested case-
control studies. Nordic Melanoma Meeting, 7-9 September 2016, Bergen, Norway.

2. BL Riddle, A Andrew, MS Zens, MO Celaya, JR Rees. Understanding Theories of Cancer in
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Population Cancer Surveillance# North American Association of Central Cancer Registries
Annual Meeting, June 2016, St Louis, Missouri [Won first place in Data Use category]-

3. BL Riddle, JR Rees. MO Celaya, MS Zens. Using NAACCR Survival Tables to Look at Deaths#
North American Association of Central Cancer Registries Annual Meeting, June 2016, St Louis,
Missouri

4. Celaya MO, Armenti, K, Calvert G, Rees JR. Industry and Occupation Data from Registry and
Death Certificates. North American Association of Central Cancer Registries Annual Meeting,
June 2016, St Louis, Missouri. #

5. Martineau AR, Jolliffe DA, Hooper RL, Greenberg L, Aloia JF, Bergman P, Dubnov-Raz G.
Esposito S, Ganmaa D, Goodall E. Grant C, Griffiths CJ, Janssens W, Khan KS. Laaksi I,
Manasekl-Holland S, Murdoch D, Neale R, Rees JR. Simpson S, Stelmach I, Trilok Kumar G,
Urashima M, Camargo CA "Protective effects of vitamin D against acute respiratory infection are
greatest in those with the lowest baseline vitamin D status. European Respiratory Society 2016
International Congress, London, England, September 2016. #

6. Ghali FM, Laviolette M, Celaya MO, Rees JR. Hyams ES. Does distance from a radiation
facility impact.patient decision-making regarding treatment for prostate cancer? North American
Association of Central Cancer Registries Annual Meeting, Charlotte, North Carolina; June 2015.
#

7. MO Celaya, JP Ingimarsson, M Laviolette, JR Rees. ES Hyams. Does distance from a radiation
facility impact patient decision-making regarding treatment for prostate cancer? A study of the
New Hampshire State Cancer Registry (NHSCR) North American Association of Central Cancer
Registries Annual Meeting, Charlotte, North Carolina; June 2015. #

8. Ayres CM, Celaya MO, Rees JR. Increasing Non-Hospital Reporting: the NH Experience. North
American Association of Central Cancer Registries Annual Meeting, Charlotte, North Carolina;
June 2015. #

9. Riddle B, Fuld AD, Ernstoff MS, Andrew A, Celaya MO, Hosain GM, Rees JR. A New Model for
Cancer Incidence Reporting, North American Association of Central Cancer Registries Annual
Meeting, Ottawa, Canada; June 2014. #

10. Ingimarsson JP, Laviolette M, Celaya MO, Rees JR. Hyams JR. Trends in initial management of
prostate cancer in New Hampshire - Reasons for optimism? North American Association of
Central Cancer Registries Annual Conference. Ottawa, Canada; June 2014. #

11. Celaya MO, Gershman ST, Andrew AS, Riddle B, Cherala S, Davis CE, Rees JR. Expanding
cancer registry data collection for Comparative Effectiveness Research: Logistical issues.
North American Association of Central Cancer Registries Annual Conference. Portland, Oregon;
June 2012.#

12. Riddle BL, Nyman S, Rees JR. Estimating the Costs of a Data Breach: An Exercise at the New
Hampshire State Cancer Registry. 2011 National Program of Cancer Registries (NPCR)
Program Director's Meeting. Atlanta, Georgia; April 2011. #

13. MO Celaya, JR Rees. BL Riddle, K Armenti, S Cherala, Evaluation of occupation and industry
reporting in the NH State Cancer Registry - North American Association of Central Cancer
Registries Annual Conference - 2007. #

14. MO Celaya, BL Riddle, JR Rees. Rapid Case Reporting in New Hampshire. North American
Association of Central Cancer Registries Annual Conference - Cambridge, MA, 2005 #

15. MO Celaya, BL Riddle, JR Rees. Assessing the Reliability of Rapid Case Reporting in a Central
Cancer Registry. (Abstract) North American Association of Central Cancer Registries Annual
Meeting - Salt Lake City, UT, 2004. #

16. JR Rees. MA Davis, A McNees, S Shallow, FJ Angulo, DJ Vugia. "Complications of enteric
infections." (Abstract) International Conference on Emerging Infectious Diseases, Atlanta, Jul
2000. # .

17. RH Sakaji, JR Rees. CL Bowen, AR Jensen, S Leonard, DJ Vugia. "An active laboratory-based
surveillance system for cryptosporidiosis." (Abstract) Presented at the Meeting of the Northern
California Division of the American Water Works Association, 1997. #

Presented at International Meetings :
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1. JR Rees. TJ Wade, DC Mills, DL Levy, JM Colford. "Approaches to the analysis of the health
effects of HPC bacteria: Results from a randomized controlled trial of home drinking water
treatment". (Poster) NSF InternationalA/Vorld Health Organization Symposium on HPC Bacteria in
Drinking Water, April 2002, Geneva, Switzerland. #

2- JR Rees. MA Davis, A McNees, S Shallow, FJ Angulo, DJ Vugia. "Complications of enteric
infections." International Conference on Emerging Infectious Diseases, Atlanta, July 2000. #

XXIII. Personal Statement:

Please highlight in -1-3 pages those accomplishments that best define your contributions to
the academic mission of Geisel. Include your educational, clinical and research activities, as
well as your goals. Use this space to describe activities that may benefit from a more
substantive description than the entries listed in your CV.

I am a physician-epidemiologist in the Departments of Epidemiology, and Community and. Family^
Medicine at the Geisel School of Medicine, Dartmouth College. My interest in public health in
epidemiology began as a medical student, writing my Bachelor of Arts thesis on Norman Gregg's
discovery in the 1940s that rubella infection during pregnancy could harm the developing fetus. I
continued my clinical training with a career in public health in mind. After graduating as a physician, I
completed internships in medicine and surgery, and spent six months as a programmer at the Welsh
Health Common Services Authority, which provided informatics services to the National Health Service.
I completed a three-year training in general practice in England, which included a total of two years of
residencies in pediatrics and obstetrics/gynecology, internal medicine/rheumatology, palliative care,
and psychiatry, and a year in general practice. During this time I achieved (through written examination)
Membership of the Royal College of General Practitioners, equivalent to Board Certification, and the
Diploma of the Royal College of Obstetricians and Gynaecology. My experiences in informatics and
medicine have influenced much of my subsequent teaching and research in epidemiology, by bringing
a depth of knowledge from these fields together. After moving to the United States, I completed an
MPH in Epidemiology at the University of California, Berkeley, and then a PhD with Jack Colford, MD,
PhD in infectious disease epidemiology. Meanwhile, I worked at the California Emerging Infections
Program (CEIP), a project of the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) and learned the
principles and practice of disease surveillance, public health outbreak investigation and control, and
randomized controlled trials. I completed my PhD in three and a half years, and did not do any
postdoctoral training but was appointed directly to a research track faculty position at Dartmouth,
starting after one year off during my family's transition.

Disease surveillance methodology and the New Hampshire State Cancer Registry: A
primary focus in my career is disease surveillance. At CEIP, I developed, from scratch, a successful
population-based, laboratory, active surveillance program for cryptosporidiosis covering all laboratories,
local and national, serving a population of 6.9 million in nine California counties. After moving to
Dartmouth, I spent two years helping Dr. John Moeschler begin the New Hampshire Birth Conditions
Registry, a population-based surveillance program for birth defects which ultimately obtained CDC-
funding and a legal mandate. In 2004, 1 became the Director of the New Hampshire State Cancer
Registry, and have since continued to bid successfully for this contract, currently operating on a budget
of -$700,000 annually. I competed for and led several supplemental projects including a state-wide
effort linking the registry to all payer insurance claims. In 2011, NHSCR was funded to become one of
only ten Specialized Registries for Comparative Effectiveness Research (CER), with the task of
collecting very detailed data that can be used for CER studies by approved researchers. We continue
this work as one of six state registries collecting follow-up data in the Patient Centered Outcomes
(PCO) project. My other duties for NHSCR include consultation on cancer clusters, attendance at
community meetings, and fielding media questions as necessary. In 2015-16, 1 have spent substantial
time supporting a cluster investigation of pediatric rhabdomyosarcoma in the NH seacoast region that
has attracted considerable media attention.

As Director of the New Hampshire State Cancer Registry, I led and participated in publications
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on various findings relating to cancer in New Hampshire: travel distance to mammography centers does
not Influence breast cancer stage at diagnosis, but travel distance for radiation significantly affects
treatment choices in early stage breast cancer, especially during cold winter months. In a tri-state
registry collaboration with Maine and Vermont, we described differences between rural and urban
patients in terms of age and stage at diagnosis of colorectal and breast cancer, and in patterns of care
such as lymph node sampling during surgery. With Dr. Eli Hyams, we examined trends in low risk
prostate cancer treatment, and found that conservative management has increased appropriately in
recent years following changes in national guidelines. We have published on registry data quality
relating to rapid reporting and industry/occupation data. We also try to think creatively to influence the
national registry community. With Dartmouth's Chief Information Security Officer, Steve Nyman, we
presented a poster describing the financial consequences of a registry data breach; with oncologist
Alex Fuld, we proposed a new model for cancer reports; and most recently won first prize for a
NAACOR poster on how competing theories of cancer may be illustrated using registry data.

My future plans for NHSCR are, first, to continue the successfully renewed the NHSCR contract.
I am also seeking opportunities to expand my cancer registry activities. I recently responded to the
NCI's SEER program's request for information and there is a possibility that this may be followed by a
request for proposals to join the SEER registry program; If an RFP is released, I will respond. A SEER
registry not only collects cancer registry data, but facilitates laboratory research via a virtual tumor
repository: this would fit well with my work as the Co-Director (with Tracy Onega, PhD) of the Norris
Cotton Cancer Center's (NCCC) Registry Shared Resource described below. I am also part of a $2M
grant by the Norwegian Research Council (PI Kjetil Telle), as a visiting researcher in 2017 to study
"Geographic Distribution of Health Care - Regional differences in demand and supply, costs and
quality". 1 will build on this collaboration to write research grants using the rich population cancer and
other linked datasets available in Norway.

The Norris Cotton Cancer Center's Registry Shared Resource (RSR): In 2009, I first
submitted a proposal to NCCC for a new shared resource. 1 saw advantages to bringing together the
many registry-based research projects at NCCC because they share common themes, and staffing
requirements. In 2011, NCCC offered support for a programmer to develop customized databases for
research, and I worked with Tracy Onega to promote this service. We developed several new
databases as a result, Including the Hyperbaric Oxygen Registry (PI Buckey); the Pediatric Cancer
Registry (PI Chaffee) and a new database for radiology (Unexpected Findings, PI Bill Black) to replace
its spreadsheet approach to patient follow-up of incidental findings. The program evolved into what is
now known as the Registry Shared Resource (RSR), whose current goals are to provide services and
data streams for clinical operations, quality improvement, and research. We hired a full time
programmer and worked with Amar Das to set up a cohort discovery tool, i2b2, through which
investigators can search the hospital's tumor registry database, and ultimately also data from other
sources such as radiology and pathology. The RSR provides cancer data to CPHS-approved
researchers, and we consult with cancer researchers and help them set up new registries using
REDCap or other software. There was early success with a grant charge-back from the Pediatric
Cancer Registry funded through the St Baldrick's Foundation, and a model is being developed for
future support as new grants are written. The RSR's short term goal is to put I2b2 into production
(summer 2016), demonstrate it to faculty, and add new resources to it (e.g. eDH, pathology, radiation
oncology). In the longer term, we will continue to advise researchers, promote REDCap data use,
provide data to approved faculty, and give presentations to promote the use of the RSR. We plan to
facilitate grant writing efforts based on the RSR, bringing grant funds to cover costs.

Hyperbaric Oxygen Treatment Registry: A new interest that arose from the RSR is Dr.
Jay Buckey's International Hyperbaric Registry and Research Consortium. Dr. Buckey began the
registry at DHMC in order to study his patients' outcomes, but with a larger goal of pooling data
contributed by single hyperbaric programs to provide the basis for trials and outcomes studies. The field
is understudied because no large databases for research exist, and I believe this project has great
potential; therefore I have invested time to develop the group's database, CPHS protocol, and a Data
Use Agreement for collaboration with other institutions. I recently converted their Oracle database to
REDCAp and helped the team refine and expand their data collection instrument. I brought in a
statistician, Janet Peacock, and the group now has interest from several potential partners
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intemationally including the US, the UK and Australia. Our short term goal is to establish a small
collaboration of several centers (one has already signed the DUA), and then to write grants to support
its growth. A registry consortium will generate enough patients for observational studies and trials, and
accrue a cohort of control subjects referred for treatment but not actually treated for logistical and/or
medical reasons.

Multiple malignancies: As a co-investigator on the Non-Melanoma Skin Cancer in New
Hampshire study (PI Margaret Karagas), which examines the risk factors for keratinocyte cancers (KG),
I have participated in several publications including one that identified an association between tea
consumption and KG risk. I received an American Cancer Society Scholar grant to conduct a linkage
study assessing the risk of second cancer and death after keratinocyte cancer. These studies
confirmed an elevated risk of cancer after KG, and an increased mortality after KG even with
adjustment for the time-dependent occurrence of intervening major cancers. They also highlight
important differences between basal and squamous cell carcinoma and argue for caution when pooling
these two very different cancers during epidemiologic studies. I collaborated with the Norwegian
Gancer Registry to investigate multiple cancer risk after primary squamous cell carcinoma and
melanoma of the skin; and worked with a national group led by the GDG to report on multiple cancer
risk after melanoma using US registry data.

Randomized controlled trial methodoloqv. Since 2002 I have worked as part of the Polyp
Prevention Study group, which conducts randomized controlled trials of colorectal adenoma
chemoprevention. This platform has enabled me to conduct sub-studies in other fields of Interest. I
obtained an R03 to study participants' beliefs about treatment assignment during a randomized,
controlled trial. This interest began during my PhD work, when we asked participants to guess whether
they had been given the active or placebo intervention. Whereas a single assessment at the end of the
trial showed no significant evidence of "unblinding", longitudinal assessments at intervals during the trial
showed changes in belief in a substantial subset that may represent unblinding or related beliefs that
might lead to bias. For the R03,1 am drilling deeper into understanding participants' beliefs by
examining possible reasons given for beliefs about treatment allocation, and Investigating the
associations between beliefs about treatment assignment and both outcomes and adherence. Our first
publication describes the characteristics of individuals who fail the run-in period that was designed, to
eliminate poor adherers. A researcher profile and my funded R03 grant proposal are featured on the
website of the National Gancer Institute Behavioral Research, Gancer Gontrol & Population Sciences
program, as an example for other grant writers.

Vitamin D epidemiology. A second avenue of my research arising from the PPS studies is the
role of vitamin 0 in disease. In addition to the parent trial, I have worked on characterizing the factors
that influence 25-hydroxyvitamin D (250HD) levels in the blood. We published a paper describing the
genetic factors associated with serum vitamin D levels using limited multivariable models. More
recently, I characterized an extremely wide range of lifestyle, medical and other factors that affect
250HD levels. I also introduced an infectious disease study into the parent trial. My background in
infectious disease epidemiology includes study of invasive fungal infections; infectious prions;
cryptosporidiosis; and infectious gastroenteritis. Within PPS, I conducted a secondary trial (through
American Recovery and Reinvestment Act [ARRA] funding) showing that 1000 lU vitamin Da daily
supplementation during the H1N1 influenza pandemic of 2009-10 did not reduce the incidence or
duration of colds or flu. This paper was featured in a New York Times report. I am currently
collaborating with Dr. Adrian Martineau of the Queen Mary University, London, on an individual patient
data meta-analysis testing the same hypothesis; this paper is in press at the British Medical Journal.

Global Health. In 2012, 1 made an exploratory visit to the Ocean Road Gancer Institute (ORGI)
in Dar es Salaam, Tanzania, with Dr. Marc Ernstoff. This opportunity arose because of the successful
DarDar infectious disease collaboration led by Dr. Ford von Reyn. Our visit led to an NGI training grant
for Global Health Research, and three Tanzanian trainees (oncology junior faculty) spent a month at
Dartmouth, developing research projects.

Teaching. From 2008 through 2015, 1 served as Director of the Biostatistics and Epidemiology
core course (GFM 104) for medical students at the Geisel School of Medicine. This course consistently
earned exceptional student reviews and the best Step 1 exam results of all of the first year courses.
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The Bio-Epi course, as it was, has now been merged into a new, year long course ("Patients and
Populations") which started in September 2015; I am a Content Co-Director.

Updated by: Dr. Judith Rees

Date: December 14, 2016
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Maria O. Celaya, MPH, CTR

EDUCATION

Date Degree

2004 MPH

2002

1995

BS

AAS

Institution

University of New Hampshire
Depl of Health Management & Policy
Manchester, NH

University System of New Hampshire
Granite State College

Lebanon, NH

Phoenix College
Phoenix, A2

Field of Study

Public Health Policy & Mgt.

Management/Info. Technology

Health Information Technology

ADDITIONAL COURSEWORK

2010-2011

Spring 2010

1997

1996-1999

Professional Development
Human Resources, Dartmouth College
Hanover, NH

Dartmouth Medical School

State of Arizona

Dept. of Administration
Phoenix, AZ

Glendale Community College
Glendale, AZ

Management Essentials
at Dartmouth

DMS Biostatistics &

Epidemiology (audit)

Leadership Foundations

Business/Accounting

PROFESSIONAL EXPERIENCE

2004-present
2000-2004

2013-present

1999-2000

1997-1999

1195-1997

Assistant Director, Field Operations (Research Scientist)
Senior Registrar
New Hampshire Slate Cancer Registry - Dartmouth Medical School, Community and
Family Medicine, Section of Biostatistics & Epidemiology
Hanover, NH

QA Technical Specialist (part-time, remote)
Westat

Rockville, MD

Data Collections/Editing Section Manager
Administrative Support Supervisor
Cancer Registrar
Arizona Cancer Registry - AZ Dept. of Health and Human Services,
Division of Public Health Services, Bureau of Public Health Statistics,

Office of Health Registries
Phoenix, AZ



CANCER REGISTRATION CONSULTING SERVICES

2010 ICF Macro - Bethesda, MD

1999-2000 Valley Lutheran Hospital - Mesa, AZ

1999 Columbia Northwest Medical Center- Tucson, AZ

1998 Tempe St. Luke's Hospital - Tempe, AZ
1997 Flagstaff Medical Center - Flagstaff, AZ
1997 Boswell Medical Center - Sun City, AZ
! 996 Flagstaff Medical Center - Flagstaff, AZ
1994-1996 Columbia Medical Center Phoenix - Phoenix, AZ

\

PROFESSIONAL CREDENTIALS

1997-present Certified Tumor Registrar (CTR) - National Cancer Registry Association
1995-2010 Registered Health Information Technician (RHIT) - American Health Information.

Management Association

AFFILIATIONS

2014-present Member, Nominating Committee - Cancer Registrars Association of New England
2012-2013 V ice-President - Cancer Registrars Association of New England
2012-2013 Member, Nominating Committee - North American Association ofCentral Cancer Registries
2005-present Member, Emerging Issues Committee - New Hampshire Comprehensive Cancer Control Initiative
2002-present Member, Registry Operations Committee - North American Association of Central

Cancer Registries

1997-present NCRA Member - National Cancer Registry Association
2008-2010 Member, Board of Directors - NH Comprehensive Cancer Collaboration
2007-2009 Chair, By-Laws Committee - Cancer Registrars Association of New England
2007-2008 Member, By-Laws Committee - Cancer Registrars Association of New England
2006-2008 Chair, Nominating Committee - Cancer Registrars Association of New England
2001-2004 Treasurer-North Eastem States Cancer Registry Association

PROFESSIONAL AWARDS

2014 NAACCR Achievement Award

2010 NAACCR Merit Award

OTHER

Fluent in Spanish, oral and written

PEER-REVIEWED PUBLICATIONS

Ingimarsson JP, Celava MO. Laviolette M, Rees JR, Hyams ES. Trends in initial management of
prostate cancer in New Hampshire. Cancer Causes Control. 2015 Apr 4. [Epub ahead of print]

Rees JR, Zens MS, Celava MO. Riddle BL, Karagas MR, Peacock JL. Survival after squamous
cell and basal cell carcinoma of the skin: A retrospective cohort analysis. Int J Cancer. 2015 Jan
16. doi: 10.1002/ijc.29436. [Epub ahead of print].

Chen VW, Eheman CR, Johnson CJ, Hernandez MN, Rousseau D, Styles TS, West DW, Hsieh
M, Hakenewerth AM, Celava MO. Rycroft RK, Wike JM, Pearson M, Brockhbuse J, Mulvihill
LG, Zhang KB. Enhancing Cancer Registry Data for Comparative Effectiveness Research (CER)
Project: Overview and Methodology. 7 Manag. 2014 Fall;41(3):103-12.



JR Rees, MS Zens, J Gui, MO Celaya, BL Riddle,, MR Karagas. Non melanoma skin cancer and
subsequent cancer risk. PLoS One. 2014 Jun !7;9(6):e99674.>.

Wyszynski A, Tanyos SA, Rees JR, Marsit CJ, Kelsey KT, Schned AR, Pendleton EM, Celaya
MO. Zens MS, Karagas M, Andrew AS. Body.mass and smoking are modifiable risk factors for
recurrent bladder cancer. Cancer. 2014 Feb 1 ;120(3):408-14.

Celava MO. Riddle BL, Cherala S, Armenti K, Rees JR. Reliability of rapid reporting of cancers
in New Hampshire. J Registry Manag. 2010 Fal!;37(3):I07-l 11.

Armenti KR, Celava MO. Cherala S, Riddle BL, Schumaeher PK, Rees JR. Improving the quality of
industry and occupation data at a central cancer registry. Am J.ofInd Med. 2010 0ct;5(l0):995-1001.

Celava MO. Berke EM, Onega TL, Gui J, Riddle BL, Cherala SS, Rees JR. Breast cancer stage
at diagnosis and geographic access to mammography screening (New Hampshire, 1998-2004).
Rural Remote Health. 2010 Apr-Jun;10(2)I36I. Epub 2010 Apr 23.

Johnson A, Rees JR, Schwenn M, Riddle B, Verrill C, Celaya MO. Nicolaides DA, Cherala S,
Feinberg M, Gray A, Rutstein L, Katz MS, Nunnink JC. Oncology care in rural northern New
England. yOnco/Prac/. 2010 Mar;6(2):81-89.

Celava MO. Rees JR, Gibson JJ, Riddle BL, Greenberg ER. Travel distance and season of diagnosL
affect treatment choices for women with early-stage breast cancer in a predominantly rural population.
Cancer Causes Control. 2006 Aug; 17(6): 851 -6.

MANUSCRIPT IN PREPARATION

Ghali FM, Ingimarsson JP, Celaya MO, Laviolette M, Rees JR, Hyams JR. "Does travel time to a
radiation facility impact patient decision-making regarding treatment for prostate cancer? A study of the
New Hampshire State Cancer Registry".

PRESENTATIONS

Celaya MO. NHSCR Update. Cancer Registrars' Association of New England Annual Conference.
Framingham, MA; Oct 2015.

Celaya MO. NHSCR Update. Cancer Registrars' Association of New England Annual Conference.
Warwick, Rhode Island; Oct 2014.

Celaya MO. Enhancing cancer registry data for Comparative Effectiveness Research. Massachusetts
Cancer Registry Annual Meeting. Boston, Massachusetts; December 2011.

Celaya Mo. NHSCR Update. Cancer Registrars' Association of New England Annual Conference.
Springfield, Massachusetts; Oct 2011.

Celaya MO. Enhancing cancer registry data for Comparative Effectiveness Research. Cancer Registrars
Association of New England 36'*' Annual Meeting. Springfield, Massachusetts; October 201 1.



Celaya MO. Collection of New non-Standard Data Items. New Hampshire State Cancer, Registry Annual
Meeting. Concord, New Hampshire; June 2011.

Roes JR (presenter), Syse A, Riddle BL, Celaya MO. Cherala SS. Cancer trends in the oldest old: a
comparative study in New Hampshire and Norway. North American Association of Central Cancer
Registries Annual Conference. Louisville, Kentucky; June 2011.

Celaya MO. NHSCR Update. Cancer Registrars' Association of New England Annual Conference.
Nashua, New Hampshire; Oct 2010.

Celaya MO, Johnson A, Schwenn M, Rees JR (authors); and Riddle BL, Kachajian J, Schwenn M
(presenters). Access to care in rural northern New England. North American Association of Central
Cancer Registries Annual Conference. Quebec City, Quebec, Canada; June 2010

Celaya MO, Braden P. New Hampshire State Caneer Registry. New Hampshire Health Information
Management Association Winter Meeting. Concord, New Hampshire; March 2009.

Celaya MO. Collaborative staging and Multiple Primary/Histology Rules for GI tract. Cancer Registrars '
Association of New England 33rd Annual Meeting. Burlington, Vermont; Nov 2008.
Celaya MO. Multiple Primary and Histology Rules: General instructions and format of rules and
materials. New Hampshire State Cancer Registry Fall Meeting. Manchester, New Hampshire; Sept 2006.

Celaya MO (presenter), Rees JR, Riddle BL. Rapid case reporting in New Hampshire. North American
Association of Central Cancer Registries Annual Conference. Cambridge, Massachusetts; June 2005.

Celaya MO (presenter), Rees JR, Riddle BL. Rapid case reporting in New Hampshire. New Hampshire
State Cancer Registry Spring Meeting. Bedford, New Hampshire; April 2005.

Celaya MO. Non-malignant brain and CNS Tumors. New Hampshire State Cancer Registry Spring
Meeting. Bedford, New Hampshire; April 2004.

Celaya MO. Data collection of primary central nervous system (CNS) tumors. Cancer Registrars'

Association of New England Annual Conference. Portsmouth, New Hampshire; Nov 2003.

Celaya MO. NHSCR new and updated cancer reporting requirements. New Hampshire State Cancer
Registry Spring Meeting. Concord, New Hampshire; April 2003.

Celaya MO. Evaluation of the timeliness and completeness of cancer reporting. New Hampshire State

Cancer Registry Spring Meeting. Bedford, New Hampshire; April 2001.

Celaya MO. Processing cancer data submissions at the NHSCR. New England States Cancer Registry
Association Annual Conference. Sunapee, New Hampshire; 2001.

POSTERS

Celava MO. Armenti K, Calvert G, Hosain GM, Rees JR. Industry and occupation data from registry and
death certificates. North American Association of Central Cancer Registries Annual Conference. St.

Louis, MO; June 2016.



Riddle BL, Rees JR, Ceiava MO, Andrew AA, Zens MS. Understanding theories of cancer population
cancer surveillance: genetic and 'epi-genelic' pathways to colorectal carcinogenesis. (i" Place Award)
North American Association of Central Cancer Registries Annual Conference. St. Louis, MO; June 2016.

Riddle BL, Rees JR, Ceiava MO. Zens MS. Using NAACCR survival table to look at deaths. North
American Association of Central Cancer Registries Annual Conference. St. Louis, MO; June 2016.

Ingimarsson JP, Laviolette M, Ceiava MO. Rees JR, Hyams ES. Does distance from a radiation facility
impact patient decision-making regarding treatment for prostate cancer? A study of the New Hampshire
State Cancer Registry (NHSCR). North American Association of Central Cancer Registries Annual
Conference. Charlotte, NC; June 2015.

Ayres CM, Ceiava MO. Rees JR. Increasing Non-Hospital Cancer Reporting: The NH Experience. North
American Association of Central Cancer Registries Annual Conference. Charlotte, NC; June 2015.

Ingimarsson JP, Laviolette M, Ceiava MO. Rees JR, Hyams JR. Trends in initial management of prostate
cancer in New Hampshire - Reasons for optimism? North American Association of Central Cancer
Registries Annual Conference. Ottawa, Canada; June 2014.

Ceiava MO. Gershman ST, Andrew AS, Riddle B, Cherala S, Davis CE, Rees JR. Expanding cancer
registry data collection for Comparative Effectiveness Research: Logistical issues. North American
Association of Central Cancer Registries Annual Conference. Portland, Oregon; June 2012.

Riddle BL, Ceiava MO. Death certificates and estimates of cancer mortality. (1" Place Award) North
American Association of Central Cancer Registries Annual Conference. Denver, Colorado; June 2008.

Ceiava MO, Rees J, Riddle BL, Armenti K, Cherala S. Evaluation of occupation and industry in the NH
State Cancer Registry. (2"'' Place Award) North American Association of Central Cancer Registries. 2007
Annual Meeting. Detroit, Michigan; June 2007.

Ceiava MO. Colby JP. Radon exposure potential and lung cancer in New Hampshire. North American
Association of Central Cancer Registries 2006 Annual Meeting. Regina, Saskatchewan, Canada; June
2006.

Ceiava MO, Rees J, Riddle BL. Assessing the reliability of rapid case reporting in a central cancer
registry. North American Association of Central Cancer Registries Annual 2004 Meeting. Salt Lake City,
Utah; June 2004.



Bruce L. Riddle

Registry Manager
New Hampshire State Cancer Registry
Bruce.L.Riddle(5jDartmouth.Edu / 603-653-6620

A Joint Program of Geisel School of Medicine at Dartmouth and the New Hampshire
Department of Health and Human Services

Education:

M.A., Economics, Syracuse University, 1985.
Ph.D., International Relations, Syracuse University, 1977.
M.A., International Relations, Syracuse University, 1975.
B.A., Political Science, The Defiance College, 1972.

Honors: Chancellor's Citation for Distinguished Service, Syracuse University, 1992

Professional Experience:
Registry Manager, New Hampshire State Cancer Registry, Dartmouth Medicai School,
November 1999-Present

•  Network and Computing Administration. November 1999-present.
•  Registry manager, January 2002-present.

Director, Computing & Technology Group, Maxwell School, Syracuse University, Jan 1994-
May 1999.
•  Supervised and managed Maxwell School's Computing & Technology Group, 6
professionals providing services to 130 faculty, 90 support staff, 600 graduate students, and
6,000 undergraduates.

Principal staff assistant for the building ofEggers Hall, Syracuse University, 1969-93.
•  Created a vision for a new social science building, a $20 million, 5-year project.

Designated computer staff person for the Maxwell School, Syracuse University, 1991-94
•  Designed, implemented and administered a School-based local area network.

Senior Research Associate, Academic Computing Specialist, Metropolitan Studies Program,
Maxwell School, Syracuse University, 1984-1992
•  Conducted data analysis on public finance and health care in developed and
developing countries in support of sponsored research. These projects included:
■  James Aim and Roy Bahl, "Evaluations of the Structure of the Jamaica Individual Income
Tax," Jamaica Tax Structure Examination Project, Staff Paper No. 15, Metropolitan Studies
Program, Syracuse University, Dec 1984, Revised Mar 1985.
■  Richard M. Bird and Barbara D. Miller, "The Incidence of Indirect Taxes on Low-Income

Households in Jamaica," Jamaica Tax Structure Examination Project, Staff Paper No. 26,
Metropolitan Studies Program, Syracuse University, Apr 1986.
■  Jorge Martinez, "Sensitivity Analysis and Evaluation of the Ecuadorian Personal Income
Tax," Ecuador Fiscal Administrative Studies, Staff Paper No. 1, Local Revenue
Administration Project, Maxwell School, Syracuse University, May 1986.
■  Barbara D. Miller and Carl Stone, "Household Expenditures Effects of The Jamaica Food
Stamp Programme," Jamaica Tax Structure Examination Project, Staff Paper No. 36,
Metropolitan Studies Program, Maxwell School, Syracuse University, Aug 1987.
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■  Harvard Medical Practice Study, Patients, Doctors, and Lawyers: Medical Injury,
Malpractice Litigation, and Patient Compensation in New York. The Report and the Harvard
Medical Practice Study to the State of New York, 1990.

Research and Data Analyst, Department of Surgery, State University of New York Upstate
Medical Center, 1976-1980.

•  Provided computing and data analysis support for a study of burn mortality at the
regional burn unit. Results of the work were published in;
■ William R. Clark, M.D., and Barbara S. Fromm, "Burn Mortality: Experience of a

Regional Burn Unit and Literature Review," ACTA Chirurgica Scandinavica
Supplementum 537, Stockholm, 1987.

Professional Consulting, data analysis and statistical programming, 1976-1991
•  On a contractual basis performed data analysis for researchers from accounting,

finance, human development, political science, law, sociology, and physical, special,
and higher education. Representative Projects Included:

"The Effects of Repatriation on Chronic Psychiatric Patients," Hutching Psychiatric Center,
Syracuse, New York.

"Determinants of Lay and Lawyer Judicial Behavior," a NSF Grant to D. Marie Provine,
Department of Political Science, Maxwell School; Syracuse University.
"Disproportionality and Disparity in the Charging and Sentencing of Criminal Defendants
for Homicide in Georgia," Center for Interdisciplinary Legal Studies, College of Law,
Syracuse University.
"Campus Wide Hazardous Material Inventory," Environmental Health Office, Syracuse
University.
"Study of Adjustments of New York State School Aid Formula to Take Account of
Municipal Overburden (Final Report)," a sponsored project to Jerry Miner and Seymour
Sacks, Metropolitan Studies Program, Maxwell School, Syracuse University, May 1980.
"Econometric Analysis of Education Expenditures in Each State and Their Projections to
1990," for the School Finance Project, National Institute of Education, Jerry Miner and
Seymour Sacks, Metropolitan Studies Program, Maxwell School, Syracuse University,
Mar 1983.

Computing Consultant and Help Desk Supen/isor, 1976-1979.
•  Supervised approximately 10 undergraduates and graduate computing consultants,
including recruitment and training.

Graduate Assistant and Teaching Assistant, International Relations Program, 1972-1975.
•  Development of course materials and teaching of international relations and economics
courses.

•  Quantitative political and social research including the politics of oil and uses of the sea.

Publications and Papers:
"A Report on 3 State/3 Province Combined Cancer Incidence Rate Study: A Descriptive
Epidemiology Study." Dec 2011.

"Reliability of rapid reporting of cancers in New Hampshire." Celaya MO, Riddle BL, Cherala
S, Armenti K, Rees JR. J Registry Management. 2010 Fall:37(3):107-111.
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"Improving the quality of industry and occupation data at a central cancer registry." Armenti
KR. Celaya MO, Cherala S, Riddle BL. Schumacher PK, Rees JR. Am J of Ind Med.
2010:5(10);995-1001.

"Breast cancer stage at diagnosis and geographic access to mammography screening
(New Hampshire, 1998-2004)." Celaya MO, Berke EM, Onega TL, Gui J, Riddle BL, Cherala
SS, Rees JR Rural Remote Health. 2010;10(2):1361.

"Oncology care in rural northern New England." Johnson A, Rees JR, Schwenn M, Riddle
B, Verrill C, Celaya MO, Nicolaides DA, Cherala 8, Feinberg M, Gray A, Rutstein L, Katz
MS. Nunnink JC. J Oncol Pract. 2010:6(2):81-89.

"Travel Distance and Season of Diagnosis Affect Treatment Choices for Women with Early-
stage Breast Cancer in a Predominantly Rural Population."_Celaya MO, Rees JR, Gibson
JJ, Riddle BL, Greenberg ER. Cancer Causes Control', 17(6): 851-6.

"Event Driven Data Set for Cancer Surveillance." B. Riddle and DK Boeshaar. Journal of
Registry Management, 33(2) Summer 2006: 57-63.

"On the Coding and Reporting of Race and Ethnicity in New Hampshire for Purposes
of Cancer Reporting," B Riddle. Ethnicity and Disease. 2005:15: 324-331.

"A Review of Death Clearance in Central Cancer Registries and Proposal for a New
Regime." B. Riddle. Joumal of Registry Management, Vol. 31 (2). Summer 2004:
67-73.

"The Fiscal Condition of School Districts in Nebraska: Is Small Beautiful?" K Ratcliffe, B
Riddle, J^Yinger. Economics of Education Review, (1990): 9: 1; 81-99.

"Passwords in Use in a University Timesharing Environment." B Riddle, M Mlron, J Semo.
Computers & Security, Vol. 8 (1989): 569-579.

"Who Pays the Nebraska State Personal Income Tax Before and After State Reform?"
Nebraska Comprehensive Tax Study Staff Paper No. 4, B Riddle and S Wallace-Moore.
Metropolitan Studies Program, Maxwell School, Syracuse University, Nov 1987.

"Payroll Tax Reform In Jamaica," Jamaica Tax Structure Examination Project, Staff Paper
No. 35, B Riddle, M Wasylenko. Metropolitan Studies Program, Maxwell School, Syracuse
University, Jul 1987.

"Final Report: Fire Department Participation in the Identification and Transportation of
Victims of Thermal Injury," A Report to the United States Fire Administration, Federal
Emergency Management Agency, B Riddle and D Learner, 1981.

Presentations;

"Cancer Surveillance in the Era of Molecular Markers." North American Association of
Central Cancer Registries 2013 Annual Meeting, Austin, TX with A Andrew, M Zens, J Rees.

"Security Issues: A Problem Statement." National Program of Cancer Registries Program
Directors Conference. May 2008. Atlanta, Georgia. Invited Presentation.
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"Electronic Medical Information and Its Impact on Registries." Cancer Registrars
Association of New England Annual Meeting, Nov 2005, Westboro, Massachusetts.

"An Events Driven Data Set for Cancer Surveillance." Rocky Mountain Cancer Data
Systems Annual Meeting, Sept 2005, Arlington, Virginia.

"Cancer Incidence Rates for New Hampshire." NHSCR Spring Education Meeting, Apr
2005, Concord, New Hampshire.

"Patterns of Morphology Reporting," North American Association of Central Cancer
Registries 2004 Annual Meeting, Salt Lake City Utah, Jun 2004.

"On the Coding and Reporting of Race and Ethnicity in New Hampshire," Presented
to North American Association of Central Cancer Registries 2003 Annual Meeting,
Honolulu, Hawaii, Jun 2003.

"Using Out of the Box Software to Protect and Secure Registry Data." Presented at
the North American Association of Central Cancer Registries Annual Meeting, Jun 3-
9, 2001, Miami Beach. Florida.

"Supporting the Campus Technology Explosion: Bricks without Straw." Presented to the
Eastern Sociology Society, Boston, Massachusetts, Mar 4,1999.

Poster Presentations:

"Using NAACCR Survival Tables to Look at Deaths." B. Riddle, J. Rees, M. Celaya, S. Zens.
North American Association of Central Cancer Registries 2016 Annual Meeting, St. Louis,
MO.

"Understanding Theories of Cancer in Population Cancer Surveillance." B. Riddle, J. Rees,
M. Celaya, A. Andrew, S. Zens. North American Association of Central Cancer Registries
2016 Annual Meetings, St. Louis, MO.

"A New Model for Annual Cancer Incidence Reporting." B. Riddle, A. D. Fuld, MD,
MS.. M. S. Ernstoff, MD, A. Andrew, PhD.. M. O. Celaya, MPH.. CTR., GM M.
Hosain, MB., BS, PhD., J. R. Rees, BM, BCh, PhD. North American Association of
Central Cancer Registries 2014 Annual Meeting, Ottawa, Canada.

"Findings From the 2011-2012 NAACCR Death Clearance Evaluation Workgroup
Issues Survey." M. Williams. B. Riddle R. Otto, C. Sherman, L. Dickie. North
American Association of Central Cancer Registries 2013 Annual Meeting. Austin, TX.

"Estimating the Costs of a Data Breach: An Exercise at the New Hampshire State
Cancer Registry." B. Riddle. S. Nyman. J. Rees. North American Association of
Central Cancer Registries 2012 Annual Meeting, Portland. Oregon. ,

"The Impact of Veterans Affairs Cancer Reporting in New Hampshire." B. Riddle, J.
Rees, M. Celaya, S. Cherala. North American Association of Central Cancer
Registries 2012 Annual Meeting, Portland, OR.
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"Cancer and Place of Death: A micro-study about death in New Hampshire." B.

Riddle. North American Association of Central Cancer Registries 2010 Annual
Meeting, Quebec City, Quebec, Canada, June 2010. Poster won a 3rd Place award.

"Death Certificates and Estimates of Cancer Mortality." B. Riddle and M Celaya.
North American Association of Central Cancer Registries 2008 Annual Meeting,
Denver, CO. Jun 2008. Poster won a 1®' Prize award.

"Event Level Architecture for an Event Driven Data Set for Electronic Cancer

Surveillance" B. Riddle. North American Association of Central Cancer Registries
2005 Annual Meeting, Detroit, Ml, June 2007.

"Event Driven Data Set for Cancer Surveillance." B. Riddle and D.K. Boeshaar,

North American Association of Central Cancer Registries 2005 Annual Meeting,
Cambridge, MA, June 2005.

"Questions about Sensitivity and Specificity of NAACCR Hispanic Identification
Algorithm in a State with Small Non-White Population." B Riddle, JR Rees. North
American Association of Central Cancer Registries 2004 Annual Meeting, Salt Lake
City UT, Jun 2004.

"Using Windows XP to Secure Laptop Computers to Hold Confidential Information,"
B. Riddle. North American Association of Central Cancer Registries 2002 Annual
Meeting, Toronto, Ontario, Canada, Jun 2002.

"Looking at Central Sequence Number to Access the Reliability of a Central Registry
Data Set," B Riddle. North American Association of Central Cancer Registries 2002
Annual Meeting, Toronto, Ontario, Canada, Jun 2002.

Professional Courses:

Principles and Practice of Cancer Registration, Surveillance, and Control, Rollins School of
Public Health, Emory University, Atlanta, Georgia (Mar 2001)
Advanced Cancer Registry Training Program, Rollins School of Public Health at Emory
University, Atlanta, Georgia (Feb 2001)

Special Projects:
Consultant to Washington and Lee University, Lexington, Virginia, under a National Science
Foundation CAUSE Grant. Conducted a six week workshop for the faculty on social science
computing and SPSS. Prepared an introductory manual on job control language for
students. Summer 1978.



Trustees of Dartmouth College

Key Personnel

Name Job Title Salary % Paid from Amount Paid from

this Contract this Contract

Rees, Judy Director $150,558 50% $75,279 .

Celaya, Maria Assistant Director $91,891 100% $91,891

, Riddle, Bruce Registry Manager $95,466 100% $95,466



13/
STATE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES

DIVISION OF PUBLIC HEALTH SERVICES

Jeffrey A. Meyers 29 HA2EN DRIVE, CONCORD, NH 03301
CommJssIoaer 603-271-4501 1-800-852-3345 Ext. 4501

Fax: 603-271-4827 TDD Access: 1-800-735-2964
Lisa M. Morris www.dhhs.nh.gov

Director

April 20, 2018

His Excellency, Governor Christopher T. Sununu
and the Honorable Council

State House

Concord, New Hampshire 03301

REQUESTED ACTION

Authorize the Department of Health and Human Services, Division of Public Health Services, to
exercise a renewal option and amend an existing agreement with Trustees of. Darthiouth College,
Vendor# 177157-B013, 11 Rope Ferry Road 6210, Box 186, Hanover, NH 03755, to operate a cancer
registry system as required by RSA 141-8, by increasing the price limitatiori by $1,332,300 from
$1,190,940 to $2,523,240 and .extending the contract completion date frbrri .Juhe'3b;-2018 to June" 30,
2020 to be effective upon Governor and Executive CbunciPapp'roval. 77% Federal Funds and 23%
General Funds

The Governor and Executive Council approved the original contract on November 18 2016
Item #21.

Funds are available in the following accounts for State Fiscal Year 2018 and State Fiscal Year
2019 and are anticipated to be available in State Fiscal Year 2020, upon the availability and continued
appropriation of funds in the future operating budgets, with authority to adjust encumbrances between
State Fiscal Years through the Budget Office without further approval from the Governor and Executive
Council, if needed and justified.

See Attached Fiscal Details

EXPLANATION

a"iendment is to 'readjust the funding for State Fiscal Year 2018 to
continue- operating an incidence-based statewide cancer registry system for State Fiscal Year 2019
and State Fiscal Year 2020 in New Hampshire as required by RSA 141-B.

The Contractor will continue conducting data collection, data processing, quality assurance and
database management activities for the collection of cancer information for thd New Hampshire State
Cancer Registry in accordance with the New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
guidelines and standards established by the National Program of Cancer Registries and the North
American Association of Central Cancer Registries.

The primary purpose of the New Hampshire State Cancer Registry is to identify all reportable
ceses of cancer in New Hampshire in order to provide information on the overall burden, types, and
changing patterns of cancer among residents of the state. New Hampshire RSA 141-B obligates the
Department to collect Information regarding the majority forms of cancers diagnosed In New
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Hampshire. New Hampshire RSA 141-B and New Hampshire Administrative Code He-P 304
estatjiished reporting requirements for cancer case reporting in New Hampshire.

The canper registry is one of the public health surveillance tools used to monitor and investigate
trends in cancer diagnosis and treatment in every state in the U.S. The cancer registry through this
contract generates critical data for public health investigations, for public health prevention programs,
and for acadernic researchers who work to identify causes of cancer, and prevention and -treatment
strategies. This realignment and amendment will allow the contractor to continue to capture esisential -
data on people who are newly diagnosed with cancer. These data are used to Inform DHHS.cancer
cluster investigations and to help guide the prevention and control program planning and evaluation.
The Trustees of Dartmouth consistently collect high quality data and exceed performance expectations
for the National Program of Cancer Registries National Quality Standards.

The Exhibit C-1 of the original contract contained language providing the Department the option
to renew for up to two (2) additional years, subject to the continued availability of funds, satisfactory
performance of contracted services and Governor and Executive Council approval. The Department is
exercising this option. This two year amendment would allow the contractor to continue to generate
high quality cancer registry data for public health investigations, for public health prevention programs,
and for academic researchers who work to identify causes of cancer, and prevention and treatment
strategies.

The request to renew with the Trustees of Dartmouth College is based on their ability and
capability to follow the standards required for the National Program of Cancer Registries National Data
Quality and Completeness Program and the United States Cancer Statistics Publication Standard, the
Trustees of Dartmouth College has obtained the status as a National Program of Cancer Registries
Registry of Excellence. The vendor has consistently collected high quality data and has exceeded
performance expectations for.the National Program of Cancer Registries National Quality Standards.

The amendment and readjustment of funds will enable the reporting of cancer data from
mandated cancer reporters in New Hampshire who are described in the administrative rules (He-P
304.01) for the purpose of monitoring cancer incidence, planning cancer prevention ■ and control
activities, evaluating the impact of public health strategies and helping to facilitate cancer research.
This agreerfient will remain consistent with the statewide and agency information technology plans,
policies and standards.

The following performance objectives will be used to measure the effectiveness of the
agreement:

For each incident cancer case, collect all the data variables listed in New Hampshire
Administrative Rule He-P 304.2.

The database shall be, at a minimum, in accordance with accepted Centers for Disease
Control's National Program of Cancer Registries and North American Association of
Cancer Registry standards.

The data collected is 95% complete within twelve (12) months of date of diagnosis for
cases seen in any New Hampshire hospital.

The data collected is 90% complete within fifteen (15) moriths of the date of diagnosis
for all cases among New Hampshire residents, regardless of where they received the
cancer care.
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•  The data collected is 95% complete within twenty-four (24) months of date of diagnosis
for all cases among New Hampshire residents, with cases . identified from death
certificate review and follow-up, from physician practices, from non-hospital facilities,
and from out-of-state sources.

Should the Governor and Executive Council not authorize this Request, the Department may
not have a quality cancer registry and may lose the ability to monitor and identify community cancer
concerns; diagnose and investigate cancer-related hazards in the community; inform and .educate
communities about the risk of cancer; develop policies and plans that address the risks of cancer in
communities; and evaluate the effectiveness, accessibility, and quality of cancer prevention and control
strategies.

Area served; Statewide

Source of Funds: 77% Federal Funds, Catalog of Federal and Domestic Assistance (CFDA)
#93.752, United States Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control and
Prevention, Cancer Prevention and Control Programs for State, Territorial and Tribal Organizations
financed in part by Prevention and Public Health Funds, Federal Award Identification Number (FAIN) #
58DP003930, an4 2370 Gcotra,! Funds-

In the event that the Federal Funds become no longer available, additional General Funds will
not be requested to support this program.

Respectfully submitted.

Lisa Morris

Dipdctor
l'"- '.- 0».

Approved by:)
(effrey A"". Meyers
Commissioner

The Department of Health and Human Servicee' Mission is to join communities and families
in providing opportunities for citizens to achieve health and independence.



Fiscal Details

05-95-90-900510-86660000 HEALTH AND SOCIAL SERVICES, DEPT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN
SyS, HHS: DIVISION OF PUBLIC HEALTH, BUREAU OF INFORMATICS, CANCER REGISTRY

Fiscal

Year

Class/ .

Account
Class Title

Job

Number

Current

Modified

Budget

Increase

, (Decrease)
Amount

Revised

Modified

Budget

SFY 2017 '102-500731 Contracts for Prog Svc 90080080 $251,736 $0 $251,736

Sub Total $251,736 $0 $251,736

05-95-90-900510-86660000 HEALTH AND SOCIAL SERVICES, DEPT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN
SVS, HHS: DIVISION OF PUBLIC HEALTH, BUREAU OF INFORMATICS, CANCER REGISTRY
100%-General Funds

Fiscal

Year

Class/.
Account

Class Tttle
Job

Number

Current

Modified

Budget

Increase

(Decrease)
Amount

Revised

Modified

Budget

SFY 2017 601-500931 State Fund Match 90056005 $100,045 $0 $100,045

Sub Total $100,045 $0 $100,045

05-95-90-902010-2215000C

SVS, HHS: DIVISION OF P
100% Federal Funds CDC

) HEALTH AND SOCIAL SERVICES, DEPT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN
UBUC HEALTH, CDC ORAL HEALTH GRANT

Breast & Cervical Cancer. Como. Cancer & Cancer Reoistrv Proorams

Fiscal

Year

Class/

Account
Class Title

Job

Number

Current

Modified

Budget

Increase

(Decrease)
Amount

Revised

Modified

Budget

SFY 2017 102-500731 Contracts for Prog Svc 90080080 $173,000 $0 $173,000

Sub Total $173,000 $0 $173,000

05-95-90-902010-33970000 HEALTH AND SOCIAL SERVICES, DEPT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN
SVS, HHS: DIVISION OF PUBLIC HEALTH, COMMUNITY HEALTH SERVICES, CANCER
REGISTRY

Fiscal

Year

Class/

Account
Class Tttle

Job

Number

Current

Modified

Budget

Increase

(Decrease)
Amount

Revised

Modified

Budget

SFY 2018 102-500731 Contracts for Prog Svc 90080080 $516,159 ($69,617) $446,542

SFY 2019 102-500731 Contracts for Prog Svc 90080080 $0 $435,217 $435,217

SFY 2020 102-500731 Contracts for Prog Svc 90080080 ' $0 $446,542 $446,542

Sub Total $516,159 $812,142 $1,328,301



05-95-90-902010-33970000, HEALTH AND SOCIAL SERVICES, DEPT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN
SVS, HHS: DIVISION OF PUBLIC HEALtH, COMMUNITY HEALTH SERVICES, CANCER
REGISTRY

100% General Funds

Fiscal

Year

Class/

Account
Class Title

Job

Number

Current

Modified

Budget

Increase

(Decrease)
Amount

Revised

Modified

Budget

SFY 2018 601-500931 State Furid Match 900^05 $150,000 $0 $150,000

SFY 2019 601-500931 State Fund Match' 90056005 $0 $150,000 ■ $150,000

SFY 2020 ,601-500931 State Fund Match 90056005 $0 $150,000 ■  . $150,000

Sub Total $150,000 $300,000 $450,000

05-95-90-901010-53820000 HEALJH AND SOCIAL SERVICES, DEPT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN
SVS, HHS: DIVISION OF PUBLIC HEALTH, BUREAU OF POLICY & PERFORMANCE, PUBLIC
HEALTH SYSTEMS, POLICY AND PERFORMANCE
100% Federal Funds CDC ^reventatlve Health and Health Service Block Grant (PHHSBG)

: Fiscal

Year

Class/ .

Account
Class Title

Job

Number

Current

Modified

Budget

Increase

(Decrease)
Amount

Revised

Modified

Budget

SFY 2018 102-500731 Contracts for Prog Svc 90001037 $0 $69,611 $69,611

SFY .2019 102-500731 Contracts for Prog Svc 90001037 $0 $69,611 $69,611

SFY 2020 102-500731 Contracts for Prog Svc 90001037 $0. $69,611 $69,611

Sub Total $0 $208,833 $208,833

05-95-90-902010-56590000 HEALTH AND SOCIAL SERVICES, DEPT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN
SVS, HHS: DIVISION OF PUBLIC HEALTH, COMMUNITY HEALTH SERVICES, COMPREHENSIVE
CANCER

100% Federal Funds CDC

Fiscal

Year

Class/

Account
Class Title

Job

Number

Current

Modified

Budget

Increase

. (Decrease)
Amount

Revised

Modified

Budget

SFY 2019 102-500731 Contracts for Prog Svc 90080080 $0 $11,325 $11,325

Sub Total $0 $11,325 .  $11,325
y

TOTAL: $1,190,940 $1,332,300 $2,523,240



STATE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE
DEPARTMENT OF INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY

27. Hazen Dr., (Concord, NH 03301
Fax: 603-271-1516 TDD Access: 1-800-735-2964

www.nh. gov/ doit

Denis Goulet

Commissioner

April 2,2018

Jeffrey A. Meyers, Commissioner
Department of Health and Human Services
State of New Hampshire
129 Pleasant Street

Concord, NH 03301-3857

Dear Commissioner Meyers: j

This letter represents formal notification that the Department of Infomiation Technology (DolT)
has approved your agency's request to enter into a contract amendment with Trustees of Dartmouth
College (Vendor #177157-5013), as described.below and referenced as DolT No. 2016-081 A.

1  ̂This contract amendment exercises a renewal option with Trustees of Dartmouth College
to continue to operate an incidence-based statewide cancer registry system in New
Hampshire as required by RSA 141-5. The primary purpose of the Cancer Registry is t()
identify all reportable cases of cancer in NH to] provide information on the overall
burden, types and changing patterns of cancer among residents of the state.

This amendment will increase the contract price by $1,332,300 from $1,190,940 to
$2,523,240 and extend the contract end date from June 30, 2018 to June 30, 2020
effective upon the date of Governor and Executive Council approval.

A copy of this letter should accompany the submission to the Governor and Executive Council
for approval.

Sincerely,

DG/ik

DolT No. 2016-081A

cc: Bruce Smith

"Innovative Technologies Toddy fo

Denis Goulet

New Hampshire's Tomorrow"



New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Cancer Registry Operations

State of New Hampshire
Department of Health and Human Services

Amendment #1 to the
Cancer Registry Operations

This 1** Amendment to the New Hampshire State Cancer Registry (NHSCR) contract (hereinafter referred to as
■Amendment One') dated this 19'" day of March, 2018, is by and between the State of New Hampshire.
Department of Health and Human Services (hereinafter referred to as the "State" or "Department") and Trustees of
Dartmouth College, (hereinafter referred to as "the Contractor"), a corporation with a place of business at 11 Rope
Ferry Road #6210, Hanover, NH 03755.

WHEREAS, pursuant to an agreement (the "Contract") approved by the Governor and Executive Council on
November 18, 2016, ITEM #21 the Contractor agreed to perform certain services based upon the terms and
conditions specified in the Contract as amended and in consideration of certain sums specified; and

WHEREAS, the State and the Contractor have agreed to make changes to the scope of work, payment schedules
and terms and conditions of the contract; and

WHEREAS, pursuant to the General Provisions, Paragraph 18, the State may modify the scope of work and the
payment schedule of the contract by written agreement of the,parties;

WHEREAS, the parties agree to extend the term of the agreement and decrease the price limitation; and

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and the mutual covenants and conditions contained In the
Contract and set forth herein, the parties hereto agree as follows:

1. Amend Form P-37. Blook 1.6. to add Account Number: 05-095-090-902010-3397-0000-102-500731-
90080080.

2. Amend Form P-37, Block 1.6, to add Account Number: 05-095-090-902010-3397-0000-601-500931-
90056005.

3. Amend Form P-37, Block 1.6, to add Account Number: 05-095-090-902010-5659-0000-102-500731-
90080080.

4. Amend Form P-37, Block 1.6, to add Account Number: 05-095-090-901010-5362-0000-102-500731-
90001037.

5. Delete and replace Form P-37. Block 1.7, to read June 30, 2020.
6. Delete arid replace Form P-37, Block 1.8, to Increase Price Limitation by $1,332,300 from $1,190,940 to

read: $2,523,240.

7. Delete and replace Form P-37, Block 1.9, to read E. Maria Relnemann, Esq., Director of Contracts and
Procurement.

8. Delete and replace Form P-37, Block 1.10 to read 603-271-9330.

9. Delete in its entirety Exhibit B and replace with Exhibit B, Amendment #1.
10. Delete in its entirety Exhibit B-2 Budget and replace with Exhibit B - 3, Amendment #1 Budget.
11. Add Exhibit B - 4 Amendment #1 Budget.
12. Add Exhibit B - 5, Amendment #1 Budget.

Trustees of Dartmouth College Amendment #1 Contractor Initiais:.

RFP-2017-DPHS-03-CANCE Pago 1 of 3 Date: 3 b-3| I



New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Cancer Reflistry Operations

This amendment shall be effective upon the date of Governor and Executive Council approval.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have set their hands as of the date written below,

State of New Hampshire
Department of Health and Human Services

Date lame: Lisa Morris
Title: Director

J:
Date

Trustees of Dartmouth College

Name: Heather K Amoid, M.Ed.
Title: Assoclate Director

Acknowledgement of Contractor's signature:

State of y County of Mlon , before the undersigned officer,
personally appeare'd the person identified directly above, or satisfactorily proven to be the person whose name Is
signed above, and acknowledged that s/he executed this document In the capacity Indicated above.

A

Sign^ure of Notary Public or Justice of the Peace

le of Notary or Justice oflthe P^ceName and TIfle of Notary ̂

My Commission Expires:

Trustees of Dartmouth Coll^

RFP-2017-DPHS-03-CANCE

Amendment #1

Page 2 of 3

Contractor Initials:.
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Cancer Registry Operations

The preceding Amendment, having been reviewed by this office, is approved as to form, substance, and execution.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL

hi
Date Name:

Title:

i hereby certify that the foregoing Amendment was approved by the Governor and Executive Council of the State
of New Hampshire at the Meeting on: (date of meeting)

OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY OF STATE

Date Name:

TiOe:

Trustees of Dartmoirth College

RFP-2017-DPHS^3-CANCE

Amendment #1

Page 3 of 3
\

Contractor Initials:,

Da..: 3/23|lg



New Hampshire Department of Heatth and-Human Services
Cancer Registry Operations

Exhibit B, Amendment #1

Method and Conditions Precedent to Payment

1. The State shall pay the contractor an amount not to exceed the Form P-37. Block 1.8, Price Limitation for the
services provided by the Contractor pursuant to Exhibit A, Scope of Services.

2. This contract Is funded with funds from the following Catalog of Federal Domestic Assistance (CFDA) numbers:
CFDA #93.898, US Centers for Disease Control & Prevention, NH Comprehensive Cancer Control
Program & Cancer Registry Programs.

CFDA #93.758, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Preventatlve Health and Health Services
Block Grant.

3. The Contractor agrees to provide the services in Exhibit A, Scope of Service and Exhibit A-1 Additional Cancer
Data Registry Technical Requirements. In compliance with funding requirements. Failure to meet the scope of
services may jeopardize the funded contractor's current and/or future funding.

4. Payment for said services shall be made monthly as follows:

2.1. Payment shall be on a cost reimbursement basis for actual expenditures Incurred In the fulfillment of
this agreement, and shall be In accordance with the approved line item.

2.2. The Contractor will submit an invoice in a form satisfactory to the State by the twentieth working day of
each month, which Identifies and requests reimbursement for authorized expenses Incurred In the prior •
month. The invoice must be completed, signed, dated and returned to the Department In order to
Initiate payment.

2.3. The State shall make payment to the Contractor within thirty (30) days of receipt of each Invoice,
subsequent to approval of the submitted Invoice' and if sufficient funds are available. Contractors will
keep detailed records of their activities related to DHHS-funded programs and services.

2.4. The final invoice, shall be due to the State no later than forty (40) days after the contract Form P-37,
Block 1.7 Completion Date.

2.5. In lieu of hard copies, all invoices may be assigned an electronic signature and emailed. Hard copies
shall be mailed to:

Department of Health and Humani Services
Division of Public Health Services
29 Hazen Drive

Concord, NH 03301
Email address: DPHScontractbilllng@dhhs.nh.gov

5. Notwithstanding paragraph 18 of the General Provisions P-37, an amendment limited to adjustments to
amounts between budget line items, related Items, amendments of related budget exhibits within the price
limitation, and to adjust encumbrances between State Fiscal Years through the Budget Office If needed and
justified, may be made by written agreement of twth parties and may be made without obtaining approval of the
Governor and Executive Council.

Trustees of Dartmouth College Exhibit B. Amendment #1 Contractor Initials

RFP-2017-DPHS-03-CANCE-01 Page 1 of 1 Date



Exhibit .B-3, Amendment #1

Nrar Hatnpshln Dspaflnwnt of Hoatth and Human Sarvleaa

BWdMAugnn Haiaw TrmtM* ol OartmeuUi CoBag*

BodgM Kiauiit Ion Caiear RasNtry Opantlona

B««gat Parlad: July 1.2017 to JuAt W, 201* (Sma)

Total prooram Ceat Caimelor Shaia / Maim

Lfewlaa
Obnael Indkaet ' root

meiaBMim Ptaatf
Oinct Indtraa Total

InciaaiaiitM Flud
Mroel bidbact TotM

S  414.433iM S  41.44300 3  491^60 i i i 3  414.433i» 3  41 44100 3  .- 499476.00
2. EfMMo Banana S  T40.907X0 s  i4.ogiin 3  1S4iaiOO 3 3 i
3. CtiiDuleiila $ s 3 3 3
*. Fnfnment S  4.mM S  400.00 3  4.400.00 3 3  40900

RantU i 1 3 3 3
Reoalr and Mamananm i » 3 3 3 3
PuUataOauiatiiBui1 $ s 3 3 3

& Suraiar s « 3 3
Edueadonat . . s % J 3 3 3 •

Lab $ t 3 3 3 3 1
Phannam s t 3 3 3 1 1 3 %

s » 3 3 1 3 3 I
Offica 1  3.284.00 S  32900 3  3979.00 3 3 3 3  3484.00

L Tnvd s  iaooo.oo s  lAOoiin 3  lOHMm 3 1 3  iKomno 3  1400.00 1  19.600.00
7. Oeonanev s 3 3 3 3 3
a Cwran EnanM* 3 3 3 3

TOeatono. 3 3 3 3

Poatm . S  AXMM 3  40000 3  4 400.00 3 3 3  4AXLOO
Subaototers > 3 3 3 3 3

Audi and LaoU 1 3 3 3 S 3 3 3 1

Msunnea 1 3 3 3 3 3 3 1
BaardEjiaanaaa 1 3 3 3 3 3 3

9. 8cWa»a (  ITSQQOD 1  1.76000 3  19.280 00 3 3 3  1740040 3  1.78040 S  Ja290il0
10. MatfceanoCoiiMiiuiLjtena S 3 3 3 3

11. SttHEducatonondTraMna S  2.000i» 3  200.00 3  Z200.00 3
12. BtiboinlrbCB/Aoiaanianlt 3 3
li OSiarltDadfledeneiinanaianrvt- S  1^00.00 3  180.00 3  inmnn 3 3 3

14. RaotoBai cfluitftcaBan lavHt nrnnnani s  miotflo S  901040 3  09014.40 3  89.104.00 3  8 910 40
19. liMlraei coat walvar. eanaUlM s 3 3 3 3  11091900 3 3 •

s 3 « I I I s
t  tKmm 3  SMfMO 3  734.137.40 3  09.10490 1 3 391940 3  20042798 3  603404.00 3  30.63940 s  Maisxoe \

TruMe* c( OMnouei Coteo*

RFP-2017««-q»CANCB

B • 3. Amndtnert fl

paoaieri.

Contnuaft Ingatt

^|Z31 IS



Exhibrt &4, Amendment #1

New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services

BtddarfProgram Namn Trustaes of Dartmoutt* CoDega

Buttget Raquesi for: Cancar Ragtstry Oparations
(Ntmri^RF^

BuCgat Period: July 1.2018 loJuita30,201»<SFn9)

Total Proof am Coat

Line Ran
Direct Indirect Total

incremental Fixed
Direct Indirect Total

Incremental Fbcad
DCnct Mtrtct Total

tnuamaiaal Fbcad
1. Total SalanfWsoas S  405.160.00 $  4051600 5  445.676.00 S « 9  405.160.00 9  40316.00 9  445.670.00
2. Emolovaa Baneflb t  146.900.00 S  14.66100 S  164.900.00 9  149J09X)0 9  14,991.00 9  164300.00
3. ConsuKsrSs S s s s « 9
4. Eoutament t  4.000.00 S  400.00 S  4.400.00 8 < 9  AX30QM 9  400.00 $  4.400.00

Rantal S 5 $ $ $ 9
Repair and Martartanea % $ $ $ { « 8
PurchasafDeotadation i S i X % 9 e s

5. Succlai: $ s s s { « 9 t 8
Educational s i s 1 « t 9 8
Lab s S 5 9 1 1 9 « 8
Ptxamracv 5 s $ $ % 1 j s
Madtoal s s 8 % 9  ' « 8
OtTica S  3.000J)0 S  30000 S  300000 8 % { 9  3.000.00 9  300.00 8  3,300.00

6. Travel S  18.000J)0 %  100000 S  19000.00 8 % 9  ldaOOO.00 9  1.600.00 8  1850050
7. Occuoancv s s s 8 % { s
8. Curant Exoensea s i t 8 1 t « s

Tetophone i s s S % 1 8
Postaoa %  4.000.00 S  400.00 5  4.400.00 8 $ 1 9  4.000.00 9  40030 8  4.400.00
Siirscrtaliora % s 8 J € s
Audit and Laeal ( S $ 8 { s • 8
Insurance s s s 8 $ 9 1 s
Board Expenses s s i 8 J tt • 8

9. Software %  18.025.00 %  1.80200 t  19027.00 8 $ 9  18.025.00 S  1.602.00 8  . 16.62750
10. MaffceflnQfCommuotaatlGns s s s 8 1 1 s
11. Staff Education and TraMm S  2.000.00 S  200.00 5  2000.00 S $ 9  2.000.00 9  200.00 S  2.200.00
12. Sutxanaects/Aaraements % $ s 8 s $ S
13. Other fsoecfnc datata manrlatorvt: $  1.500.00 %  150.00 S  1.650.00 5 % ( 9  1300.00 9  15030 8  1.650.00
14. RedsRar effort fhosoibil laven. contrhi $  93.812.00 $  6061.20 S  102.07300 8  93.61200 %  9^1^ $ 102.973.20 t
15. Indbact cost waiver, contrtouted s s S  ' • S j % 110J13.00 « 9 $

$ s s 8 s % S 1 8
TOTAL I  S99,208M 5  69.92000 S  769.12600 $  9301200 9  9a361^ t 21X280^ 9  60533430 9  60359.00 $  666.15350 1

TnsMes of OgnmouOi CoCega

RFP-201 7-OPh's-03-CANCE
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Exhibit B - 5, Amendment #1

New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services

BlddedPrograni Name: Trustees of Dartmouth Coflege

Budget Request fbn Cartcer Registry Operations
(Naento/RFP)

Budget Period: July 1,2019 to June 30,2020 (SFY*20)

Total Program Cost Contractor Share I Match Funded by DHHS contract sh5a
I

Una item
Direct

tncremental

Irect

Fixed

40.183.00

Total Direct

tncremental

Indirect

Fixed

Total Direct

incremental

ndirect

Fixed

total

1 ■ Totai SaiaryyWages
2

401.832.00 S 442.015.00 401.832.00 $ 40.183.00 S 442.015.00

S
. Employ Benefits
3. Consultants

152.696.00 15.270.00 $  167.966.00 152.696.00 15.270.00  167,986.00

\. Equlpmerrt:

Rer^

Repair and Mainterranc

PurchasefPepredatlon 4.000.00 400.00 4.400.00 4.000.00 400.00 4.400.00
5. Suppito:

Educaticrtal

Lab

Pharmacy

Medical

OfHce 3.000.00
6. Travel 18.000.00

300.00 3.300.00

1.800.00 19.800.00
3,000.00 300.00

18,000.00
3.300.00

1.800.00 %  19.800.007. Occupancy
8. Current Expenses

Telephone

Postage 4.000.00 400.00 4.400.00 4.000.00 400.00 4,400.00
Sutwcriptfons

Audit and Legal

Insurartce

Board Experrses
9. Software 18.566.00 1.856.00 20,422.00 18.566.00 1.856.00 $ 20,422.00
10. MarketinofCommunication:

11. Staff Education ar>d Trainir 2.000.00 2X.00 2.200.00 2,000.00 200.00 2J200.0012. Subcontracts/Aoreements

13. Other (spedilc details mar 1.500.00 150.00 1,650.00 1,500.00 150.00 1.650.0014. Registrar effort (hospital lev
15. Ifxjirect cost waiver, contrib

98,349.00 9.834.90 $  108.183.90 98,349.00 9,834.90 108,183.90

110,313.00

TOTAL $

Indirect As A Percent of Direct
703,943.00 70,393.90 I 774,336.90 | $ 98,^!oO 9,834.90 218/498.90 60M94.00 $ 60,559.00 $ 666,153.00

10.0%

Trustees of Dartmouth CoDege

RFP-20t7-OPHS-03CANCE

ExHbit 8 • 5. Amendment #1

Page 1 of 1
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JefTrey A. Kleycn
Commissiontr

Marrell* Bobihsky;-
Acliflg Director

STATE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES

29 MAZEN DRIVE, CONCORD, Nil 0330US27

60>27I-9S63 I-S00-852O345 Est. 9563

Fas:M3-271-843l TDD Access: I-800-73S-2964

'inm NH. DtVISlUN UF

Public I leallh Services

6ctbber,.3li.2016

Her Excellency. Governor Margaret Wood Hassan
and the Honorable Council

State House

Concord. New Hampshire 03301.

REQUESTED ACTION

Authorize the Department of Health and Human Services, Division of Public Health Senflces, to enter
Into an agreement with Trustees of Dartmouth College, Vendor # 177157-B013, 11 Rope Ferry Road 6210,
Box 186, Hanover, NH 03755, In an amount not to exceed $1,190,940, to operate an Incidence-based
statewide cancer registry system as required by RSA 141-8, to be effective the date of Governor and
Council approval through June 30, 2018. Funds are 79% federal and 21% general.

Funds are available In the following accounts for SFY 2017, and are anticipated to be available in-
SFY 2018. upon the availability and continued appropriation of funds in the future operating budgets, with
authority to adjust amounts.within the price li'mitation and adjust encumbrances between State Fiscal Years
through the Budget Office if needed and justifi.ed, withoirl approval from the Governor and Executive
Council.

05-95-90-900510-8666 HEALTH AND SOCIAL SERVICES. DEPT OF HEALTH* AND HUMAN S.VS, HHS;

Fiscal Year Class / Account Class Title Job Number Total Amount

SFY 2017 102-500731 Contracts for Proq Svc 90080080 ■ 251,736
601-500931 State Fund Match 90056005 . 100,045

Sub Total $35.1,781.»

05-95-90-902010-2215 HEALTH AND SOCIAL SERVICES. DEPT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SVS, HHS;
DIVISION OF PUBLIC HEALTH. BUREAU OF POPULATION HEALTH AND COMMUNITY SERVICES.

• CDC ORAL HEALTH GRANT "

Fiscal Year Class / Account Class Title Job Number TotalAmount

SFY 2017 102-500731 Contracts for Proq Svc 90080080 173,000

Sub Total $173,000

05-96-90-902010-3397 HEALTH AND 3.0,0^ .SERVICES, DEPT OF HEALTH AND-HUMAN SVS, HHS
DIVISION OF PUBLIC HEALTH, B.UREXtJ-^KiiMUNITY HEALTH SERVICES. CANCER REGISTRY
Fiscal Year .Class/Account Class Title Job Number TotalAmount

SFY 2018 102-500731 Contracts for Proq Svc 90080080 ■  516.159
601-500931 State Fund Match 90056005 .150,000

Sub Total $666,159

TOTAL $1,190,940



Her Excellency. Governor Margaret Wood Hassan
and the Honorable Council

Page 2

EXPLANATION

Funds In this agreement will be used to enter into an agreement with Trustees of Dartmouth College to
operate an Incidence-based statewide cancer registry system in New Hampshire as required by RFA 141-B.
Certain tasks require computer related information to be received and accessed in this contract, .specifically,
technical services to conduct data collection, data processing, quality assurance, and database management
activities for the collection of cancer data. The Department of Information Techr^ology has reviewed and approved
this contract The approval letter is attached.

The primary purpose of the New Hampshire State Cancer Registry Is to identify all reportable cases of
cancer In New Hampshire to provide information on the over-all burden, types, and changing patterns of cancer
among residents of the state. New Hampshire RSA 141-B and New Hampshire Administrative Code He-P 304
established reporting requirements for cancer case reporting in New Hampshire. The New Hampshire State
Cancer Registry's overall measure of success is to meet the standards for quality, completeness and timeliness of
data as defined by the nation's standard setting organization, the North American Association of Central Cancer
Registries. The purpose of this agreement is to conduct data collection, data processing, quality assurance and
database management activities for the collection of cancer information for the New Hampshire State Cancer
Registry in accordance with the New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services guidelines and
standards set try the National Program of Cancer Registries and the North American Association of Central
Cancer Registries.

The Department is tasked under RSA 141-B to collect information alDOut almost all cancers diagnosed in
New Hampshire. This Information furthers our understanding of cancer and Is used to develop strategies and
glides for Its prevention, treatment, and control. The data also help determine where early detection, educational,'
and other cancer-related programs should t)e directed. Lastly, cancer registry data are essential to respond to
public concerns regarding potential cancer clusters and to conducting Investigations into health risks and
environmental exposure. Understanding the causes of disease clusters will allow us to prevent future deaths and
illness from similar exposures. The availability of data on cancer in the state allows health researchers to analyze
demographic and geographic factors that affect cancer risk, early detection, and effective treatment of cancer
patients.

The New Hampshire State Cancer Registry is recognized as one of the leading cancer registries in the
nation, and has been the cornerstone of a substantial amount of research on cancer in the New Hampshire
population. Information held in the cancer registry is strictly confidential, and is Rfotecled from unauthorized
access by state of the art security systems. To date, the New Hampshire State Cancer Registry has collected.
detailed Information on over 1.3 million cases of cancer among New Hampshire residents diagnosed from 1990
forward, and more than 8,000 new cases are added annually. Every day in New Hampshire, twenty-two (22) of our
residents are diagnosed with cancer and seven (7) of our residents die due to cancer. Based on New Hampshire-
Depar^ent of Health and Human Services estimates, the overall cost of cancer in New Hampshire ip 2008 was
$1.1 billion. Cancer surveillance helps us understand the magnitude of the cancer problem In New Hampshire,
and provides us with critical data to assess the health of our New Hampshire residents and to make informed
decisions about how to best direct our health-related resources and activities. This data gives us the fundamental
knowledge to guide the assessment, development, and evaluation of health policy, and Inform and evaluate the
impact of population health programs and interventions as well as personal health decisions. Cancer registries
provide a basis for public and private decisions at local, state, and national levels. ,

Should the Governor and Executive Council not authorize this request, we would not have a high quality
cancer registry, and may not have the Information necessary to protect and promote the health of New
Hampshire s residents, whether it is a cancer cluster response, public education, screening, treatment or policy
change. In addition, we may not have the information necessary to inform policy makers and the public to assist
Mlh setting health program priorities or the ability to confirm cancer cases through the support of cancer experts to
inform the investigation process and provide review and approval related to protecting the privacy and rights of
individuals.

Trustees of Dartmouth College vi/ere selected for this project through a competitive bid process. A
Request for Proposals was posted on the Department of Health and Human Services' web site from July 15.2016
through September 2. 2016. A bidder's conference was held on August 18. 2016!



Her Excellency, Governor Margaret Wood Hassan
and the Honorable Council

Page 3

The Department received one proposal. The proposal was reviewed and scored.by a team of six (6)
Individuals with program specific knowledge. Their decision followed a thorough discussion of the strengths
and weaknesses of the proposal. The final decision was made through consensus scoring. The Bid
Summary is attached.

As referenced in the Request for Proposals and in the contract Exhibit C-1, this agreement has the
option to renew for two (2) additional years, contingent upon satisfactory delivery of ̂ rvices, available
funding, agreement of the parties and approval of the Governor and Executive Council.

The following performance measures will be used to measure the effectiveness of the Agreement:

1. For each incident cancer case defined in Exhibit A, collect all the data variables listed in New
Hampshire Administrative Rule He-P 304.2.

2. The database shall be, at a minimum, in accordance with accepted Centers for Disease
Control's National Program of Cancer Registries and North American Association of Cancer
Registry standards.

3. The data collected is 95% complete within 12 months of date of diagnosis for cases seen in any
New Hampshire hospital.

4. The data collected is 90% complete within 15 months of date of diagnosis for all cases among
New Hampshire residents, regardless of where they received the cancer care.

5. The data collected is 95% complete within 24 months of date of diagnosis for all cases among
New Hampshire residents, with cases identified from death certificate review and foliow-up. from
physician practices, from non-hospital facilities, and from out-of-state sources.

Area served: Statewide.

Source of Funds: Source of Funds is 79% Federal Funds from the US Centers for Disease Control
and Prevention, and 21% General Funds.

In the event that the Federal Funds become no longer. ̂ ailab|ekGeneral Funds will not be
requested to support this program. ' ' •

' \
I

Respectfully submitted.

Marcella J. Bobinsky, MPH
ig DirectorAc

Approved by:

ey 'Meyera
Commissioner.

The Oeporliiicitl of HcalUi and Human Services' Mission is to join communities and families
ill prodding oppovlunilics for cUiicns to achieve health and independence.



STATE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE
DEPARTMENT OF INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY

27 Hazen Dr., Concord, NH 03301
Fax: 603-271-1516 TOD Access: 1-800-735-2964

www.nh.gov/doit

penis Gouiet
Commissioner

October 24,2016

Jeffirey A. Meyers, Commissioner
Department of Health and Human Services
State of New Hampshire
129 Pleasant Street

Concord, NH 03301-3857

Dear Commissioner Meyers:

This letter represents formal notification that the Department of Information Technology (DoU)
has approved your agency's request to enter into a contract with Trustees of Dartmouth College (Vendor
#177157-6013), as described below and referenced as DoIT No. 2016-081. This project is a result of an
RFP also referenced as DoIT No. 2016-081.

This request is to enter into a contract with the Trustees of Dartmouth College to operate
an incidence-based statewide cancer registry system as required by RSA 141-B. Certain
tasks require computer related information to be received and accessed in this contract,
specifically technical services to conduct data collection, data processing, quality
assur^ce.and database management activities for the collection of cancer information.

The amount of the contract is not to exceed $ 1 j190,940 effective upon the date of
Governor and Executive Council approval through June 30,2018.

A copy of this letter should accompany the submission to the Governor and Executive Council
for approval.

incerely.f,

Denis Gouiet

DG/ik

Contra(^ #2016-081

cc: Bobbie Averse

"Innovot/ve Techno/ogies Today for New Hampshire's Tomorrow'



New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Office of Business Operations
Contracts & Procurement Unit

CANCER REGISTRY OPERATIONS

RFP Name

RFP-2017-DPHS-03-CANCE

RFP Number Reviewer Names

^ ^onawamoaam^Prograr^
Planner (Tech)

Bidder Name
Percent

maximu

m Points

Adhjai
Points

TarerTPaSlefcrd, Program
Planner (Tech)

^ Trustees of Dartmouth College . 88% 640 561

. Whitney Hammond. Admintstrator
(Tech)

2 0 640 0

j Ellen Chase-Lucard, Financial
■ Administrator (Cost)

3 0 640 0

"Snelle^wanson, i-inanciai
Adiftinistralor (Cost)

'o 640 0

g PJ Nadeau, Financial
Administrator (Cost)



Subject: Cancer Re2istrv Operations - rfb'2017-dDhs-03-cance-01. Contract #2016-081
FORM NUMBER P.37 (version 5/8/15)

Notice: This agreement and all of its attachments shall become public upon submission to Governor and
Executive Council for approval. Any information that is private, confidential or proprietary must
be clearly identified to the agency and agreed to in writing prior to signing the contract.

AGREEMENT

The State of New Hampshire and the Contractor hereby mutually agree as follows:

GENERAL PROVISIONS

1. IDENTIFICATION.

1.1 State Agency Name
NH Department of Health and Human Serviccss

1.2 State Agency Address
129 Pleasant Street

Concord, NH 03301-3857

1.3 Contractor Name

Trustees of Dartmoudi College
1.4 Contractor Address
11 Rope Ferry Road 6210. fiuA"186"
Hanover, NH 03755

1.5 Contractor Phone

Number

603-653-6620

1.6 Account Number

05-95-90-900510-8666-102-
500731, 05-95-90-900510-

8666-601-500931,05-95-90-
902010-3397-102-500731,05-
95-90-902010-3397-601.
500931

1.7 Completion Date

6/30/2018

1.9 Contracting OfiBcer for State Agency
Eric Borrin, Director of Contracts and Procurement

1.8 Price Limitation

$1,190,940

1.10 State Agency Telephone Number
603-271-9558

Conductor Signa 1.12 Name and Title of Contractor Signatory

Jill M. Mortali, Director
Office of Sponsored Projects\.i^ A^owledgement: State of A/eu:/^«ys#)iicCounty of

OnOcithe*''^^., 20/(o , before the undersigned officer, personally appeared the person identified in block 1.12, or satisfactorily
p^o^'en tn be the person whose name is signed in block 1.11, and acknowledged that s/he executed this document in the capacity
indicaiedinblock 1.12.

1 13.1 Signature of Notary Public or Justice of the Peace

rSeal]
1.13.2

8^ Commission Explm August 14,2021

/ADijroval b

1.15 Name and Title of State Agency Signatory
Marcclla J. Bobinsky, MPH
Acting Director

1.16 ̂ Approval by t^i^.H. Dcpartiyeht of Administfadon, Division of Personnel (if applicable)

By Director, On:
1.17 Approval by the Attorney General (Form, Substance and Execution) (if applicable)

By.

tive Council ({fhpplicahle) 11.18 Approval.by the Govepfor anc^Execuiive Council (\fhppHca^ie)

By I i - On:

Page 1 of4



1 EMPLOYMENT OF CONTRACTOR/SERVICES TO
BE PERFORMED. The State of New Hampshire, acting
through the agency identified in block I. I C'Stale"), engages

• contractor identified in block 1.3 ("Contractor") to perform,
and the Contractor shall perform, the work or sale of goods, or
both, identified end more particularly described in the attachcdi
EXHIBIT A-which is incorporated herein by reference
(Services").

3. EFFECTIVE DATE/COMPLETION OF SERVICES.
3.1 Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement to the
contrary, and subject to the approval of the Governor and
Executive Council of the State of New Hampshire, if
applicable, this Agreement, and all obligations of the parties
hereundcr, shall become effective on the date the Governor
and Executive Council approve this Agreement as indicated in
block 1.18, unless no such approval is required, in which case
the Agreement shall become effective on the date the
Agreement is signed by the Slate Agency as shown in block
1.14 ("Effective Date").
3.2 If the Contractor commences the Services prior to the
Effective Date, all Services performed by the Contractor prior
to the Effective Date shall be performed at the sole risk of the
Contractor, and in the event that this Agreement does not
become effective, the State shall have no liability lo the
Contractor, including without limitation^ any obligation to pay
the Contractor for any costs incurred or Services performed.
Contractor must complete all Services by the Completion Date
specified in block 1.7.

4. CONDITIONAL NATURE OF AGREEMENT.

Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement to the
contrary, all obligations of the State hcreunder, including,.
without limitation, the continuance of payments hereunder, are
contingent iq>on the availability and continued appropriation
of fiinds, and in no event shall the State be liable for any
payments hereunder in excess of such available appropriated
funds. In the event of a reduction or termination of
appropriated funds, the State shall have the right to withhold
payment until such funds become available, if ever, and shall
have the right to terminate this Agreement immediately upon
giving the Contractor notice of such termination. The State
shall not be required to transfer funds front any other account
to the Account identified in block 1.6 in the event fiinds in that
Account are reduced or unavailable.

5. CONTRACT PRICE/PRICE LIMITATION/

PAYMENT.

5.1 The contract price, method of payment, and terms of
payment are identified and more particularly described in
EXHIBIT B which is incorporated herein by reference.
3.2 The payment by the State of the contract price shall be the
only and the con^)lete reimbursement to the Contractor for all
expenses, of whatever nature incurred by the Contractor in the
poformancc hereof, and shall be the only and the complete
compensation to the Contractor for the Services. The State
shall have no liability to the Contractor other than the contract
price.

5.3 The State reserves the right to offset from any amounts
otherwise payable to the Contractor under this Agreement
those liquidated amounts required or permitted byN.H. RSA
80:7 through RSA 80:7-c or any other provision of law.
5.4 Notwithstanding any provision In this Agreement to the
contrary, and notwithstanding unexpected circumstances, in
no event shall the total of all payments authorized, or actually
made hereunder, exceed the Price Limitation set forth In block
1.8.

6. COMPLIANCE BY CONTRACTOR WITH LAWS
AND REGULATIONS/EQUAL EMPLOYMENT
OPPORTUNITY.

6.1 In connection with the performance of the Services, the
Contractor shall comply with all statutes, laws, regulations,
and orders of federal, state, county or municipal authorities
which impose any obligation or duty upon the Contractor,
including, but not limited to, civil rights and equal opportunity
laws. This may include the requirement to utilize auxiliary '
aids and services to ensure that persons with communication
disabilities, including vision, hearing and speech, can
conununicaie with, receive information from, and convey
information to the Contractor. In addition, the Contractor
shall comply with all applicable copyright laws.
6.2 During the term of this Agreement, (he Contractor shall
not discriminate against employees or applicants for
employment because of race, color, religion, creed, age, sex,
handicap, sexual orientation, or national origin and will take
affinnative action to prevent such discrimination.
6.3 If this Agreement is funded in any part by moiues of the
United States, the Contractor shall comply with all the
provisions of Executive Order No. 11246 ("Equal
Employment Opportunity"), as supplemented by the
regulations of (he United States D^artment of Labor (41
C.F.R. Part 60), and with any rules, regulations and guidelines
as (he State of New Hampshire or the United States issue to
implement these regulations. The Contractor further agrees to
permit the State or United States access to any of the ^
Contractor's books, records and accounts for the purpose of
ascertaining compliance with all rules, regulations and orders,
and the covenants, terms and conditions of this Agreement.

7. PERSONNEL.

7.1 The Contractor shall at its own expense provide all
personnel necessary to perform the Services. The Contractor
warrants that all personnel engaged in the Services shall be
qualified to perform the Services, and shall be properly
licensed and otherwise authorized to do so under all applicable
laws.

7.2 Unless otherwise authorized in writing, during the term of
this Agreement, and for a period of six (6) months afier the
Completion Date in block 1.7, the Contractor shall not hire,
and shall not permit any subcontractor or other person, firm or
corporation with whom it is engaged in a combined efTort to
perform the Services to hire, any person who is a State
employee or olTicial, who is materially involved in the -
procurement, administration or performance of this

Page 2 of 4
Contractor Initials

Date



Agrcemcoi. This provision shall survive teTmination of this
Agreement. •
7.3 The Contracting OfRcer specified in block 1.9, or his or
her successor, shall be the State's representative. In the event
of any dispute concerning the intenprctation of this Agreement,
the Contracting Officer's decision shall be final for the State.

«. EVENT OF DEFAULT/REMEDIES.
8.1 Any one or more of the following acts or omissions of the
Contractor shall constitute an event of default hereunder
("Event of Default"):
8.1.1 failure to perform the Services satisfactorily or on
schedule;
8.1.2 failure to submit any report required hereunder, and/or
8.1.3 failure to perform any other covenant, term or condition
of this AgrcemenL
8.2 Upon the occurrence of any Event of Default, the State
may take any one, or more, or all, of the following actions:
8.2.1 give the Contractor a written notice specifying the Event
of Dcfeult and requiring it to be remedied within, in the
absence of a greater or lesser specification of time, thirty (30)
days fn)m the date of the notice; and if the Event of Default is
not timely remedied, teiminate this Agreement, effective two
(2) days after giving the Contractor notice of termination;
8.2.2 give the Contractor a written notice specifying the Event
of Defoult and su^ending all payments to be made under this
Agreement and ordering that the portion of the contract price
which would otherwise accrue to the Contractor during the
period from the date of such notice until such time as the State
determines that the Contractor has cured the Event of Default
shall never be paid to the Contractor;
8.2.3 set off-against any other obligations the Slate may owe to
the Contractor any damages the State suffers by reason of any
Event of Default; and/or .
8.2.4 treat the Agreement as breached and pursue any of its
remedies at law or in equity, or both.

9. DATA/ACCESS/CONFIDENTIAUTV/
PRESERVATION.

9.1 As used in this Agreement, the word "data" shall mean all
information and things developed or obtained during the
performance of, or acquired or developed by reason of, this
Agreement, including, but not limited to, all studies, reports,
files, formulae, surveys, maps, charts, sound recordings, video
recordings, pictorial reproductions, drawings, analyses,
graphic representations, computer programs, computer
printouts, notes, letters, memoranda, papers, and documents,
all whether finished or unfinished.
9.2 All data and any property w^ich has been received from
the State or purchased with ̂ nds provided for that purpose
under this Agreement, shall be the property of the State, and
shall be returned to the State upon demand or upon
termination of this Agreement for any reason.
9.3 Confidentiality of data shall be governed by N.H. RSA
chapter 91-A or other existing law. Disclosure of data
requires prior written approval of the State.
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10. TERMINATION. In the event of an early termination of
this Agreement for any reason other than the completion of the
Services, the Contractor shall deliver to the Contracting
Officer, not later than fifteen (15)daysafierthedateof
terminalipi^ia report ("Terminalion Report") describing in
detail all Services performed, and the contract price earned, to
and including the date of termination. The form, subject
matter, content, and number of copies of the Termination
Report shall be identical to those of any Final Report
described in the attached EXHIBIT A.

11. CONTRACTOR'S RELATION TO THE STATE. In
the performance of this Agreement the Contractor is in all
respects an independent contractor, and is neither an agent nor
an employee of the State. Neither die Contractor nor any of its
officers, employees, agents or members shall have authority to
bind the State or receive any benefits, workers' compensation
or other emoluments provided by the State to its employees.

12. ASSIGNMENT/DELEGATION/SUBCONTRACTS.

The Contractor shall not assign, or otherwise transfer any
interest in this Agreement without the prior written notice and
consent of the State. None of the Services shall be

subcontracted by the Contractor without the prior written
notice and consent of the State.

13. INDEMNIFICATION. The Contractor shall defend,
indemnify and hold harmless the State, its officers and
employees, from and against any and all losses suffered by the
State, its officers and employees, and any and all claims,
liabilities or penalties asserted against the State, its oftlcers
and cmplojrees, by or on behalf of any person, on account of,
based or resulting from, arising out of (or which may be
claimed to arise out oO the acts or omissions of the
Contractor. Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing herein
contained shall be deemed to constitute a waiver of the

sovereign immunity of the State, which immunity is hereby
reserved to the State. This covenant in paragraph 13 shall
survive the termination of this Agreement;

14. INSURANCE.

14.1 The Contractor shall, at its sole expense, obtain and '
maintain in force, and shall require any subcontractor or
assignee to obtain and maintain in force, the following
insurance:

14.1.1 comprehensive general liability insurance against all
claims of bodily injury, death or properly damage, in amounts
of not less than S1,000,000per occurrence and S2,000,000
aggregate; and
14.1.2 special cause of loss coverage form covering all
property subject to subparagraph 9.2 herein, in an amount not .

•  less than 80% of the whole replacement value of the property.
14.2 The policies described in subparagraph 14.1 herein shall
be on policy forms and endorsements approved for use in the
Stale ofNew Hampshire by the N.H. Department of
Insurance, and issued by insurers licensed in the Slate of New
Hampshire.
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14.3 The Contractor shall furnish to the Contracting Officer
identified in block 1.9, or his or her successor, a certificate(s)
of insurance for all insurance required under this Agreement.
Contractor shall also furnish to the Contracting Officer
identified in block 1.9, or his or her successor, certificate(s) of
insurance for all renewal(s) of insurance required under this
Agreement no later than thirty (30) days prior to the expiration
date of each of the insurance policies. The certifjcate(s) of
insurance and any renewals thereof shall be attached and are

incorporated herein by reference. Each certificatefs) of
insurance shall contain a clause requiring the insurer to
provide the Contracting Officer identified in block 1.9, or his
or her successor, no.less than thirty (30) days prior written
notice of cancellation or modification of the policy.

15. WORKERS' COMPENSATION.

15.1 By signing this apecment, the Contractor agrees,
certifies and warrants that the Contractor is in compliance with
or exempt from, the requirements of N.H. RSA chapter 281-A
("Workers'Compensation").
15.2 To the extent the Contractor is subject to the
requirements of N.H. RSA chapter 28I-A, Contractor shall
maintain, and require any subcontractor or assignee to secure .
and maintain, payment of Workers' Compensation in
connection with activities which the person proposes to
undertake pursuant to this Agreement Contractor shall
furnish the Contractinig Officer identified in block 1.9, or his
or her successor, proof of Workers' Compensation in the
manner described in N.H. RSA chapter 281 -A and any
applicable renewal(s) thereof, whicti shall be attached and are
incorporated herein by reference. The State shall not be
responsible for payment of any Workers' Compensatbn
premiums or for any other claim or benefit for Contractor, or
any subcontractor or employee of Contractor, which might
arise under applicable State ofNew Hampshire Workers'
Condensation bws in connection with the performance of the
Services under this Agreement.

16. WAIVER OF BREACH. No failure by the State to
enforce any provisions hereof after any Event of Default shall
be deemed a waiver of its rights with regard to that Event of
Default, or any subsequent Event of Default. No express
failure to enforce any Event of Default shall be deemed a
waiver of the right of the Stale to enforce each and all of the
provisions hereof upon any further or other Event of Default
on the part of the Contractor.

17. NOTICE. Any notice by a party hereto to the other party
shall be deem^ to have been duly delivered or given at the
time of mailing by certified mail, postage prepaid, in a United
States Post Office addressed to the parties at the addresses
given in blocks 1.2 and 1.4, herein.

such approval is required under the circumstances pursuant to
State law, rule or policy.

19. CONSTRUCTION OF AGREEMENT AND TERMS.

This Agreement shall be construed in accordance with the
laws of the State of New Hampshire, and is binding upon and
inures to the benefit of the parties and their reactive
successors and assigns. The wording used in this Agreement
is the wording chosen by the parties to express their mutual
intent, and no rule of construction shall be applied against or
in favor of any party.

20. THIRD PARTIES. The parties hereto do not intend to
benefit any third parties aitd this Agreement shall not be
construed to confer any such benefit.

21. HEADINGS. The headings throughout the Agreement
are for reference purposes only, and the words contained
therein shall in no way be held to explain, modify, amplify or
aid in the interpretation, construction or meaning of the
provisions of this Agreement.

22. SPECIAL PROVISIONS. Additional provisions set
forth in the attached EXHIBIT C are incorporated herein by
reference.

23. SEVERABILITV. In the event any of the provisions of
this Agreement are held by a court of competent jurisdiction to
be contrary to any state or federal law, the remaining
provisions of this Agreement will remain in full force and
effect.

24. ENTIRE AGREEMENT. This Agreement, which may
be executed in a number of counterparts, each of which shall
be deemed an original, constitutes the entire Agreement and
understanding between the parties, and supersedes all prior
Agreements and understandings relating hereto.

18. AMENDMENT. This Agreement may be amended,
waived or discharged only by an instrument in writing signed
by the parties hereto and only after approval of such
amendment, waiver or discharge by the Governor and
Executive Council of the State of New Hampshire unless no
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Cancer Registry Operations

Exhibit A

Scope of Services

1. Provisions Applicable to All Services

1.1. The Contractor agrees that, to the extent future legislative action by the New Hampshire
General Court or federal or state court orders may have an Impact on the Services
described herein, the State Agency has the right to modify Service priorities and expenditure
requirements under this Agreement so as to achieve compliance therewth.

1.2. All services to be performed under this contract shall be In accordance with New Hampshire
Department of Health and Human Services (OHHS). New Hampshire law RSA 141-B, New
Hampshire Administrative rules He-P 304. United States Public Law 102-515, and Centers
for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), National Prc^ram of Cancer Registries (NPCR)
and North American Association of Central Cancer Registries (NAACCR) standards and .
guidelines.

2. Required Activities

The Contractor shall;

2.1. Present for discussion and proposed modifications, a Work Ran. due within 30 days of the
contract effective date. The timeline and work plan shall meet all due dales for deliverables
noted in the Deliverables and Key Performance Indicators set forth In Section 14 of this
document.

2.2. Have all fully qualified staff assigned in support of the New Hampshire State Cancer Registry
(NHSCR) contract within 30 days of the contract effective date.

2.3. Maintain the NHSCR database from a physical location within a seventy-five (75) mile radius of
the DHHS, located in Concord. The rationale for this requirement is that the DHHS provides
technical and administrative oversight of the NHSCR operations, which includes on-site visits to
the NHSCR contractor. In addition, appropriate contractor personnel are required to attend
regular meetings with DHHS staff as well as other meetings as necessary.

2.4. Allow full participation of the DHHS in the ongoing, onsite operations of contract activities
including interacting directly with contractor staff, viewing abstract processing, participating in
customizing registry software selecting edits, aspects of database management, system
security, and quality assurance that the DHHS deems necessary.

2.5. Provide the DHHS with technical assistance and expertise on matters within the scope of work
of the contract.

3. Cancer Registry Operation

3.1. Operate an Incidence-based statewide cancer registry reporting system in accordance with
RSA 141-B and Part He-P 304 of the New Hampshire Administrative Rules.
http://www.qencourt.state.nh.us/rules/state aQencies/he-p300.html. Collect Information and
maintain an electronic database of all incident cancer cases occurring among the New;
Hampshire population according to the Administrative Rules.

3.2. Facilitate and encourage submission of reports for each incident case Facilitate and encourage
submission of reports for each incident case defined In RSA 141-8:7
fhttD:/A^.Gencourt.state.nh.us/rsa/html/X/141-B/141-B-mrQ.htmV alt the data variables listed
irt administrative rule He-P 304.02 by "health facilities" within an expected timejrame as listed
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Cancer Registry Operations

Exhibit A

In Administrative Rule He-P 304.01(e) and He-P 304.01(1)
fhttp://www.qencourt.state.nh.us/rules/state aqencies/he-pSOO.htmh. Facilitation and
encouragement may include writing letters, calling by telephone and personal visits to health
providers and/or health facility administrators or supervisors. ("Health Facilities" shall be
defined according to the Administrative Rules.)

3.3. Inform the DHHS of facilities that remain out of compliance with reporting requirements despite
Contractor notification in the following situations;

3.3.1. Denial or lack of access to pathology reports or medical records;

3.3.2. Lack of submission of reports within one month or expected date; and

3.3.3. Lack of resportse to letter or other formal irxjuiry within one month.

3.4. Collect additional follow-up data relating to treatment and disease status of Breast and
Colorectal cancer cases diagnosed In 2011 for the patient centered outcomes (PCO).

3.5. Adhere to Timetable of Data Deliverables:

3.5.1. The NHSCR data shall meet the following five data quality criteria [National Data Quality
Standard (formally known as the 24-Monlh Standard)];

i. Data are 95%compiete based on observed-to-expected cases as computed by
CDC;

ii. There are 3% or fewer death-certificate^nly cases;

iii. There is a 1 per 1,000, or fewer, unresolved duplicate rate;

iv. The maximum percent missing for critical data elemente are:

i. 2% age
(  ii. 2% sex

iii. 3% race

iv. 2% county

V. 99% pass a CDC-prescrlbed set of standard edits.

3.5.2. The NHSCR data shall meet the following data quality criteria [Advanced National Data
Quality Standards (formally known as the 12-Month Standard)]:

I. Data are 90% complete based on observed-to-expected cases as computed by
CDC;

ii. There Is a 2 per 1,000 or fewer unresolved duplicate rate;

iii. The maximum percent mining for critical data elements are;

i. 3% age
ii. 3% sex

ill. 5% race
iv. 3% county

iv. 97% pass a CDC-prescrlbed set of standard edits.

4. Case Ascertainment Activities

4.1. Establish and implement case reporting from any new or existing free-standir^g radiation
oncology facility in the state.

Trustees of Dartmouth College Exhibit A . Contractor Inttia
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Cancer Registry Operations

Exhibit A

4.2. Establish and implemant case reporting from any new or existing free-standing fnedical
oncology fadllty in the state.

4.3. Establish and implement case reporting from any new or existing free-standing surgical
oncology facility in the state.

4.4. Establish and implement electronic case finding from hospital or private pathology labs and
from out-of-state patholo^ laboratories.

4-5. Perform death clearance at least annually. Death clearance should be performed by matching
records in the NHSCR with New Hampshire mortality data provided by the DHHS and with
National Death Index., to determine the level of the NHSCR's record completeness for in-state
and out-of state deaths to New Hampshire residents where cancer is identified as a cause of
death.

4.6. For In-state deaths, the Contractor shall make a determination as to the cause of and
appropriate correction for cancer incidents not reported to the NHSCR. This should Include
contacting the certlfier of the death for case follow back as necessary. For deaths of Individuals
in NHSCR database, the contractor shall electronically update the Vital Status, date of death
and cause of death for matching cases.

4.7. Operate query systems that cross checks definitive reports, rapid reports, and non-reportable
data sources using data linkage processes to ensure maximum case ascertainment.

4.8. Create or update the NHSCR operations manual within 30 days of the contract effective date.
This manual on NHSCR procedures is for potential distribution to all reporting health providers
and heafth facilities. The manual virill provide documentation of the objectives, Implementation
and operation of the registry. Ail the contractor staff of the Cancer Registry Operations and
DHHS shall be provided wl^ a copy of the manual. This manual shall contain, at a minimum;

4.8.1. Most current reporting laws/regulations;

4.8.2. List of reportable diagnoses;

4.8.3. List of required data items.

4.8.4. Procedures for data processing operations Including:

i. Procedures for monitoring timeliness of reporting;

ii. Procedures for receipt of data;

ill. Procedures for database management Including a description of the Registry
Operating System (software);

iv. Procedures for conducting death certificate clearance;

V. Procedures for Implementing and maintaining the quality assurance/control
program:

4.8.4.V.I. Conducting follow-back to reporting facilities on quality issues. These
procedures include rules for identifying when action or further investigation Is

.. . needed:

4.8.4.V.2. Conducting record consolidation;
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4.8.4.V.3. Maintaining detailed documentation of all quality assurance operations;

4.8.4.V.4. Procedures for education and training.

4.8.5. Procedures for conducting data exchange Including a list of states with which case-
sharing agreements are in place;

4.8.6. Procedures for conducting data linkages.

4.8.7. Procedures insuring confidentiality and data security including disaster planning;

4.8.8. Procedures for data release including access to and disclosure of inforrnation;

4.8.9. Procedures for maintaining and updating the operational manual.

4.9. Revise the NHSCR operations manual when any changes are made to policies and
procedures relating to the NHSCR activities based on contractor need or as requested by the
DHHS. The contractor will submit the changes to the DHHS, who will review and seek revision
or approve within 30 days.

4.10. Review and update existing documents for reporting facilities, including letters, user -
application forms, reporting requirement document, Webplus user guides, etc., within 30 days
of the contract effective date. Determine needed updates in consultation with the DHHS.
When updates are needed, develop updated material, obtain approval of the DHHS, and
provide to reporting facilities and post them on web for easier access.

4.11. Through site visits to New Hampshire hospitals conducted as needed, review discharge,
laboratory and pathology reports as well as medical charts to ensure the completeness of
case reporting and accuracy for completion.

5. Information Technology Activities

5.1. Establish operations within 30 days of the contract start date. This shall include, but not be
limited to system set-up, testing, and deployment, as well as business operations to support
the State's requirements defined in Exhibit A-1 Additional Cancer Data Reolstrv Technical
Requirements.

5.2. Within 30 days of the contract start date, provide and set up necessary computer hardware,
including servers and computers for the NHSCR contractor staff, necessary to maintain the
NHSCR database. All hardware and software shall be compatible with NPCR requirements.

5.3. Within 30 days of the contract start date, provide connectivity for all reporting facilities to
transmit data to the NHCSR.

5.4. Maintain secure web access to the NHSCR seven days per week for Web Plus on-line data
entry and data file uploading.

5.5. Within 30 days of the contract start date, install and utilize the current automated data
management system, consistent with national standards and populated with NHSCR data.
Train staff in operation of software systems. The contractor shall update all the components of
the software, as required and shall participate in the relevant CDC software users group. (The
DHHS maintains the discretion to utilize any kind of data management system. There shall be
no modifications or upgrades to the software without the approval of the DHHS.)

5.6. Within 30 days of the contract execution, discuss with DHHS the feasibility of implementing a
WebPlus User's Agreement, the language of such an agreement, and the protocol for phasing
it into use. Implement protocol specified by the program team during a mutualjyjagreed
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timeframe to restrict reporting via Web Plus data entry or file upload to those reporters who
have submitted signed agreements to become Web Plus users.

5.7. Within 30 days of the contract start date, develop and Implement procedures for the electronic
submission and processing of laboratory pathology and <^ology reports utilizing NAACCR
standards.

5.8. Within 30 days of the contract start date, maintain a computerized log of facilities and
personnel w/ho report data to NHSCR (in excel or access or any other system) which includes
at minimum: facility ID, name and demographic information;.names and contact information of
personnel (reporters and supen/isors), and log of prior facility contacts.

5.9. Within 30 days of the contract start date, obtain from the prior NHSCR reports of technical
assistance between NHSCR and reporters. Maintain these files or modify or upgrade them
with approval of the DHHS.

5.10. Within 30 days of the contract start date, maintain a computerized log of all abstracts received
from each reporting facility that includes facility ID, number of abstracts received, date
received , format of data received and NAACCR version if electronic submission.

5.11. Within 30 days of the contract start date, obtain from the prior NHSCR vendor copies of hard
copy logs and electronic logs of abstracts submitted to NHSCR. Maintain these files or modify
or upgrade them with the approval of DHHS. The DHHS will provide necessary contact
information and facilitate this transfer.

5.12. Upgrade or replace user software and or hardware and make necessary changes to
customize software because of advancing technology and or modifications required by DHHS,
NPCR or NAACCR standards. Make further upgrades) or replacements(s) during the life of
this contract, at an additional negotiated price, if so requested by DHHS and subject to all
necessary state approvals.

5.13. Within 30 days of the contract start date, provide means for DHHS staff approved by the
DHHS to periodically receive data from NHSCR. while maintaining data security.

5.14. Develop and implement procedures for granting accesis to data to approved NHSCR staff.

6. Database Management Activities

6.1. Develop and implement procedures for the timely and accurate consolidation of cancer reports
within 30 days of the contract effective date;

6.2. Consolidate tumor records and treatment information in accordance with standards set forth by
NPCR, NAACCR or the SEER.

6.3. Perform routine, standard edit checks on all reports received in accordance with NPCR and
NAACCR starxfards. The contractor shall be responsible for the accuracy of the data It codes,
edits and consolidates and for maintaining the Integrity of the data from year to year. At a
minimum, the editing and review of data would Include:

6.3.1. Routine visual review of abstracts and error reports;

6.3.2. Installation and use of the most recent standard edit set metafiles as chosen by the
DHHS and the Contractor:

6.3.3. Detection of emors during editing, documentation of emors found and conections of
en-ors detected;
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6.3.4. Detection and consolidation of multiple abstracts tumor records) received during the
contract that match cases reviewed in current or prior years;

. 6.3.5. Detection and removal of duplicate consolidate cases (that is two or more consolidate
records for the sarrie tumor in an individual);

6.3.6. Describe strategy for the routine, continual detection ae removal of the duplicates from
the NHSCR database -even after current accession year has closed.

6.4 Assure that the individual case records in the NHSCR automated database are computer-edited
for duplicate records, invalid coding, Improbable values, and inconsistencies prior to statistical
processing and data compilation for analytical purposes. Areas to be edited Include, but are not
llrrilted to:

1. Data Range Checks;
2. Geographic Coding Assignment;
3. Duplicate Record Checks;;
4. Invalid values

5. Relational items as follows:

I. City at diagnosis field must only have values that exactly match legitimate New
Hampshire City, town, or village names In list supplied by DHHS.

II. City at diagnosis, the code for county and state of diagnosis must always agree
and where city at diagnosis exists, a code for county at diagnosis must be
provided.

ill. Vital status and cause of death fields must agree and cause of death must be a
valid )CD-lb cause of death code or one of the special NAACCR codes.

iv. Records should be checked to make sure that the physician's name is correctly
entered into first and last name fields.

V. Records should be checked to compare sex of patient and the first name of the
patient as a guide for determining correct entry of the record. .

vi. No logical conflicts shall exist between all the treatment diagnosis fields and the
related reason for no treatment fields.

vil. Apply applicable NPCR and NAACCR Central Registry edits to data fields.

6.5 Geocode all cancer reports of New Hampshire residents for address and census tract, for a
given year and accurately Incorporate new and revised coding into NHSCR database.

7 Penetration Internal Security Testing

7.1 The State will perform Penetration Testing of the Intemal Security of the Contractor's IT system
as defined In the Exhibit A-1 Additional Cancer Data Registry Technical Requirements.

7.2 The State and Contractor shall determine a mutually agreed upon date for the Penetration
Testing and perform the testing within 90-days of the effective date of the Contract.

7.3 The Contractor shall work with the State to negotiate a mutually agreeable remediation plan
within ISO-days of the Contract effecfive date.

7.4 The contractor shall, as a part of the remediation plan process, fully assess all vulnerabilities
identified in the penetration test results. The contractor will acknowledge an^libMpt aJL

Trustees of Dartmouth College Exhibit A Cor>trflctor If
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vulnerabiliti^ and findings of the penetration test and develop an assessment report that
describes, for each vulnerability identified, the root cause, the risk level to the Department, the
potential adverse impact to the Department, the level of effort required to remediate in man
hours, the resource type or skillset required to remediate, and the cost to remediate. The
contractor shall remediate all high risk findings as identified by the Department exoept where
the remediation cost to the Contractor is unacceptable, in which case, the Contractor will work
with the Department in good faith to identify appropriate means, alternatives, and or
compensating controls to address the vulnerabilities identified.

8. Information and System Security Policies and Procedures'

8.1. Maintain the confidentiality and Integrity of information in accordance with the Health Insurance
Portability and Accountability Act, Public Law 104-191 (https://aspe.hhs.gov/report/health-
insurance-portability-and-aixountability-act-l 996) and with the Standards for Privacy and
Security of Individually Identifiable Health Information, 45 CFR Parts 160 and 164
(http7/www.hipaasurvivalguide.com/hipaa-r^ulations/hipaa-reguiations.php) and those parts of
the HITECH Act as applicable (hHp://www.hipaasurvivalguide.com/hitech-act-summary.php).
The contractor shall also maintain and protect the confidentiality of the database and
Information obtained and maintained during this contract in accordance to NH RSA 141-B
(http7/www.gencourt.state.nh.us/rsa/html/X/141-B/14l-B-mrg.htm) and NH Administrative
Rules He-P 304 (http7/www.gencourt.state.nh.us/rules/state_agencies/he-p300.html) and shall
acknowledge agreement with the Data Use Policy of the DHHS, which views NHSCR database
as DHHS-owned database, with data release subject to restrictions and conditions.

8.2. Preserve the confidentiality, integrity, and accessibility of State of New Hampshire data with
administrative, technical and physical information security controls and measures that conform
to all applicatiori, federal, state, and Industry standards, such as NIST 800-53v4: which the
Contractor applies to its own information processing environment, and ensures the same Is
applied to any other subcontractor(s) Information processing environments utilized to process
or store State of New Hampshire protected data.

8.3. Maintain the security of the system environment in accordance with the requirements of the
Cancer Data Registry Technical Requirements in Appendix F. the United States Commerce
Department's National Institute of Standards and Technology (NIST) Special Publication 800-
53 and the Open Web Application Security Project (OWASP).

8.4. Maintain a system security and Integrity manual which includes plans, procedures and
protocols for ensuring that the contractor's NHSCR system will be properly secured, maintained
and updated throughout the contract term.

8.5. Within 14.days after initial contract start date, implement a series of internal procedures to
ensure that:

1. Access to automated information is restricted to authorized persons, on a needed
basis, and control is maintained over all the documents that contain sensitive
infonmation to ensure that these documents are available only to authorized persons.

2. Implement full security measures to ensure the security and quality of all the elements in
the NHSCR database through procedures that shall include the following:
i. Ensure that equipment is protected from theft and accidental or deliberate

darr^ge or misuse
ii. Ensure that once computer programs and data sets are completed and in routine

use, they are protected against tampering. Carefully control access to and

Contract #2016-0$1 Page 7 of 13
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maintenance of computer programs and NHSCR database.
iii. Ensure that copies of original data submitted are maintained and never altered. '
iv. Ensure that data are protected against inadvertent or deliberate destruction,

modification, or dissemination.
V. Ensure procedures for backup, archiving, and disaster recovery for computer

programs and NHSCR database.
vi. Ensure that password are changed, access denied -and other security procedures

are in place to protect against ongoing access and sabotage when staff resign, are
terminated , or no longer assigned to NHSCR contract.

8.6. Maintain the security and integrity of the NHSCR data. Re-process data at no additional cost to
the DHHS In accordance with DHHS instructions If the DHHS or contractor finds that contractor
has corrupted, altered, tampered with, or improperly coded/processed any data sets during the
duration of the Contract.

8.7. Immediately report to the DHHS all errors or anomalies in the NHSCR data which could
reasonably believe to suggest that security or integrity of the NHSCR or its data may be
compromised. The results of any analysis shall be reported to the DHHS and, in addition, the
steps it has taken or intends to take to ensure security ar>d integrity of the NHSCR and its data.

8.8. Implement appropriate policies, procedures and protocols to identify active breaches or
threatened breaches of the NHSCR security integrity.

8.9. Report to DHHS any suspected breach to the NHSCR data in accordance with Table 1 -
Cancer Data Registry Technical Requirements, A,-7.

9. Training and Education

9.1. Provide consultation, technical assistance, and training to assure accurate, timely and
complete data from reporters (registrars, medical record personnel, providers and abstractors)
at reporting facilities.

9.2. The contractor shall provide technical assistance by phone or in person to individual reporting
facilities and providers during normal weekday business hours; response time for telephone
consultation shall be no longer than one working day after request is received or for onsrte
consultation, no longer than 10 woricing days.

9.3. The contractor shall assess the training needs of various reporting facilities; develop written
guidance, policies and procedures for reporting facilities; and provide technical assistance and
training for reporting facilities

9.4. Annually, convene state cancer registrars meeting to include educational and technical
sessions to cancer registrars of New Hampshire hospitals to foster compliance with reporting
requirements as developed by the DHHS.

9.5. Provide twice annually, web-t^sed training arrd education sessions to cancer registrars of New
Hampshire hospitals on topics Identified by the contractor in consultation with DHHS that will
help Improve cancer reporting. These may include instruction on proper cancer coding; use of
edit sets; new software etc.

10. Quality Controi and Assurance (QA/QC) Activities

10.1. Csrry out quality assurance and control activities to assure appropriate data coding,
consolidation and documentation, and assure complete case ascertainment and high quality
data from all reporting sources in accordance with NH rules and regulations, NAACCR, and
NPCR standards.

ToJStMs of Dartmouth College Exhibit A Contractor Ini
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10.2. Implement, within 30 days of the contract effective date, a QA/QC implementation plan
(including timeline) which at minimum includes the following activities and routine operations;
10.2.1. Assignmentof qualified individuals to perform QA/QC activities;

10.2.2. A routine schedule for edits and Internal management reports;
10.2.3. A routine schedule for internal audits for QA/QC and data security and provision of

these reports to DHHS. The plan shall Include written procedures for the Interiial
monitoring of quality assurance procedures and written procedures /steps
implemented If quality control goals.are not met;

10.2.4. Procedures for documenting edits/changes made to data during processing;

10.2.5. Routine training, assessment and professional development of the contractors" staff.

10.3. Perform case finding activities utilizing traditional and non-traditional sources to assure
timeliness and completeness of cancer reporting.

,  10.4. By October 31st of each year, obtain from each reporting hospital "diagnostic index" for case
finding at all hospital reporting facilities. A diagnostic index is a detailed patient listing of all
discharges meeting certain definitions In medical records coding. Encourage facilities to
submit electronic diagnostic indices.

10.5. By October 31st of each year, the contractor shall complete Death Clearance.

10.6. For each hospital, as resources allow, the key variables specified by N/\ACCR and NPCR will
be selected for visual editing of 25 cases at least every five (5) years for experienced
registrars, but up to 100 annually for less experienced registrars or registrars who have not
achieved an error rate of <2%. If, after review and discussion with the hospital registrar, the
error rate Identified in total from these fields Is greater than 2%, then the NHSCR will continue
to visually edit cases from that hospital and will work with the hospital registrar to improve
abstracting.

10.7. Cleanliness of the database shall be. at a minimum. In accordance with accepted NAACCR
standards. A 2% error rate threshold shall be the guide for visual editing of hospital registry
accuracy.

11. Reporting Activities

11.1. Produce quarterly timeliness and completeness reports by hospital to monitor case reporting
activities. Supply aggregate timeliness and completeness reports to DHHS on a quarterly

^  basis, stating which hospitals are delinquent In their reporting and the steps taken to improve
reporting from delinquent hospitals.

11.2. Provide the DHHS with a commentary relating to the annual reports provided by NPCR and
NAACCR. Contingent upon receipt of complete death certificate data from New Hampshire
Vital Records provide an annual report monitoring completeness estimating the percent of
cases with histological verification (HV%). Submit a report to DHHS upon completion of the
contract period or reasonable amount of time when the NAACCR and NPCR reports are
available.

11.3. Prepare and submit to the DHHS staff a semi-annual review of contract progress by January
15 and August 15 of the contract period. Provide an update of progress on all contract items
through the routine semi-annual NHSCR progress report or work plan.

11.4. Cooperate with any audit of NHSCR for data quality by NPCR or NPCR designated
contractor. Submit to DHHS a summary of this audit upon completion. C A

Trustees of Dartmouth College Exhibit A Contractor InitlaltVTfl ff
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11.5. Provide by December 31 of each year of the contract, a finalized data set that has undergone
complete QA/QC process. The extract of the data would cover from January 1,1995 to date.

s  11.6. Provide the DHHS an extract of the complete NHSCR database from Jan 1.1995 to date
upon request.

11.7. Upon approval from the DHHS. submit finalized datasets to NAACCR and to NPCR as
specified by the NAACCR and NPCR standards and Call for Data requirements. Submit
copies of each of these submissions to DHHS.

11.8. Provide cancer case data to and receive data from states with which'DHHS has a data
exchange agreement. In accordance with the terms of the exchange agreement. The data
^all be submitted using the agreed upon NAACCR format and will have been edited to the
best e>rtenl possible. The DHHS currently has exchange agreements with 7 states and

'  additional agreements may be executed by the DHHS during the life of this contract and shall
be accommodated by the contractor.

11.9. Upon approval of the DHHS, provide selected health researchers, with electronic copies of
NHSCR data for certain specific data elements requested and cleared by DHHS.

11.10.Upon approval from the DHHS, provide data to the Vermont Breast and Cervical Program for
breast and cervical cancer cases among Vermont residents diagnosed in New Hampshire in
accordance with the program's approved application for data release by DHHS.

11.11.Upon approval from the DHHS. provide colorectal cancer case data to the NH Colorectal
Cancer Screening Program In accordance with the program's approved application for data
release by DHHS.

11.12.Upon approval from the DHHS, provide breast cancer case data to the NH Mammography
Network In accordance with the program's approved application for data release by DHHS;
receive cancer case data from the NH Mammography Network.

11.13.Direct any requests for data or analysis of NHSCR data from researchers, the media or
general public to the DHHS within 3 working days of receipt of the request.

12. Other Programmatic Activity

12.1. The Contractor shall make available key personnel to meet with appropriate DHHS
personnel, as requested, to discuss policies and procedures, ongoing activities, contract
deliverables, performance measures, review contract performance and transition to new
contractor, etc.

12.2. The Contractor may include travel funds for appropriate staff to attend the National Cancer
Registrars Association (NCRA) and NAACCR meetings annually for staff development.

12.3. Convene annually New Hampshire Slate Cancer Registry Advisory Panel to assist in building
consensus, cooperation, and planning for the registry and to enhance chronic disease
program coordination and collaboration. Representation should include key organizations
and individuals tx)th within (e.g. representatives from all cancer prevention and control
components and chronic disease program) and outside the program (e.g. hospital cancer
registrars, the American Cancer Society, American College of Surgeons liaison, clinical-
laboratory personnel, pathologists. and clinicians).

12.4. Participate as an active member when needed in New Hampshire Comprehensive Cancer
Collaboration.

Trustees of Dartmouth ColteQe Exhibit A Contractor IriHial
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12.5. Participate as an active member with DHHS to collaborate In applying for grante that DHHS
Is interested, regardless as to who receives the actual funding. Both DHHS and contractor
agree to consider the others' expenses and needs for operation and program growth when
applying for grants and distribution of financial resources when funding is received.

12.6. Provide Ad-hoc services related to cancer epidemiology. Working with DHHS staff at
DHHS offtces, the time spent may be up to 12 hours per week on such tasks, a.s long as
suitably qualified staff is available. These tasks will be mutually agreed upon by the contractor
and the DHHS, and supervised by the DHHS staff. Tasks associated with these services may
Include:

1. Assist in the preparation of data and narrative for the annual cancer report for New
Hampshire;

2. Assist in the investigation of cancer clusters and response to concerns about the
occurrence of cancer clusters in New Hampshire;

3. Assist with the preparation of manuscripts for publication and develop preparatory
materials for professional meetings based on the DHHS needs.

4. Provide Institutional Review Board (IRB review) for the DHHS cancer registry section
(i.e. Cancer cluster investigations).

5. Enter Into agreements with other organizations as needed for processing data
according to the NPGR standards, for example, with the National Death Index to
obtain death data, and with the Veterans Administration (VA) to obtain VA cancer
data.

13. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) Cooperative
Agreement Activities

13.1. Assist In drafting goals and program objectives, progress reports and NHSCR budgets as
requested by DHHS for the purposes of the New Hampshire's application for the CDC
Continuing Cooperative Agreement for Enhancement of State Cancer Registries.

13.1.1. Provide all contractor-specific documentation and assurances necessary for the
application.

13.1.2. The contractor agrees that the application for the CDC Cooperative Agreement will be
submitted for and all funding will be awarded to the DHHS;

13.1.3. Identify contractor contributions to the NHSCR effort, not state genera) funds or
federal funds that would be applied to a direct or in-kind match that may be required
for application for the CDC cooperative agreement;

13.1.4. Informs the DHHS within one (1) working day of any cooperative agreement related
inquiries by CDC project or grants management staff;

13.1.5. Appropriate representatives from the contractor staff shall represent the NHSCR on
the NPCR and NAACCR- task force, users group and or committees to learn recent
updates, Issues and share NH experiences with all other states and will keep DHHS
fully infonned of all such activities;

13.1.6. Where appropriate, NHSCR will communicate directly with NPCR and NAACCR on
technical matters of cancer surveillance, standards and submissions to NPCR and
NAACCR and will keep DHHS fully informed of all such activities.

TruaJees of Dartmouth CoDege Exhibit A Contractor Ini
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14. Transitlon Activities

14.1. If Contractor is not able to futfill the terms of this contract and solicitation of a new vendor is
necessary, the Contractor shall assist with the transition to a new vendor. Within two (2)
months of the end of the contract term, the Contractor shall:

14.1.1. Provide the new vendor with a copy of the latest version of the NHSCR database: the
reporters' database; prereglstratlon log; and the original copies of all the backups of
the database.

14.1.2. Write up procedures used to purge all NHSCR data from vendor's hardware and send
the procedures to DHHS for review and approval. After approval of the procedures by
the DHHS, purge all NHSCR data from the hardware of vendor.

14.1.3. Within 30 days t>efore the end of the contract period, train up to four people employed
by the new vendor, by means of a reasonable exchange Of Information on
administration of the NHSCR database, including an overview of reporters and data
exchange processes with other states. The training is anticipated to Involve at least
the vendor's database manager and Quality Assurance supervisor for approximately
two days.

14.1.4. Provide the DHHS with any: hard copy of abstracts and pathology reports submitted
by reporting facilities; electronic diskettes; and all documentation of interaction with
reporting facirrties.

14.1.5. Provide DHHS with a hard and electronic copy of the latest version of the operation
manual; system security and Integrity manual; and a)) other materials developed for
the work process of NHSCR during the contract process.

14.1.6. Close the web access for reporting facilities so that facilities can no longer upload
data of NHSCR data to the incumbent vendor.

15. Deliverables and Key Performance Indicators

15.1. The Contractor shall ensure that following performance Indicators in Table 1 are annually
achieved and monitored monthly to measure the effectiveness of the agreement.

15.1.1. All date references in Table 1 shall be used for this contract-uniess otherwise

specifically noted in the main body of this contract.

15.1.2. All time periods are calendar days and not business days unless otherwise
specifically noted In the main body of this contract

15.2. 'Annually, the Contractor shall develop and submit to the DHHS, a corrective action plan for
any deliverable and/or performance indicator that was not achieved.

Trustees of Oertmcuth Cotlege Exhibit A Contractor Int
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TABLE 1

Description of Key Variables Section

Number
Initial Term

Work Plan 2.1 30 days
Fully Qualified Staff 2.2 30 days
Allow DHHS Participation ' 2.4 Ongoing
Case Reporting 3-4 Ongoing

Create/Update operation manual 4.7 30 days & ongoing
IT Infrastructure/Webserver 5.6 30 Days
Install Registry Software and prior data 5.7 - 5.8 30 days
Processes for laboratory and pathology reports 4-5 30 days
Reporters database 5.9 30 days

Registration log 5.10 30 days
Upgrade/Reolace software 5.11 ongoing

DHHS data access 5.12- 5.13 30 days & as needed
Procedures for Consolidation of cases and reports 6.1 30 days
Run edit checks 6.3 Ongoing
Oeocoding 6.4.2 - Ongoing
System security and policies and procedures 7.2-7.3 14-60 days
Responsibility for consultation/assessment 8.1-8.2 Ongoing.
QAJQC Plan 9.2 30 Days
Case Finding and Diagnostic Indices 9.4 October 31 of each year
Death Clearance 9.5 October 31 of each year
Quarterly Facility Reports 10.1 Once In 4 months

Hlstological Verification Report 10.2 Yearly
Semi Annual progress Report 10.3 January 15 & August 15 of each year
Final Incidence dataset 10.5 January 30 of each year
Extract of Incidence dataset 10.6 Ongoing
NPCR and NAACCR Annual Report 10.7 Yearly

Submit data to NPCR ■10.7 November 30 of each year
Submit data to NAACCR 10.7 November 30 of each year
interstate Data Exchange 10.8 Ongoing
Release of Data to researchers 10.9 Ongoing

Patient Centered Outcomes data
10 With Final Incidence dataset in 2016 and

2017 only, sublect to funding
Attend Meetings .  11.2 Ongoing
CDC Cooperative Agreement Activities 12 Ongoing
Transition Activities 13 2 months

• Trustees of Dartmouth CoOege
RFP-^017-OPHS-03-CANCE-01
Cor)tract »2016-081

Exhit>itA

Page 13 of 13

Contractor Intlia

^oki/iu



New Hampshire Department of Health and Haman Services
Cancer Registry Operations

Exhibit A-1

Additional Cancer Data Reaiatrv Technical Roauirements

CANCER DATA REGISTRY TECHNICAL REQUIREMENTS

A GENERAL DATA SECURITY AND PRIVACY

A1 The Vendor shall be strictly prohibited from releasing or using
.  data or information obtained In its capacity as a collector and

processor of the data for any purposes other than those
specifically authorized by DHHS. Failure to comply could be a
violation of NH laws and rules and may lead to voiding of the
Contract.

VENDOR

RESPONSE
VENDOR COMMENTS

Yes

A.2 The Vendor shall corxluct an annual security assessment,
performed by an independent ttilrd-party security vendor, to
verify that the Vendor's environment containing the projeds data
is secure. Broader Vendor-wide assessments that include the
project's systems are acceptable. The Vendor shall provide
certification of assessment to DHHS.

Yes The Contractor will

conduct an external

security assessment
within the next 12

months and has

agreed to arrange for
NHSCR to be

specifically examined.

The Contractor's

Proposal Response to
information

Technology questions
dated October 3. ̂ 16,
providing additional
details and specifics of
the external security
audit and '

assessments. Is

hereby incorporated by
reference as fully set
forth herein.

The State and

Contractor shall

negotiate a mutually
agreeable remediation
plan within 180 days of
the effective date of the

Contract.

A.3 As the state's agent, the Vendor must provide certification of-
compliance with the requirements of tf« Health Insurance
Portability & Accountability Act (HIPAA) and DHHS' standard
business associate agreement.

Yes

Trustees of Dartmouth Cdleoe
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CANCER DATA REGISTRY TECHNICAL REQUIREMENTS VENDOR

RESPONSE
VENDOR COMMENTS

/

A.4 As the state's agent the Vendor must provide certification of
compliance with the requirements of the United States
Commerce Department's National Institute of Standards and
Technology (NIST) and the Open Web Application Security
Project (OWASP).

Yes Trustees of

Dartmouth

College's letter In
the Proposal dated
August 31. 2016
that covers their

WebPlus

application
(Appendix 2).
which Is the only
public facing
component of
NHSCR IT

operations, is
hereby
incorporated by
reference as fully

- set forth herein.

A.5 In carrying out the duties of this Contract, the Vendor shall be
the agent and business associate of DHHS. As such, it is bound
by applicable State and federal laws regarding health care
Information.

Yes

A.6 The Vendor shall provide access to the State with a secure FTP
or web site to be used by the State for uploading and
downloadinfl files.

Yes

A.7 The Vendor shall notify the State's Project Manager of any
security breaches within two (2) hours of the time that the
Vendor learns of the occurrence.

Yes

A.8 The Vendor shall ensure Its complete cooperation with the
State's Chief Information Officer In the detection of any security
vulnerability of the Vendor* hosting infrastructure and/or the
application.

Yes

A.9 The Vendor shall be solely liable for costs associated with any
breach of State data housed at their location(s) Including but not
limited to notification arxJ any damages assessed by the courts.

Yes As agreed in Exhibit 0-1
of the Contract.

B APPLICATION SECURITY REQUIREMENTS VENDOR

RESPONSE
VENDOR COMMENTS

B.1 Verify the identity or authenticate all of the system client
applications before allowing use of the system to prevent access
to Inappropriate or confidential data or services. ,

Yes

B.2 Verify the Identity or authenticate all of the system's human
users before all<^ng them to use Its capabilities to prevent i
access to inaoDrooriate or confidential data or services.

Yes 1

B.3 Enforce unigue user names. ' | Yes

B.4 Enforce complex non-reusable passwords of ten (10) characters
or more that contain at least one upper case, one lower case, I
one numeric, and one symbol. I

Yes

Trustees of Dartmouth Coflege
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CANCER DATA REGISTRY TECHNICAL REQUIREMENTS
T

B.5 Passwords should be forced to. an Administrator reset after three
(3) failed attempts.

VENDOR

RESPONSE

Yes

B.6 Encrypt passwords In transmission and at rest within the
database.

B.7 Expire passwords after ninety-days.

Yes

Yes

B.8 Authorize users and client applications to prevent access to
inappropriate or confidential data or services.

B.9 Provide the ability to limit the numlaer of people that can grant or
change authorizations

Yes

Yes

B.IOProvide the ability to enforce session timeouts during Slate-
defined periods of inactivity.

Yes

VENDOR COMMENTS

The Contractor's

Proposal Response to
Informatiori

Technology questions
dated October 3,2016,
providing additional'
details and specifics of
the password
muitifactor process, is
hereby incorporated by
reference as fully set
forth herein.

The State and

Contractor shall

negotiate a mutually
agreeable remediation
plan within 160 days of
the effective date of the

Contract.

The Contractor's

Proposal Response to
Information

Technology questions
dated October 3.2016,
providing additional
details and specifics of
the password'
expiration process, is
hereby incorporated by
reference as fully set
forth herein.

The State and.
Contractor shall

negotiate a mutually
agreeable remediation
plan within 180 days of
the effective date of the
Contract.

Trustees of Osrtmouth College
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CANCER DATA REGISTRY TECHNICAL REQUIREMENTS VENDOR
RESPONSE

VENDOR COMMENTS

B.11 Ensure the application has been tested and hardened to^prevent
critical application security flaws. (At a minimum, the application
shall be tested against all flaws outlined in the Open Web
Application Security Project (OWASP) Top Ten
ihttD://www.owasD.orQ/index.DhD/OWASP Too Ten Proiect)

Yes As desaibed above

in A2, we will test
for security flaws
and address them

according to the
findings of testing
procedures.

The State and

Contractor shall

negotiate a
mutually agreeable
remediation plan
within 180 days of
the effective date of
the Contract.

B.12The application shall not store authentication credentials or
Sensitive Data in its code.

Yes

B.13Audit all attempted accesses that fall or succeed identification,
authentication, and authorization requirements

Yes

B.14The application shall log all activities to a central server to
prevent parties to application transactions from denying that they
have taken place. The logs must be kept for six (6) months

Yes The Contractor's

Proposal Response to
information

Technology questions
dated Octobers. 2016,
providing additional
details and spedhcs of
the logging
functionality process, is
hereby incorporated by
reference as fully set
forth herein.

The State and

Contractor shall

negotiate a
mutually agreeable
remediation plan
within 180 days of
the effective date

of the Contract.

B.ISThe application must allow a user to explicitly terminate a
session. No remnants of the prior session should then remain.

Yes

B.16The Application Data shall be protected from unauthorized use
when at rest

Yes

B.17Keep any Sensitive Data or communications private from
unauthorized individuals and programs.

Yes

B.ISSubsequent application enhancements or upgrades shall not
remove or degrade security requirements ■

Yes

\
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CANCER DATA REGISTRY TECHNICAL REQUIREMENTS VENDOR

RESPONSE
VENDOR COMMENTS

B.IQConform to all State and Federal laws and regulations regarding
data security

Yes fl

B.20Create change management documentation and procedures No NHSCR does not

develop nor do
software

maintenance on

user applications,
so this Item is not

C HOSTTNO REQUIREMENTS VENDOR

RESPONSE
VENDOR COMMENTS

C.1 The Vendor shall maintain a secure hosting environment
providing all necessary hardware, software, and Internet
bandwidth to manage the system and data submitters and the
State with permission based logins.

•  Access will be via Internet ̂ plorer Version 11. or as otherwise
agreed to bv DHHS.

Yes

C.2 The Vendor will not be responsible for network connection
issues, problems or conditions arising from or related to
circumstances outside the control of the Vendor, ex: bandwidth,
network outages and /or any other conditions arising on the data
submitters internal network or, more generally, outside the
Vendor's firewall or any Issues that are the responsibility of the
data submitters Internet Service Provider..

Yes

>

C.3 Vendor shall provide a secure Tier 3 or 4 Data Center providing
egulpment, an on-site 24/7 system operator, managed firewall
services, and managed backup Services.

Yes, Tier 3

C.4 The Verxlor must monitor the application and all servers. Yes

C.5 The Vendor shall manage the databases and services on all
servers located at the Vendor's facility.

Yes

0.6 The Vendor shall Install and update all server patches, updates,
and other utilities within 60 days of release from the
manufacturer.

Yes

C.7 The Vendor shall monitor System, security, and application loos. Yes

C.8 The Vendor shall manage the sharing of data resources. Yes
X9 The Vendor shall manage dally backups, off-site data storage,

and restore operations.
Yes

C.IOThe Vendor shall monitor physical hardware. Yes

C.11 The Vendor shall provide validation that they have adequate
disaster recovery procedures In place.

Yes

C.12The Vendor shall have documented disaster recovery plans that
address the recovery of lost State data as well as their own.
Systems shall be ar^itected to meet the defined recovery
needs.

Yes

Trustoes of Dartmouth College

RFP-2017^PGS-03-CANCE-0l
Contract #2016^1
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Cancer Registry Operations

Exhibit A-1

CANCER DATA REGISTRY TECHNICAL REQUIREMENTS VENDOR
RESPONSE

VENDOR COMMENTS

C.13The disaster recovery plan shall identify approphate methods for
procuring additional hardware in the event of a component
Allure. In most Instances, systems shall offer a level of
redundancy so the loss of a drive or povver supply will not be
sufficient to terminate services however, these failed
components will have to be replaced.

Yes

0.14The VerKlor shall adhere to a defined and documented back-up
schedule and procedure.

Yes

C.156ack-up copies of data are made for the purpose of facilitating a
restore of the data in the event of data loss or System failure.

Yes

C.16Scheduled backups of all servers must be completed weekly. Yes

0.17 The minimum acceptable frequency is differential backup
daiiv, and complete backup weekly.

Yes
•

0.18 Tapes or other back-up media tapes must be securely
transferred from the site to another secure location to avoid
complete data loss with the loss of a facility.

Yes

0.19 If State data Is personally identifiable, data must be
encrypted In the operation environment and on back up taoes.

1  Yes

0.20Data recovery - In the event that recovery back to the last
backup is not sufficient to recover State Data, the Vendor shall
employ the use of database logs In addition to backup media In
the restoration of the database(8) to afford a much closer to
real-time recovery. To do this, logs must be moved off the
volume containing the database with a frequency to match the
business needs.

Yes The Contractor's

Proposal R^ponse to
Information Technology
questions dated
Octobers, 2016,
providing additional
details and specifics of
the data recovery
process, is hereby
incorporated by
reference as fully set
forth herein.

< The State and

Contractor shall

negotiate a mutually
agreeable remediation
plan within 180 days of
the effective date of the

Contract.

D HOSTING REQUIREMENTS - NETWORK ARCHITECTURE VENDOR

RESPONSE

VENDOR

COMMENTS
0.21 The Vendor must operate hosting Services on a network

offering adequate performance to meet the business
requirements for the State application. For the purpose of this
RFP, adequate performance is defined as 99.5% uptime,
exclusive of the regularlv scheduled maintenance window.

Yes

Trustees of Oaitmouth Conege

RFP.2017-OPGS-O3-CANCE.0i
Contract #2016-061
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Cancer Registry Operations

Exhibit A<1

CANCER DATA REGISTRY TECHNICAL REQUIREMENTS VENDOR

RESPONSE
VENDOR COMMENTS

C.22The Vendor shall provide network redundancy deemed
adequate by the State by assuring redundant connectjons
provided by multiple Internet Vendors, so that a failure of one
Internet connection will not interrupt access to the State

. apDilcation.

Yes

C.23The Vendor* network architecture must include redundancy of
.  routers and switches in the Data Center.

Yes

C.24Remote acc^s shall be customized to the State's business
application. In Instances where the State requires access to the
application or server -resources not In the DMZ, the Veridor
shall provide remote desktop connection to the server through
secure protocols such as a Virtual Private Network (VPN).

No This is not

applicable because
there Is no relevant

state business

application.

EHOSTING REQUIREMENTS- SECURITY VENDOR
RESPONSE

VENDOR

COMMENTS

C.25The Vendor shall employ security measures that ensure the
State's data is protected.

Yes

C.26lf State data Is hosted on multiple servers, data exchanges
between and among servers must be encrypted.

No This is not

applicable as the
data are hosted on

a single server.
0.27All servers and devices must have currently-supported and

hardened operating systems, the latest anti-viral, anti-hacker, -
anti-spam, anti-spyware, and antl-malware utilities. The
environment, as a whole, shall have aggressive intrusion-
detection and firewall protection.

Yes

>

C.26AII components of the infrastructure shall be reviewed and
tested to ensure they protect the State's hardware, software,
and its related data assets. Tests shall focus on the technical,
administrative, and physical security controls that have been
designed Into the System architecture in order to provide
confidentiality. Inteoritv. and availability.

Yes

C.29ln the development or maintenance of any code, the Verwfor
shall ensure that the Software Is independently verified and
validated using a methodology determined appropriate by the
State. All software and hardware shall be free of malicious
code.

s»

No This is not

applicable as
NHSCR does not

develop any code
that Is used in

production of an
application such as
WebPlus. NHSCR

does make

extensive use of

programs written In
SAS, SPSS or
Excel.

C.SOThe Vendor shall authorize the Stale to perform scheduled and
random security audits, including vulnerability assessments, of
the Vendor' hosting infrastructure and/or the application upon
request.

Yes

Tnjstees of Dartmouth CoOege

RFP-2017-OPGS-Oa-CANCe-OI
Contract ltf201&081
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Cancer Registry Operations

Exhibit A-l

CANCER DATA REGISTRY TECHNICAL REQUIREMENTS VENDOR

RESPONSE
VENDOR COMMENTS

C.d1 The Vendor shall provide fire detection and suppression system,
physical security of and infrastructure security of the proposed
hosting facility. The environmental support equipment of the
Vendor website hosting facility: power conditioning; HVAC;
UPS; generator must be acceptable to the State.

Yes

F HOSTING REQUIREMENTS - SERVICE LEVEL

AGREEMENT
VENDOR

RESPONSE
VENDOR

COMMENTS
C.32The DHHS and Health Fadlities shall have unlimited access, via

phone or Email, to the Vendor Help Desk technical support staff
between the hours of 8:30am to 5:00pm- Monday thru Friday
EST.

Yes 1

C.33The Vendor telephone or e-mail response time for technical
support shall be no more than twenty-four (24) hours.

(  Yes NHSCR Is

prepared to
respond during
normal business

hours. 8:00 AM to
4:30 PM. Monday
through Friday
EST. This has

worked well with

our reporters.

C.34The Vendor shall guarantee 99.5% uptime, exclusive of the
regularly scheduled maintenance window

Yes The Applicant, an
academic

Institution, is r»ot In
a position to
guarantee uptime
although In the
normal course of

business, it
approaches 99.5%.

G. ADDITIONAL QUESTIONS
VENDOR

RESPONSE

VENDOR

COMMENTS

C.35 The Vendor shall provide a written description of the
Registry Plus Suite options used by NHSCR.

Yes The Contractor's

Proposal Response to
Information Technology
quesUons datad October
3,2016, providing
additional details and

specifics of the Registry
Plus Suite, is hereby
incorporated by
reference as fully set
forth herein.

The State and Contractor

shall negotiate a mutually
agreeable remediation
plan within 90 days of the
effective date of the

Contract

Trustee* of Dartmouth College

RFP.2017-OPGS-03-6VNC6-01
Contract #2016-081

Eidiibit A-1 AddlUonal Cancer Data Registry Technical Requirements
Contractor (niSals
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Cancer Regbtry Operations

Exhibit A-1

CANCER DATA REGISTRY TECHNICAL REQUIREMENTS
VENDOR

RESPONSE
VENDOR COMMENTS

C.36 The technical information from the CDC on the Registry
-  Plus suite indicates that customization to the code is .

allowed. Does Dartmouth intend to do that or are they
providing an "out of box* install? That will impact whether . .
application security is in scope for what Dartmouth provides
to the State. The technical specifications for Registry Plus
are six (6) years old
fhttD^/www.cdc.Qov/cancer/nocr/Ddf/reoistrvoius/reQislrv oi

us requirements .odfi so the chances are higher that there
is some security concerns about this software. A quick read
shews the .Net framework is .Net 1.1 which is obsolete.

The Verxlor shall provide updated technical specifications.

Yes See C35.

The State and

Contractor shall

negotiate a
mutually agreeable
remediation plan
within 90 days of
the effective date of
the Contract.

C.37 The CDC's documentation puts a high level of the security on
the Infrastructure that runs the system (from requirements,
page 7)

The security of Web Plus depends mostly on the
security of the client computer, the communication
channel between the client and the Web server, the
W^ server, the base operating system, and the
configurations of the firewalls on either side of the Web
server. It Is very important that the hosting agency
have a security policy in place and document the users
(and their assigned roles) who have access to Web
Plus. The hosting agency is responsible for encrypting
the Web Plus database if required. Strong passwords
are recommended, and account sharing should be
prohibited. For further information, visit Web Plus
Security Features
fhttD://www.cdc.Qov/cancer/nDcr/tQols/reqistrvDius/wo

securttv.html and Maximiang Data Security in
WebPlus

(httD://www.cdc.oov/cancer/nDcr/tQQis/reQistrvDlus/wD

Yes The Contractor's

Proposal Response to
Information

Technology questions
dated October 3,2016,
providing addltlona)
details and specifics of
the Career Registry
Operations security of
Web Pius, is hereby
incorporated by
reference as fully set
forth herein.

The State and

Contractor shall

negotiate a mutually
agreeable remediation
plan within 90 days of
the effective date of the
Contract.

C.38 Penetration Internal Security Testing. The State will perform
Penetration testing, and based on results, work with the
Contractor to negotiate a mutually agreeable remediation plan
within 180 days of the Contract effective date

Yes The State and

Contractor shall

determine a mutually
agreed upon date for
penetration tesUng and
perform the penetration
testing within 90 days
of the effective date of

the Contract.

Trustees o( Oartmouth Coflege

RFP-2017.DPGS^3-CANCE-01

Contract 02016-081
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New Hampshire Dspartment of Health and Human Sarvices
Cancer Registry Operations

Exhibit B

Method and Conditions Precedent to Payment

1) The State shall pay the contractor an amount not to exceed the Form P-37. Block 1.8. Price Limitation for the
services provided by the Contractor pursuant to Exhibit A, Scope of Services.

1.1. This contract is funded with funds from the following Catalog of Federal Domestic Assistance (CFDA)
numbers:

•  79% federal funds from the US Centers for Disease Control & Prevention, NH Comprehensive
Cancer Control Program & Cancer .Registry Grant. CFDA #93.752, Federal Award Identification
Number (FAIN), NU58DP003930.

• 21% general funds.

1.2. The Contractor agrees to provide the services in Exhibit A, Scope of Service and Exhibit A-1 Additional
Cancer Data Registry Technical Requirements, in compliance with funding requirements. Failure to
meet the scope of services may jeopardize the funded contractor's current and/or future funding.

2) Payment for said services shall be made monthly as follows:

2.1. Payment shall be on a cost reimbursement basis for actual experxjitures incurr^ in the fulfillment of
this agreement and shall be in accordance with the approved line item.

2.2. The Contractor will submit an invoice In a form satisfactory to the State by the twentieth working day of
each month, which identifies and requests reimbursement for authorized expenses Incurred in the prior
month. The invoice must be completed, signed, dated and returned to the Department in order to
initiate payment.

2.3. The State shall make payment to the Contractor within thirty (30) days of receipt of each invoice,
subsequent to approval of the submitted invoice and If sufficient funds are available. Contractors will
keep detailed records of their activities related to DHHS-funded programs and services.

2.4. The final invoice shall be due to the Slate no later than forty (40) days after the contract Form P-37,
Block 1.7 Completion Date.

2.5. In lieu of hard copies, ail invoices may be assigned an electronic signature and emailed. Hard copies
shall be mailed to:

Department of Health and Human Services
Division of Public Health Services

29 Hazen Drive

Concord. NH 03301
Email address: DPHScontractbilling(g)dhhs.nh.gov

3) Notwithstanding paragraph 18 of the General Provisions P-37. an amerxJment limited to adjustments to
arriounts betvi/een budget line Items, related items, amendments of related budget exhibits within the price
limitation, and to adjust encumbrances between State Fiscal Years through the Budget Office If needed and
justified, may be made by written agreement of both parties and may be made without obtaining approval of the
Governor and Executive Council.

Tivstees of Dartmouth Codeqe Exhibit 6 Contractor Inltiats
RFP.2017.DPHS-03CANCE-01

Contract #201W»1 Page 1 of 1 Date
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Exhibit B-1 Budget

New Hampshire Department of Health and Human SefVices

Bidder/Contractor Name: Trustees of Dartmouth Colleqe

Budget Request for: Cancer Registry Operations
(Name ofRFP)

Budget Period: 8FY 2017 (11/1/16 through 6Q0/17)

Direct Indirect Tssr Required Allocation Method for
Line Item Incremeiital Fixed Match Indirect/Fixed Cost

1. Total Salary/Waoes i 278,690.00 i 27,869.00 306.559.00 d
2. Employee Benefits $ 81,572.00 $ 8.157.00 $ 89,729.00 $
3. Consultants $ 73.471.00 $ 7.347.00 $ 60,818.00 $ Dartmouth College Is

4. Equipment: $ - $ - $ - $ allowing a substantially
Rental $ $ $ $ reduced 10% indirect

Repair end Maintenance % - $ - $ • $ cost rate from the usual

Purchase/Depreciation % 3,560.00 5 356.00 $ 3,916.00 $ rate of 62%. Geisel

5. Supplies: % - $ ■ $ - $ School of Medicine

Educational $ $ $ $ provides office space,

Lab $ $ d $ communications, and

Pharmacy $ $ s s

Medical $ - S - $ - $

Office s 3,960.00 $ 396.00 $ 4,356.00 $

6. Travel $ 21,948.00 $ 2,105.00 $ 24,143.00 $

7. Occupancy $ - $ - $ - $

8. Current Expenses s $ $ $

Telephone $ - $ - $ - $

Postage $ 3,680.00 $ 368.00 $ 4,048.00 $

Subscriptions s - $ - $ - $

Audit and Legal $ $' $ $

Insurance s $ $ $

Board Expenses $ - $ - $ - $

9. Software $ 8,193.00 $ 819.00 $ 9,012.00 $

10. Marketing/Communications $ - $ - $ - $

11. Staff Education and Training s 1  2,000.00 $ 200.00 $ 2,200.00 $

12. Subcontracts/Agreements $ $ - $ - $

13. Other (specific details mandatory): $ $ $ $ '

Membership $ $ $ $

Tumor Reglst^ Effort $ $ $ $

DC Contribution of Indirect Costs $ $ $ $ 55,987.00
$ $ $ •$ 106,257.00

$ - $ - % - d -

TOTAL % 4y7.dy4.dd 47,707.00 Id dHVdidd i ^62.244.0d

Indirect As A Percent of Direct 10.0%

Page 1 of 1

Contractor Initials:

Date:



Exhibit B-2 Budget

New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services

Bidder/Contractor Name: Trustees of Dartmouth CoUefle

Budget Request for: Cancer Registry OperaHons
(Name of RFP)

Budget Period: SPY 2018 (7/1/17 through 6/30/16)

Line Kern .
Olroct

Incremental

Imllrect

Fixed

Total Required
Match

Allocation Method for

Indiroct/Fbcod Cost

1. Total Salary/Wages $410,467 41,047.00 $ 451.514.x

2. Employee BeneHts $123,141 $ 12,314.00 s 135,455.00 $

3. Consultants $ 4,205.00 $ 421.00 $ 4.626.x $ Dartmouth College Is
4. Equipment: $ 4,692.00 $ 469.00 $ 5,161.00 $ allowihg a substantially

Rental $ - $ - $ - $ reduced 10% Indirect cost

Repair and Maintenance $ $ $ $ rate from die usual rate of

Purchase/Depreclation $ $ $ $ 62%. Geisel School of

5. Supplies: $ $ $ $ Medicine provides office
Educational $ s $ $ space, communications,
Lab $ $ $ $ - and administrative

Pharmacy $ $ $ $

Medical $ - $ - $ - $

Office $ 5,439.00 $ 544.x $ 5.983.x $
6. Travel $ 30,900.00 $ 3.0X.X $ 33,990.x $

7. Occupancy $ - $ $ - $

8. Current Expenses - $ $ $ $

Telephone S - $ - $ - $

Postage $ 5,149.00 % 515.x $ 5,664.x $

Subscriptions $ 840.00 % 84.00 $ 924.00 $

Audit and Legal $ - % - $ - $

Insurance $ % $ $

Board Expenses s - $ - $ - $

9. Software $ 16,465.00 $ 1.647.x $ 18,112.00 s

10. Marketing/Communications $ - $ - $ - $
11. Staff Education and Training s 3,090.00 $ 309.00 $ 3.399.x $

12. Subcontracts/Agreements $ - $ - $ - $
13. Other (specific details mandatory); $ - s - $ - $

Mernbership $ 1,210.00 s 121.00 $ 1.331.x $ -

Tumor Registry Effort $ - $ - $ - s 87.206.x

DC Contribution of Indirect Costs $ $ $ $ 148,372

$ $ $ $ -

$ - $ - $ - $ -

TOTAL $ 605.S98.00 t 60.561.00 s 666,159.00( 235.578.00

Indirect As A Percent of Direct 10.0%

CH/DHHS/011414 Page 1 of 1

Contractor Initials:

Date:



Now Hampshiro Department of Health and Human Services

Exhibit C

SPECIAL PROVISIONS

Contractors Obligations: The Contractor covenants and agrees that all funds received by (he Contractor
urxJer the Contract shall be used only as payment to the Contractor for services provided to eligible
tndivlduais and, in the furtherance of the aforesaid covenants, the Contractor hereby covenants and
agrees as follows;

1. Compliance with Federal and State Laws: If the Contractor is permitted to determine the eligibility
of individuals such eligibility determination shall be made in accordance with applicable federal and
state laws, regulations, orders, guidelines, policies and procedures. .

2. Time and Manner of Determination: Eligibility determinations shall be made on forms provided by
the Department for that purpose and shall be made and remade at such times as are prescribed by
the Department.

3. Documentation: In addition to the determination forms required by the Department, the Contractor
shall maintain a data file on each recipient of services hereunder, which file shall include all
Information necessary to support an eligibility determination and such other information as the
Department requests. The Contractor shall furnish the Department with all forms and documentation
regarding e^ilglbility determinations that the Department may request or require.

4. Fair Hearings: The Contractor understands that all applicants for services hereunder, as well as
Indlvlduais declared ineligible have a right to a fair hearing regarding that determination. The
Contractor hereby covenants and agrees that all applicants for services shall be permitted to fill out
an application form and that each applicant or re-applicant shall be Informed of his/her right to a fair
hearing in accordance with Department regulations.

5. Gratuities or Kickbacks: The Contractor agrees that K is a breach of this Contract to accept or
make a payment, gratuity or offer of employment on behalf of the Contractor, any Sub-Contractor or
the State in order to irifluence the performance of the Scope of Work detailed in Exhibit A of this
Contract. The State may terminate this Contract and any sub-contract or sub-agreement If It is
determined that payments, gratuities or offers of employment of any kind were offered or received by
any officials, officers, employees or agents of the Contractor or Sub-Contractor.

6. Retroactive Payments: Notwithstanding anything to tfre contrary contained In the Contract or In any
other document, contract or understanding, it is expressly understood and agreed by the parties
hereto, that no payments will be made hereunder to reimburse the Contractor for costs incurred for
any purpose or for any services provided to any Individual prior to the Effective Date of the Contract
and no payments shall be made for expenses incurred by the Contractor for any services provided
prior to the date on which the individual applies for services or (except as otherwise provided by the
federal regulations) prior to a determination that the individual is eligible for such services.

7. Conditions of Purchase: Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in the Contract, nothing
herein contained shall be deemed to obligate or require the Department to purchase services
hereunder at a rate which reimburses the Contractor In excess of the Contractors costs, at a rate
wNch exceeds the amounts reasonable and necessary to assure the quality of such service, or at a
rate which exceeds the rate charged by the Contractor to ineligible individuals or other third party
funders for such service. If at any time during the term of this Contract or after receipt of the Final
Expenditure Report hereunder. the Department shall determine that the Contractor has used
payments hereunder to reimburse items of expense other than such costs, or has received payment
in excess of such costs or in excess of such rates charged by the Contractor to ineligible individuals
or other third party funders. the Department may elect to:
7.1. Renegotiate the rates for payment hereunder, in which event nevy rates shall be established;
7.2. Deduct from any future payment to the Contractor the amount of any prior reimbursement In

excess of costs;

Exhibit C - Spedal Provisions Contractor Initial:

OS/27/14 Page 1 of 5 Date



New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Exhibit C

7.3. Demand repayment of the excess payment by the Contractor In which event failure to make
such repayment shall constitute an Event of Default hereunder. When the Contractor is
permitted to determine the eligibility of individuals for services, the Contractor agrees to
reimburse the Department for all funds paid by the Department to the Contractor for services
provided to any Individual who Is found by the Department to be ineligible for such services at
any time during the period of retention of records established herein.

RECORDS: MAINTENANCE. RETENTION, AUDIT. DISCLOSURE AND CONFIDENTIALITY:

6. Maintenance of Records: In addition to the eligibility records specified above, the Contractor
covenants and agrees to maintain the following records during the Contract Period:
8.1. Fiscal Records: t>ooks. records, documents and other data evidencing and reflecting all costs

and other expenses incurred by the Contractor In the performance of the Contract, and all
income received or collected by the Contractor during the Contract Period, said records to be
maintained in accordance with accounting procedures and practices which suffii^ntly and
property reflect all such costs and expenses, and which are acceptable to the Department, and
to include, without limitation, all ledgers, books, records, and original evidence of costs such as
purchase requisitions and orders, vouchers, requisitions for materials, inventories, valuations of
in-klrxj contributions, labor time cards, payrolls, and other records requested or required by the
Department.

8.2. Statistical Records; Statistical, enrollment, attendance or visit records for each recipient of
sen/ices during the Contract Period, which records shall Include all records of application and
eligibility (including all forms required to determine eligibility for each such recipient), records
regarding the provision of services and all Invoices submitted to the Department to obtain
payment for such services.

8.3. Medical Records: Where appropriate and as prescribed by the Department regulations, the
Contractor shall retain medical records on each patient/recipient of services.

9. Audit: Contractor shall submit an annual audit to the Department within 60 days after the close of the
agency fiscal year. It is recommended that the report be prepared in accordance with the provision of

- Office-of Management and Budget Circular A-133. "Audits of States, Local Governments, and Non
Profit Organizations' and the provisions of Standards for Audit of Governmental Organizations,
Programs, Activities and Pundlor^, issued by the US General Accounting Office (GAO standards) as
they pertain to financial compliance audits.
9.1. Audit and Review: During the term of this Contract and the period for retention hereunder, the

Department, the United States Department of Health and Human Services, and any of their
designated representatives shall have access to all reports and records maintained pursuant to
the Contract for purposes of audit, examination, excerpts and transcripts.

9.2. Audit Liabilities: In addition to and not In any way in limitation of obligations of the Contract, it Is
understood and agreed by the Contractor that the Contractor shall be held liable for any state
or federal audit exceptions and shall return to the Department, all payments made under the
Contract to which exception has been taken or which have been disallowed because of such an
exception.

10. Confidentiality of Records: All information, reports, and records, maintained hereunder or collected
In connection with the performance of the services and the Contract shall be confidential and shall not
be disclosed by the Contractor, provided however, that pursuant to state laws and the regulations of
the Department regarding the use and disclosure of such Information, disclosure may be made to
public officials requiring such information in connection with their official duties and for purposes
directly connected to the administration of the services and the Contract; and provided further, that
the use or disclosure by any party of any information concerning a recipient for any purpose not
directly connected with the administration of the Departrhent or the Contractor's responsibilities with
respect to purchased services hereunder is prohibited except on written consent of the recipient, Ns
attorney or guardian.

fh-Exhibit C - Speda! Provisions Contractor InitiaLj
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Exhibit C

Not\A^thstanding anything to the contrary contained herein the covenants and conditions contained In
the Paragraph shall survive the termination of the Contract for any reason whatsoever.

11. Reports: Fiscal and Statistical: The Contractor agrees to submit the following reports at the following
times K requested by ttie Department.

'  11.1; Interim Financial Reports: Written interim financial reports containing a detailed description of
all costs and non-allowable expenses Incurred by the Contractor to the date of the report and
containing such other information as shall be deemed satisfactory by the Department to
justify the rate of payment hereunder. Such Financial Reports shall be submitted on the form
designated by the Department or deemed satisfactory by the Department.

11.2. Final Report: A final report shall be submitted within thirty (30) days after the end of the term
of this Contract. The Flr>al Report shall be In a form satisfactory to the Department and shall
contain a summary statement of progress toward goals and objectives stated in the Proposal
and other informaUon required by the Department.

12. Completion of Services: Disallowance of Costs: Upon the purchase by the Department of the
maximum number of units provided for in the Contract and upon payment of the price limitation
hereunder, the Contract and all the obligations of the parties hereunder (except such obligations as,
by the terms of the Contract are to be performed after the end of the term of this Contract and/or
survive the termination of the Contract) shall terminate, provided however, that if, upon review of the
Final Expenditure Report the Department shall disallow any expenses claimed by the Contractor as
costs hereunder the Department shall retain the right, at its discretion, to deduct the amount of such
expenses as are disallowed or to recover such sums from the Contractor.

13. Credito: All documents, notices, press releases, research reports and other materials prepared
during or resulting from the performance of the sendees of the Contract shall include the followdr>g
statement:

13.1. The preparation of this (report, document etc.) was financed under a Contract with the State
of New Hampshire, Department of Health and Human Services, with funds provided In part
by the State of New Hampshire and/or such other funding sources as were available or

'  required, e.g.. the United States Department of Health and Human Services.

14. Prior Approval and Copyright Ownership: All materials (written, video, audio) produced or
purchased under the contract shall have prior approval from DHHS before printirig, production,
distribution or use. The DHHS will retain copyright ownership for any and all original materials
produced, including, but rwt limited to, brochures, resource directories, protocols or guidelines,
posters, or reports. Contractor shall not reproduce any materials produced under the contract without
prior written approval from DHHS.

15. Operation of Facilities: Compliance with Laws and Regulations: In the operation of any facilities
for providing services, the Contractor shall comply with ail laws, orders and regulations of federal,
state, county and municipal authorities and with any direction oif any Public Officer or officers
pursuant to laws which shall Impose an order or duty upon the contractor with respect to the
operation of the facility or the provision of the services at such facility. If any governmental license or
permit shall be required for the operation of the said facility or the performance of the said services,
the Contractor will procure said license or permit, and will at all times comply with the terms and
conditions of each such license or permit. In connection with the foregoing requirements, the
Contractor hereby covenants and agrees that, during the term of this Contract the facilities shall
comply vrith all rules, orders, regulations, and requirements of the State Office of the Fire Marshal and
the local fire protection agency, and shall be in conformance with local building and zoning codes, by
laws and regulations.

16. Equal Employment Opportunity Plan (EEOP): The Contractor will provide an Equal Employment
Opportunity Plan (EEOP) to the Office for Civil Rights, Office of Justice Programs (OCR). If It has
received a single award of $500,000 or more. If the recipient receives $25,000 or more and has 50 or

Exhibit C-Spedal Provisions Contractor
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more employees, it will maintain a current EEOP on file and submit an EEOP Certification Form to the
OCR. certifying that Its EEOP is on file. For recipients receiving less than $25,000, or public 9-antees
with fewer than 50 employees, regardless of the amount of (he award, the recipient will provide an
EEOP Certificallori Form to the OCR certifying It is not required to submit or maintain an EEOP. Non
profit organizations, Indian Tribes, and medical and educational institutions are exempt from the
EEOP requirement, but are required to submit a certification form to the OCR to claim the exemption.
EEOP Certification Forms are available at; http://www.ojp.usddj/about/ocr/pdfs/cert.pdf.

17. Limited English Proficiency (LEP): As clarified by Executive Order 13166, Improving Access to
Services for persons with Limited English Proficiency, and resulting agency guidance, national origin
discrimination includes discrimination on the basis of limited English proficiency (LEP). do ensure
compliance with the Omnibus Crime Control and Safe Streets Act of 1966 and Title Vi of the Civil
Rights Act of 1964. Contractors must take reasonable steps to ensure that LEP persons have
meaningful access to its programs.

16. Pilot Program for Enhancement of Contractor Employee Whistlebtower Protections: The
following shall apply to all contracts that exceed the Simplifted Acquisition Threshold as defined in 48
CFR 2.101 (currenOy, $150,000)

COIVTRACTOR EMPLOYEE WHISTLEBLOWER RIGHTS AND REQUIREMENT To INFORM EMPLOYEES OF

Whistleblower Rights (SE P 2013)

(a) This contract and employees working on this contract will be subject to the whistleblower rights
arid remedies in the pilot program on Contractor employee whistleblower protections established at
41 U.S.C. 4712 by section 828 of the National Defense Authorization Act for Fiscal Year 2013 (Pub. L.
112-239) and FAR 3.908.

(b) The Contractor shall Inform Its employees in writing. In the predominant language of the workforce,
of employee whistleblower rights and protections under 41 U.S.C. 4712, as described In section
3.908 of the Federal Acquisition Regulation.

(c) The Contractor shall insert the substance of this clause, including this paragraph (c), In all
subcontracts over the simplified acquisition threshold.

19. Subcontractors: OHMS recognizes that the Contractor may choose to use subcontractors with
greater expertise to perform certain health care services or functions for efficiency or convenience,
but the Contractor shall retain the responsibility and accountability for the functlon(s). Prior to
subcontracting, the Contractor shall evaluate the subcontractor's ability to perform the delegated
functlon(s). This is accomplished through a written agreement that specifies activities and reporting
responsibilities of the subcontractor and provides for revoking the delegation or Imposing sanctions if
the subcontractor's performance is not adequate. Subcontractors are subject to the same contractual
conditions as the Contractor and the Contractor is responsible to ensure subcontractor compliance
with those conditions.

When the Contractor delegates a function to a subcontractor, the Contractor shall do the following:
19.1. Evaluate the prospective sut>contrdCtor's ability to perform the activities, before delegating

the function
19.2. Have a written agreement with the subcontractor that specifies activities and reporting

responsibilities and how sanctions/revocation will be managed If the subcontrador's
performance is not adequate

19.3. Monitor the subcontractor's performance on an ongoing basis '

Exhibit C - Special Provfsiona Contractor
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19.4. Provide to DHHS an annual schedule identifying all subcontractors, delegated functions and
responsibilities, and when the subcontractor's performance will be reviewed

19.5. DHHS shall, at Its discretion, review and approve all subcontracts.

If the Contractor identifies deficiencies or areas for improvement are identified, the Contractor shall
take corrective action.

DEFINmONS

As used In the Contract, the following terms shall have the following meanings:

COSTS; Shall mean those direct and indirect items of expense determined by the Department to be
allowable and reimbursable In accordance with cost and accounting principles established In accordance
with state and federal laws, regulations, rules and orders.

DEPARTMENT: NH Department of Health and Human Services.

FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT GUIDELINES: Shall mean that section of the Contractor Manual which Is

entitled "Financial Management Guidelines" and which contains the regulations governing the financial
activities of contractor agencies which have contracted with the State of NH to receive funds.

PROPOSAL: If applicable, shall mean the document submitted by the Contractor on a form or forms
required by the Department and containing a description of the Services to be provided to eligible
Individuals by the Contractor In accordance with the terms and conditions of the Contract and setting forth
the total cost and sources of revenue for each service to be provided under the Contract.

UNIT: For each service that the Contractor is to provide to eligible individuals hereunder, shall mean that
period of time or that specified activity determine by the Department and specified In Exhibit B of the
Contract.

FEDERAL/STATE LAW: Wherever federal or state laws, regulations, rules, orders, and policies, etc. are
referred to in the Contract, the said reference shall be deemed to mean all such laws, regulations, etc. as
they may be amended orrevlsed from the time to time.

CONTRACTOR MANUAL: Shall mean that document prepared by the NH Department of Administrative
Services containing a compilation of all regulations promulgated pursuant to the New Hampshire
Administrative Procedures Act. NH RSA Ch 541 -A, for the purpose of implementing State of NH and
federal regulations promulgated thereunder.

SUPPLANTING OTHER FEDERAL FUNDS: The Contractor guarantees that funds provided under this
Contract will not supplant any existing federal funds available for these services.

Exhibil C - Special Provisions Contractor IniQats^
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REVISIONS TO GENERAL PROVISIONS

1. Subparagraph 4 of the General Provisions of this contract, Conditional Nature of Agreement, is replaced as
follows;

4. CONDITIONAL NATURE OF AGREEMENT.

Notwithstariding any provision of this Agreement to the contrary, ail obligations of the State hereunder,
including without limitation, the continuance of payments, in whole or in part, under this Agreement are
contingent upon continued appropriation or availability of ̂ nds, including any subsequent changes to the
appropriation or availability of funds affected by any state or federal legislative or executive action that
truces, eliminates, or otherwise modifies the appropriation or availability of funding for this Agreement
and the Scope of Services provided In Exhibit A, Scope of Services, in whole or in part in no event shall
the State be iiat>ie for any payments hereunder in excess of appropriated or avaQabie funds. In the event
of a reduction, termination or modification of appropriated or available funds, the State shall have the right
to withhold payment until such funds become available, if ever. The State shall have the right to reduce,
terminate or modify services under this Agreement Immediately upon giving the Contractor notice of such
reduction, termination or modification. The State shall not be required to transfer funds from any other
source or account Into the Account(s) identified In block 1.6 of the Genera) Provisions, Account Number,
or any other account, in the event funds are reduced or unavailable.

2. Subparagraph 10 of the General Provisions of this contract. Termination, Is amended by adding the following
language;
10.1 The State may terminate the Agreement at any time for any reason, at the soie discretion of the State,

30 days after giving the Contractor written notice that the State Is exercising Its option to terminate the
Agreement.

10-.2 In the event of earlytermination, the Contractor shall, within 15 days of notice of early termination,
develop and submit to the State a Transition Plan for services under the Agreement. Including but not
limited to, identifying the present and future needs of clients receiving services under the Agreement
and establishes a process to meet those needs.

10.3 The Contractor shall fully cooperate with the State and shall promptly provide detailed information to
support the Transition Plan including, but not limited to, any information or data requested by the
State related to the termination of the Agreement and Transition Plan and shall provide ongoing
communication and revisions of the Transition Plan to the State as requested.

10.4 In the event that sen/ices under the Agreement, Including but not limited to clients receiving services
under the Agreement are transltioned to having services delivered by another entity Including
contracted providers or the State, the Contractor shall provide a process for uninterrupted delivery of
services in the Transition Plan.

10.5 The Contractor shall establish a method of notifying clients and other affected individuals about the
transition. The Contractor shall Include the proposed communications in its Transition Plan submitted
to the State as described above.

3. Extension:

This agreement has the option for a potential extension of up to two (2) additional years, contingent upon
satisfactory delivery of services, available funding, agreernent of the parties and approval of the Governor and
Council. •

4. Limitation of Liability

4.1. State

Subject to applicable laws and regulations. In no event shall the State be liable for any consequential,
special, Indirect, incidental, punitive, or exemplary damages. Subject to applicable laws and regulations, the
State's liability to Contractor shall not exce^ the total Contract price set forth in Contract Agreement -
General Provisions. Block 1.8.

Trustees of Oartmcuth Coflege Exhibit C*1 - Revisions to General Provisions- Contractor Initia
RF P-201 T-OPHS^S-CANCE-01
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4.2. Contractor

Subject to applicabie laws and regulations, in no event shall Contractor l)e liable for .any consequential,
special, indirect, incidental, punitive or exemplary damages and Contractor's liability to the State shall not
exceed two times (2X) the total Contract price set forth in Contract Agreement - P-37. General Provisions.
Block 1.8.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, this limitation of liability shall not apply to Contractor's indemnification
obligations set forth in the Contract Agreement-General Provisions Section 13: Indemnification.

4.3 State's Immunity
Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing herein contained shall be deemed to constitute a waiver of the
sovereign Immunity of the State, which immunity Is hereby reserved to the State. This covenant shall survive
termination or Contract conclusion.

Trustees o( Oartmouth CoBege ExhlWt C-1 - Revlsiora to General Provisions Contractor IniU^^7^^
RFP-2017-DPHS-03-CANCE-0i
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CERTIFICATION REGARDING DRUG-FREE WORKPLACE REQUIREMENTS

The Contractor identified In Section 1.3 of the General Provisions agrees to comply with the provisions of
Sections 5151-5160 of the Drug-Free Workplace Act of 1988 (Pub. L. 100-690, Title V. Subtitle D; 41 .
U.S.C. 701 et seq.), and further agrees to have the Contractor's representative, as Identified in Sections
1.11 and 1.12 of the General Provisions execute the foilowing Certification:

ALTERNATIVE 1 • FOR GRANTEES OTHER THAN INDIVIDUALS

US DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES - CONTRACTORS

US DEPARTMENT OP EDUCATION • CONTRACTORS
US DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE - CONTRACTORS

This certification is required by the regulations implementing Sections 5151-5160 of the Drug-Free
Workplace Act of 1988 (Pub. L. 100-690, Title V. Subtitle D; 41 U.S.C. 701 etseq.). The January 31.
1989 regulations were amended and published as Part II of the May 25,' 1990 Federal Register (pages
21681-21691), and require certification by grantees (and by Inference, sub-grantees and sub
contractors), prior to award, that they will maintain a drug-free workplace. Section 3017.630(c) of the
regulation provides that a grantee (and by inference, sub-grantees and sub-contractors) that is a State
may elect to make one certification to the Department In each federal fiscal year in lieu of certificates for
ea^ grant during the federal fiscal year covered by the certification. The certificate set out below Is a
material representation of fact upon which reliance is placed when the agency awards the grant. False
certification or violation of the certification shall be grounds for suspension of payments, suspension or
termination of grants, or government wide suspension or debarment. Ciontractors using this form should
send it to:

Ck)mmissioner

NH Department of Health and Human Services
129 Pleasant Street,
Concord. NH 03301-6505

1. The grantee certifies that It will or will continue to provide a drug-free workplace by:
1.1. Publishing a statement notifying employees that the unlawful manufacture, distribution,

dispensing, possession or use of a controlled substance is prohibited in the grantee's
workplace and specifying the actions that will be taken against employees for violation of such
prohibition;

1.2. Establishing an ongoing drug-free awareness program to inform employees about
1.2.1.' The dangers of drug abuse in the workplace;
1.2.2. The grantee's policy of maintaining a drug-free workplace;
1.2.3. Any available drug counseling, rehabilitation, and employee assistance programs; and
1.2.4. The penalties that may be imposed upon employees for drug abuse violations

occurring In the workplace;
1.3. Making it a requirement that each employee to be engaged in the performance of the grant be

given a copy of the statement required by paragraph (a);
1.4. Notifying the employee in the statement required liy paragraph (a) that, as a condition of

employment under the grant, the employee will
1.4.1. Abide by the terms of the statement; and
1.4.2. Notify the employer in writing of his or her conviction for a violation of a criminal drug

statute occurring In the workplace no later than five calendar days after such
conviction;

1.5. Notifying the agency in writing, within ten calendar days after receiving notice under
subparagraph 1.4.2 from an employee or otherwise receiving actual notice of such conviction.
Employers of convicted employees must provide notice. Including position title, to every grant
officer on whose grant activity the convicted employee was working, unless the Federal agency

Exhibit D - Certification rejardinj Drug Free Corttractor Inttlj
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has designated a central point for the receipt of such notices. Notice shall include the
identification number(s) of each affected grant;

1.6. Taking one of the following actions, within 30 calendar days of receiving notice under
subparagraph 1.4.2, with respect to any employee who is so convicted
1.6.1. Taking appropriate personnel action against such an employee, up to and including

termination, consistent with the requirements of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, as
amended; or

1.6.2. Requiring such employee to participate satis^ctohly in a drug abuse assistance or
rehabilitation program approved for such purposes by a Federal, State, or local health,
law enforcement, or other appropriate agency;

1.7. Making a good faith effort to continue to maintain a drug-free workplace through
implementation of paragraphs 1.1. 1.2, 1.3, 1.4.1.5, and 1.6.

2. The grantee may insert in the space provided below the site(s) for the performance of work done in
connection with the specific'grant.

Place of Performance (street address, city, county, state, zip code) (list each location)

Check □ if there are workplaces on flie that are not identified here.
f

Contractor Name; Trustees of Dartmouth College

Date

Jin M. MortaJi. Director
Office of Sponsored Projects

be

Exhi>lt D - Certification regarding Drug Free Contrador IntUaia.
Workplace Requirements
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CERTIFICATION REGARDING LOBBYING

The Contractor identified in Section 1.3 of the General Provisions agrees to comply with the provisions of
Section 319 .of Public Law 101-121, Government wide Guidance for New Restrictions on Lobbying, and
31 U.S.C. 1352. and further agrees to have the Contractor's representative, as identified In Sections 1.11
and 1.12 of the General Provisions execute the following Certification:

US DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES - CONTRACTORS
US DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION - CONTRACTORS
US DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE - CONTRACTORS

Programs (indicate applicable prograrn covered):
•Temporary Assistance to Needy Families under Title IV-A
•Child Support Enforcement Program under Title IV-D
•Social Services Block Grant Program under Title XX
•Medicald Program under Title XIX
•Community Services Block Grant under Title VI
•Child Care Development Block Grant under Title IV

The undersigned certifies, to the best of his or her knowledge and belief, that:

1. No Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid by or on behalf of the undersigned, to
any person for influencing or attempting to Influence an officer or employee of any agency, a Memt}er
of Congress, an officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a Member of Congress in
connection with the awarding of any Federal contract, continuation, renewal, amendment, or
modification of any Federal contract grant, loan, or cooperative agreement (and by specific mention
sub-grantee or sub-contractor).

2. If any funds other than Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid to any person for
influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of any agency, a Member of Congress,
an officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a Member of Congress in connection with this
Federal contract, grant, loan, or cooperative agreement (and by spedfic mention sub-grantee or sub
contractor), the undersigned shall complete and submit Standard Form LLL, (Disclosure Form to
Report Lobbying, in accordance with its Instructions, attached and identified as Standard Exhibit E-l.)

. 3. The undersigned shall require that the language of this certification be included In the award
document for sub-awards at all tiers (induding subcontracts, sub-grants, and contracts under grants,
loans, and cooperative agreements) and that all sub-recipients shall certify and disclose accordingly.

This certification is a material representation of fact upon which reliance was placed when this transaction
was made or entered into. Submission of this certification is a prerequisite for making or entering into this
transaction imposed by Section 1352, Title 31, U.S. Code. Any person who fails to file the required
certification shall be subject to a civil penalty of not less than $10,000 and not more than $100,000 for
each such failure.

Contractor Name: Trustees of Dartmouth College

m /

Tit

Date
Jill M. Mortal), Director

Office of Sponsored Projects

Exhibit E - Cenification Regarding Lobbying Contractor Initials,
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CERTIFICATION REGARDING DEBARMENT. SUSPENSION
AND OTHER RESPONSIBILITY MATTERS

The Contractor identified in .Section 1.3 of the General Provisioris agrees to comply with the provisions of
Executive Office of the President. Executive Order 12549 and 45 CFR Part 76 regarding Debarment,
Suspension, and Other Responsibility Matters, and further agrees to have the Contractor's
representative, as Identified in Sections 1.11 and 1.12 of the General Provisions execute the following
Certification;

INSTRUCTIONS FOR CERTIFICATION
1. By signing and submitting this proposal (contract), the prospective primary participant is providing the

certification set out below.

2. The Inability of a person to provide the certification required below will not necessarily result in denial
of participation in this covered transaction. If necessary, the prospective participant shall submit an
explanation of why it cannot provide the certification. The certification or explanation will be
considered in connection with the NH Department of Health and Human Services' (DHHS)
determination whether to enter Into this transaction. However, failure of the prospective primary
participant to furnish a certification or an explanation shall disqualify such person from participation In
this transaction.

3. The certification In this clause is a material representation of fact upon which reliance was placed
when DHHS determined to enter into this transaction. If it Is later determined that the prospective
primary participant knowingly rendered an erroneous certification, In addition to other remedies
available to the Federal Government. DHHS may terminate this transaction for cause or default.

4. The prospective primary participant shall provide immediate written notice to the DHHS agency to
whom this proposal Ccontract) is submitted if at any time the prospective primary participant learns
that its certification was erroneous when submitted or has t>ecome erroneous by reason of changed
circumstances.

5. The terms "covered transaction." "debarred," "suspended." "ineligible," 'lower tier covered
transaction," "participant," "person." "primary covered transaction." "principal." "proposal," and
"voluntarily excluded," as used in this clause, have the meanings set out in the Definitions and
Coverage sections of the rules implementing Executive Order 12549: 45 CFR Part 76. See the
attached definitions.

6. The prospective primary partidpant agrees by submitting this proposal (contract) that, should the
proposed covered transaction be entered into, it shall not knowingly enter into any lower tier covered
transaction with a person who is debarred, suspended, declared ineligible, or voluntarily exdCided
from participation in this covered transaction, unless authorized by DHHS.

7. The prospective primary participant further agrees by submitting this proposal that it will include the
clause titled "Certification Regarding Debarment. Suspension. Ineiigibility and Voluntary Exclusion •
Lower Tier Covered Transactions." provided by DHHS, without modification, in all lower tier covered
transactions and in all solicitations for lower tier covered transactions.

8. A participant in a covered transaction may rely upon a certification of a prospective participant in a
lower tier covered transaction that it is not debarred, suspended, ineligible, or involuntarily excluded
from the covered transaction, unless it knows that the certification is erroneous. A participant may
decide the method and frequency by which it determines the eligibility of its principals. Each
participant may. but is not required to. check the Nonprocurement List (of excluded parties).

9. Nothing contained in the foregoing shaO be construed to require establishment of a system of records
in order to render in good faith the certification required by this clause: The knowledge and

Exhftjit F • CettiricsQon Regarding Debarment. Suspension Contractor Inttla^i^fif//
■  And Other Responsibility Matters
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information of a participant Is not required to exceed that which is normally possessed by a prudent
person in the ordinary course of business dealings.

10. Except for transactions authorized under paragraph 6 of these instructions, if a participant in a
covered transaction knowingly enters into a iower tier covered transaction with a person who is
suspended, debarred, ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from participation in this transaction, In
addition to other remedies available to the Federal government, DHHS may terminate this transaction
for cause or default.

PRIMARY COVERED TRANSACTIONS

11. The prospective primary participant certifies to the best of its knowledge and belief, that it and its
principals:
11.1. are not presently debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, declared ineligible, or

voluntarily excluded from covered transactions by any Federal department or agency;
11.2. have notv/ithin a three-year period preceding this proposal (contract) been convicted of or had

a civil judgment rendered against them for commission of fraud or a criminal offense In
connection with obtaining, attempting to obtain, or performing a public (Federal, State or local)
transaction or a contract under a public transaction; violation of Federal or State antitrust
statutes or commission of embezzlement, theft, forgery, bribery, falsification or destruction of
records, making false statements, or receiving stolen property;

11.3. are not presently indicted for otherwise criminally or civilly charged by a governmental entity
(Federal, State or local) with commission of any of the offenses enumerated in paragraph (l)(b)
of this certification; and

11.4. have not within a three-year period preceding this application/proposal had one or more public
transactions (Federal, State or local) terminated for cause or default.

12. Where the prospective primary participant is unable to certify to any of the statements in this
certification, such prospective participant shall attach an explanation to this proposal (contract).

LOWER TIER COVERED TRANSACTIONS
13. By signing and submitting this lower tier proposal (contract), the prospective lower tier participant, as

defined in 45 CFR Part 76, certifies to the best of Its knowledge and belief that it and its principals:
13.1. are not presently debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, declared ineligible, or

voluntarily excluded from participation In this transaction by any federal department or agency.
13.2. where the prospective lower tier participant is unable to certify to any of the above, such

prospective participant shall atta<^ an explanation to this proposal (contract).

14; The prospective lower tier participant further agrees by submitting this proposal (contract) that it will
include this clause entitled "Certification Regarding Debarment. Suspension, Ineiigibility, and
Voluntary Exclusion - Lower Tier Covered Transactions,' without modification in all lower tier covered
transactions and in all solicitations for lower tier covered transactions.

Contractor Name: Trustees of Dartmouth College

'  Jill M. Mortal!, Director
Office of Sponsored Projects

Exhbtl F - Certification Regirdin^i Debarment. Suspension Contractor Initiais.
And Other ResponsibSity Matters
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CERTIFICATION OF COMPLIANCE WiTH REQUIREMENTS PERTAINING TO

FEDERAL NONDISCRIMINATION. EQUAL TREATMENT OF FAITH-BASED ORGANIZATIONS AND

WHISTLEBLOWER PROTECTIONS

The Contractor identified in Section 1.3 of the General Provisions agrees by. signature of the Contractor's
representative as identified in Sections 1.11 and 1.12 of the General Provisions, to execute the following
certification;

Contractor will comply, and will require any subgrantees or subcontractors to comply, with any applicable
federal nondiscrimination requirements, which may include:

- the Omnibus Crime Control and Safe Streets Act of 1968 (42 U.S.C. Section 3789d) which prohibits
recipients of federal funding under this statute from discriminating, either in employment practices, or in
the delivery of services or benefits, on the basis of race, color, religion, national origin, and sex. The Act
requires certain recipients to produce an Equal Employment Opportunity Plan;

> the Juvenile Justice Delinquency Prevention Act of 2002 (42 U.S.C. Section 5672(b)) which adopts by
reference, the civil rights obligations of the Safe Streets Act. Recipients of federal funding under this
statute are prohibited from discriminating, either in employment practices or in the delivery of sen/ices or
benefits, on the basis of race, color, religion, national origin, and sex. The Act includes Equal
Employment Opportunity Plan requirements;

- the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (42 U.S.C. Section 2000d, which prohibits recipients of federal financial
assistance from discriminating on the basis of race, color, or national origin in any program or activity);

-the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (29 U.S.C. Section 794), which prohibits recipients of Federal financial
assistance from disaiminatihg on the basis of disability, in regard to employment and the delivery of
services or benefits, In any program or activity;

-the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (42 U.S.C.- SMtions 12131-34), which prohibits
discrimination and ensures equal opportunity for persons with disabilities in employment, State and local
government sen/ices, public accommodations, commercial facilities, and transportation;

-the Education Amendments of 1972 (20 U.S.C. Sections 1681, 1683, ■1685-86), which prohibits
discrimination on the basis of sex in federally assisted education programs;

- the Age Discrimination Act of 1975 (42 U.S.C. Sections 6106-07), which prohibits discrimination on the
basis of age in programs or activities receiving Federal financial assistance. It does not include
employment discrimination;

-28 C.F.R. pt 31 (U.S. Department of Justice Regulations - OJJDP Grant Programs); 28 C.F.R. pt. 42
(U.S. Department of Justice Regulations ~ Nondiscrimination; Equal Employment Opportunity; Policies
and Procedures); Executive Order No. 13279 (equal protection of the laws for faith-based and community
organizations); Executive Order No. 13559, which provide fundamental principles and policy-making
criteria for partnerships with faith-based and neighborhood organizations;

- 28 C.F.R. pt. 38 (U.S. Department of Justice Regulations - Equal Treatment for FaithrBased
Organizations); and Whistleblower protections 41 U.S.C. §4712 and The National Defense Authorization
Act (NDAA) for Fiscal Year 2013 (Pub. L. 112-239, enacted January 2, 2013) the Pilot Program for
Enhancement of Contract Employee Whistleblower Protections, which protects employees against
reprisal for certain whistle blowing activities in connection with federal grants and contracts.

The certificate set out below is a material representation of fact upon which reliance is placed when the .
agency awards the grant. False certification or violation of the certification shall be grounds for
suspension of payments, suspension or termination of grants, or government wide suspension or
debarment.

Extiibit G
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in the event a Federal or State court or Federal or State administrative agency makes a finding of
discrimination after a due process hearing on the grounds of race, color, religion, national origin, or sex
against a recipient of funds, the recipient will forward a copy of the finding to the Office for Civil Rights, to
the applicable contracting agency or division within the Department of Health and Human Services, and
to the Department of Health and Human Services Office of the Ombudsman.

the Contractor identified In Section 1.3 of the General Provisions agrees by signature of the Contractor's
representative as Identified in Sections 1.11 and 1.12 of the,General Provisions, to execute the following
certiftcation;

I. By signing and submitting this proposal (contract) the Contractor agrees to comply with the provisions
indicated above.

Contractor Name: Trustees of Dartmouth College

Date Name< /
Title

Jill M. Mortall, Director
Office of Sponsored Protects

Exhibit G
Cor^ctor Initial

Cvftiflaiian of Con^lisnca rtquNmtnU p«t*inlng to Fttfvil Nondsehmkutien. Equal Traaonam of Faoh-easad Orqarlzattort*
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Exhibit H

CERTIFICATION REGARDING ENVIRONMENTAL TOBACCO SMOKE

Public Law 103-227, Part C - Environmental Tobacco Snioke, also known as the Pro-Children Act of 1994
(Act), requires that smoking not be permitted in any portion of any Indoor facility owned or leased or
contract^ for by an entity and used routinely or regularly for the provision of health, day care, education,
or library services to children under the age of 16, if the services are funded by Federal programs either
directly or through State or local governments, by Federal grant, contract, loan, or loan guarantee. The
law does not apply to childien's services provided in private residences, facilities funded solely by
Medicare or Medicakj hinds, and portions of facilities used for inpatient drug or alcohol treatment. Failure
to comply with the provisions of the law may result In the Imposition of a civil mbnetary penalty of up to
$1000 per day and/or the imposition of an administrative compliance order on the responsible entity.

The Contractor identified in Section 1.3 of the General Provisions agrees, by signature of the Contractor's
representative as identifi^ in Section 1.11 and 1.12 of the General Provisions, to execute the following
certification:

1. By signing and submitting this contract, the Contractor agrees to make reasonable efforts to comply
with all applicable provisions of Public Law 103-227, Part C, known as the Pro-Children Act of 1994.

Contractor Name: Trustees of Dartmouth College

^  f t Name: ̂Date ' /
(tte^ JiP M. Moftali, Director

Office of Sponsored Prcj ̂c.

Exhibit H - CertlficatJon Regarding Contractor Initial
Environmental Tobacco Smoke

civDHH5ni07i3 Page t of 1 Dale M



New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services

Exhibit I

HEALTH INSURANCE PORTABLITY ACT

BUSINESS ASSOCIATE AGREEMENT

The Contractor identified in Section 1.3 of the General Provisions of the Agreement agrees to
comply with the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act, Public Law 104-191 and
with the Standards for Privacy and Security of Individually Identifiable Health Information. 45
CFR Parts 160 and 164 applicable to business associates. As defined herein, "Business
Associate' shall mean the Contractor and subcontractors and agents of the Contractor that
receive, use or have access to protected health information under this Agreement and 'Covered
Entity' shall mean the State of New Hampshire, Department of Health and Human Services.

(1) PdfinWpp?

a. 'Breach' shall have the same meaning as the term "Breach" in section 164.402 of Title 45,
Code of Federal Regulations.

b. 'Business Associate' has the meaning given such term in section 160.103 of Title 45, Code
of Federal Regulations.

c. "Covered Entity" has the meaning given such term in section 160.103 of Title 45.
Code of Federal Regulations.

d. 'Designated Record Set" shall have the same meaning as the term 'designated record set"
in45CFR Section 164.501.

e. 'Data Aaareoatlon' shall have the same meaning as the term "data aggregation" In 45 CFR
Section 164.501.

f. "Health Care Operations" shall have the same meaninlg as the term "health care operations"
in 45 CFR Section 164.501.

g. "HITECH Acf means the Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health
Act, TrtleXlll, Subtlde D, Part 1 & 2 of the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of
2009.

h. "HIPAA" means the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, Public Law
104-191 and the Standards for Privacy and Security of Individually Identifiable Health
Information, 45 CFR Parts 160,162 and 164 and amendments thereto.

i. 'Individual' shall have the same meaning as the term 'individual" In 45 CFR Section 160.103
and shall indude a person who qualifies as a personal representative in accordance with 45
CFR Section 164.501(g).

j. 'Privacy Rule' shall mean the Standards for Privacy of Individually Identifiable Health
Information at 45 CFR Parts 160 and 164, promulgated under HIPAA by the United States
Department of Health and Human Services.

k. "Protected Health Information' shall have the same meaning as the term "protected health
information' in 45 CFR Section 160.103, limited to the information created or received by
Business Associate from or on behalf of Covered Entity. ' ,

3/2014 Exhibit I Cftfitfaetar Initi^xnV^II
Health Insurance Portability Act
Business Associate Agreement
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New Hampshire pepartment of Heaith and Human Services

Exhibit I

I. "Required bv Law* shall have the same meaning as the term "required by law" in 45 CFR
Section 164.103.

m. "Secretary" shall mean the Secretary of the Department of Health and Human Services or
his/her designee.

n. "Security Rule" shall mean the Security Standards for the Protection of Electronic Protected
Health Information at 45 CFR Part 164, Subpart C, and amendments thereto.

o. "Unsecured Protected Heaith information" means protected health Infoimation that is not
secured by a technology standard that renders protected health information unusable,
unreadable, or indecipherable to unauthorized individuals and Is developed or endorsed by
a standards developing organization that is accredited by the American National Standards
Institute.

p. Other Definitions - All terms not otherwise defined herein shall have the meaning
established under 45 C.F.R. Parts 160,162 and 164, as amended from time to time, and the
HITECH

Act.
I

(2) Business Associate Use and Disclosure of Protected Health Information.

a. Business Associate shall not use, disclose, maintain or transmit Protected Health
Information (PHI) except as reasonably necessary to provide the sen/ices outlined under
Exhibit A of the Agreement. Further, Business Associate, including but not limited to all
Its directors, officers, employees and agents, shall not use, disclose, maintain or transmit
PHI in any manner that would constitute a violation of the Privacy and Security Rule.

b. Business Associate may use or disclose PHI;
I. For the proper management and administration of the Business Associate;
II. As required by law, pursuant to the terms set forth in paragraph d. below; or
III. For data aggregation purposes for the health care operations of Covered

Entity.

c. To the extent Business Associate is permitted under the Agreement to disclose PHI to a
third party. Business Associate must obtain, prior to making any such disclosure^ (I)
reasonable assurances from the third party that such PHI will be held confidentially and
used or further disclosed only as required by law or for the purpose for which it was
disclosed to the third party; and (li) an agreement from such third party to notify Business
Associate, in accordance with the HIPAA Privacy, Security, and Breach Notification
Rules of any breaches of the confidentiality of the PHI, to the extent it has obtained
knowledge of such breach.

d. The Business /\ssociate shall not, unless such disclosure Is reasonably necessary to
provide services under Exhibit A of the Agreement, disclose any PHI in response to a
request for disclosure on the basis that it Is required by law. without first notifying
Covered Entity so that Covered Entity has an opportunity tp object to the disdosure and
to seek appropriate relief. If Covered Entity objects to such disclosure, the Busn^ess

3/2014 Exhibit I Contractor Irn
Hoalth Insurance Portabi% Ad
Business Associate Agreement
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services

Exhibit I

Associate shall refrain from disclosing the PHI until Covered Entity has exhausted all
remedies. ^

e. If the Covered Entity notifies the Business Associate that Covered Entity has agreed to
be bound by additional restrictions over and above those uses or disclosures or security
safeguards of PHI pursuant to the Privacy and Security Ruie, the Business Associate
shall be bound by such additional restrictions and shall not disclose PHi in violation of
such additional restrictions and shall abide by any additional security safeguards.

(3) Obligations and Activities of Business Associate-

a. The Business Associate shall notify the Covered Entity's Privacy Officer immediately
after the Business Associate becomes aware of any use or disclosure of protected
health information not provided for by the Agreement including breaches of unsecured
protected health information and/or any security Incident that may have an impact on the
protected health inforrnation of the Covered Entity.

b. The Business Associate shall immediately perform a risk assessment when it becomes
aware of any of the above situations. The risk assessment shall include, but not be
limited to:

0  The nature and extent of the protected health information involved, including the
types of identifiers and the likelihood of re-identrfication;

0 The unauthorized person used the protected health information or to whom the
disclosure was made;

0 Whether the protected health information was actually acquired or viewed
o The extent to which the risk to the protected health Information has been

mitigated.

The Business Associate shall complete the risk assessment within 48 hours of the
breach and Immediately report the findings of the risk assessment in writing to the
Covered Entity.

c. The Business Associate shall comply with all sections of the Privacy, Security, and
Breach Notification Rule.

d. Business Associate shall make available all of its intemal policies and procedures, books
and records relating to the use and disclosure of PHI received from, or created or
received by the Business Associate on behalf of Covered Entity to the Secretary for
purposes of determining Covered Entity's compliance with HIPAA and the Privacy and
Security Rule.

e. Business Associate shall require alt of its business associates that receive, use or have
access to PHI under the Agreement, to agree in writing to adhere to the same
restrictions and conditions on the use and disclosure of PHI contained herein, inciudlrtg
the duty to retum or destroy the PHI as provided under Section 3 (I). The Covered Entity
shall be considered a direct third party t^neficiary of the Contractor's business associate
agreements with Contractor's intended business associates, who will be receiyinaPHI

3/2014 Exhibit 1 ■ - Contractor Initiali /
Heabh Insutanc® Portability Act ^ /

'  Business Associate Agreement ^
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services

Exhibit!

pursuant to this Agreement, with rights of enforcement and indemnification from such
business associates who shall be governed by standard Paragraph #13 of the standard
contract provisions (P-37} of this Agreement for the purpose of use and disclosure of
protected health information.

f. , Within five (5) business days of receipt of a written request from Covered Entity,
Business Associate shall make available during normal business hours at its offices all
records, books, agreements, policies and procedures relating to the use and disclosure
of PHI to the Covered Entity, for purposes of enabling Covered Entity to determine
Business Associate's compliance with the terms of the Agreement.

g. Within ten (10) business days of receiving a written request from Covered Entity,
Business Associate shall provide access to PHI In a Designated Record Set to the
Covered Entity, or as directed by Covered Entity, to an Individual in order to meet the
requirements under 45 CFR Section 164.524.

h. Within ten (10) business days of receiving a written request from Covered Entity for an
amendment of PHI or a record about an individual contained in a Designated Record
Set, the Business Associate shall make such PHI available to Covered Entity for
amendment and incorporate any such amendment to enable Covered Entity to fulfill its
obligations under 45 CFR Section 164.526.

1. Business Associate shall document such disclosures of PHI and information related to
such disclosures as would be required for Covered Entity to respond to a request by an
individual for an accounting of disclosures of PHI in accordance with 45 CFR Section
164.528.

|. Within ten (10) business days of receiving a written request from Covered Entity for a
request for an accounting of disclosures of PHI, Business Associate shall make available
to Covered Entity such information as Covered Entity may require to fulfill its obligations
to provide an accounting of disclosures with respect to PHI in accordance with 45 CFR
Section 164.528.

k. In the event any individual requests access to, amendment of, or accounting of PHI
directly from the Business Associate, the Business Associate shall within two (2)
business days forward such request to Covered Entity. Covered Entity shall have the
responsibility of responding to forwarded requests. However, if fonwatding the
individual's request to Covered Entity would cause Covered Entity or the Business
Associate to violate HIPAA and the Privacy and Security Rule, the Business Associate
shall instead respond to the individual's request as required by such law and notify
Covered Entity of such response as soon as practicable.

I. Within ten (10) business days of termination of the Agreement, for any reason, the
Business Associate shall return or destroy, as specified by Covered Entity, all PHI
received from, or created or received by the Business Associate In connection with the
Agreement, and shall not retain any copies or back-up tapes of such PHI. If return or
destruction Is not feasible, or the disposition of the PHI has been otherwise agreed to In
the Agreement, Business Associate shall continue to extend the protections of the
Agreement, to such PHI and limit further uses and disclosures of such PHI to t^e
purposes that make the return or destruction infeasible, for so long as Buslnt

3/2014 ExhM I Contractor InttI
Health Insurance Portability Act
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New Hampshire Department of Heatth and Human Services

Exhibit I

Associate maintains such PHI. If Covered Entity, in its sole discretion, requires that the
Business Associate destroy any or all PHI, the Business Associate shall certify to
Covered Entity that the PHI has been destroyed.

(4) Obligations of Covered Entity

a. Covered Entity shall notify Business Associate of any changes or lim]tation(s) in its
Notice of Privacy Practices provided to individuals in accordance with 45 CFR Section
164.520, to the extent that such change or limitation may affect Business Associatels
use or disclosure of PHI.

b. Covered Entity shall promptly notify Business Associate of any changes in. or revocation
of permission provided to Coveted Entity by Individuals whose PHI may be used or
disclosed by Business Associate under this Agreement, pursuant to 45 CFR Section
164.506 or 45 CFR Section 164.508.

c; Covered entity shall promptly notify Business Associate of any restrictions on the use or
disclosure of PHI that Covered Entity has agreed to In accordance with 45 CFR 164.522,
to the extent that such restriction may affect Business Associate's use or disclosure of
PHI.

(5) Termination for Cause

In addition to Paragraph 10 of the standard terms and,conditions (P-37) of this
Agreement the Covered Entity may immediately terminate the Agreement upon Covered
Entity's knowledge of a breach by Business Associate of the Business Associate
Agreement set forth herein as Exhibit 1. The Covered Entity may either immediately

.  . terminate the Agreement or provide an opportunity for Business Associate to cure the
alleged breach within a timeframe specifi^ by Covered Entity. If Covered Entity
determines that neither termination nor cure Is feasible, Covered Entity shall report the
violation to the Secretary.

(6) Miscellaneous

a. Definitions and Reoulatorv References. All terms used, bi^t not othenArlse defined herein,
'  shall have the same meaning as those terms in the Privacy and Security Rule, amended

from time to time. A reference in the Agreement, as amended to include this Exhibit i, to
a Section in the Privacy and Security Rule means the Section as in effect or as
amended.

b. Amendment. Covered Entity and Business Associate agree to take such action as is
necessary to amend the Agreement, from time to time as is necessary for Covered
Entity to comply with the changes In the requirements of HIPAA, the Privacy and
Security Rule, and applicable federal and state law.

c. Data Ownership. The Business Associate acknowledges that it has no ownership rights
with respect to the PHI provided by or created on behalf of Covered Entity.

d. Interpretation. The parties agree that any ambiguity in the Agreement shall be resolved
to permit Covered Entity to comply with HIPAA, the Privacy and Security ^

3/2014 EjchlbftI CQntmetor ii)hL\%/Qj fj
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Exhibit I

e. Segregation. If any term or condition of this Exhibit I or the application thereof to any
per$on(s) or circumstance is held invalid, such Invalidity shall not affect other terms or
conditions which can be given effect without the invalid term or condition; to this end the
terms and conditions of this Exhibit (are declared severable.

f. Survival. Provisions in this Exhibit I regarding the use and disclosure of PHI, return or
destruction of PHI, extensions of the protections of the Agreement in section (3) I. the
defense and indemnification provisions of section (3) e and Paragraph 13 of the
standard terms and conditions (P-37), shall survive the termination of the Agreement.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have duly executed this Exhibit i.

Department of Health and Human Services Trustees of Dartmouth College

^the Contractor ^ ^

(/'
zeo Represen^tive

jni M. Mortali. Director
nf fipnnsQted Projects

Name of Authorized Representative Name of Authorized Representative

Acting Director /y/ ^
Title of Authorized Representative tifle of Authorized Representative

^  lijt/l(/ ^ ^ /o/g/Z/Cf
Date / / Date

The State

horiSignature of Authorized Representative nat

Marcella J. Boblnsky, MPH

3/2014 Exhibit I Contractor Int
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Exhibit J

CERTIRCATiON REGARDING THE FEDERAL FUNDtNG ACCOUNTABILITY AND TRANSPARENCY
ACT iFFATAI COMPLIANCE

The Federal Funding Accountability and Transparency Act (FFATA) requires prime awardees of individual
Federal grants equal to or greater than $25,000 and awarded on or after October 1,2010, to report on
data related to executive compensation and associated first-tier sub-giants of $25,000 or more. If the
initial award is below $25,000 but subsequent grant modifications result in a total award equal to or over
$25,000, the award Is subject to the FFATA reporting requirements, as of the date of the award.
In accordance with 2 CFR Part 170 (Reporting Subaward and Executive Compensation Information), the
Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS) must report the following information for any
subaward or contract award subject to the FFATA reporting requirements:
1. Name of entity
2. Amount of award

3. Funding agency
4. NAICS code for contracts / CFDA program number for grants
5. Program source
6. Award title descriptive of the purpose of the funding action
7. Location of the entity
8? Principle place of performance
S. Unique identifier of the entity (DUNS #)
10. Total compensation and names of the top five executives If:

10.1. More than 80% of annual gross revenues are from the Federal government, and those
revenues are greater than $25M annually and . '

10.2. Compensation Information is not already available through reporting to the SEC.

Prime grant recipients must submit FFATA required data by the end of ttie month, plus 30 days, in which
the award or award amendment is made.
The Contractor identified in Section 1.3 of the General Provisions agrees to comply with the provisions of
The Federal Funding Accountability and Transparency Act, Public Law 109-282. and Public Law 110-252,
and 2 CFR Part.170 (Reporting Subaward and Executive Compensation Information), and further agrees
to have the Contractor's representative, as Identified in Sections 1.11 and 1.12 of the General Provisions
execute the follovring Certification:
The below named Contractor agrees to provide needed information as outlined above to the NH
Department of Health and Human Services and to comply with all applicable provisions of the Federal
Financial Accountability and Transparency Act.

Contractor Name: Trustees of Dartmouth College

ate Na

Jill M. Mortali. Director
Office of Sponsored Projrc ̂

Exhibit J - Certification Regarding the Federal Funding Contractor Initlats
Accountability And Transparency Act (FFATA) Compliance
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Exhibit J

FORMA

As the Contractor identified in Section 1.3 of the General Provisions, I certify that the responses to the
below listed questions are true and accurate.

1. The DUNS number for your entity is:

2. In your business or organization's preceding completed %cal year, did your business or organization
' receive (1) 60 percent or more of your annual gross revenue in U.S. federal contracts, subcontracts,
loans, grants, sub-grants, and/or cooperative agreements; and (2) $25,000,000 or more in annual
gross revenues from U.S. federal contracts, subcontracts, loans, grants, subgrants, and/or
cooperative agreements?

YES

If the answer to #2 above is NO, stop here

If the answer to #2 above Is YES, please answer the following:

3. Does the public have access to Information about the compensation of the executives in your
business or organization through periodic reports filed under section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C.78m(a), 78o(d)) or section 6104 of the Internal Revenue Code of
1986?

NO YES

If the answer to #3 above is YES, stop here

If the answer to #3 above is NO, please answer the following:

4. The names and compensation of the five most highly compensated officers in your business or"
organization are as follows:

Name;

Name;

Name;

Name;

Name:

Amount:

Amount:

Amount;

Amount:

Amount:

CUfOHHSniOTI)

Exhibit J - Certification Regarding the Federal Funding Contractor Initials
Accountability Artd Transparency Act (FFATA) Compliance
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